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From the Office of Communications

All 2013 Annual Conference information can be found on the Alabama-West Florida
Conference website at www.awfumc.org/ac2013. This year we will welcome back the staff
from Lifetouch Photography. They will photograph and organize the pictorial directory
our conference produces on a quadrennial basis and will be located in the youth game room
in the Christ Center of the host church. You will have a chance to signup online prior to
annual conference so that you know your time slot to be photographed. A complimentary
copy will be sent to all pastors in the directory. Conference staff and leaders will also be in
the directory as usual. Please wear appropriate, professional clothing for your photo. This
directory is very helpful for face recognition in many areas of our conference from the
cabinet to the local church.

From the JOURNAL Editor

The conference provides each clergy and lay member of the AWF Conference with a copy
of the Brochure of Reports. If for some reason the lay member cannot attend annual conference, please give the Brochure of Reports to the alternate lay member prior to annual conference. Extras are limited so PLEASE BRING YOUR BROCHURE OF REPORTS
TO ANNUAL CONFERENCE.

From the Conference Secretary

Members of annual conference are encouraged to become familiar with all conference
standing rules included in this Brochure of Reports. Standing Rule 15 requires that all
names, addresses, reports, resolutions, and/or other materials to be included in The Journal
of the Alabama-West Florida Conference shall be in the hands of the conference secretary
no later than ten working days after the close of annual conference. Other standing rules of
particular interest to members are the rules in the section entitled Administrative Procedures
of the Annual Conference. If you are a lay member of annual conference being replaced
by an alternate lay member, you must contact your district office immediately to have the
alternate’s new status documented. Otherwise, the alternate lay member who has replaced
you will not be able to vote on matters coming before the annual conference. If you have
questions, please contact the conference secretary at (334) 272-8622.

Clergy Directory

The Clergy Directory is compiled from the information in the conference database.
CONTACT INFORMATION FOR CLERGY IS TAKEN FROM THIS SOURCE. Please
make sure that your district office has your correct contact information no later than
the end of June.

Ordination and Commissioning Services

The Service of Ordination and Commissioning will be held Monday, June 3, 7:00 p.m. at
Dauphin Way United Methodist Church (Mobile, AL). The special offering will be the
Ministerial Education Fund. Reception to follow.

Childcare

Childcare will be available at opening, memorial and ordination/commissioning services
only and must be reserved online.
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Annual Conference 2013 is Sunday, June 2 - Wednesday, June 5,
2013. This year's theme is the first part of the SEND Model many in the
conference have adopted. It is, "The Great Commission: Seeking
Disciples." We are most appreciative to Rev. Jeff Spiller and his staff at
Christ United Methodist Church in Mobile, AL, for hosting us as well
as the Revs. Robin and Jeff Wilson and their staff at Dauphin Way
United Methodist Church for hosting the ordination and
commissioning service. This year we welcome Bishop Lindsey Davis
from the Kentucky Conference and Dr. David E. Cann of ITC/Gammon
Theological Seminary.
All 2013 Annual Conference information and registrations can be found at www.awfumc.org/ac2013.
We are excited to announce that this year's missional offering will go to the New Jersey Annual Conference for
their Hurricane Sandy relief efforts. In October of 2012, Hurricane Sandy raced ashore as a category two storm
but devastated millions due to the densely populated area. The Greater New Jersey Sandy Relief Fund has been
established to raise funds to repair homes of the elderly and low income residents in communities, as well as to
repair parsonages and church buildings. Churches have sustained damage and many that have been flooded do
not have flood insurance. Millions of dollars will be needed to repair all that was damaged. Please prayerfully
consider reciprocating the generosity our conference received after Hurricane Ivan.
Tuesday afternoon of annual conference is designated as "mission day." Box lunches and t-shirts will be
provided at no charge if you are clergy or a delegate. Non-delegate participants may participate and a fee will be
charged for the lunch and shirt. Please come dressed in appropriate work clothes and wearing your mission day
t-shirt to Tuesday's morning session. It will be a casual day to accommodate our work in the mission field.
Traditionally clergy spouses gather on Tuesday for a time of fun and fellowship. This year we they will instead
use that time to participate in the Annual Conference Mission Day. The clergy spouses will be assembling relief
kits for UMCOR or you they may choose from another of the many mission projects.
This year we will welcome back the staff from Lifetouch Photography. They will photograph and organize the
pictorial directory our conference produces on a quadrennial basis. You will have a chance to signup online
prior to annual conference so that you know your time slot to be photographed. Conference staff and leaders
will also be in the directory as usual. Please wear appropriate, professional clothing for your photo. This
directory is very helpful for face recognition in many areas of our conference from the cabinet to the local
church.
Meals will not be provided. You may order a meal from Ransom Café located onsite or you may eat at your
preferred restaurant off campus throughout annual conference. Time has been built into the agenda to allow for
this change. Traditional group lunches will handle their own catering so you must RSVP with the group
directly. The laity banquet will be the only meal catered to Christ UMC.
We will be collecting UMCOR relief supplies again this year. However, churches are asked to bring the
supplies instead of completed kits. Named kits have been assigned to the districts. Please contact your district
office for details.
We look forward to seeing you at Annual Conference in Mobile, AL, June 2 - 5, 2013!
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2013 ANNUAL CONFERENCE WORKING AGENDA

Sunday Afternoon, June 2
12:00 p.m.

Conference Registration Opens – Christ Center Lobby (all week)

		

Exhibit Set Up – Christ Center

Bishop and Cabinet Meeting - Parlor
2:00 p.m.
			
		
Refreshments hosted by Blue Lake – Christ Center Lobby
3:00 p.m.

Orientation for Lay and Clergy Tellers – Christ Center Gym

3:30 p.m.

Orientation/Set-Up for Assistant Secretaries – Christ Center Gym

4:00 p.m.

Committee on Petitions and Resolutions – C203

		

Board of Laity Meeting – C210 - 212

		
Fellowship of Associate and Local Pastors Meeting
			Fellowship Hall
		
5:00 p.m.
Bishop’s Dinner – Christ Center Assembly Room
		

Memorial Service Set Up - Hospitality Room

5:30 p.m.

Board of Ordained Ministry Meeting – C211

6:00 p.m.

Conference Registration Closes for the Day

7:00 p.m.
OPENING WORSHIP CELEBRATION – Christ Center Gym
			
Welcome from Host Pastor: Rev. Jeff Spiller
			
Sermon: Bishop Lindsey Davis, Resident Bishop
				Kentucky Conference
			
Conference Mission Offering:
New Jersey
						
Annual Conference
						
Hurricane Sandy Relief
8:30 p.m.
Rehearsal for Ordination and Commissioning Service
			Sanctuary
		
Orientation for Pages – Following Opening Worship - OFF SITE

Monday Morning, June 3
7:00 a.m.

Conference Registration Opens (closes at 2:00 p.m.)
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8:00 a.m.
Experiential Prayer Room Opens (closes at 5:00 p.m.)
			Youth Lounge - Hosted by Spiritual Formation
		
Upper Room Prayer Line Opens (closes at 3:00 p.m.)
			Prayer Room
8:00 a.m.
Bible Study – Dr. David Cann – Christ Center Gym
			
Introduction of Speaker: Bishop Paul L. Leeland
			Gathering Music
			Opening Prayer
			District Video
8:55 a.m.

District Video

9:00 a.m.
		

Laity Session – Christ Center Gym
Clergy Executive Session - Sanctuary

9:45 a.m.
Break – Preparation for Worship
(Families of deceased clergy and clergy spouses gather in Hospitality Room;
members of annual conference are invited to come by to greet them.)
10:15 a.m.
ORDER OF THE DAY – Christ Center Gym
			
Memorial Service and Holy Communion 			
			
Liturgist: Bishop Paul L. Leeland
			
Sermon: Rev. Debora Bishop
11:30 a.m.
Lunch - Lunch is on your own
		
Bishop and Cabinet – Parlor
		
Asbury Club – Fellowship Hall
		
Birmingham Southern – C211
		
Christian Educators Fellowship – C221
		
Clergywomen in Ministry – C210-212
		
Educational Opportunities – Choir Room
		
Emory Club – USA Wesley Foundation
		
Memorial Luncheon – Hospitality Room
			Hosted by Archives and History
		
Wesley Heirs - Christ Center Assembly

Monday Afternoon, June 3
1:30 p.m.
CONFERENCE BUSINESS SESSION – Christ Center Gym		
			Gathering Music: “And Are We Yet Alive”
			Opening Prayer
			District Video
			
Welcome from the Host District Superintendent
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Opening Business and Organization of the Conference
			
Setting the “bar” of the Conference
			
Election of secretarial staff
			
Approval of the 2012 Conference Journal
			
Adoption of the 2013 Conference Agenda
			
Presentation of the 2013 Consent Agenda
Committee on Standing Rules
1:40 p.m.
			
First presentation – report to lie on the table overnight
1:45 p.m.
Committee on Resolutions and Petitions
			
First presentation – report to lie on the table overnight
		

Gathering of Retiring Clergy – Hospitality Room

1:50 p.m.

Committee on Nominations

2:00 p.m.
		
		
		

Board of Ordained Ministry
Recognition of Commissioning and Ordination classes
Recognition of First-Time Licensed Local Pastors
Recognition of Clergy in Extension Ministries

2:45 p.m.
		

ORDER OF THE DAY – Christ Center Gym
Recognition of Retiring Clergy

3:30 p.m.

Break – Reception for Retiring Clergy – Lobby

BUSINESS SESSION (continued) – Christ Center Gym
4:00 p.m.
		
		
Board of Higher Education and Campus Ministry
			Asbury Award
4:10 p.m.

Academy for Congregational Excellence

4:20 p.m.

Circles of Transformation

4:30 p.m.

District Video

4:35 p.m.

Conference Announcements and Recess

		

Meeting of Council on Finance and Administration – C221
***NO MONDAY EVENING DINNER***
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Monday Evening, June 3
At Dauphin Way United Methodist Church, 1507 Dauphin Street, Mobile
7:00 p.m.
Service of Ordination and Commissioning
			
Liturgist: Bishop Paul L. Leeland
			
Sermon: Bishop Lindsey Davis, Resident Bishop
				Kentucky Conference
			
Music Leader: John Ricketts, Director of Music
					Ministries and Worship
			
Special Offering: Ministerial Education Fund
		

Reception - McGowin Hall, Dauphin Way UMC

Tuesday Morning, June 4
7:00 a.m.

Conference Registration Opens (closes at Noon)

7:30 a.m.

COSROW Breakfast – Fellowship Hall

8:00 a.m.
Experiential Prayer Room Opens (closes at 5:00 p.m.)
			Youth Lounge - Hosted by Spiritual Formation
8:00 a.m.
Bible Study – Dr. David Cann – Christ Center Gym
			Gathering Music
			Opening Prayer
			District Video
9:00 a.m.
BUSINESS SESSION – Christ Center Gym
			Gathering Music
			Opening Prayer
			District Video
		

Report of the Journal Committee

		Action on Standing Rules
		Action on Resolutions and Petitions
9:15 a.m.
Proposed Constitutional Amendments
			Presentation
			Voting
		
United Methodist Children’s Home
			Action Item – Revised Charter Change
9:45 a.m.

Break – Hosted by United Methodist Children’s Home - Lobby
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10:15 a.m.

BUSINESS SESSION (continued) – Christ Center Gym

		
Commission on Equitable Compensation
			Action Item: Minimum Salary
		

Board of Pension and Health Benefits

11:00 a.m.
ORDER OF THE DAY – Christ Center Gym
			
Episcopal Address: Bishop Paul L. Leeland
			
Service of Repentance and Reconciliation
				with Native Americans
11:55 a.m.		
12:00 Noon
		

District Video

Depart for the mission field – Lunch will be en route or onsite		
Registered participants will receive a box lunch

***Lunch is on your own if you are not a registered participant
in any mission day project***
		
		
		

Clergy spouses assemble UMCOR Kits – Fellowship Hall
Duke Club – Bay Area Food Bank
United Theological Seminary (UTS) – C211

Tuesday Afternoon, June 4
4:45 p.m.

Return from Mission Field

5:00 p.m.
Laity Banquet – Christ Center Gym
			Mary Ellen Bullard Leadership Address
			
Special Music: The Circuit Riders
6:30 p.m.

Deacon’s Gathering – Hospitality Room

Wednesday Morning, June 5
No conference registration

8:00 a.m.
CONFERENCE BUSINESS SESSION - Sanctuary
			Gathering Music			
			Opening Prayer
			District Video
8:00 a.m.
Experiential Prayer Room Opens (closes at 10:30 a.m.)
			Youth Lounge - Hosted by Spiritual Formation
		
Upper Room Prayer Line Opens (closes at 11:00 a.m.)
			Prayer Room
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8:05 a.m.

Report of the Journal Committee

		

Committee on Episcopacy

8:15 a.m.

Board of Laity

8:35 a.m.

CORE Team

8:45 a.m.

Alice Lee Award

8:55 a.m.

Denman Evangelism Awards

Commission on Archives and History
9:05 a.m.
			Local Church Heritage Award
9:15 a.m.

Methodist Homes Corporation

9:25 a.m.

Representative, Historic Black Colleges

9:35 a.m.

Conference Board of Trustees

9:50 a.m.

Break – Sponsored by FairHope Coffee Company

10:10 a.m.

BUSINESS SESSION (continued) – Sanctuary

		
Council on Finance and Administration
			Action Item: 2014 Conference Budget
		Statistician’s Report
Report of the Cabinet
10:35 a.m.
			
Changes in Charge Lines
			Property Resolutions
		
Closing Business of the Conference
			
Where shall the 2014 session be held?
			Courtesies and Appreciation
		

Fixing of the 2013-2014 Appointments

11:30 a.m.

Adjournment Sine Die

			***NO WEDNESDAY LUNCH***
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Guest speakers
Bishop Lindsey Davis

Born in Durham, North Carolina, Bishop Davis holds degrees
from Union College, University of Kentucky, Lexington Theological Seminary, and Kentucky Wesleyan College. Before entering ministry, he was Assistant Director, Office of Educational
Development at the University of Kentucky College of Medicine;
Director of Educational Development, University of Alabama,
College of Community Health Sciences; and Consultant for the
Department of Family Medicine and Pediatrics at the
University of Kentucky College of Medicine.
Ordained Deacon in 1978 and elder in 1981, Bishop Davis has served as Associate Pastor at First United Methodist Church of Lexington, Senior Pastor at Mayo
Memorial United Methodist Church, and St. Luke (Lexington) United Methodist
Church, and Superintendent of the Lexington District. He was elected to the episcopacy in July 1996 from the Kentucky Conference and was assigned to the North
Georgia Area, where he served for 12 years. Bishop Davis was assigned to The
Louisville Area effective September 1, 2008.
Bishop Davis has served on the General Council on Ministries; on the General
Council of Finance and Administration (GCFA); as Director of the General Board
of Global Ministries (GBGM), and as President of the United Methodist Committee on Relief (UMCOR). Bishop Davis was a founding member of Path 1, our
denominational new church planting emphasis and served on the board from 20042012. He currently serves as the chair of the Audit Committee of the General Board
of Global Ministries (GBGM). He also serves as the Vice President of Emory
University Board of Trustees, and a member of the Robert W. Woodruff Health Sciences Center Board of Emory University.
Bishop Davis is married to the former Jennifer Mink of Pineville, Kentucky. They
have two children and four grandchildren.

Dr. David E. Cann

Dr. David E. Cann has a special interest in research and teaching
in the areas of Wesleyan Theology, Black Religion in America,
Methodist Traditions, Religion and Racism, and Multicultural
congregations. He teaches courses in Congregational Evangelism, Missiology and Wesleyan Theology. His publications
and papers include Fracturing the Canon: An Interdisciplinary
Humanities Reader and “The ‘Other’ Black Methodists: Case
Studies in United Methodism.”
He is an Ordained Elder in the United Methodist Church and has over 15 years of
pastoral experience in a variety of economic and cultural settings.
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Memorial Service
Reverend Debora Bishop

Reverend Debora Bishop has been the Associate Pastor for Congregational Care at Spanish Fort United Methodist Church since
2006. Born into a military family, Debora spent her childhood
moving around the United States. Debora earned her Bachelor’s
Degree at Troy University and was commissioned a 2nd Lieutenant in the United States Marine Corps. In the Marine Corps she
served on both US coasts and in Japan and Europe.
Debora earned her Master’s in Business while stationed at Parris Island, SC as a
Company Commander.
After 20 years of service, Debora retired and she and her husband Tom, with their
son Matthew, moved to South Carolina. Debora earned a Master of Divinity at
Erskine Theological Seminary and served two rural churches and then a homeless
mission in Greenville before moving to Alabama. Debora is a trained Spiritual Director and is working on her Doctorate in Ministry (Pastoral Care and Counseling)
at Louisville Presbyterian Theological Seminary. In the AWF Conference Debora
is in a Baypines District Incubator Group, serves as President of the Conference
Board of Trustees, is a member of the Conference Spiritual Formation Leadership
Team, and participates in the Institute for Clergy Excellence Kingdom Economics
Group.

Laity Banquet
The Laity Banquet will be held on Tuesday, June 4 at 5pm.
Music for the evening will be provided by the Circuit Riders.
The Circuit Riders are members of Christ United Methodist
Church. This blue grass gospel band performs throughout the
year within their congregation as well as at other churches
locally and out of town.
The Circuit Riders are: Jeff Spiller, Senior Pastor of Christ United Methodist
Church who plays guitar and sings lead; Steve Ellisor serves as the Minister of
Recreation at Christ United Methodist Church and plays bass guitar and sings
tenor; Pat Murphy plays banjo, fiddle, guitar, dobro, mandolin and sings baritone,
and Tommy Underwood plays lead guitar and sings bass.
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THE STANDING RULES with committee revisions
[All paragraph references are to the 2008 2012 Book of Discipline of The United Methodist
Church except as otherwise noted, and these numbers are printed in bold]

INTRODUCTION
The Alabama-West Florida Conference of The United Methodist Church shall be organized
and structured according to the mandates of the latest edition of The Book of Discipline, and
shall act in all respects in harmony with the policy of The United Methodist Church. In
keeping with those standards, this conference commits itself to the elimination of
discrimination on the basis of race and gender (see ¶ 604.1). The following Standing Rules
are adopted by the Alabama-West Florida Conference for its own government and to fit its
specific setting for mission and ministry. The Alabama-West Florida Conference shall
follow Roberts Rules of Order except where superseded by explicit rules in The Book of
Discipline or in these Standing Rules.
1. These Standing Rules shall be implemented, applied or amended as follows:
A. These rules shall be effective at the end of the annual conference at which they are
passed. All rules remain in effect until they are rescinded or amended by a two-thirds
vote of those present and voting on the next day after the proposed amendment has been
presented in writing.
B. Any proposed changes in the Standing Rules should be received in writing by the
chairperson of the Committee on Standing Rules no later than February 1.
C. Any of these rules, except Standing Rule (SR) 1D, may be suspended by a two-thirds
vote of those present and voting at annual conference.
D. A change in the number of districts may not be made later than the first business session.

OFFICERS OF THE ANNUAL CONFERENCE
2. The conference secretary and the Journal editor, (nominated by the Conference Committee
on Nominations, see SR 5B) and the treasurer/statistician and the conference registrar
(nominated by the Council on Finance and Administration) shall be elected at the first
session of the annual conference following the general conference, with tenure of office to
begin on December first, following their election, and to serve for the succeeding
quadrennium. (¶ 603.7 and ¶ 619)

COMMITTEES RELATING TO THE ANNUAL CONFERENCE
3. There shall be a Committee on Standing Rules, composed of the conference secretary, the
director of Connectional Ministries (see SR 5A), the conference treasurer, the Journal editor
and five at-large members including the chairperson. This committee shall be nominated by
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the Committee on Nominations (see SR 5B), shall include both lay and clergy, and shall be
elected by the annual conference. Additional nominations may be made from the floor.
4. There shall be a Committee on Resolutions and Petitions, composed of four clergy and four
lay persons, nominated by the Committee on Nominations, which shall consider all petitions
addressed to the general, jurisdictional, and annual conferences. After consideration, the
committee shall submit the petitions, with its written recommendation and the rationale for
each recommendation, to the annual conference for action. Resolutions shall be submitted to
the committee by February 15, except in cases where it can be demonstrated by the author of
a late petition that the situation which gave rise to making the petition was not apparent until
after the deadline for petitions. The committee shall provide copies of all resolutions
submitted by February 15 to all voting members present at the conference session. The maker
of the resolution shall supply these copies of his/her resolution if submitted after February 15.
No resolution will be received on the last day of the session.
5. A. The leadership, missional and administrative structures of the Alabama-West Florida
Conference shall come together at a “common table” or organization known as the
“Connecting Our Resources and Empowerment” Team or CORE Team. The means of
electing and appointing representatives connected to the CORE Team, which includes
boards, committees, councils, commissions and divisions of the Leadership Team, the
Mission Team, and the Administrative Team, are spelled out in these Standing Rules (also
see SR 24 and following).
B. There shall be a Committee on Nominations, composed of: the resident bishop, who shall
be the chairperson; the conference lay leader; the conference secretary, who shall be the
secretary of this committee; the director of connectional ministries; the conference treasurer;
the conference presidents of United Methodist Men (UMM) and of United Methodist Women
(UMW); a member of United Methodist Youth (UMY); the eight district lay leaders; the
eight district superintendents; the Conference Resource Center program staff; and three atlarge members chosen by the bishop with attention given to the need for inclusive
representation. This committee shall nominate persons quadrennially to the CORE Team,
conference boards, commissions, committees, councils, etc., as listed in these Standing Rules
and as needed by other conference institutions (per the bishop’s discretion). Nominations
shall be consistent with the most recent Book of Discipline, with attention given to
inclusiveness, diversity and expertise. The committee shall submit its nominations as early
as possible in the annual conference session. Additional nominations may be made from the
floor.
6. There shall be a Committee on Courtesies and Introductions, composed of three lay and two
clergy members, which shall be responsible for presentation of visitors to the conference, and
for a report in the closing session expressing appreciation to persons and groups who have
rendered special services in the program.

14

2013 — alabama-west florida

7. There shall be a Committee on the Journal, appointed quadrennially by the bishop,
composed of two members, who shall examine the minutes of daily sessions for accuracy and
report the findings to the conference.
8. The Council on Finance and Administration (CFA) shall handle expenses of the conference
session. There shall be a Conference Administration Fund, the amount to be fixed annually
by the Council on Finance and Administration, with assessments for the fund to be allocated
annually to individual pastoral charges on the apportioned formula basis. There shall be a
$28.00 per person, per night, charge for all listed below who use Conference-provided
lodging (this fee may be adjusted by CFA if needed). When the Annual Conference makes
available lodging for the annual conference session, CFA will establish reasonable fees.
Conference meals for which there is no charge, shall be provided by the Annual Conference
Administration Fund. Instructions shall be provided in advance by the conference registrar.
The following persons are eligible for this:
A. The presiding bishop and spouse, all clergy members in full connection and all
provisional members;
B. All clergy being admitted as provisional members and all transferred members from other
conferences;
C. All associate members and local pastors serving pastoral charges;
D. Local and supply pastors scheduled to receive pastoral appointments;
E. Spouses and surviving spouses of clergy who receive GBOPHB annuities;
F. Clergy from other conferences serving within our conference;
G. Lay members of the conference as specified in SR 14 or duly elected reserve lay
members, provided the principal lay members are not in attendance;
H. Diaconal ministers;
I. Up to two youth pages selected from each district (lodging expenses to be paid by their
district); and
J. At large lay members, distinguished guests, and those specified in SR 14B.
9. The Annual Conference Session Planning Committee:
A. There shall be an Annual Conference Session Planning Committee, composed of the
presiding bishop who shall serve as chairperson, the host district superintendent, the
conference secretary, the Journal editor who shall serve as secretary of the committee, the
conference registrar, the conference treasurer, the chairperson of the Conference Division of
Worship, the director of connectional ministries, the conference lay leader, the host district
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lay leader, the conference president of United Methodist Women, the conference president of
United Methodist Men, the chairperson of the Conference Board of Advocacy and Racial
Ethnic Ministries, and a member of the Conference United Methodist Youth.
B. The Annual Conference Session Planning Committee shall arrange tentatively the
program of the annual conference session, and shall submit the program to the opening
session for possible amendment and adoption as its agenda. The Sacrament of the Lord's
Supper shall be included in the program.
C. A period of recognition of retiring clergy shall be held during the conference session,
with a suitable program arranged by the Board of Ordained Ministry.
D. A memorial service commemorating each clergyperson or “surviving spouse” or diaconal
minister who died since the last annual conference shall be arranged by the Commission on
Archives and History. The Commission shall also provide a memoir of the deceased for
publication in the Journal.

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES OF THE
ANNUAL CONFERENCE
10. The rules of order of the preceding general conference shall govern parliamentary
procedure in this conference in all matters not covered by the standing rules. In order to be
recognized to address the conference, each person must identify him/herself as to name and
the capacity in which he/she is entitled to speak to the session.
11. Reports and resolutions:
A. All reports and resolutions shall be consistent with the Guidelines for Reports; and shall
be placed on the conference agenda by the conference secretary in the order designated by
the Annual Conference Session Planning Committee. Proposed resolutions and changes to
the conference standing rules shall lie on the conference secretary's desk for at least one
business session before being acted upon by the conference.
B. By a two-thirds vote of those present and voting an agenda item may be taken up out of
order for consideration.
C. All amendments to reports of boards and agencies as printed in the Brochure of Reports
and all motions arising from the floor of the conference shall be made in writing to the
conference secretary.
D. At the annual conference session, no materials (handouts, etc.) shall be placed on the
pews or seats when the conference is in recess, unless a prior majority vote approves an
exception to this rule.
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12. In order to expedite the business of the conference, the Consent Agenda Committee,
composed of the secretary of the annual conference, the chairperson of the Committee on
Standing Rules, the director of connectional ministries, and the Journal editor, in
consultation with agencies or individuals presenting reports, recommendations or resolutions,
may present in the Brochure of Reports a written list of items which shall be known as the
Consent Agenda. Items on the Consent Agenda shall be considered as adopted by consent of
the annual conference. An individual item may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a
written request signed by twelve lay and/or clergy members of the annual conference and
presented to the conference secretary prior to the first business session. When a matter has
been removed from the Consent Agenda, it shall be placed into the regular agenda at an
appropriate time.
13. Election of General and Jurisdictional delegations:
A. Delegates to the general and jurisdictional conferences shall be elected according to
stipulations in ¶ 502.4 and ¶ 515 respectively of the Book of Discipline, and they shall serve
in all sessions of these conferences held during the quadrennium. In addition to those
delegates funded by the general and jurisdictional conferences, the Alabama-West Florida
Conference shall pay the expenses of only one more alternate delegate, lay and clergy, to the
general and jurisdictional conferences.
B. In the election of delegates, the presiding bishop shall appoint four teams of tellers (two
clergy teams and two lay teams), each team consisting of one representative from each
district, one of whom shall serve as head teller.
C. In the election of these delegates, the ballots shall be furnished to the conference by the
conference secretary at the time of voting. No vote shall be valid unless cast on the ballot
designated by the presiding bishop.
D. One year prior to an electing annual conference, the Board of Laity shall make plans and
policies regarding the lay elections, and give guidance to laity regarding the process of
caucusing, nominating and electing the lay delegation. Following the opening session of the
electing annual conference, the laity, in their orientation session, will give opportunity for
any persons seeking election (whose name has not been put in nomination in advance) to
provide a single printed profile sheet for distribution.
E. A general code of ethical standards will be demonstrated by every candidate, lay and
clergy. Every individual's right to exercise his/her voting or political expression should be
consistent with the Social Principles of The United Methodist Church.
F. Endorsements of candidates will be made only by individuals and/or local churches, or the
district electing caucus.
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14. Annual Conference lay members:
A. Lay members to the annual conference shall be elected yearly in the charge conferences.
One youth member to the annual conference (age 12-17) (expenses to be paid by their
district) and one young adult member (age 18-30) shall be elected from each district. The
conference secretary (if lay), the conference lay leader, the director of conference lay
speaking ministries, the conference president of United Methodist Women, the conference
president of United Methodist Men, a member of the conference United Methodist Youth, the
conference secretary of Global Ministries (if lay), the president or equivalent officer of the
conference young adult organization, active deaconesses and home missioners under
episcopal appointment within the bounds of the annual conference, district lay leaders, and
diaconal ministers, shall be lay members to the annual conference. (For churches with more
than one clergyperson under appointment, see ¶ 32 of the Book of Discipline.)
B. In compliance with the disciplinary requirement (¶ 32) to keep lay representation in the
annual conference session equal to that of clergy, the conference secretary shall ascertain
whether the upcoming session will be in balance with respect to lay and clergy membership
as of January 1 each year. If additional lay members are needed, the conference secretary
shall add them using the following guidelines:
(1) The first eight shall be the district presidents of United Methodist Women. In the
event that fewer than eight are needed, the secretary shall make the determination on the
basis of the last reported church membership totals of the districts, moving from the
largest downward in scale.
(2) The second eight shall be the district presidents of the United Methodist Men. In the
event that fewer than eight are needed, the secretary shall make the determination on the
basis of the last reported church membership totals of the districts, moving from the
largest downward in scale.
(3) Next the secretary shall name full-time lay workers on the professional staff of the
Conference Resource Center.
(4) Next the secretary shall name the lay members of the Conference Board of Ordained
Ministry.
(5) Next the secretary shall name lay members of the general and jurisdictional
delegations (including alternates) in the order of their election.
(6) Next the secretary shall name lay persons who are chairpersons of CORE Team
boards, commissions, councils, etc., in the order listed in the CORE organizational
document, and the at-large members of the CORE Team.
(7) Next the secretary shall name lay members of the Council on Finance and
Administration.
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(8) The remainder shall be divided among the eight districts and elected at-large by each
district committee on nominations. In the event that there is a remainder of less than
eight, the secretary shall make the determination on the basis of the last reported church
membership totals of the districts, moving from the largest downward in scale.
(9) If a person is selected by the above process who is already a member of annual
conference as the delegate from his/her church/charge, he or she may serve in the new
capacity and thus empower the church’s alternate delegate to go as the voting
representative of the charge. The district superintendent and district lay leader of each
district may assist in this process in conjunction with their district’s orientation session in
preparation for the annual conference.
15. The Conference Journal and Brochure of Reports:
The publication and distribution of The Annual Conference Journal and the Brochure of
Reports shall be supervised by the Editorial Committee, chaired by the Journal editor and
composed of the conference secretary, the Director of Ministerial Services, the
treasurer/statistician, and the director of Connectional Ministries. The Journal editor shall be
responsible for preparation of the Brochure of Reports and its distribution to all eligible
persons. Materials and reports to be included in the Brochure of Reports shall be in the
hands of the Journal editor NO LATER THAN the last Monday in February. The Brochure
of Reports shall contain an order blank for the Journal. The Council on Finance and
Administration shall determine the cost of each Journal including mailing. All names,
addresses, reports, resolutions, and/or other materials to be included in The Journal of the
Alabama-West Florida Conference shall be in the hands of the conference secretary no later
than ten working days after the close of annual conference.
16. Board Memberships and Trusteeships:
A. With the exception of the Board of Ordained Ministry, no person may serve on more than
one quadrennial agency of this conference at the same time. Except as provided by the Book
of Discipline, one’s term on a quadrennial agency shall not exceed eight years within any
twelve consecutive years. Elected membership on non-quadrennial agencies is limited to no
more than eight of any twelve consecutive years, with the exception of the Board of Laity.
For the sake of administrative and program continuity, this standing rule shall not apply
where existing constitutions require the retiring chair to continue to serve for a period not to
exceed two years. The quadrennial agencies are: the Conference Board of Global Ministries,
the Board of Discipleship, the Board of Church and Society, the Board of Congregational
Development, the Town and Country Commission, the Board of Higher Education and
Campus Ministry, the Board of Advocacy and Ethnic Ministries, the Board of Ordained
Ministry, the Commission on Equitable Compensation, the Board of Pension and Health
Benefits, the Council on Finance and Administration, and the at-large members on the CORE
Team.
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B. Persons may be enlisted to assist boards and agencies for specific task force
responsibilities.
C. No person shall serve on more than one board of trustees or board of directors of
institutions or agencies related to this annual conference at the same time. Nothing in this
rule shall be construed to mean that persons may not serve concurrently on boards of trustees
or directors and as members of quadrennial boards and agencies or ex-officio trustees or
directors, where disciplinary provisions apply.
D. Persons who fail to attend and participate in the meetings and programs expected of their
elected position for one year without legitimate excuse shall be replaced. The person chosen
by the Committee on Nominations to fill the unexpired term may also be elected to serve an
additional quadrennium.
E. No person shall serve more than nine consecutive years (three terms) as a trustee of any
agency or institution related to this annual conference, nor shall this person be eligible for
election again to that board for three years.
17. Organizational stipulations for boards and agencies:
A. All conference program boards, commissions, divisions, and committees, except as
provided by the Book of Discipline, shall begin their tenure immediately upon election at
annual conference.
B. Every year the Conference Committee on Nominations shall complete its work four
weeks before the date set for the regular conference session, in order to inform nominees of
their selection and anticipated confirmation.
18. There shall be eight districts in this annual conference.
19. A district conference shall be held annually in each district of this annual conference, with
its program year starting in January. The voting membership of the district conference shall
be consistent with the directives of the United Methodist Book of Discipline, ¶ 657-658 658659.
20. Each district shall have a District Committee on Nominations composed of the district
superintendent as chairperson, and with a membership of three clergy and four lay persons,
elected annually. No member may serve for more than three consecutive years with the
exception of the district superintendent. The District Committee on Nominations may submit
to the district conference the names of one clergy and one lay person for election for each
district work area and age-level ministry, and such other persons as are needed for
membership to the District Council on Ministries or District CORE Team. Persons to be
nominated shall be consulted by their district superintendent prior to the submission of their
names. The District Committee on Nominations may fill vacancies with replacements to take
office immediately. Such persons shall be confirmed at the next meeting of the district
conference (¶ 658.1 659.1).
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21. Neither a district superintendent nor a paid staff person of the annual conference shall serve
as an elected member on a quadrennial board, commission, or committee, except as
specifically provided by the Book of Discipline. Vacancies occurring by appointment of
members of boards, divisions, commissions and committees to the district superintendency
shall be filled by the conference session when such appointments are made.
22. In the allocation of askings on the formula basis, the financial strength of the church shall
NOT include monies expended for the following items:
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.
F.
G.
H.
I.
J.
K.
L.
M.

Principal and interest on capital indebtedness.
Buildings and capital improvements.
General Advance Specials and World Service Special Gifts.
Conference Advance Specials.
Remittances by United Methodist Women to the conference treasurer.
Remittances to any authorized conference capital fund campaign.

Remittances to the Birmingham-Southern College Scholarship Fund and/or capital gifts.

Remittances to Huntingdon College Scholarship Fund and/or capital gifts.

Children's Home White Christmas Offering and Homes for the Aging/Fountain of Love offering.

Special Day Offerings of the General Church: (One Great Hour of Sharing, etc.)
All apportioned funds from the general church, the conference and the districts.
Benevolences paid directly by the local church.
Direct billing for pension and health benefits.

23. The treasurer of the annual conference shall make the final settlement regarding
apportionments, and disburse all funds to the annual conference boards, commissions and
committees or treasurers after the close of the fiscal year, following the guidelines of zerobased budgeting.

BOARDS AND AGENCIES OF THE ANNUAL CONFERENCE
24. There shall be a Conference CORE Team, as outlined in the “Plan of Organization for the
Alabama-West Florida Conference.” Policies or procedures for the CORE Team shall be
guided by the most current Book of Discipline. The “Plan of Organization for the AlabamaWest Florida Conference” shall be printed in the Journal at the first of each quadrennium.
Other offices, program boards, commissions, etc., as required by the Discipline but not a part
of the CORE Team, are also authorized. Also see SR 5.
25. There shall be a Golden Cross fund and offering to aid medical needs of conference
members/pastors. The chair of Golden Cross shall be nominated by, and shall report to, the
CORE Team Division of Missions.
26. There shall be a Conference Policies and Personnel Committee appointed by the Bishop
and approved by the CORE Team. The Committee shall establish uniform and equitable
policies and procedures in the employment of Conference Resource Center personnel. It
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shall be the goal of our annual conference that all conference and district offices maintain
reasonably consistent and inclusive policies regarding personnel, as is appropriate to each
locale.
27. There shall be a Board of Ordained Ministry as provided by the Book of Discipline (¶ 635).
28. There shall be a Board of Laity, as described in the Book of Discipline (¶ 631), which shall
be composed of the conference lay leader, the district lay leaders, the conference president of
United Methodist Women (UMW) , an additional officer of UMW, the conference president
of United Methodist Men (UMM), the conference scouting coordinator, the conference
director of Lay Speaking Ministries (LSM), an additional officer of LSM, a member of both
the United Methodist Youth (UMY), and United Methodist Young Adults, and the first
elected lay delegate to general conference. Additionally, the following shall serve ex-officio:
the presiding bishop, one cabinet representative, and the director of connectional ministries.
29. The conference lay leader shall be nominated by the Conference Board of Laity and elected
by the annual conference at the time of quadrennial reorganization. Additional nominations
may be made from the floor. The conference lay leader may serve no more than two
succeeding quadrennia as the conference lay leader. All other officers within the Board of
Laity shall be elected by the board. Vacancies in the office of conference lay leader shall be
filled by nomination from the board in the interim, and confirmed at the following annual
conference.
30. There shall be an Academy for Congregational Excellence, Inc. as authorized by the CORE
Team, composed of officers and board members specified in the Articles of Incorporation
and Bylaws of the Academy for Congregational Excellence.
31. There shall be a Commission on Equitable Compensation as provided by the Book of
Discipline (¶ 625), composed of twelve members, six lay and six clergy, at least one clergy
and one lay being from churches with fewer than 200 members. In addition, one
superintendent named by the cabinet and a staff person from the fiscal office shall be
members.
32. There shall be a Commission on Archives and History as provided by the Book of
Discipline (¶ 641). Eight members shall be elected by the annual conference at the beginning
of each quadrennium for a term of four years. A ninth member shall be a youth selected by
the Conference United Methodist Youth. Ex-officio members with vote shall include a
representative from Huntingdon College, the conference historian (unless receiving
compensation), the president of the AWFC Historical Society, the resident bishop, and the
conference secretary. The Archivist shall be an ex-officio member without vote. A
chairperson, vice-chairperson, and recording secretary/financial secretary, shall be elected by
the commission.
33. There shall be a Board of Pension and Health Benefits as provided by the Book of
Discipline (¶ 639), composed of eighteen members elected to 8-year terms, arranged in four-
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year classes to include representatives of both lay and clergy of both sexes. The Joint
Committee on Clergy Medical Leave shall be constituted as provided by the Book of
Discipline (¶ 652), with efforts made to be inclusive.
34. There shall be an Assembly Grounds Board of Trustees, constituted as authorized by a
Corporation Charter from the State of Alabama, record of which can be found on page 112 of
the 1958 Journal of our Annual Conference, and all amendments thereto. An updated copy
of the constitution shall be printed in The Conference Journal at the beginning of each
quadrennium.
35. There shall be a Council on Finance and Administration as provided by the Book of
Discipline (¶ 611), composed of eight lay, five clergy members, and the ex-officio members
as specified in ¶ 612. Unless the following are otherwise reimbursed, the CFA shall pay
from the Conference administrative budget the reasonable and relevant expenses (as set or
approved by CFA) of: the conference secretary's office; expenses of the Council on Finance
and Administration; all expenses of printing, honoraria, and incidental expenses connected
with annual conference sessions; expenses of cabinet meetings; expenses of all conference
agencies and special committees not participating in the conference benevolence budget;
room and board at annual conference of agencies and special committees meeting with the
Council on Finance and Administration for the purpose of making budget requests; honoraria
of the conference secretary and assistant secretaries for annual conference, the registrar and
assistants, the Journal editor; all expenses incurred by the Journal Editor in
preparing/printing the Brochure of Reports and the conference Journal
36.There shall be an Episcopal Residence Committee as provided by the Book of Discipline (¶
638), composed of the chairperson of the Committee on Episcopacy, the president of the
Annual Conference Board of Trustees, the president of the Conference Council on Finance
and Administration, and two at-large representatives selected by the bishop. Efforts shall be
made to keep membership inclusive, and at least two members of this committee shall be
women.
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CONSENT AGENDA

The following reports indicated by agency name and beginning page number are
a part of the CONSENT AGENDA. They will be considered as having passed by
consent of the annual conference unless they are removed from the CONSENT
AGENDA on Monday, June 3, at the afternoon session. PLEASE READ THE
REPORTS CAREFULLY PRIOR TO THE ABOVE DATE. (See Standing Rule
Number 12.)
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CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS
2012 GENERAL CONFERENCE
The United Methodist Church
Proposed Constitutional Amendment – I
On April 30, 2012, at a session of the General Conference of The United Methodist
Church held in Tampa, Florida, the following Constitutional Amendment was
adopted by a recorded vote of 865 Yes, 50 No (Calendar Item 211, DCA p. 2340).
It is now presented to the Annual Conferences for vote.
In the 2008 Book of Discipline, Division One, ¶ 6, Article VI, (2012 Book of
Discipline, Division One, ¶ 6, Article VI)) amend by addition as follows:
After “it will” add “pray.”
If voted and so declared by the Council of Bishops, ¶ 6 (¶ 6) would read:
Ecumenical Relations—As part of the church universal, The United Methodist
Church believes that the Lord of the church is calling Christians everywhere
to strive toward unity; and therefore it will pray, seek, and work for unity at all
levels of church life: through world relationships with other Methodist churches and united churches related to The Methodist Church or The Evangelical
United Brethren Church, through councils of churches, and through plans
of union and covenantal relationships with churches of Methodist or other
denominational traditions.
AND
Proposed Constitutional Amendment – II
On May 1, 2012, at a session of the General Conference of The United Methodist
Church held in Tampa, Florida, the following Constitutional Amendment was
adopted by a recorded vote of 731 Yes, 181 No (Calendar Item 205, DCA p. 2430).
It is now presented to the Annual Conferences for vote.
In the 2008 Book of Discipline, Division Two, Section II, ¶ 14, Article II, (2012
Book of Discipline, Division Two, Section II, ¶ 14, Article II)) amend by deletion
and addition as follows:
After “shall meet” delete “in the month of April or May” and after “duly authorized committees.” add a new sentence, “The change in the preceding sentence
shall become effective at the close of General Conference in 2016.”
If voted and so declared by the Council of Bishops, ¶ 14 (¶ 14) would read:
The General Conference shall meet once in four years at such time and in
such place as shall be determined by the General Conference or by its duly
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authorized committees. The change in the preceding sentence shall become
effective at the close of General Conference in 2016.
A special session of the General Conference, possessing the authority and
exercising all the powers of the General Conference, may be called by the
Council of Bishops, or in such other manner as the General Conference may
from time to time prescribe, to meet at such time and in such place as may
be stated in the call. Such special session of the General Conference shall be
composed of the delegates to the preceding General Conference or their lawful successors, except that when a particular annual conference or missionary
conference shall prefer to have a new election it may do so. The purpose of
such special session shall be stated in the call, and only such business shall
be transacted as is in harmony with the purpose stated in such call unless the
General Conference by a two-thirds vote shall determine that other business
may be transacted.
AND
Proposed Constitutional Amendment – III
On May 3, 2012, at a session of the General Conference of The United Methodist
Church held in Tampa, Florida, the following Constitutional Amendment was
adopted by a recorded vote of 618 Yes, 306 No (Calendar Item 54, DCA pp. 267273). It is now presented to the Annual Conferences for vote.
In the 2008 Book of Discipline, Division Two, Section VI, ¶ 32, Article I, (2012
Book of Discipline, Division Two, Section VI, ¶ 32, Article I) amend by deletion
and addition as follows:
After “director of Lay” delete “Speaking” and add “Servant”.
If voted and so declared by the Council of Bishops, ¶ 32 (¶ 32) would read:
The annual conference shall be composed of clergy and lay members. The
clergy membership shall consist of deacons and elders in full connection, provisional members, associate members, and local pastors under appointment.
The lay membership shall consist of professing lay members elected by each
charge, the diaconal ministers, the active deaconesses, and home missioners
under episcopal appointment within the bounds of the annual conference, the
conference president of United Methodist Women, the conference president
of United Methodist Men, the conference lay leader, district lay leaders, the
conference director of Lay Servant Ministries, conference secretary of Global
Ministries (if lay), the president or equivalent officer of the conference young
adult organization, the president of the conference youth organization, the
chair of the annual conference college student organization, and one young
person between the ages of twelve (12) and seventeen (17) and one young
person between the ages of eighteen (18) and thirty (30) from each district to
be selected in such a manner as may be determined by the annual conference.
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In the annual conferences of the central conferences, the four-year participation and the two-year membership requirements may be waived by the annual
conference for young persons under thirty (30) years of age. Such persons
must be professing members of The United Methodist Church and active participants at the time of election. Each charge served by more than one clergy
shall be entitled to as many lay members as there are clergy members. The lay
members shall have been for the two years next preceding their election members of The United Methodist Church and shall have been active participants
in The United Methodist Church for at least four years next preceding their
election.
If the lay membership should number less than the clergy members of the
annual conference, the annual conference shall, by its own formula, provide
for the election of additional lay members to equalize lay and clergy membership of the annual conference.
AND
Proposed Constitutional Amendment – IV

On May 1, 2012, at a session of the General Conference of The United Methodist
Church held in Tampa, Florida, the following Constitutional Amendment was
adopted by a recorded vote of 848 Yes, 57 No (Calendar Item 207, DCA p. 2431).
It is now presented to the Annual Conferences for vote.
In the 2008 Book of Discipline, Division Two, Section VII, ¶ 40, Article I, (2012
Book of Discipline, Division Two, Section VII, ¶ 40, Article I) amend by deletion
and addition, as follows:
Delete the first two words, “Changes in” and following “episcopal areas” delete
“may be effected” and add “shall be determined” and after “and the central conferences” add “The authority of jurisdictional and central conferences provided
herein is not circumscribed or limited by the authority provided to the College of
Bishops to arrange a plan of episcopal supervision.”
If voted and so declared by the Council of Bishops, ¶ 40 (¶ 40) would read:
The number, names, and boundaries of the annual conferences and episcopal areas shall be determined by the jurisdictional conferences in the United
States of America and by the central conferences outside the United States of
America according to the provisions under the respective powers and pursuant
to the respective structures of the jurisdictional and the central conferences.
The authority of jurisdictional and central conferences provided herein is not
circumscribed or limited by the authority provided to the College of Bishops
to arrange a plan of episcopal supervision.
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Rationale for Proposed Constitutional Amendments
The United Methodist Church
Voted General Conference April-May 2012
I. (¶ 6) The proposed amendment acknowledges God’s action in conferring the
gift of the Church by including praying for unity among the tasks of the Church.
II. (¶ 14) The proposed amendment would allow the General Conference to meet
at other times during the calendar year on dates better suited for younger
delegates and those with parenting responsibilities.
III. (¶ 32) The proposed amendment removes the connotation that leadership
training is only about preaching in order to develop skills and enhance the
spiritual gifts of the laity.
IV. (¶ 40) The proposed amendment gives the power of boundary decisions to
jurisdictional and central conferences, bodies that include lay persons.

PETITIONS
The Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference meeting at Christ United Methodist
Church on June 2-5, 2013 hereby Petitions the 2016 General Conference to amend
the current language of Social Principle 1027. God’s Creation and the Church
I. THE NATURAL WORLD, (2012 Book of Resolutions) as follows:
As disciples of Christ, we are called to be good stewards of God’s creation.
Accordingly, we call upon The United Methodist Church to adopt fresh ways
to respond to the perils that now threaten the integrity of God’s creation and the
future of God’s children. Specifically, The United Methodist Church:
•

•
•
•
•
•

designates one Sunday each year, preferably the Sunday closest to Earth Day,
as a Festival of God’s Creation, celebrating God’s gracious work in creating
the earth and all living things, incorporating it into the church’s liturgical
calendar, and developing appropriate ways for congregations to celebrate it;
endorses The Clergy Letter Project and its reconciliatory programs between
religion and science, and urges United Methodist clergy participation;
endorses the work of the National Religious Partnership for the Environment,
and the World Council of Churches Climate Change Program and urges
conferences and congregations to support their activities and programs;
supports the annual observance of the United Nations World Environment
Day and encourages conferences and churches to participate in programs such
as Environmental Sabbath;
recommends that annual conferences establish annual awards to honor
prophetic defenders of God’s creation from within their own constituencies;
affirms the importance of nurturing, community-building approaches such
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as the Global Action Plan’s Household Eco-Team Program designed to foster
resource efficient lifestyle practices;
encourages a simplified and environmentally sound lifestyle throughout the
church and request that Church agencies, conferences, and congregations be
stewards of God’s creation by reducing levels of consumption and participating in programs that reuse and recycle goods; and
encourages United Methodist institutions to perform energy audits, improve
energy efficiency, and pursue use of alternative clean energy sources such as
wind and solar power where available.

RATIONALE:
The purpose of The Clergy Letter Project is to promote the teaching of evolution. Its’ founder stated that religious leaders representing “scores of religions and
denominations” who comprise The Clergy Letter Project don’t agree with “the
belief that there is only one “right” religion”, contrary to our belief as set forth in
¶121 that Jesus Christ is “the Savior of the world, and the Lord of all.”
Submitted by:
John Moneyham, Member
Forest Park United Methodist Church
(850) 763-7140
john@jpmlawoffices.com
Co-sponsored by:
Reverend Gary Daniel, District Superintendent
Marianna-Panama City District
Forest Park United Methodist Men
Reverend John Friedman, Senior Pastor
Forest Park United Methodist Church
The Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference meeting at Christ United Methodist
Church on June 2-5, 2013 hereby Petitions the 2016 General Conference to amend
the current language of Social Principle ¶160 F Science and Technology
I. THE NATURAL WORLD (2012 Book of Resolutions) as follows:
We recognize science as a legitimate interpretation of God’s natural world. We
affirm the validity of the claims of science in describing the natural world and in
determining what is scientific. We preclude science from making authoritative
claims about theological issues and theology from making authoritative claims
about scientific issues. We find that science’s descriptions of cosmological, geological, and biological evolution are not in conflict with theology. We recognize
medical, technical, and scientific technologies as legitimate uses of God’s natural
world when such use enhances human life and enables all of God’s children to
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develop their God-given creative potential without violating our ethical convictions about the relationship of humanity to the natural world. We reexamine our
ethical convictions as our understanding of the natural world increases. We find
that as science expands human understanding of the natural world, our understanding of the mysteries of God’s creation and word are enhanced.
In acknowledging the important roles of science and technology, however, we
also believe that theological understandings of human experience are crucial to a
full understanding of the place of humanity in the universe. Science and theology
are complementary rather than mutually incompatible. We therefore encourage
dialogue between the scientific and theological communities and seek the kind of
participation that will enable humanity to sustain life on earth and, by God’s grace,
increase the quality of our common lives together.
RATIONALE:
If the first three chapters of Genesis are not true, why would anyone believe that
the rest of the Bible is true? By adopting a belief in organic evolution which is
macroevolution and rejecting even theistic evolution, God is completely removed
as the Creator.
Submitted by:
John Moneyham, Member
Forest Park United Methodist Church
(850) 763-7140
john@jpmlawoffices.com
Co-sponsored by:
Reverend Gary Daniel, District Superintendent
Marianna-Panama City
Forest Park United Methodist Men
Reverend John Friedman, Senior Pastor
Forest Park United Methodist Church
The Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference meeting at Christ United Methodist
Church on June 2-5, 2013 hereby Petitions the 2016 General Conference to amend
the current language of Social Principle 5052. Evolution and Intelligent Design
V. THE POLITICAL COMMUNITY, (2012 Book of Resolutions) as follows:
WHEREAS, The United Methodist Church has for many years supported the separation of Church and State (¶164C, Book of Discipline, 2004, p.119);
Therefore, be it resolved, that the General Conference of The United Methodist
Church go on record as opposing the introduction of any faith based theories such
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as supporting the teaching of Creationism or and Intelligent Design along with
the theory of evolution into in the science curriculum of our public schools.
RATIONALE
Students should be exposed to all possible explanations of creation to receive a
well balanced and informed science education. This amendment is consistent with
¶164E which calls for protecting “academic freedom” and fostering an educational
environment “that allows for a free exchange of ideas.”
Submitted by:
John Moneyham, Member
Forest Park United Methodist Church
(850) 763-7140
john@jpmlawoffices.com
Co-sponsored by:
Reverend Gary Daniel, District Superintendent
Marianna-Panama City District
Forest Park United Methodist Men
Reverend John Friedman, Senior Pastor
Forest Park United Methodist Church
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Petition to Amend Standing Rule 13
of the Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference
The Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference, meeting at Christ United Methodist
Church on June 2-5, 2013, hereby amends Standing Rule 13 to include the following:
"G. Those standing for election as clergy delegates to General and Jurisdictional
Conferences shall submit a photograph and a written personal profile containing
a brief biographical sketch and a statement of their position on matters relevant to
the connectional life of the United Methodist Church. The profile should be typed,
single-spaced, and must not exceed a total of 300 words. The profile shall be submitted to the Director of Connectional Ministries by the published deadline. The
Director of Connectional Ministries shall keep a record of each submitted profile
and shall submit all profiles to the Journal Editor to be included in the Brochure
of Reports for distribution prior to the meeting of the Annual Conference at which
elections are to be held."
Rationale:
The election of delegates to General and Jurisdictional Conferences is a matter of
great significance that should be conducted with the greatest attention to the clergy
covenant and our connectional structure. Taking a cue from the use of profiles for
lay candidates seeking election to the General Conference delegation, the addition
of the above language to the Standing Rules will strengthen the clergy covenant,
promote the connection, and improve the election process by providing all voting
clergy with a statement about the positions of candidates seeking to represent the
Annual Conference to General and Jurisdictional Conferences.
Submitted by:
Rev. Matt O'Reilly
Rev. Lester Spencer, Jr.
Rev. John Ed Mathison
Rev. Larry Teasley
Rev. Walter Albritton
Rev. Mike Sigler
Rev. Alan Cassady
Rev. Ralph Sigler
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DISTRICT REPORTS
BAYPINES
This has been a good year in the Baypines District as we have continued to grow
in fruitful ministries throughout the District. Our District is divided up into five
clusters: Eastern Shore, South Baldwin, Andalusia-Covington, Atmore-Monroe,
and Brewton-Evergreen. The purpose of the clusters is to be in prayer and support
of one another and to seek ways to meet the needs of that particular area of the District. At each meeting we have a pastor of each charge and a lay person representing each church. This year each Cluster will select their own Lay Leader who will
work with the Cluster they represent, and also the District Lay Leader. This will
help in the sharing of ideas, provide for better communication between the local
church and District, and help develop ministries that meet the needs of our District.
We are also thankful for our new District Lay Leader, Micheal Ard. We appreciate
her willingness to serve and we looking forward to working with her.
We are excited to report that this last year has shown a 7% increase in our Missional giving over the previous year. We are seeing an increased awareness and support
of our Connection.
Our District continues to be involved in Habitat for Humanity. We have had Habitat builds in the Brewton, Baldwin County, and Covington County. The Methodists
of the Baypines District provide leadership, labor, and financial support for all of
our Habitat builds. We are thankful for the opportunity to help provide a home for
those in need.
Our Lay Speaking program continues to be a growing ministry in our District.
Many of our Lay Speakers provide leadership in the local church, teach various
classes, lead various kinds of ministries, and some answer the call to serve as pastor of a local church. We are grateful for all of our Lay Speakers and for all they do
in serving God in the Baypines District.
United Methodist Women continue to be vital to the ministry of our District. They
just hosted their United Methodist Women’s Annual Tapestry in Bay Minette and
had the greatest attendance they’ve ever had with over 250 in attendance.
United Methodist Men also continue to be active and vital to our District. While
helping with many projects at Blue Lake, supporting the Upper Room Prayer line,
supporting Scouting ministries, and countless other hands-on ministries, they add
greatly to the ministry and mission of our District.
We continue to be thankful for the leadership and guidance of our District Superintendent, Rev. Dr. Cory Smith, and we look forward to continuing to work with him,
seeking God’s guidance and direction, as we discern God’s will for the ministry
and mission of the Baypines District.
Timothy R. Trent, Chairperson, District Leadership Team
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DEMOPOLIS
Isaiah wrote of a community:
“If you do away with the yoke of oppression, with the pointing finger and malicious
talk, and if you spend yourselves in behalf of the hungry and satisfy the needs of
the oppressed, then your light will rise in the darkness, and your night will become
like the noonday. The Lord will guide you always; he will satisfy your needs in a
sun-scorched land and will strengthen your frame. You will be like a well-watered
garden, like a spring whose waters never fail. Your people will rebuild the ancient
ruins and will raise up the age-old foundations; you will be called Repairer of Broken Walls, Restorer of Streets with Dwellings” (Is 58 NIV).
When Isaiah writes this, he is addressing the community about the heart of fasting.
I believe the scripture also serves as a vision for any community that seeks to embody, as best is able, the heart of God. What a joy it is to bear this vision of Isaiah
to a world in need of some restoration. The imagery of the rebuilding, repairing,
and restoring helps articulate aspects of the work that needs to be done following a
disaster. There is something about being in mission that helps us realize more fully
the abundant life God has set before us.
Since May of 2011, volunteer mission teams have been rebuilding and repairing broken walls and broken homes and in twelve instances have set foundations
for families who have lost their homes due to destructive storms. This work has
amounted to more than 36,000 hours and more than 40 families have been assisted
with substantial home repair, replacement or a rebuild.
Teams, churches and pastors have been working in the Demopolis District to satisfy
the needs of survivors with legal advice and pastoral care. Unmet needs have been
answered for many families through the coordination of resources such as food,
clothing, and gift cards while children’s camps have been provided for families in a
disaster hit area.
Rhetoric fails to capture the heart of this ministry, but please know that your participation and the participation of your church family continue to be essential throughout our conference and jurisdiction. Whether or not this is exactly what Isaiah had
in mind, the people of the United Methodist Church are living into that vision he
proclaimed to his community some 2500 years ago. When the cross and flame logo
is seen in the rural areas of the Demopolis District, people have come to know this
community of God’s family as the restorers of broken walls and the repairers of
dwellings, and my cell phone or the phone of any UMC in a disaster area will back
me up on this.
Respectfully submitted,
Charles U. Walters
Demopolis District Disaster Coordinator
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DOTHAN
2012 was a productive year in the Dothan District as the CORE team, led our District Superintendent Rev. Dan Morris worked to enable district churches to live out
our mission, “Growing Healthy Churches.” Below are Highlights of our ministry.
Super Sunday: United Methodists from throughout the Dothan District met on the
afternoon of January 22 at Covenant United Methodist Church for this annual training event. The opening plenary worship service was led by The Lamb Family from
Tuscaloosa. Following the opening session approximately 160 youth were blessed
by an inspirational message from former University of Alabama football standout
Siran Stacy who gave a moving testimony about overcoming the struggles of life.
The Hartford United Methodist Youth Praise Team accompanied the sacrament
of Holy Communion which was administered by Rev. Ferrell to the youth. Adults
attended workshops on Staff Parish Relations Committee, The Role of the Local
Church Trustees, General Conference, Finance and Stewardship, Missions, United
Methodist Women, Ministry for Seniors, United Methodist Men, Serving Those
Who Have Served, the Church Secretary and a special session for Retired Ministers, widows and Spouses.
District Gatherings: Under the leadership of District Lay Leader Dan Deloney the
district held two Laity Banquets and Rallies. The first was held at Enterprise United
Methodist Church on April 23. After sharing in a wonderful meal those in attendance were blessed by a musical program featuring groups from several churches
in the district. Distribution of the Brochure of Reports for Annual Conference
and other conference information was accomplished at this gathering. The second
Gathering was held at First United Methodist Church, Ozark on September 24. The
theme of this gathering was “Growing healthy Churches and Becoming Healthy
Disciples” The meeting began with a Heart Healthy meal followed by a program
which focused on the theme. Dr. Steve Furr, Conference lay Leader, brought a challenging message on “It’s Not About My Weight.” Following Dr. Furr’s presentation
Rev. Jeremy Mount of Perdido Bay United Methodist Church spoke on “Keeping
the Flock healthy in a Sick Culture”. The District also collected canned goods for
the Wiregrass Area Food Bank at this event.
Youth Ministry: Rev. Paul Ferrell continued his effective leadership in the area of
youth ministry. In addition to the Super Sunday event mentioned above, Paul coordinated a district wide “See You At the Pole” event On Wednesday September 26th.
District Superintendent Dan Morris and approximately 200 youth from the Dothan
district meet at Hartford FUMC. The evening started with a few inspiring videos
about how SYATP got started and groups that were participating around the world.
Our theme was “AWAKEN, For this cause I bow my knees unto the Father.” Our
scripture focus was Ephesians 3:14-21. The Harvest UMC youth praise team lead
worship. Rev. Paul Ferrell gave a short devotion about “letting God do what God
does”. A video entitled “God’s Chisel” by the skit guys was played. The evening
was closed with prayer.
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United Methodist Women: The Dothan District United Methodist Women under
the leadership of President Jolinda Strickland had an active year. During Super
Sunday those attending the workshop shared goals and activities for the year. In
April a Spiritual Day was held which included a memorial service for those United
Methodist Women who passed on to eternal glory over the preceding year. Two district wide mission studies were held. In May the study on Haiti was presented and
in November a study on poverty was held. Both studies were well attended. Annual
Day was held in September with Rev. Lynn Nesbitt as the speaker. New officers
were installed and Vince and Jan Ripoll were given Special Recognition Pins for
their commitment to the United Methodist Women. More than $27,000 was given
by the women of the district in support of national and international missions.
United Methodist Men: During 2012, a total of 13 churches were represented
in the Dothan District. Activities of the United Methodist Men charter groups are
varied and include Prayer Ministry, Bible Study, Lectionary Study, support of EMS
Ministry, support of Boy Scouts, Blue Lake improvement projects, local church
Youth Program support, church Trustee project support, community outreach,
support of the Upper Room Living Prayer Center, and fellowship within UMM.
District UMM President Frank Moore presented a program on the Importance of
United Methodist Men and charter initiation at the District Super Sunday event in
January. Programs on UMM were presented to four men’s groups. Representatives
from many district churches were present at the Annual Men’s Advance held at
Blue Lake. An exciting program receiving attention and support is the Understanding Men’s Ministry developed by the General Commission on United Methodist
Men with Allen Dunham of Enterprise First UMC receiving certification as a Men’s
Ministry Specialist.
Emergency Response Team: In 2012 the Emergency Response Team, under the
leadership of chair Trip Todd, purchased and equipped a new trailer and built four
decks as part of a west Alabama rebuilding project. Though they were not called
to action, in December the team was on standby status for possible deployment to
Mobile after the storms there.
Lay Speaking Ministry: Dothan District Lay Speakers, led by Judy Reiter, were
blessed to have an active year. District Lay Speakers filled pulpits 327 times, 32 are
teaching Sunday School and 15 are providing worship services in nursing homes
and other ministries. Four Certified Lay Speakers are serving as Supply Pastors,
three in our home district and one in the Marianna-Panama City District. We have
Lay Speakers serving in jails, recovery ministries and providing devotions at meetings of civic groups. The Dothan district has 90 Certified Lay Speakers, 15 Local
Church Lay Speakers and 12 applications for Lay Speaker certification. Those serving thank God for the opportunity to be a part of this ministry.
Respectfully submitted,
John McCullough, Chair
Dothan District CORE Team
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MARIANNA/PANAMA CITY
The Marianna-Panama City District has been active again this year continuing to
focus on growing healthier churches of all sizes.
Our goal on the CORE Team is to assist every church in reaching that goal of
becoming a healthier church. Toward that end, we have adopted the Vital Congregation Ministry Action Plan. We will have training for all churches in achieving the
goals of increasing disciples in worship, disciples making new disciples, disciples
growing as disciples, disciples engaged in mission, and disciples giving to mission.
On August 25, 2012, Bert Jones from GO International led our District in a workshop designed to help us grow as disciples. It is our intention to have small group
ministries in each of our churches. We continue planning ways to provide practical
help to churches of all sizes in each of the 5 goal areas mentioned above.
We are continuing our focus on “doing church” outside the walls of our congregations by becoming more involved with the communities in which our churches reside. We are asking all churches to answer the question, “Who is God calling you to
be passionate about reaching in your community?” We will then develop ministries
that reflect our vision. Several of our church have held our will hold community
outreach, Make a Difference days.
I am glad to report that the Marianna-Panama City District had a significant
increase in giving by our local churches to our covenant agreement to support missional giving. Our support of missional giving for the 2012 calendar year increased
by 11 percentage points across the district. First UMC Bonifay, Good News UMC,
Malone UMC, and First UMC, Panama City reached their goal of 100% participation for the first time in several years, helping to move the whole District forward.
Other churches have set goals that will increase their participation in Missional
Giving. My thanks to each of these churches, and to the several church where
payment of 100% of Missional Giving is in their DNA. We encourage all District
churches to make missional giving a priority in our church budgets and our pastors
to have regular discussions with their congregations on the importance of Missional
Giving.
We are committed to assuming our role as a part of the vital connection of the
United Methodist Church. As we look to the future, we are praying that we will be
able to start a new United Methodist congregation with ethnic leadership in the District during the next Conference year. Please pray with us that God will provide
the vision, opportunity and resources to accomplish this task.
I also ask you to join with the board of directors of Noah’s Ark Beach Ministry
(now known as The Ark) as they implement a new direction for the ministry of The
Ark. A coffee shop has opened in time for Spring Break, and the Ark will be home
to approximately 30 foreign students who will come to the Beach to work this summer. The Ark is also in partnership with FOOD4KIDZ, distributing food to many
families on the Beach. We are in conversation about the possibility of having regu-
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lar worship services in the chapel as well, and ask that you pray about additional
possibilities for the Ark to be God’s presence on Panama City Beach.
I wish to thank Lane Rees, District Director of Lay Speaking, for the wonderful
work he does in deploying our trained and enthusiastic lay speakers who are partnering with our clergy in moving the District forward.
Juddy Stephenson, our District Lay Leader, has plans in the works for District Lay
Leader Training, and following a model from the Dothan District, recognizing our
Partnership in Ministry by having a meal and meeting for Pastor’s and Lay leadership from each local church.
We have one of the strongest United Methodist Women’s groups in the Conference
who are active in fellowship and mission and ministry for the Kingdom. Many of
our district leaders have assumed conference leadership roles as well. Thank you, to
all our United Methodist Women.
As we continue to equip our pastors and laity to grow in vitality and fulfill our mission to make disciples, I am grateful for the partnership of all our churches who are
engaged in front-line ministry of reaching people with the Good News of Jesus
Christ.
Respectfully submitted,
Doug Pennington, CORE Team Chair
Gary A. Daniel, Superintendent

MOBILE
The Mobile District celebrates God’s mission and the faithful service of our United
Methodist churches. Throughout the district, our congregations are stepping out
in faith, taking risks, and sacrificing self to advance the Kingdom of God. Over
this past year, a number of our churches have reached out to their communities in
unprecedented ways. Souls are being saved, lives are being changed, and the work
of transformation continues both in our neighborhoods and in our own hearts.
Catapult is back! We are thrilled to again host the Catapult Conference April 29May 1, 2013 at Christ UMC. A great team is working hard to make this the best
Catapult conference yet. Phenomenal speakers and breakout sessions will help
advance the missional movement throughout our region.
Related to this, our district is excited about the Missional Track of the Academy for
Congregational Excellence and grateful for the commitment of our Conference in
furthering the missional shift so important to our future.
“Open Doors: United Methodist on Mission” is a new 501c3 established under the
supervision of our District Board of Mission and Church Extension. The purpose
of this new organization is to increase the number of United Methodists serving
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beyond the walls of our churches, initiate creative new ministries, and secure additional funding for our United Methodist agencies. Stay tuned; this is going to be
fun!
We continue to celebrate the incredible ministries of the UMC Mobile Inner City
Mission, the Dumas Wesley Community Center, the University of South Alabama
Wesley Foundation, the Metro Jail Ministry, and the United Methodist Children’s
Home. The work they do inspires us all and deserves our continued support!
Several of our congregations have started new worship opportunities for the purpose of reaching new and different people for Christ. We applaud their openness to
change for the purposes of expanding the Kingdom.
We rejoice that many of our congregations are increasingly diverse, reflecting the
diversity of their neighborhoods. Thank you for rising to the challenge!
Increasing number of people served by our churches through new backpack ministries, recovery ministries, GED programs, English as Second Language classes,
innovative food programs, a creative Mardi Gras service for our law enforcement
officers, etc.! Each of these ministries represents enormous sacrifices by a large
number of United Methodist. We are grateful for your faithfulness.
In the summer of 2012, a record twenty-eight college students from around the
country served as 3.0 Missional Interns. Intern teams partnered with area United
Methodist churches and agencies to serve in our inner city communities, helping
us to deepen our own relationships in our neighborhoods. It was a life-changing
experience for our interns, and it is made possible by the incredible generosity of
the QuadW Foundation and the active participation of countless United Methodists
in our area. We are very excited that the internship will be spreading nationally
beginning this year!
We are very grateful for the opportunity to partner with our General Board of
Global Ministries Young Adult Mission program, piloting a new approach to young
adult missions based on our experience with the 3.0 Missional Internship program.
The Mobile District will receive a team of three young adult missionaries in March
2013 who will serve here for their 17-month domestic placement. We look forward
to serving with these remarkable young people to share the love of Jesus Christ in
word and deed.
It is an exciting time to be a United Methodist! The members of the Mobile District
join our brothers and sisters across the connection in anticipating that, by the grace
of God and the faithfulness of his people, our best years lie just ahead.
Submitted by,
Don Woolley
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MONTGOMERY-OPELIKA
It has been a very productive and formative time during 2012-2013 for the Montgomery-Opelika District, under the leadership of our District Superintendent, Rev.
Ron Ball and our C.O.R.E. team members. The C.O.R.E. Team conducted planning meetings on May 21, 2012, in Auburn, AL, on August 30, 2012, in Troy, AL,
and on October 18, 2012, in Montgomery, AL. We will meet again before the Annual Conference sometime during April 2013.
Our C.O.R.E. Team is organized around three different ministry areas – NOW:
• Nurture (Team Captain: Rev. Patsy Gibson, Tuskegee First)
• Outreach/Organization (Team Captain: George Mingledorff. District Lay
Leader)
• Witness (Team Captain: Rev. Matt O’Reilly, Union Springs)
Already each team has been meeting and discussing better and more effective ways
of reaching out to the district in witnessing for Christ within and outside then walls
of our local congregations.
On August 13, 2012, the Witness Team met in Union Springs under Rev. Matt
O’Reilly’s leadership to consider effective ways to carry out the “witness” mission
in our district. The team mission was defined as…”to resource the churches of the
Montgomery-Opelika District to reach people outside the walls of our churches
with the gospel of Jesus Christ.” As a result of this meeting, it was later recommended and approved by the district C.O.R.E. Team to host a one-day evangelism
workshop entitled “Every Believer a Witness” on May 2, 2013, at Frazer Memorial
in Montgomery. The workshop is primarily designed for senior pastors (with their
lay leadership) to receive practical training on how pastors and lay leaders can go
and train others within their church to overcoming the hindrances of evangelism
(apathy, fear, ignorance, etc.) by sharing the gospel through relationships and using
conversational evangelism as a primary tool. A CEU will be provided to all participants in this workshop.
The Montgomery-Opelika District is rejoicing over a new local church-start in the
district. Pastor Brian Turner has been appointed to serve the new start-up church,
Grace Community Church (a United Methodist congregation), in Smiths Station,
AL. “Celebration” gatherings are being held each Sunday, with the church’s launch
date set for March 17, 2013. We rejoice with Brian and his wife, Jaclyn, and their
three children for this ministry door that God has opened within our district. Brian
is currently working toward a Masters of Divinity from Asbury Theological Seminary in Wilmore, KY.
On January 13, 2013, the Montgomery-Opelika District held its annual District
Conference and Lay Academy at Aldersgate UMC, Montgomery, AL. This conference was well-attended. After all district business was concluded, presentations
were made in the following areas:
• “Living Our Christian Faith” – Dr. John Ed Mathison
• “Fulfilling the Call to Mission Through Service and Stewardship” – Rev.
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•
•

Lisa Pierce, Alabama Rural Ministries, and George Mingledorff, District
Lay Leader
“Equip: Leader Development Ministry for the Local Church” – Rev. Neil
McDavid and Mrs. Kim Bullard, FUMC, Montgomery (who is trained
through EQUIP to introduce the materials)
“Relational Evangelism: Sharing Our Faith Stories” – Rev. Matt O’Reilly,
FUMC, Union Springs

A special “thank-you” is extended to Rev. Glen Pugh and the great staff of Aldersgate for their wonderful job of hosting this annual district-wide event.
These are exciting times for our district. Planning is continuing for regional “conversations” with local church lay leaders around the district as well as lay leadership training using the EQUIP: Leader Development material. We also rejoice in
the increasing numbers of Lay Speakers and the impact they are making around the
district. I am grateful to be a part of such a wonderful group of laity and clergy…to
God be the glory!
Respectfully submitted,
George Mingledorff, Lay Leader
Montgomery-Opelika District

MONTGOMERY-PRATTVILLE
The Montgomery - Prattville District consists of 101 churches spanning from
Thorsby to McKenzie, north and south, and Tallassee to Marion Junction, east
to west. The region includes the capitol city, landmarks of civil rights, home of
our Annual Conference offices, United Methodist Institutions, suburbs, farmland,
historic Selma, Lake Martin, Lake Jordan, Clanton’s peaches, and much more all
along I-65, I-85, Hwy 80, Hwy 14, and winding county roads. The churches range
from the largest “Cathedral in the Pines” (First UMC Montgomery) to endearing circuits scattered “nestled in the Pines.” Our District Lay Leader, Mr. David
Bowen and District Superintendent Dr. Philip McVay in a spirit of lay and clergy
partnership worked together compiling some of the highlights in this report.
The CORE Team held meetings on January 12, 2012 at Robinson Springs UMC in
Millbrook, on April 19 at Walnut Creek UMC in Clanton, on July 12 at Dalraida
UMC in Montgomery, and on October 25, 2012 at Capitol Heights UMC in Montgomery. Our District Conference was held November 18, 2012 at Metropolitan
UMC in Montgomery. The CORE Team appreciates the hospitality shown by all of
our host churches.
The District held an Annual Conference Orientation Session on May 20, 2012 at
First UMC, Montgomery. The session was held for all lay delegates to Annual Conference as well as for District clergy. As part of the orientation, Dr. Lawson Bryan
gave an overview of the recently completed General Conference held in Tampa.
Our District continued to support the Children’s Home by hosting our annual banquet on October 18, 2012 at First UMC in Prattville. Prattville First did a marvelous
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job with the food and the entertainment.
The District held our Local Church Academy in January 2012 and January 2013 at
First UMC in Montgomery. Special thanks go to Rev. David Saliba and the staff at
First UMC for coordinating these events. Also, we want to thank our session leaders who all shared dimensions of the SEND model… Rev. Craig Carter, Dr. Rob
Couch, Rev. Matt Mobley, Rev. Allen Newton, Rev. Olivia Poole, Ms. Susan Hunt,
and Dr. Tim Thompson.
Our District was very involved in Lay Speaking Ministries over the past year. The
District held lay speaking training at Perry Hill UMC in Montgomery in May 2012.
The training offered the lay speaking basic course as well as two advanced courses.
The District is grateful to Perry Hill UMC for the excellent job it did as our host
church.
During 2012, the District had 64 local church and certified lay speakers. Lay
speakers filled the pulpits of 26 different District churches a total of 114 times. Lay
speakers also served throughout the year in nursing homes, schools, prison ministry, and in many other ways.
Our District continued to be active in Disaster Response under the leadership of Dr.
Chris Perry, our District Disaster Response Coordinator. Dr. Perry held a number
of trainings for our District and for the Conference. Our District was very involved
in the cleanup and relief efforts from the tornadoes that swept through our state in
March of 2012.
The Montgomery - Prattville District has continued to enthusiastically move
toward the future developing new teams which are the fruit of the Annual Conference incubator team. We are coordinating with the SEND (Seek, Engage, Nurture,
Deploy) model of the Annual Conference. Over the last year, our first incubator
team invited our churches in the Annual Conference and District to spend ninety
days in prayer about making disciples. The challenge was to pray for greater clarity and specific ways disciples could be made in each local church. After praying
for 90 days we asked each congregation to discern what is God calling you to do
with three options. First, to STEP UP and sharpen the focus of making disciples
through existing ministry. Second, to STEP OUT and develop something new to
draw in new people not currently being reached. This could be a new worship
service, mission team, disciple group, or even a new church. Third, to GO FOR IT
and follow the vision God is laying on the hearts of your church.
Our second incubator team consisting of several younger clergy rolled out a mission action plan of forming covenant teams for our District pastors. Out of this
team formed five new covenant teams involving around 40 pastors in our District
for monthly accountability gatherings. The five new teams each have a different
focus including leadership, prayer, self-care, theology, and worship. In 2013, a new
lay incubator team will be launched to offer more lay opportunities for the incubator process.
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Our District Churches improved 10% in apportionment giving in 2012, over 2011,
by paying 92 percent. The District Trustees continue to approve funding for the exciting restart (formerly known as Dexter Avenue) now known as River City Church
a United Methodist Congregation. Initial signs are glistening with hope that the
new church is on the way to becoming a vibrant congregation offering United
Methodism a presence in resurgent downtown Montgomery.
In the coming year, we pray that we will continue to live out the mission of “making disciples of Jesus Christ for the transformation of the world” as we seek to bear
fruit throughout the District, Conference, and impact our world. Rev. Jay Cooper, discipleship coordinator for our District, is leading us in discerning a variety
of practical ways for local churches to be more effective in “making disciples.”
Overall, we continue to lift up “making disciples” as our source of health and life
for the future. In living into this mission, there is truly no limit to the difference we
can make for Jesus Christ and His Kingdom!
Submitted by,
David Bowen, Lay Leader
Philip McVay, District Superintendent

PENSACOLA
The Pensacola District continues to celebrate increased membership and giving.
We give thanks to God for the blessings of hospitality and stewardship. We realize
that though there is evidence of growth, we still have much work to do. Our district
emphasis for 2012, based on Five Practices of Fruitful Congregations by Bishop
Robert Schnase, has been on generous stewardship.
We began the year by sending a letter to all of the General Conference delegates
from the AWF Conference pledging our support by acknowledging their preparation for the work required and the personal sacrifice they have made as they serve
our denomination in this capacity. We pledged our prayers for the delegates and
their families.
The Pensacola District CORE Team meets five or six times a year as needed. We
have made a decisive effort to keep consistency and continuity in our district-wide
meetings and a concerted effort to meet in all areas of our district by rotating geographical locations of gatherings. In January Cokesbury UMC hosted the seminar
“Body and Soul: The Essentials of Self Care” offered by the AWFC Academy for
Congregational Excellence. This was our first holistic attempt for laity and clergy.
Each year we begin the new season after Annual Conference by hosting the District
Welcoming Event. Pastors, SPPR chairpersons, lay leaders and spouses were
invited to attend a dinner with childcare provided. In the fall we began our focus on
stewardship. In September we held a day apart for clergy and laity with Dr. Ross
Dickens speaking on “Faith and Money.” The district held other small group training sessions during the year for lay leaders, SPPR, children directors, and finance
chairpersons. Lay speaker training was held in the fall, and 2012 was an active
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year for Lay Servant Ministries, as lay speakers filled the pulpit at 67 churches
and served 188 worship services in nursing homes, Hispanic ministries, and prison
ministries. The District Conference is held each year on the first Sunday in November. This year Dr. John Ed Mathison led “Treasures of the Transformed Life” at our
District Conference. The district youth have two great events each year. In January
more than 1100 youth attended the Meltdown retreat at Panama City Beach, and in
November, concurrent with District Conference, more than 400 youth attended the
FUSED event for a time of praise and worship. The annual district clergy Christmas
party, hosted by the district superintendent and spouse, was held on the first week
in December.
Continuing with Five Practices of a Fruitful Congregation, the emphasis for the
Pensacola District for 2013 will be mission and service. Planning ahead to 2014,
the emphasis will be worship. If we continue in this trend, the emphasis for 2015
will be faith development and will complete the “Five Practices.”
With regret, we said good-by to our CORE Team chairperson, Rev. Allison Posell.
Allison has served our CORE Team from 2007 to 2012 and as chairperson from
2008 to 2012. Allison is now part of the St. James UMC staff.
Respectfully submitted,
Beverly Maddox, Lay Leader
Pensacola District

CONFERENCE CORE TEAM

It is my honor and privilege to serve along with Dr. Steve Furr as co-chair of the
Conference Leadership Team called the CORE Team (“Connecting Our Resources
and Empowerment” Team”). The CORE Team consists of chairpersons of boards,
organizations and ministries of the annual conference along with at-large members
and conference staff. This group, numbering 33 persons is divided into three (3)
small teams which are administrative, leadership and missional.
Driven by our mission to “make disciples of Jesus Christ for the transformation of
the world”, four (4) priorities guide our work. These are, developing lay and clergy
transformational leaders, new church development and congregational revitalization, embracing ministries with the poor, and global health. To address these
priorities we meet four (4) times a year and focus on visioning, new and emerging
ministries, a review of the ministries, and then review and recommend the conference ministries budget to the Conference Council on Finance and Administration
(CCFA). Through this process the vision of The Academy for Congregational Excellence was born, as well as the vision for CIRCLES of Transformation. CIRCLES of Transformation is about embracing ministry with the poor for the purpose
of breaking the cycle of poverty in families and transforming communities.
The new vision that is now emerging through the CORE Team process is that of
a clergy wellness initiative and lay empowerment, ownership, and leadership of
local church ministries. To frame our ministry efforts, we use a ministry operat-
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ing system we call the SEND Model. Through this model we seek leaders, engage
them (foster “buy in”), nurture them and then deploy them in ministry. The SEND
Model is based on Matthew 28 where Jesus commissions his followers to “go and
make disciples of all nations baptizing them in the name of the Father, the Son and
the Holy Spirit and teaching them to obey everything I have commanded”. We encourage all conference boards, organizations, and ministries to embrace the SEND
Model as a way of “making disciples of Jesus Christ for the transformation of the
world.”
My deepest gratitude and thanks to all who serve in ministry through the Conference CORE Team.
Submitted by,
R. Neil McDavid
Co – Chairperson
Conference CORE Team

academy for congregational
excellence (ace)
2012 marked the first full year of ministry for The Academy for Congregational
Excellence, the new agency created to develop leaders for Alabama-West Florida
United Methodism. Our vision is: Effective Leaders, Fruitful Churches.
With the guidance of Spiritual Leadership, Inc., ACE has a team working to
develop a comprehensive ministry action plan that will align with priorities of the
Conference CORE Team, Cabinet, and Board of Ordained Ministry. Meanwhile,
ACE has the following initiatives in place that were identified by clergy and laity in
a survey conducted in October, 2011:
Primary Leadership Skills - 39 persons are enrolled in a leadership skills
1.
course entitled, “Becoming a More Effective Leader.” The course is offered at
Frazer UMC in Montgomery on the 3rd Thursday of each month, January-November 2013. The class is diverse in terms of age, race, gender, and church size; all
eight districts are represented. The classes are taught by a faculty representing the
finest in lay and clergy leadership.
Preaching Excellence – A class in Montgomery, led by Dr. Tim Thomp2.
son, and a class in Dothan, led by Dr. Hays McKay, have completed a year of study
and work together. A class in Pensacola is currently under way led by Dr. Wesley
Wachob. Classes are projected for the 2013-14 conference year in Montgomery,
Dothan, Pensacola, and Panama City.
Self-Care – Under the direction of Dr. Don Winslett, founder of The Cen3.
ter for Clergy Care in Pensacola, two groups of clergy have completed 3 months
of “Body and Soul.” This is a program that requires participants to commit to:
1) Work out at least twice weekly with a personal trainer; 2) Improve eating habits
and nutrition; 3) Spend a minimum of 20 minutes per day in Centering Prayer; 4)
Meet bi-weekly in a covenant group with a licensed therapist well acquainted with
the stresses of clergy life. A Baypines District body and Soul group and one
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in Montgomery will have completed their three month programs before the 2013
annual conference. Future groups are projected for Mobile and Dothan and a new 6
month program will begin in Pensacola. ACE expresses its gratitude to The Board
of Pensions for a $5,000.00 grant to make Body and Soul more affordable for
clergy who are in need of this ministry.
4.
EQUIP – This is a biblically based leadership development program created by Dr. John Maxwell and has been used successfully in over 100 countries.
Pastors and key laity representing all 8 districts have been trained to teach EQUIP
in their local churches and in other congregations as well. Trainers include Rev.
Neil McDavid, Kim Bullard, Rev. Ron Ball, and Rev. John Bonner. At this writing,
ACE and our EQUIP Team plan participation in a Prayer Walk that will take place
from Atlanta to Guatemala, designed to raise awareness and support. Kim Bullard
is helping coordinate the walk from Montgomery to Mobile.
5.
Missional Church – Congregations are being given the opportunity to become part of a two-year commitment to focus on becoming missional communities.
This initiative involves quarterly “Intensives” where training takes place. The first
Intensive was at Blue Lake, February 22-23, 2013. The second and third Intensives
occur at the Catapult Conference, April 29-May 1, 2013, and following annual
conference June 5-6, 2013.
Academy for Ministries with Children – This ministry, under the excel6.
lent guidance of Rev. Leigh Meekins, is a two-year paraprofessional certification
program for local church workers with children, both staff and volunteer. It offers
courses for those without seminary training to enhance their knowledge and skills
in working with children.
ACE is grateful to Dr. Wayne Perry for a 36 page study report that answers the
question: What are the qualities of an “excellent church” in Alabama-West Florida?
This study of 15 congregations of all sizes in all 8 districts – congregations identified by their D.S. as “excellent” – yields fascinating and helpful information. Dr.
Perry has now created a survey instrument that local churches can use to measure
their effectiveness against the profile created by the research. Contact the ACE office-2600 W. Strong Street, Pensacola, FL 32505 – to receive further information.
The ACE Board of Directors is happy to welcome two new members for 2013: Dr.
Larry Bryars, Shalimar UMC, and Dr. Rob Couch, Prattville First UMC.
Dr. Lawson Bryan
Chairperson
A personal note: It has been my joy and honor to be part of the first chapter of
what has become the essential ministry of leader development through the Academy
for Congregational Excellence. For personal and family reasons, I am stepping
down as Executive Director on July 1, 2013, but my heart and soul will always be
with this vital ministry. Thanks to Bishop Leeland for affording me the privilege of
beginning this agency created to discover, develop, and deploy effective leaders so
all of our churches will be fruitful.
~Dr. Herb Sadler, Executive Director
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Comprehensive plan of
inclusiveness

This document specifically addresses the African American context, however, the
plan embraces the concept that our conference and our churches need to be intentional in reflecting multi-cultural diversity in our mission, our vision, our witness
and our experience.

Vision

Increase the United Methodist gospel witness throughout the African American
community within the Alabama-West Florida Conference of The United Methodist
Church.

Mission

Seek, engage, nurture and deploy African American leaders in existing and new
congregations to make disciples of Jesus Christ for the transformation of the world.
•
•
•
•

Goals

Start at least one new church with African American leadership in the
Alabama-West Florida Conference each year
Create a greater African American presence in churches of our annual
conference
Develop a process for existing part-time African American churches to
grow into full-time self-sustaining congregations
Begin the process of addressing African American pastoral salary
inequities

Transformational Strategies
I. Start at least one new church with African American leadership in the
Alabama-West Florida Conference each year.
A. Leadership Recruitment
1. Identify and recruit African American clergy leadership with the gifts and
abilities for new church plants, transitional churches, turn-around or
resurrection starts (new church in already closed church facilities).
a.
Bishop and Cabinet representatives to visit traditional African
American seminaries as well as other major seminaries for
conversation and recruitment annually, beginning spring 2013.
b.
Candidates will utilize the discernment/ assessment process
available from the Board of Congregational Development for
clarity on their gifts and call.
2.
Seek and encourage African American clergy in our conference to
engage in the discernment/ assessment process when their gifts and graces
match the church planter profile.
B. New Church Locations
1. The Cabinet and the Board of Congregational Development will determine
the best location for new church starts, transitional, ‘turn-around’ and
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resurrection church possibilities within the 2013-2014 conference year.
Utilize demographic studies to identify un-churched populations, presence
of other churches (especially of all African American Methodist
traditions), age distributions and other factors that will impact a new
church start.
Identify financial resources available through the Board of Congregational
Development, Annual Conference, District and potential partner churches.
Particular attention will be given to equity in salary compensation.
Identify other support resources available in the location and from our
connectional system (i.e. resources include, missioners, prayer groups,
new church support team, in-kind donations/ contributions, etc.).
Establish an understanding on the part of all parties involved (i.e. Bishop,
district, superintendent, pastor, congregation, and support systems) that a
commitment of at least seven years is necessary for a new or transitional
church to become established and sustainable.
When a transitional, turn- around congregation is being considered,
consultation between the district superintendent, the current pastor and
congregation is essential.

II. Create a greater African American presence in churches of our annual
conference.
As part of the appointment process, the Bishop and Cabinet will lead in
A.
identifying and recruiting African American clergy to serve as associates
in large church settings.
B.

The Conference will encourage multi- staffed congregations to actively
seek African American persons to serve in other ministries such as
worship, Christian Education, mission and discipleship.

III. Develop a process for existing part-time African American churches to
grow into full-time self- sustaining congregations.
The Bishop, Cabinet, and appropriate Conference Staff will develop this
A.
process utilizing the Strengthening the Black Church for the 21st Century
(SBC-21) benchmarks for congregational development by annual
conference 2014.
B.
Cooperate and work with churches that qualify for equitable compensation
to achieve the SBC-21 benchmarks.
C.
Identify and recruit potential African American leaders from our colleges
for district and conference internships in our current African American
churches.
IV. Begin the process of addressing African American clergy salary inequities
With a desire to attract more African American leadership for our conference, we
request/recommend that our Bishop and Cabinet give special attention to the existing inequity in salaries for African American pastors as compared to their white
counterparts.
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leadership team reports
Board of Higher Education and Campus Ministry
The Board of Higher Education and Campus Ministry (BHECM) is proud to oversee the outreach and ministry to the 102,500 college students enrolled at Auburn
University, Alabama State University, Troy University, The University of South
Alabama, Pensacola State College, University of West Florida, The University of
West Alabama, Tuskegee University, Huntingdon College, and Birmingham-Southern College. We are pleased to say that our Conference has a United Methodist
presence on these campuses which are filled with students going through one of the
most critical times of their lives.
I’m happy to report that due to increased support from our Annual Conference and
the hard work of our local Wesley Foundation Boards and directors that each of
our Wesley Foundations are making great strides in the health of their programs as
well as their financial status. Testimonies sent to the BHECM from every campus
ministry attest to the impact that each of our ministries is having on their respective
campuses. Additionally, we have discovered that many students who are graduating from these programs are being called to ministry. We believe that our campus
ministries and United Methodist Colleges may be the largest source of new clergy
candidates for the United Methodist Church in the area.
Along this line we are also pleased to report on the early success of the new innovative program at the Auburn Wesley Foundation called the Auburn Wesley Parish.
Currently there are eight Auburn Wesley Foundation students who are providing
pastoral and programming leadership to four rural Auburn area churches under the
leadership of Rev. John Weaver and Rev. David Goolsby. The program is giving
Auburn students vital ministry experience while at the same time infusing local
churches with wonderful youth and vitality. The BHECM is proud to support this
program.
In spite of the great impact our church is having on our college campuses, however, our research has shown that there are an additional 64,142 enrolled students
who are at Community Colleges, Private Colleges, and Universities where there
may not be any significant United Methodist ministry presence. In response to this
potentially unmet need the BHECM has begun an evaluation process to expand our
ministry to more students through partnerships with local congregations located in
the areas where these schools exist. The BHECM is requesting that all Conference
churches that currently have college ministry to report their work to the BHECM.
In the coming months the BHECM hopes to forge partnerships with area churches
to support their efforts to reach students on their local college campuses.
The BHECM wishes to thank the Alabama-West Florida Conference for their generous support which comes through your prayers and your gifts.
In Christ,
Dr. Rob Couch, Chair
Board of Higher Education and Campus Ministry
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Birmingham-Southern College
“What all of this says is that Birmingham-Southern is a high-quality, caring
place where a person from any part of the country would not only be comfortable but would grow intellectually, morally, and personally.”
					
-40 Colleges That Change Lives
Birmingham-Southern College continues to provide a liberal arts education of
distinctive quality, and believes its most responsible service to the Church is to perform its educational mission with integrity and excellence. The total educational
experience at Birmingham-Southern College focuses on individual students - their
intellectual and ethical development and their spiritual and physical well-being.
The academic program challenges students to understand a range of disciplines and
requires the in-depth study of one. The college is distinguished by a dedicated faculty, undergraduate scholarship and research, Interim term, leadership studies and
service-learning, cross-cultural opportunities, on- and off-campus mentor relationships, and by graduate education within a liberal arts context.
Recognitions and Accolades
‘Southern has been recognized and highly ranked in many prestigious college/university surveys, including:
•
Ranked by Forbes magazine as the best college or university in
Alabama – public or private - in its annual “America’s Top Colleges”
listing based on the quality of the education, the experiences of the
students, and how much they achieve.
•
Again listed by national higher education expert Loren Pope as one of 40
Colleges That Change Lives.
•
Named a College of Distinction by the college research service Student
Horizons for “providing students with the highest level of undergraduate
education and continuing to demonstrate its commitment to the four
distinctions: engagement, teaching, community, and outcomes.”
•
Named as one of the nation’s “Best 376 Colleges” for undergraduate
education, by The Princeton Review for its academic reputation, small
classes, interaction with faculty, and beautiful campus
In addition, ‘Southern was listed by Kiplinger’s Personal Finance magazine on its
list of the “Best Values in Private Colleges”; among 310 colleges and universities
in 2012 Fiske Guide to Colleges; and as highest ranked liberal arts college in the
nation for “safety preparedness” in a recent Reader’s Digest survey. For the sixth
straight year, Southern is on the President’s Higher Education Community
Service Honor Roll, the highest federal recognition a college or university can
receive for its commitment to service-learning and civic engagement.
Academics
The new Explorations curriculum stresses the importance of what students learn
to do. This pedagogy is illustrated by requirements that guide students in learning
how to communicate effectively, solve complex problems in creative ways, connect
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their coursework to the wider world, engage with their social and political world,
and engage in self-directed teaching and learning. These are precisely the skills and
perspectives that professional schools, graduate schools, and employers are seeking
in today’s increasingly complex and inter-connected world.
Each year, more than half of the college’s graduates go on to graduate school at
some of the nation’s most prestigious colleges and universities. The college
annually ranks No. 1 in Alabama and among the nation’s best in percentage of all
graduates accepted to medical, dental, or health career programs. BSC also ranks
high nationally in graduates accepted to law and divinity schools. More than
95 % of Education program graduates who seek teaching positions are placed. For
those who choose to move directly into professional careers, BSC graduates have a
distinguished record of job placement. Whatever field or vocation, our graduates
bring with them the knowledge, energy, and enthusiasm to help make the world a
better place.
Preparation for church vocation
We believe that discernment and experiential education is a part of the college journey as much for ministry as for any profession. Students who feel called to faithrelated vocation have opportunities for internship and shadow programs in ministry,
non-profit, Christian education, healthcare, and church music off campus as well
as participation in leadership and worship on campus. The Chaplain, faculty, and
staff nurture exploration. Resources of the conference and general church are also
advantaged to build a network of discernment for students. At this writing, 27
recent graduates have identified themselves in preparation and/or job-initiated training for faith-related vocations. Of these 18 are in seminaries and divinity schools.
Enrollment and Admission
Birmingham-Southern’s freshman class, fall 2012, had the highest academic profile
in the state, including average ACT score and number of students from the top 10
percent of their high school classes. Those students found on the Hilltop:
13-to-1 student-to-professor ratio that allows for more meaningful
•
interactions with the faculty
•
excellent faculty, 96% of whom hold PhD or equivalent degree
more than 50 programs of study, as well as interdisciplinary, specially
•
individualized majors and dual degree programs
•
campus ethos of service – locally, nationally, internationally
more than 80 student organizations
•
22 NCAA Division III men’s and women’s varsity sports
•
opportunities to expand the classroom experiences through local
•
internships, mentorships, and research
•
in addition to Phi Beta Kappa, more than 20 other honorary and
professional societies in various academic fields
•
more than 1200 students from 37 states and 11 foreign countries
85% of students living on campus, and 45% members of one of 13
•
national sorority and fraternity chapters
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Scholarships
A private, four-year institution of distinction is rarely an inexpensive education.
Birmingham-Southern’s tuition for 2012-13 is $ 29,600. Additionally housing,
meals and fees may make BSC seem out of reach.
General Krulak and the Board of Trustees are committed to NOT raising tuition
costs for 2013-14:
I hear from students and parents on a daily basis who tell me about the challenge of paying for the priceless education we provide here—sometimes in
heartbreaking ways. So I am thrilled to announce that we’re going to make a
bold move and not raise tuition or mandatory fees for the academic year 20132014. Holding costs steady will make it possible for current and incoming
students to move forward without the worry of a tuition hike next year. We all
know the value of a BSC education. We’re committed to making that transformative experience available to as many students as we can—and holding
tuition and fees flat for the next academic year is an important part of the plan.
We are committed to doing all we can to assist families because we believe we
provide an environment where students thrive and succeed, where the investment
is returned four-fold. You make this possible though the scholarship program you
provide. We also use the resources of the General Board of Higher Education and
Scholarships and the United Methodist Higher Education Foundation.
For 2012-13, BSC students will receive more than $13 million in tuition benefit
through the merit scholarship program which is supported by a generous endowment made possible by many faithful donors over many years.
United Methodist Scholarships include:
•
The United Methodist Merit Scholarship, for both scholarly achievement
and extracurricular involvement - $14,000 per year.
Distinguished Scholars Awards represent the highest scholarships earned
•
by entering freshmen at Birmingham-Southern College - valued up to
full-tuition are based on outstanding scholastic achievement in and out of
the classroom.
•
Birmingham-Southern College is a national leader in providing financial
assistance to United Methodist students, clergy families, and those called
to ministry.
The Elizabeth Henry Evins Christian Vocation Scholarship is awarded
•
annually to student/s that commit to pastoral ministry or Christian
Education with seminary training.
Religious life
Birmingham-Southern is proud to be a United Methodist Church-affiliated college.
Approximately 22 % of the College’s students are Methodist. The College honors
the variety of faith traditions among students, faculty, and staff—a balance between
the convictions of one’s owns faith and a respect for other traditions. There are
many opportunities for worship, programming, service, and scholarly inquiry for
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students of all faiths.
Chaplain Jack Hinnen provides nurture for students, staff, and faculty. Special services throughout the academic year are designed for the campus family. Rev. Hinnen coordinates and supports the various campus ministries on campus: Episcopal
(Rev. Bill Blackerby), Baptist (Rev. Craig Hawkins), Catholic (Sister Karen Ann
Lortscher), and Reformed University Fellowship (Rev. Tom Franklin).
“Being at BSC is such a blessing. The blessing is not just working with fantastic
people like Laura Sisson, Jennifer Lancaster, or General Krulak. The blessing
is not just the academic environment of some of the most intellectual people in
Birmingham. The blessing for me is the students. It has been a long year but a
good year and I’m most excited about what God is doing with the students here at
BSC. I will continue in my responsibilities - Chaplain, Director of Religious Life,
and Wesley Fellowship - and through these work to make sure the United Methodist
Church is encouraged and continues encouraging people in their faith. With a year
“under my belt” I feel I’m beginning to get acclimated to the connection between
the College and the Church. This has been well fostered by Laura Sisson and
the Conference and will prove valuable to the future of our congregations in the
Alabama-West Florida Conference. If our churches are filled with people like the
students I get to work with, then we will truly be in good hands. For example, students lead here as work studies, Leadership Team, and “groupies” (you’ll just have
to find me and ask about it). Students are encouraged to walk humbly with Christ
personally and socially. This comes out in regular Chapel attendance, service locally and abroad, and an engaged faith that takes seriously the challenges of our
present age. Being at BSC is such a blessing and I hope it is a blessing that will be
shared for years to come.”				
~Rev. Jack Hinnen, Chaplain
Gen. Charles C. Krulack Rev. Jack M. Hinnen
President		
Chaplain		

Laura B. Sisson
Director, Church Relations

Huntingdon College
Just Why Should Our Children Go to a College of the Church?
Why should we United Methodists think of Huntingdon (and Birmingham-Southern
and other United Methodist colleges, for that matter) as “colleges of first choice”
when we are helping our children think through where they want to attend college?
I spoke to a national meeting of United Methodist college presidents about that
very question several years ago. In that speech, I talked about Alabama football,
moonlight and magnolias, Tallulah Bankhead, gambling, money, love, the Bible,
Gomer Pyle and other related subjects. And, yes, about Huntingdon.
We members of the Annual Conference, both lay and clergy, have a special responsibility to ask this question of ourselves: “Just why should our children go to a
College of the Church?” To help us reflect on this question, I am submitting as my
report to the Annual Conference that keynote speech I delivered in 2007 to the an-
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nual meeting of the National Association of College and Universities of the United
Methodist Church (NASCUMC). I would invite you to reflect together -- in the
various settings we find ourselves at Annual Conference and back home at our local
churches and at periodic district meetings -- about the issues I raise in my speech.
If you want statistics about Huntingdon, please email me at camwest@huntingdon.
edu. I’ll respond to you quickly and send you the information you want. If you
want to know what is really going on in the heart and soul of Huntingdon, please
read my speech.
Christian higher education is at the core of what it means to be United Methodist.
That’s been our story since the Wesleys founded schools at the very beginning of
the Methodist evangelical movement in England. Our Church will grow stronger
and provide stronger disciples and leaders for our counties, state, country, world,
when we send our children to our colleges. Please take my message to heart, and
let me know what you think.
And now for my speech, which is entitled, Jesus, the Big Questions and the
Liberal Arts:
When we think of American colleges and universities, our mind’s eye usually calls
into sight places that seem to define, to crystallize in one clear vision that which
comprises a particular institution’s essence.
For those who have been on the University of Alabama campus only to attend a
football game, that place which defines the essence of the university might well be
Bryant-Denny Stadium. Of course, the University of Alabama is more than just
football, a multi-million head coaching annual contract and 100,000 fans at the
spring game notwithstanding. Many of Huntingdon’s faculty members earned their
terminal degrees at Tuscaloosa and are a daily reminder that our state university
mints intellectuals fully worthy of its football program.
Speaking of Huntingdon, what defines Huntingdon? For many people who drive
past the campus every day, Huntingdon is the crown jewel of the City of Montgomery. It’s the beautiful grounds designed by the Olmsteds; it’s the beautiful
Collegiate Gothic library and old main building; it’s the beautiful Old Cloverdale
neighborhood and Bankhead Avenue which breathe of moonlight and magnolias.
For many, the essence of Huntingdon is its beauty; and, as with the University of
Alabama football program, many never get beyond the first impression.
One is tempted, of course, to despair of the fixation on first impressions in American higher education -- whether it be on football at Alabama, or on the superficiality of commercial college and university rankings, or on the beauty of a campus and
its neighborhood. And yet, is it not our responsibility as leaders of an increasingly
unique segment in American higher education to put in front of the public -- constantly -- a vision of what we believe the essence of the collegiate experience to
be? To help the public look below surface impressions to see -- really see -- what
going to college is all about in its richest expression?
The mission of church-related liberal arts colleges and universities, I would submit,
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is one which no public institution can fulfill: that of bringing to bear both (1) the
perspective of the Judeo-Christian narrative and (2) the wisdom of other religious
narratives and of secular narratives, in order that students explore with each other
and with their teachers what we might call the Big Questions. And not just as an
intellectual exercise for its own sake but as an intellectual exercise with an end, a
purpose: that of inviting each new generation to embrace for itself, freely, wisdom
leading to an ethic of servant hood in which we love our neighbor as God loves us.
No less a personage than the eminent Alabamian Tallulah Bankhead has spoken of
the true mission of liberal arts education in these same terms. Well, almost these
same terms. Tallulah Bankhead, of the venerable Alabama Bankhead family for
which Bankhead Avenue next to the Huntingdon campus is named, summed up the
meaning of a Huntingdon education in these words, as I constantly remind our students and faculty: “I read Shakespeare. I read the Bible. And I throw dice. That’s
what I call a liberal arts education.”
Yes, it’s Tallulah Bankhead of all people whose words remind me every day that
a liberal arts education is about many subjects, many people and places, many
profundities, many joys, many sorrows, and anything but a dull exercise that has
nothing to do with the living of life in the real world. A liberal arts education is
thinking about, and puzzling over, and wrestling with what can only be called the
Big Questions. The Big Questions that Shakespeare and the Bible ask us to tackle.
Questions like this: What am I called to do with the life God has given me? What
are my gifts? What does it mean to be great? Why do the innocent suffer and
the evil prosper? Why do teenagers die? Who is my neighbor? What does the
command to love require me to do? Why do people who love other people betray
them? What does it mean to be part of a family? Can I love money and also love
God? What is the purpose of money? What is life like when I make the accumulation of wealth my sole reason for being?
Liberal arts higher education at a church-related school is about these and other
questions like these. It’s about the search for truth, the discovery of truth, the
embrace and embodiment of truth. If we do not invite our students to involve
themselves with the Big Questions, and if we do not believe that this involvement
has as its purpose a student’s resolving for himself or herself what the truth looks
like in a life well-lived, then why else do we exist as institutions? We cannot read
Shakespeare without being addressed by the Big Questions surrounding love,
family, friendship, devotion, good and evil and betrayal and riches. Likewise, we
cannot read the Bible, Old Testament and New -- especially the stories about Jesus
and the stories told by Jesus -- without running smack up against these same Big
Questions and others: How often must I forgive someone who wrongs me? Is it
permissible in God’s eyes to kill, even in order to defend myself? What must I do
to receive eternal life? What does it mean to be faithful to my wife, my husband?
These Big Questions are life’s real questions. The narratives from which they
spring are not hypothetical constructs. The narratives ask us to construct lives of
wisdom, embracing the truth which is wisdom itself.
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Thinking about, talking about, searching for the answers to, and yes, even answering these questions for ourselves and incarnating those answers -- all of this is
what makes a Huntingdon education, a Birmingham-Southern education, a Millsaps education, an education at all of our campuses a rare thing in today’s world
of American higher education. I would make the argument that at church-related
liberal arts colleges and universities such as ours, academic inquiry is pursued most
profoundly and academic freedom exists most freely because the community of
learning is challenged and obligated to search for truth by placing religious narrative and, for want of a better word, secular narratives side by side.
Try, for example, reading and understanding Tolstoy’s masterful short story, “How
Much Land Does a Man Need?,” without also reading at the same time the Gospel
accounts of Jesus’s temptations in the wilderness. We will understand Tolstoy in
all his depth only if we know the New Testament at some level beyond Sunday
School. And our reading of the New Testament will come so alive if we read and
think about Tolstoy and other writers such as Shakespeare whose minds and hearts
have been influenced and shaped by the Biblical narrative. As John Calvin, father
of the Reformed theological tradition, himself once wrote: “Whenever, therefore,
we meet with worldly writers, let us learn from that light of truth which is admirably displayed in their works. We shall neither reject nor despise the truth, itself,
wherever it shall appear, unless we wish to insult the spirit of God.”
So take the advice of Tallulah Bankhead. Read Shakespeare. Read the Bible.
Throw dice, live life, knowing that it is in the living of a very public, very communal embrace of human relationships that the great narratives will shape our identity.
And give us, dear Lord, free hearts and minds, willing to search for truth. Give us,
dear Lord, patience in the quest, knowing that wisdom takes awhile. Give us, dear
Lord, humility which dares to submit to truth even when truth is found in unexpected places.
Thank you for thinking about what I’ve had to say in this speech. It’s so good to
be back together! As I think back over all you mean to me, I can only exclaim with
another voice of Alabama: “Shazzaam!”
J. Cameron West
President, Huntingdon College

wesley foundations
The Wesley Foundaion at Alabama State University
Introduction
The Wesley Foundation at Alabama State University prides its self in fulfilling our
mission of seeking to “deepen, enrich and mature the Christian the faith of College and university men and women through commitment to Jesus Christ and his
church, and to assist them in their service and leadership to the world and in and
throughout the church”.
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The Wesley Foundation at ASU’s variety of programs often reflects the trajectory
of ASU student’s faith journey and are encouraged to explore God’s activity in
the lives of God’s people. The students express strong admiration for the creative
methods used to make ministry relative to collegiate life at ASU. Ministries such
as the Wesley Foundation at ASU is integral to preserving aspiring theologians and
new converts, especially when considering the gravity of their tasks as students in a
diverse community of varying value systems. The Wesley Foundation offers each
student various methods of engineering positive routes while living in the paradox
of life.
Outreach
1. Organizational Fair- The Organizational Fair is an event that is hosted by the
Office of Student Life and Campus Activities to provide registered student clubs
and organizations with an opportunity to introduce their organization to the campus.
This year, our organization participated in this event and used several innovative
avenues to market our organization. To prepare for this event, a Wesley Foundation banner was purchased as well as additional informational material to accommodate any inquiries students may have. In an effort to provide more awareness of
the Wesley Foundation at ASU, students were encouraged to provide their contact
information on our Student Interest Form for further correspondence about any
events, worship, or service opportunities in the near future.
2. Church Volunteering Opportunities- One of the most important and rewarding
perks of being a part of the Wesley Foundation is our connection with the local
UMC churches. We launched our Fall semester by visiting Metropolitan UMC
as special guests of their Back to School Youth Program. Several Student Leaders showed their support to the youth of Metropolitan UMC during this program.
Elizabeth Bridges, a senior at ASU, recited a vibrant poem about self-love and
perseverance.
In addition, Several Student Servants also participated in Zion Fellowship Church
UMC’s annual Fall Festival where over 300 local elementary and middle school
students were served as face painters, crowed controllers and guiders. The Student
Servant Leaders express a desire to continue involvement with church youth interactive programs such as the ones in both locations.
Worship
1. Hornet’s Nest Weekly Bible Study- After a long week of classes, tedious work
study and dealing with annoying roommates, the students of the Wesley Foundation
at ASU find refuge in our weekly Bible study. This is a place where studying the
Bible takes on a totally new meaning. Instead of a one way teaching methodology,
the students are engaged in the teaching moment through a plethora of experiential
exercises and activities. For the students, each Bible session is a unique learning
experience that reaches beyond traditional Bible lessons. It is a safe space to place
their total selves into the learning moment. Presently, these sessions are held on
campus on Thursdays at 7PM.
Thursday night Hornet’s Nest Bible Study allows exploration of faith through
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experience to be a central theme of holistic this ministry. The Director is the main
facilitator of Bible study; however, this learning space was also facilitated by a student expressing ministry interests as well as local ministers. This time provides the
students with unlimited opportunities to locate their spiritual gifts and share them
with their peers as they develop a love and appreciation for the Christian faith.
Discipleship
1. Leadership Synod Leadership Retreat-Assisting students in locating and
nurturing their spiritual gifts and calling is one of the central goals of the Wesley
Foundation at ASU. Five Wesley Foundation students were invited to attend an
all-expense paid three day trip to attend the Ecumenical Leadership Synod Leadership Retreat held in Nashville, Tennessee, which was sponsored by the Lutheran
Church. This was a time for students to reflect on their relationship with God in the
company of their peers of neighboring faith traditions as they journeyed to locate
God’s call in their lives. The students participated in daily workshops, represented
Alabama State University as a team in the AIDS Walk 5K Marathon, served as worship leaders during daily reflection sessions and led in worship at a local church.
2. Atlanta Seminary Tour- The students of the Wesley Foundation at Alabama State
University participated in the Spring Atlanta Seminary tour. Four Students traveled
to Atlanta to explore ministry interests at possible seminaries in the Atlanta community. This trip enabled students associated with the Wesley Foundation to explore
their interest in pursuing professional degrees in theology. The locations visited
were Emory Candler School of Theology, Interdenominational Theological Center
and Columbia Theological Seminary. The trip culminated with a church visit to
Hoosier Memorial United Methodist Church where the trip participants worshiped.
The proposed outcome of this tour was to make seminary resources available and
assist potentially interested students with navigating future graduate theological
studies opportunities that will assist them in being disciples for Christ.
3. The Love for Hip Hop and the Black Church Forum: Creating a Courage
Culture of Social Uplift - The hallmark of 2012 was the launching of the Wesley
Foundation at ASU’s first forum entitled, “The Love for Hip Hop and the Black
Church: Creating a Courageous Culture of Social Uplift”. This forum was designed
largely for ASU students to engage local pastors, theologians and religion historians
in dialogue about systemic social issues and to discuss the church’s response to the
call of change and transformation in the world and the Montgomery community.
Terrell Hudson, a Senior Political Science major at ASU, was one of the four
selected panelist to spark an intelligent exchange of theological thought pertaining
to students role as agents of change on ASU’s campus. The remaining panel guests
included local ministers and religion historians. The students are presently awaiting part two of this dialogue.
Missions
1. House to House- ASU Student Leaders of the Wesley Foundation embarked on a
remarkable experience Fall 2012. Several students partnered with House 2 House,
a nonprofit organization in Montgomery, Alabama in a home renovation project to
not only restore dilapidated homes but also refurbish homes for existing families
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within that community. Making strong communities by creating safe and affordable living conditions for existing families is a priority for this organization.
The Wesley Foundation at ASU provided the much needed woman/man power to
furnish installation for a home under construction. This is an ongoing project in
this community that is truly worth the investment.
2. The Java Lounge-In 2012, the Wesley Foundation at ASU introduced an initiative called the Java Lounge, which is an enrichment program to aid college students
to navigate the challenges of collegiate life by using Christian principals and explore the meaning of sisterhood and self-love. This program functions to meet the
spiritual needs of the students and also serves as a retention aid to the University at
large.
This program is implemented in three female residence halls once a month serves
both graduate and undergraduate college students.
Presently, approximately 200 ladies of ASU are participants of this the Java Lounge
and have reported having more of a positive outlook on life and are able to identify
challenges and address them without falling subject to high-risk behaviors. The
Java Lounge is facilitated by the Director of the Wesley Foundation at ASU during
non-traditional hours in a non-traditional worship setting to accommodate the needs
of the college students. This route of engagement has opened up opportunities for
Wesley Foundation membership interest as well as one on one pastoral sessions on
an as need basis.
Due to the success and personalized nature of this program, several neighboring
male dorms have requested a similar program be provided to the men of ASU.
Overall, there is a constant need for a pastoral presence at Alabama State University. As scripture reminds us, the harvest is truly ripe but the labors are very few.
The Wesley Foundation at ASU is preparing labors for this great nation. Thank you
for your continual support and consideration.
Humbly submitted,
Min. Charity C. Starr, Director
The Wesley Foundation at Alabama State University

Auburn Wesley Foundation
Auburn Wesley continues to celebrate her 75th Anniversary. Events have included:
a dinner celebration, the Tiger Tide Challenge, and four dinners on the road. 20122013 has also been a time of celebration around the Auburn Wesley Parish. University students, under the support and direction of Rev. John Weaver are serving four
small membership churches. Auburn Wesley has a long history of students hearing
the calls to ministry. The Parish is a wonderful next step in helping students discern
their call and for the four small churches to participate in raising up new leaders.
The Program Ministry (weekly)
•
Renew (Student Worship Service)		

• Intramural Sports
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18-20 Discipleship Groups			
6-7 Bible Studies				
Freshman Community			
Wednesday Night Dinner			
Graduate Student Lunch & Devotion
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• 2 Worship Bands
• Worship Jam
• Guys Waffle House
• Prayer Groups

Regular Events (not weekly):
•
Retreats (Men’s, Women’s, Spring, Freshmen)
•
Game Day 5th Quarters
•
Social Events (4 or 5 per semester)
•
Special Worship Services
Mission / Service
Local
•
Super Mission Saturday – Home Repair with ARM
•
Society of St. Andrew – Potato Drop
•
Home repair with Alabama Rural Ministry
•
Other
National
•
Christmas Mission (Hurricane Recovery – Gulfport, Mississippi)
•
May Mission: Place to be determined
•
Youth Caravan (Summer - 10 weeks)
•
Support staffing of A.R.M., 3.0, and camps
International
•
Yucatan, Mexico – Spring Break (1 week)
•
Ukraine in May (3 weeks)
Auburn Wesley Parish:
•
Directed by Rev. John Weaver
Churches Involved
•
• Armstrong UMC
• Gold Hill UMC
• Loachapoka UMC
• Pepperell UMC
Leadership: 8 student pastors with Rev. Weaver
•
Grace and Peace,
David Goolsby
Director

Troy University Wesley Foundation
The vision of the Troy University Wesley Foundation is to fully experience God’s
love and to reflect God’s love to all creation.
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The mission of the Troy University Wesley Foundation is to fully experience God’s
love by providing a safe community for all students. The mission assists to introduce or maintain Christianity as a priority for undergraduate and graduate students.
Program Ministry - The Troy Wesley Foundation helps students to experience
God’s love in community with each other throughout the week. We have grown
in our knowledge of God and God’s creation, and our community. For the last
decade, Common Meal has been a signature weekly event at the Troy University
Wesley Foundation. Through this fellowship dinner, we share the love of Christ
with students and staff. In years past, local churches or other groups have made
meals for students to enjoy. Common Meal is offered to all students and staff on
campus free of charge and is often the way new students become active at the Troy
University Wesley Foundation. We believe that in Common Meal students, some
of whom are not Christians, are able to see the living Christ. As they become more
active in the Wesley, they are able to experience the love of Christ through Bible
studies, worship services, and more. They are able to live out Christ’s mission to
their local community through local missions and international missions. In the
often lonely years of college, students are able to be part of an amazing community
that is centered in love and mission of Jesus Christ.
We have also started a Bible Study on Wednesday nights where we serve the sacrament of Holy Communion. We have walked through the book of Ephesians and are
now looking into Galatians. The students have enjoyed the verse by verse study
of these letters. We have grown numerically but more importantly, our students
are growing spiritually. They are asking hard questions and studying to find those
answers.
Special Events - We offered several special events to introduce students to programs to encourage and grow the community at the Troy University Wesley Foundation. An Opening Cookout to welcomed students back to school.
Missions - The Troy Wesley students are very involved in serving others through
mission work on campus and far from home. Our area was hit on Christmas day
by 2 tornados. Much work has been done to reach out to those affected. We keep
our eyes opened for ways to serve our local area.
Stewardship - Students continually found ways in the last year to work together
to best utilize their God-given gifts. Students planned fellowship and outreach
events, completed service projects, cooked meals, provided worship music, led
small groups, made relationships, and fundraised to support the Troy Wesley Foundation. We parked cars at football games. Our seventh annual golf tournament
took place in the spring at the Troy Country Club. Our board of directors got really
involved in fundraising in the last year as well. They are now excited to be holding
their “Taste of Heaven” fundraiser each fall. “Taste of Heaven” brings in the best
cooks from the neighboring churches as they compete for the best recipe. This is
not only a fundraiser but a way that local churches have been able to fellowship
together and rally around the Wesley Foundation. As they give, people are asked to
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pray for the Wesley Foundation that we are continuing to make disciples of Jesus
Christ for the transformation of the World.
What our students are saying
“The Wesley means so much to me. I never thought by just walking into a random
Bible study one night that I’d find what I found here. ”
“I’m excited to see what the Wesley has in store for this campus. It is my goal that
by the time I graduate the Wesley will be talked about all over campus! That there
will be a buzz and everyone will want to know what got into those Wesley kids!”
“The Wesley is a community and a family. It is rare that I get to go home on the
weekends to see my family and it’s so important that the Wesley can be part of my
family here in Troy.”
“The Wesley gives me a place to worship as well as learn. I enjoy learning about
the Bible not just from my campus minister but from my peers as well. It’s an open
place to be able to ask questions and not worry about judgement.”
We thank you for the opportunity to serve the students and staff of Troy University.
We feel that our presence on campus positively impacts the lives of many young
people as we strive to reflect God’s love to all creation. Please keep us in your
prayers as we continue our ministry at Troy University.
Respectfully submitted,
Michael Lawler, Chair			
Board of Directors			

Elaine Brown, Director
Troy Wesley Foundation

Troy University Wesley Foundation Board of Directors
Board Officers (June 2011-May 2012)
Position		
Years in this position
Name			
Chair			
3
Rev. Michael Lawler
Janet Kervin		Co-Chair		3
Treasurer		
1
Mary Ann Flowers
Class 2012 (Board members whose terms expire June 2012)
108 Homewood Ave, Troy, AL 36081
Mary Ann Flowers
465 Dickert Circle, Brundidge, AL 36010
Homer Homann		
Class 2013 (Board members whose terms expire June 2013)
209 Glenwood Ave, Troy, AL 36081
Janet Kervin		
5620 County Rd 7755, Troy, AL 36081
Cindy Boswell		
Class 2014 (Board members whose terms expire June 2014)
213 Highland Ave, Troy, AL 36081
Mariann Day		
104 Homewood Ave. Troy, AL 36081
Bart Wallace		
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Class 2015 (Board members whose terms expire June 2015)
Dr. Jim Colley		
737 Orion St., Troy, AL 36081
Tammy Powell		
1962 Co Rd 5511, Troy, AL 36081
Ex-Officio Members of the Board
Rev. David McVay
213 N. Three Notch St., Troy, AL 36081
Rev. Michael Lawler
140 N. Main St., Brundidge, AL 36010
P.O. Box 1291, Troy, AL 36081
Rev. Danny Arnold
At-Large, students, any additional board members
42011 Trojan Village, Troy, AL 36081
Andrew Borland		
TSU Box 82935, Troy, AL 36081
Kaitlyn Klee		

Tuskegee University Wesley Foundation
God continues to bless the students of The Tuskegee University Wesley Foundation. We have traveled nationally and internationally for mission, developed student interns and nurtured leaders for Christ. Tuskegee Wesley remains outwardly
focused and continues to partner with campus and community wide organizations.
Every day, the Wesley encourages students to impact God’s Kingdom through outreach, service, fellowship and discipleship programming.
Weekly
• Tuesday Night topical Bible Study (The Wes)
• Fellowship Meal
• Thursday Night Exegetical Biblical Study (Thirsty Thursday)
• Chat Session (single and group)
Regular Events
• Social Events
• Final Exam and Holiday Gift Bags
• Retreats
• Leadership Events
• Summer Programming
Mission/Community Service
• Home Repair with Alabama Rural Ministries (ARM)
• Reading is Fundamental (RIF)
• Sharing and reading time Macon County Headstart
• Common Ground Montgomery
• House to House Montgomery
• Magnolia Nursing Home Monthly Birthday/Holiday Celebration
• Community Market – East Alabama Food Bank
• Bradford’s Chapel Food Bank
• Macon County DHR – Thanksgiving Meals
• Spring Break Mission – Pensacola
2013 Programming Launch
• REVIVE! Worship at the Wesley
• Freshman Community
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• 2 Weekly Discipleship Groups
• Lunch and Learn (student devotionals)
We thank you for your letters and phone calls of encouragement. Your support,
love and prayers extend well beyond the campus and permeate the lives of the students and their families. Your outreach has blessed us abundantly and it is because
of you, we are transforming lives for Christ.
God has blessed me with an amazing desire to learn more about Him and His word.
~Omar Waller Sophomore, Electrical Engineering
It all started at The Wesley
Grace and Peace,
Sheila Bates, Director

University of South Alabama Wesley Foundation
The South Wesley is the United Methodist mission to college students in Mobile.
It is a student-driven organization that exists to connect students with the abundant
life found in Christ. We focus our ministry into 5 areas: Outreach, Worship, Fellowship, Discipleship, and Mission.
We have teams who do “random acts of kindness” for other students on campus.
They do things like pass out free drinks, pencils, and cookies; the kinds of things
that brighten the days of others. This past year we started a freshmen ministry
called “Freshley”. Freshley is a small group just for freshmen. This was our first
attempt at such a thing, it was well received, and we look forward to it again next
fall.
Although we urge students to be involved in a local church, we have special times
for students to worship corporately with one another. During the Fall semester we
started a new kind of Worship service with three main elements: Praise, Parables,
and Potluck. It was a little different from traditional models of worship, but it has
been working well for our students. We will be offering twice as many worship
services as we did last semester.
Christian fellowship is vital for a college student. Some of the fellowship events
we do are: Tailgating, Game nights, Guys’/Girls’ nights, Weekly dinners (Tuesday
nights), and miscellaneous Christ-centered gatherings. The Wesley Wombats intramural teams are also a lot of fun. These are times of great fellowship as well as
outreach to other students that wouldn’t normally seek out a campus ministry.
Our primary means of discipleship is our weekly in-depth study of the Bible. This
entire year we are going through the book of John. During these studies, students
spend half of their time reading and studying the scripture together with other
students. They ask each other (sometimes guided) questions. The other half of this
time of discipleship is a teaching by the campus minister. Other Discipleship opportunities include retreats and accountability groups.
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We believe in loving our neighbors. We don’t want missions to just be something
we do every now and then. We strive for students to be in mission wherever they
are. To help with this mindset, we offer opportunities for students to get out of their
normal comfort zones and experience God in different contexts. Every Thursday
we send a van full of Wesley students to Taylor Park downtown. We show the
love of Christ to inner city children by playing with them and helping them with
their homework. We have other opportunities for mission throughout the semester
(blood drive, prison visit, habitat build, Bay Area Food Bank, MLK Day of Service, etc.). Every summer we take a “big” mission trip that often requires a lot of
fundraising. This May we will be taking 12 students to Mexico’s Yucatan Peninsula. Among other things, we will be helping to finish a community center that we
helped start 2 years ago.
There is a lot going on at the South Wesley. God is at work in the lives of these
college students. We are very thankful to the Conference for supporting us like you
do! God is good!

Johnny Peters,
Director

University of West Alabama Wesley Foundation
The Wesley Foundation of the University of West Alabama has a unique opportunity to minister to students by providing ten rooms for students to live together.
However, we provide much more than just a place to live. We seek to provide a
place for spiritual growth, study, and Christian community. When asked about what
the Wesley Foundation means to her, Nakia Walker said, “The Wesley Foundation
is like a safe resting place away from the hectic campus life. Our UWA Wesley
Foundation portrays a friendly Christ-like setting that welcomes all students. The
Wesley Foundation has provided affordable shelter over my head and a great study
environment that accommodates all of my needs. The Wesley Foundation Family
has made a special impact on my college experience and future plans.” Our hope
and goal is that with God’s help the Wesley Foundation at UWA will continue to be
a place of Christian formation that shapes students while in school, and prepares
them for a new season after school.
Program Ministries
Weekly Morning Prayer
•
Weekly Bible Study
•
Regular Events
•
Social Events
•
Fundraisers
Commissioning Service for Mission Team
•
Monthly Dinners
•
•
Connect Retreat
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Mission
•
Monthly Mission Day at Love’s Kitchen
•
Spring Break Mission Trip to San Antonio, TX
•
After School Program
•
Support 3.0, ARM, and Blue Lake summer internships
One of the strengths of the United Methodist Church is the way in which we use
our connectional system to be able to share our resources for mission and service
throughout our districts, conferences, and the world. I love it when the students get
to see this connectional system at work through the support of our churches. The
students get to see this support first hand every month as different churches in our
district travel to bring supper to the students for Bible Study gatherings. Jamaree
Collins didn’t start attending the Wesley Foundation until about a year before he
graduated. However, it was support from churches like you that enabled him to say,
“Honestly, everything I experienced these past few months has been inspirational.”
So, for your love and support, we give you thanks!
Grace and Peace,
Gillian Lisenby Walters

Conference Board of Laity
Your Conference Board of Laity continues to evolve as we bring on new leadership.
Our newest district lay leader is Micheal Ard. She is the district lay leader for the
Baypines district. As we told you the conference board had asked the nominating
committee to allow us to have 4 at-large members of the board. Our standing rules
dictate the minimal composition of the Conference Board of Laity. These are all
members due to their official office. However, the Book of Discipline also allows
for at-large members. Our 4 new at-large members, elected by you through the
nominating committee process, are Barbara Boland, Cameron Martindale-Stanton,
Frank Moore and Pat Shubird. Youth members of the board are Katie Rhodes
and Stephen Walker. To quickly find information and stay updated about your lay
leadership you may go to the conference website www.awfumc.org and click on
LEADERSHIP under the directory.
The date of Laity Sunday never changes. It’s always the 3rd Sunday in October.
This year it will be celebrated on October 20, 2013. This is an event you should
already be in the process of planning. If your church did not celebrate Laity Sunday
last year make sure you do not miss the opportunity this year. There is a wealth of
resources on the General Board of Discipleship website. The themes and resources
for Laity Sunday are posted there. You can find them at the following link:
www.gbod.org/laity. The quadrennial theme for Laity Sunday is Disciples Called to
Action. . The specific theme for 2013 is Developing Effective Lay Leadership.
The Conference Board of Laity is tasked with defining the election process for
General and Jurisdictional Delegates. A task force will look at that process and
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make recommendations to the whole board which will then be presented to the Annual Conference in 2014 to be used as the election process in 2015.
Your Conference Board of Laity is in the process of developing training materials
for both local church leaders and lay members of the annual conference. We plan to
have these materials posted on the website as well as used for training events within
the districts.
EQUIP training is beginning within the districts. Each district has a person trained
in leadership through the John Maxwell organization. Our Annual Conference is the
only annual conference in which this organization is partnering.
Partnership has been the theme that Bishop Leeland has stressed during his tenure
here. He recently stressed at our Board of Laity meeting that there are 147,000 laity
in the AWF Conference but only 1000 clergy. Obviously, if the work of the gospel
is to be done we have to depend on the laity to partner with the clergy to reach
the unreached. That partnership begins with our local church lay leaders and lay
members working closely with the pastor to communicate and mobilize the other
members of our congregations to be in ministry.
Steve Furr, M.D.
Conference Lay Leader

Lay Speaking Ministries
Each of us is gifted by the Holy Spirit to be a servant in God’s kingdom. Lay
Speaking Ministries helps us discover our gifts through educational opportunities,
that will enhance us to build our skills, and enable us to be effective leaders in our
church. Through Lay Speaking Ministries, we can become better disciples of Jesus
Christ for the transformation of the world. Lay Speaking Ministries provides
training for laity to equip them to be leaders in mission and ministry in the local
church and beyond.
A Lay Speaker is …
• An active, supportive (professing) member of a United Methodist church;
• Eager to serve the church, community, and the world;
• We are well-informed on Scripture and on the doctrine, heritage,
organization, and life of The United Methodist Church;
• We are committed to witnessing through church and community
leadership, care-giving ministries, and spoken communication;
• And we are Willing to improve our skills by training for service.
We are undergoing a change in our structure, mainly our name. The General
Conference of 2012 voted to change the name of Lay Speaking Ministries to Lay
Servant Ministries. We were able to retain an office of Lay Speaking within our
structure. Therefore we will be making some changes to our name, but for the
present time we will retain Lay Speaking and become Lay Servants / Lay Speaking
Ministries.
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God calls every one of us to proclaim the presence and power of God through all
that we say and do. How is God calling you to serve? With so many ways of training, Lay Speaking Ministries, offers you a valuable education in multiple ministry
areas.
Lay Speaking Ministry is more than just speaking!
Our ministry goes beyond filling in for the pastor or speaking in public. Lay Speaking Ministries offer many options for serving in roles other than the traditional
pulpit supply. We are trained to teach, serve, lead, and participate, in many caring,
and loving ministries.
Communication is an integral parts of Lay Speaking Ministries . With so many
avenues of training, our Lay Speaking Ministries offers valuable education opportunity for equipping United Methodists for all facets of lay ministry.
During the last year our District Directors of Lay Speaking Ministries were busy
and successful, training new and experienced lay speakers , working with our
clergy and leaders of our Conference.
We have a total of 572 Certified and Local Church Lay Speakers in our Conference.
In 2012 we had the privilege of filling in 1278 times for our clergy during 2012.
This was an increase of over 2011.
Our Lay Speakers spoke in 239 different Churches in our Conference and we also
provided lay speakers for nursing homes, and prison ministries 364 times.
We held 9 Lay Speaker Training classes, including the Lay Speaking Academy at
Blue Lake in March if 2011 , in 7 of the eight districts in our Conference. 36 different courses were offered including basic and advance courses in Spanish.
The Conference Committee of Lay Speaking would like to thank Bishop Paul
Leeland, our District Superintendents and all our Clergy, we are grateful for all the
support we receive from you. Thank you for believing in us and we appreciate the
opportunity to serve with you in the ministry of God through Lay Speaking.
At this time I would like to include the members of the Conference Committee on
Lay Speaking :
District Directors:
Baypines District - Peggy Duck
Demopolis District - John Stegall
Dothan District - Judy Reiter
Marianna-Panama City District - Lane Rees
Mobile District - John Sellers
Montgomery-Opelika District - Pat Caylor and Elizabeth Whatley
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Montgomery-Prattville District - David Bowen
Pensacola District - Bruce Knecht
At-Large Members: Beverly Maddox, Edna Williams, , Dr. Alan McBride, Dr.
Steve Furr, Glen McIntyre , Paul Smith, Candi McKim, Gloria Murphy, Rev. Lee
Bateman, Michael Arnold.
I thank all of you for what you are doing the the Lord , our Conference and for the
Lay Speaking Ministries! God does not always call the equipped…. But he does
equip the called. God is good……….all the time; All the time…… God is good!!
In His Service,
Helen Edwards
Conference Director of Lay Speaking Ministries
Alabama- West Florida Conference

United Methodist Men (UMM)
The UMM of the AWFC have worked on a number of fronts to strengthen their
faith and ministry through training, prayer, service and worship.
A new piece of our ministry is the lay-speaking course “Understanding Men’s
Ministry.” A member of the GCUMM staff taught the course as part of our conference lay-speaking program in March to ten men. Two of these men then taught the
course through their district lay-speaking programs to a total of 15 other men. One
of the graduates of the March class has volunteered to serve as our conference leadership/training coordinator, a newly created position. Three of the men who completed the March—Arthur Frazier of Christ in Milton, Allen Dunham of Enterprise
First, and Mike Woodham of Covenant in Dothan--were commissioned as Men’s
Ministry Specialists at our national meeting in March in Nashville. This cooperative effort with our conference lay-speaking ministry, the additional courses/programs being developed by GCUMM, and the interest in training in our conference
are giving us a new, vital sense of purpose.
Our Upper Room Living Prayer Center support continues. We gave $3,675 to the
ministry in 2012 and currently have six units answering the prayer line. Other
groups are exploring the possibility of joining them. In addition, we answer the
prayer line during our annual Advance and our annual conference. Chuck Christian, our conference prayer advocate and SEJ prayer advocate, was honored at our
national conference in Nashville because AWFC led all conferences in giving to the
Upper Room.
In support of our conference camp, Blue Lake, we have pledged to replace 100 fifty-year-old bunk beds over a two-year period. Using a plan designed by a NOMAD
who visited Blue Lake, we have found that we can construct each bed for less than
$85. In March and April, we constructed 50 beds in three-day work sessions. We
hope that we can replace all 100 by January 2014 at a savings of $32,000 for Blue
Lake.
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At this year’s Advance on February 15-16, Dr. Eddie Fox, the world director of
evangelism for the World Methodist Council, spoke on “Witnessing the Wesleyan
Way.” Over 100 men participated in the overnight retreat, which included sessions
on what local units are doing to make disciples of Christ.
During the Advance, Vaughn Nichols, our scouting conference coordinator, reported on recent media accounts of the Boy Scouts considering the removal of a
ban on members who practice alternate lifestyles. Vaughn reviewed the UMC adult
screening process with the group, noting that faithful use of the process ensures that
no one who wishes to join Scouting for selfish reasons will be allowed to do so.
Prayerfully submitted,
John Croft, AWFC UMM president

United Methodist Women (UMW)
The Alabama West Florida Conference of United Methodist Women is a community of women whose PURPOSE is to know God and experience freedom as whole
persons through Jesus Christ, to develop a supportive fellowship, and to expand
concepts of mission through participation in the global ministries of the church.
Our first event in 2012 was the Tapestry Retreat in February. The Mobile District
of United Methodist Women in partnership with the Conference Mission Team
sponsored this event. The theme was: Tapestry – Weaving the Threads of Love in
Action. Retreat leader was Rev. Anita Brown of Ariton, Alabama. Approximately
190 women attended the retreat. Following the Tapestry Retreat we sponsored our
annual Spiritual Enrichment Retreat at Blue Lake. The theme this year was “Faith
and Fellowship” and leader was The Rev. Dr. Laura Early from South Carolina. Dr
Early leads the ministry for “All God’s Children – A Place of Possibilities”.
The South Atlantic Regional School was held at our own Huntingdon College this
year. Betty Helms served as our conference representative and school secretary
for this event – approximately 300 people from all over the Southeast Jurisdiction
attended.
In August, the Cooperative School of Christian Mission was held at Huntingdon
College. Our theme was “That All May Have Life”and the study leaders were:
Edward Moses, Sr., Jim Clark, Joyce Clark, Susan Hunt, Ashley Meyer, Dr. Lester
Stewart, Ruth Gynther, and Sherry Sink.
On October 19th we had our annual district officer training at Blue Lake. The
evening began with a workshop on Membership Nurture and Outreach. The
facilitators were Lynn Hamric and Betty Helms. After the workshop, the newly
elected and returning district officers were in training sessions led by their respective conference officers. On Saturday morning, the annual meeting began with the
Parade of Banners led by Conference President, Betty Helms and The Rev. Neil
McDavid, Director of Connectional Ministries, AWFC, followed by the district
presidents, district superintendents and spouses. This year the recipients for the
annual Nell Chance Special Recognition Award were Chelsa Alexis Barrow, a
member of Crestview United Methodist Church located in the Pensacola District
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and Kelly Elizabeth Stuart, member of Bay Minette First United Methodist Church
in the Baypines District. Both of these young women were presented with a Special
Mission Recognition Pin. The Pensacola District was presented the 2012 Reading
Award, Marianna-Panama City District was recognized for going above and beyond
their Ribbons for Mission pledge and the Mobile District was this year’s winner
of The Many Colors, One Spirit Banner. Our keynote speaker was, Lynn Hamric,
Women’s Division Director and she installed the 2013-14 officers.
The United Methodist Women of the Alabama West Florida Conference contributed
a total of $172,689.34 to mission giving to the 100 National Mission Projects and
the nearly 300 International Mission Projects. As United Methodist Women, we
continue our journey with a strong commitment to continue our mission to women,
children and youth.
Betty Helms, President
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ADMINISTRATIVE team REPORTS
CONFERENCE BOARD OF PENSION AND
HEALTH BENEFITS
The Board of Pension and Health Benefits offers quality health-care, disability, pension, retirement, financial planning, long-term care and death benefit coverage to
the clergy and churches of the Alabama-West Florida Conference.
In the wake of the recent economic recession, the Board continues to give careful
attention to our resources as we look toward the future. Our greatest resource is
confidence in God’s abundance and goodness.
Your Board of Pension and Health Benefits shall be prudent in long-term planning,
and we shall be optimistic in our management of the Board’s important benefits
programs. We are committed to the goal of sustainable churches, a sustainable Alabama West Florida Annual Conference, and a sustainable United Methodist Church.

REPORT 1 – Health Insurance
The Board works hard to provide excellent health care coverage to our clergy and
lay participants through a partially self-funded insurance plan, administered by Blue
Cross – Blue Shield of Alabama. Montgomery lay member Mike Horsley serves
as chairperson of the Insurance sub-committee of the Board. The cost of this health
insurance plan is covered by participant premium equivalent, church direct billing
and apportionments. While contributions to the Clergy Retired Benefit Stabilization
Fund are presently suspended, it remains a part of our funding plan to guarantee
the financial strength of our Health Insurance Plan and to help offset the unfunded
liability for retiree benefits. The Board’s health insurance reserve investment fund’s
market value as of December 31, 2012 was $4.07 million. The Board of Pension
also maintains an Operating Reserve Fund at the United Methodist Foundation
with a balance of $500,000. In order for the plan to remain viable and available to
all, participation by eligible clergy must be mandatory. The only exceptions being
when the clergyperson can provide satisfactory evidence that he/she is covered by
a spouse’s group plan or that he/she is covered by a military or government retirement health plan. The Board of Pension and Health Benefits seeks to increase the
insurance reserves each year in its efforts both to maintain fiscal strength and stability in our insurance program and to offset the unfunded liability associated with
providing post-retirement medical benefits to current and future retirees. The board
established a target of $4,464,990 for 2013 and will recalculate the target annually.
The Conference unfunded liability for retiree health benefits was estimated in 2010
to be approximately $29,000,000. The 2010 study results are included in Report 2.
The Group Health Benefits Plan is not a form of entitlement. The Conference
Board of Pension and Health Benefits reserve the right to amend the active and
retired plan of benefits and the eligibility needed to qualify. With the approval of
the Annual Conference the Conference Board of Pension and Health Benefits may
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eliminate either or both of these plans.
Conference health care coverage is available for lay employees of local churches,
and the Conference Board of Pension and Health Benefits encourages every church
with lay employees to consider adding this important benefit. For information on
premiums and enrollment requirements, please contact the Conference Fiscal
Office 1-888-873-3127.
2012 HEALTH INSURANCE RECEIPTS AND EXPENDITURES
Beginning Balance
Receipts:
Apportionments
Premium Equivalent
Retirement Stabilization Fund
Reinsurance
Miscellaneous receipts

$1,051,492.03
$ 784,895.78
$5,048,090.21
$ 160,325.07
$ 15,644.39
0

Total Available

$7,060,447.48

Expenditures
Claims:
Clergy
Prescription Drugs
Other Claims
Total Clergy

$ 698,139.53
$2,223,769.75
$2,921,909.28

Retired (MEDSUPP)
Claims
Total Retired

$ 515,264.36
$ 515,264.36

Lay
Prescription Drugs
Other Claims
Total Lay

$ 185,675.86
$ 992,366.79
$1,178,042.65

Total 2012 Claims and Admin

$4,615,216.29

Reinsurance Premium Paid

$ 329,058.66

Dental Premium Paid

$ 196,239.49

Premium Refunds

$

3,742.32

Fund Operations

$

44,560.96

Miscellaneous

$

-690.33

Transferred to Retiree Stabilization Fund

$ 295,646.00

Total Expenditures

$5,483,530.66

Net Available over Expenses

$1,576,916.82

Ending Balance

$1,576,916.82
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Exhibit 1.

Summary of Results Financial Information

The following table summarizes the Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 106 (FAS 106) results of the programs. The Net Periodic
Postretirement Benefit Cost is the expense the Plan Sponsor must record
in their financial statements for the fiscal year.
Fiscal Year Ending
12/31/2010 12/31/2009
(1) Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost

$4,211,219

$4,033,990

$21,954,406

$19,333,937

(3) Expected Postretirement Benefit Obligation $29,271,889

$25,929,180

(2) Accumulated Postretirement Benefit
Obligation
(4) Succeeding Year Cash Flow Projection

$578,140

$523,204

(5) Fair Value of Assets

$0

$0

(a) Irrevocable Trust

$0

$0

$2,739,000

$2,260,000

$0

$0

($6,935,202)

($3,424,416)

(b) Allocated for Benefits
(c) Recognized Under FAS 106
(6) (Accrued)/Prepaid Benefit Cost
(a) Beginning of Year
(b) Net Employer Contribution in Year
(c) (Financial Statement Expense)
(d) End of Year
(7) Charge/(Credit) to Unrestricted Net Assets
(8) Discount Rate

N/A
($4,211,219)

$523,204
($4,033,990)

N/A

($6,935,202)

N/A

$15,019,204

6.10%

6.55%

(a) Initial

10.50%

10.50%

(b) Ultimate

5.50%

5.50%

2017

2017

7.00%

7.00%

(9) Health Care Trend Rate

(c) Year Ultimate Trend Attained
10) Expected Return on Assets
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Report 2 – Report of Actuarial Valuation of Post-retirement Medical Benefits
of Employees and Retirees
In response to the direction of the 2000 General Conference, every five years the
Alabama-West Florida Conference retained an outside consulting firm to calculate
the liabilities associated with providing postretirement medical benefits to current
and future retirees in accordance with the terms of its existing plans and contribution arrangement. The report in Exhibit 1 was prepared by AON Hewitt Consulting,
based on conditions existing as of December 31, 2010.
The full report presents actuarial liabilities for the plan, as well as the applicable
expense and liability amounts that would exist in the conference-reported plan
financial information in accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards Nos. 106 and 132.
In addition, cash flow information is presented which projects the future claims
And participant contributions for the current group of active and retired participants, along with the resulting employer costs. Cash flows, liabilities, and the net
periodic post-retirement benefit costs have been calculated based on conditions
existing as of the December 31, 2010 measurement date.
Please contact the Fiscal Office at 888-873-3127 if you would like to review the
report in its entirety. In this report (Number 2, Exhibit 1), we summarize the information provided through the valuation. Currently there is no formal funding plan
established, though the Board of Pension and Health Benefits seeks to use any revenues over expenditures in the health insurance program to build up reserves and to
underwrite this liability. We fund the annual retiree health costs through apportionments, individual monthly premium equivalent payments. In this report (Number
2, Exhibit 1), we summarize the information provided through the valuation.
Report 3 - Post-Retirement Medical Benefits for Retirees
Purpose of the Plan:
This is a retiree health plan designed to supplement the amounts Medicare pays for
some hospital, medical, and surgical services. The Plan is not designed to cover all
the expenses that Medicare does not pay. You must be enrolled in Parts A and B of
Medicare in order to receive any benefits under the Plan. The Plan is self-insured
by the Alabama-West Florida Conference of the United Methodist Church. This
means that the Conference pays for all claims out of its own assets and does not
buy an insurance policy to pay benefits under the Plan. Blue Cross is responsible
for administering claims under the Plan; Blue Cross does not insure the benefits
under the Plan.
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Eligibility: Retirees
•
•
•

All clergy who retire from active service in the Alabama West Florida
Annual Conference and are eligible for Medicare have access to the plan
for themselves and their Medicare eligible spouses.
Annual conference employees who are employed with the conference at
the time of their retirement and are at least age 65 at retirement have
access to the plan for themselves and their Medicare eligible spouses.
Local church lay employees who have been continuously employed within
the Alabama-West Florida Conference for 20 years and are at least age 65,
in retirement status, enrolled in the conference active insurance plan at
retirement, have access to the plan for themselves and their Medicare
eligible spouses. (Premium must be paid by the church on a church
check).

Premium Equivalent Reductions
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

To be eligible for a premium equivalent reduction for themselves and
their spouses, clergy and annual conference lay employees must be
enrolled in the conference active insurance plan for at least 5 years prior
to retirement and have 5 or more years of service in the Alabama West
Florida Conference. Years of service for clergy are as recorded by the
General Board of Pension and Health Benefits. Retired local church lay
employees are not eligible for premium reductions.
Participants retiring on or before June 30, 2016 with 5 to 28 years of
service will receive an 80% premium reduction for themselves and their
Medicare eligible spouses.
Participants retiring on or before June 30, 2016 with 29 to 34 years of ser
vice will receive a 2.9% premium reduction for each year of service for
themselves and their Medicare eligible spouses.
Participants retiring on or before June 30, 2016 with 35 or more years of
service will receive a full premium reduction for themselves and their
Medicare eligible spouses.
Participants retiring after June 30, 2016 with 5 to 34 years of service will
receive a 2.9% premium reduction for each year of service for themselves
and their Medicare eligible spouses.
Clergy members retiring after June 30, 2016 with 35 or more years of
service will receive a full premium reduction for themselves and their
Medicare eligible spouses.
With respect to married individuals that are each clergy with appointments
in the Alabama West Florida Annual Conference, each such clergy must
satisfy Medicare and Plan eligibility requirements and premium reductions
will be applied to each such clergy and not because of their status as a
spouse of a clergy.
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Premiums Equivalent for Appointed Retired Clergy (age 65+)
Church’s Premium Payment: Equal to the premium equivalent established
				
annually by the Conference Board of Pension
				and Health Benefits.
Clergy’s Premium Payment:

Premium equivalent minus premium reduction.

Clergy Spouse:		

Premium equivalent minus premium reduction.

Pastors Retiring Prior to Age 65
Retired pastors who have not reached the age of eligibility for Medicare and
have 30 or more years of service as recorded by the General Board of Pension
can remain on the active plan with a premium reduction of 2.9% per service
year. Their dependents may continue on the active coverage by paying the premium equivalent established by the Conference Board of Pension and Health
Benefits. Upon reaching the age of 65 they will have access to the Medicare
Supplement Plan and any appropriate premium reductions. In the case of
clergy couples without dependent coverage, individual clergy persons will be
eligible in their own rights and premium reductions will be applied as individuals not as spouses of a clergy.
Pastors Retiring Under the Twenty Year Rule
Retired pastors who have not reached the age of eligibility for Medicare and
have 20 or more years of service but less than 30 as recorded by the General
Board of Pension can remain on the active plan but must pay the established
premium equivalent for themselves and their spouse. Upon reaching the age of
65, they will have access to the Medicare Supplement Plan and any appropriate
premium reductions.
Pastors on Clergy Medical Leave
Clergy on Clergy Medical Leave and receiving Comprehensive Protection Plan
disability benefits prior to June 30, 2012 must qualify for Social Security Disability and elect Medicare on or before June 30, 2015.
Clergy on Clergy Medical Leave and receiving Comprehensive Protection Plan
disability benefits on or after July 1, 2012 must qualify for Social Security Disability, and elect Medicare, on or before the end of their 24th month following
the receipt of Comprehensive Protection Plan disability benefits.
Once qualified for Medicare, clergy on Social Security disability have access
to the Medicare Supplement Plan and any appropriate premium reductions.
Clergy on Clergy Medical Leave and receiving Comprehensive Protection
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Plan disability benefits who are not eligible for or choose not to elect Medicare
coverage, may continue active coverage by paying the full monthly premium
equivalent.
Retiree Benefit Stabilization Fund
Contributions made by clergy to the Retiree Benefit Stabilization Fund (RBSF)
remain in suspension. The RBSF will continue to be maintained for present
and future use.
Report 4 – Pension
The Reverend Nancy Watson chairs the Pension sub-committee of the Conference
Board of Pension and Health Benefits. The Board continues to be delighted by
the fine work of the General Board of Pension and Health Benefits of the United
Methodist Church. With assets exceeding $17 billion and over 90,000 active and
retired participants, the General Board ranks in the top 100 pension plans in the
country and is the largest faith-based not-for-profit financial service organization in
the world. In addition, the General Board acts as a socially responsible investor and
participates actively in shareholder advocacy, proxy voting, portfolio screening, and
community investing. The General Board is the largest denominational investor in
affordable housing programs for low- and moderate-income families in the nation.
To date, they have allocated nearly $1 billion to affordable housing and community
development investments
Many current and future retirees find that their pension benefit is derived from
several different plans. While the number and variety of plans make calculating
pension benefits confusing, the various plans offer a certain level of security due to
the diverse ways in which retiree pensions are funded.
1. The Pre-1982 plan bases the pension payment for a retired person on the
number of years served with pension credit prior to 1982 and the Past Service
Rate (PSR). The Board of Pension set as its goal to offer a PSR equal to CRSP
Defined Benefit increase of 2% in future years. In 2013 the PSR is set at six
hundred eighty-five ($685) per service year for retired clergy and four hundred
eighty dollars ($480) for surviving spouses. For 2014 the Board proposes a
past service rate of six hundred ninety-nine dollars ($699) per service year for
retired clergy. The total rate for surviving spouses is proposed to be four hundred ninety dollars ($490). The Annual Conference adjusts the pension benefits
of those living in Conference provided retirement homes by a reduction of
$50.00 per month for clergy and $35.00 per month for surviving spouses.
2. The Ministerial Pension Plan (MPP) was the mandatory retirement plan
for clergy serving from 1982 through 2006. Under this plan, the Conference
Board of Pension contributed 12% of the Denominational Average Compensation (DAC) on behalf of each eligible clergy person under appointment.
Benefits at retirement are based upon specific decisions made by the retiring
participant.
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3. By mandate of the 2004 General Conference, beginning in January 2007,
the General Board of Pension replaced the MPP with the Clergy Retirement
Security Program (CRSP), which has two components – a Core Defined
Benefit Plan and a Core Defined Contribution Plan. The Core Defined Benefit
Plan determines a pension benefit using the following formula by multiplying
1.25% of the Denominational Average Compensation (DAC) in the year of
retirement by the number of years of credited service after 2006. The Core Defined Contribution Plan determines the pension benefit from the defined contribution of 3% of the participant’s plan compensation. Clergy appointed to less
than full time service and Part Time Local Pastors are credited for service in
increments of 25%, 50% or 75%. By mandate of the 2012 General Conference
benefits under this plan will stop accruing on December 31, 2013. Participants
will lose no earned benefit.
4. The 2012 General Conference modified the Clergy Retirement Security
Program. The January 2014 plan retains the two components – a Core Defined
Benefit Plan and a Core Defined Contribution Plan. The Core Defined Benefit
Plan determines a pension benefit using the following formula by multiplying
1% of the Denominational Average Compensation (DAC) in the year of retirement by the number of years of credited service after 2013. The Core Defined
Contribution (DC) Plan determines the pension benefit from the defined contribution of 2% of the participant’s plan compensation. In addition the conference will match participant’s voluntary personal contributions to The United
Methodist Personal Investment Plan (UMPIP) up to 1% of the participants plan
compensation and deposit those matching funds into the participant’s CRSP
DC account. Clergy appointed to not less than 75% of full time service and
Part Time Local Pastors appointed at not less than 75% are required to participate in the Clergy Retirement Security Program. Clergy appointed less than
75% are not eligible to participate in CRSP, but may, and are encouraged, to
participate in the UMPIP.
5. The United Methodist Personal Investment Plan (UMPIP) is a voluntary
defined-contribution plan for personal contributions and rollovers made by
clergy and lay employees.

When the recommendation of the Alabama-West Florida Conference Commission
on Equitable Compensation is approved and in cooperation with the cabinet the
Conference Board of Pension sets the following appointment salary service standards for 2014:
1. Elders, Provisional Members, Associates Members and Local Pastors at or
greater than $25,350 will serve at 75%.
2. Elders, Provisional Members, Associates Members and Local Pastors at or
greater than $16,900 but less than $25,350 will serve at 50% .
3. Elders, Provisional Members, Associates Members and Local Pastors at or
greater than $8,450 but less than $16,900 will serve at 25% .
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Retiring pastors may expect their pension benefits to come from multiple plans –
Pre-1982 based on years of service with pension credit before January 1, 1982 and
the PSR or the Defined Benefit Service Monies (DBSM) whichever provides the
greater annuity payment, MPP based on defined contributions from 1982 through
2006, supplemented by PIP and UMPIP contributions, CRSP based on the number
of service years between 2007 and 2013 and the DAC in the year of retirement
and CRSP based on the number of service years after 2013. Because of the change
in plans, it is important for participants to verify that the pre 2014 appointment information, including appointment percentages for less than full time appointments,
listed in the Journal of the Alabama-West Florida Conference each year is correct.
The Conference Board of Pension and Health Benefits will assume that the Journal
information is correct unless a correction is submitted in writing and verified within
the conference year in which the Journal is printed.
The Cumulative Pension and Benefit Fund served as a voluntary defined-contribution retirement plan through 2006, funded through employer contributions made on
behalf of deacons (prior to 2006), diaconal ministers, and lay employees of local
churches. This fund is now part of the UMPIP plan.
Information from the General Board of Pension and Health Benefits is available
online at www.gbophb.org.
The Board of Pension and Health Benefits recommends that the apportionment
line item for Conference Claimants Fund be set at $1,000,000 (17% decrease) for
2014. Since pension liabilities are tied to the Conference Average Compensation
and market results of General Board of Pension plan assets, future increases in the
Conference Claimants Fund line item may track with these variables and GBOPHB
actuarial projections.
We call attention to paragraph 622 of The 2012 Book of Discipline of The United
Methodist Church relative to the requirement that the apportionment for the pension
and benefit programs be paid in proportion to the payment of the pastor’s salary by
the local church. The Discipline gives the church treasurer the primary responsibility for the application of proportional payment. If the church treasurer fails to do
this, the pastor is then required to adjust his/her cash salary.
REPORT 5 – Central Conference Pension Initiative
The Alabama-West Florida Conference continues its support of the Central Conference Pension Initiative. In 2012 churches, districts, and individuals have given over
$481,000. This figure includes gifts and pledges from churches and individuals in
the conference. Churches are encouraged to give at a level of $1 per member per
year. Active and retired clergy are encouraged to give to their brothers and sisters
in need around the world. The United Methodist Church is experiencing its greatest
growth in many of the Central Conferences, where pastors labor under difficult and
often dangerous conditions and retire after a lifetime of service with no income.
Many are forced to beg for assistance in their retirement and often go without
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food several days each week. Our effort is part of an initiative across the church to
respond to the plight of our retired Central Conference clergy by raising $20–25
million to establish a sustainable pension program. Many thanks for your gifts and
support.
Report 6– Supplement One to the Clergy Retirement Security Program
This Supplement One is applicable to the Alabama-West Florida Conference and
is effective January 1, 2007. It replaces any previously executed Addendum A (or
Attachment 1) and shall be in effect until amended by the Annual Conference in
accordance with the provisions of the Clergy Retirement Security and the Comprehensive Protection Plan revised January 1, 2007.
CPP contribution base shall be the active participant’s plan contribution for a plan
year not to exceed 200% of the Denominational Average Compensation.
The CPP contribution rate shall be 3.4% of the contribution base of each active
participant. [CPP Section 4.01(a).]
The CPP church contribution shall be made monthly to the plans by the Annual
Conference in accordance with the Plan Document. Such CPP church contributions shall be transferred monthly from the deposit account of the Alabama-West
Florida Conference by the General Board of Pension and Health Benefits to the
Comprehensive Protection Plan. The Annual Conference shall maintain an amount
in its deposit account sufficient to provide for the monthly transfer of the church
contributions on behalf of its active participants. The Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference Board of Pension and Health Benefits is hereby authorized, at its
discretion, to arrange with The General Board of Pension and Health Benefits for
active participation in CPP by persons who are eligible under special rules but not
automatically included as active participants. [CPP Section 3.03. (a)]
All full and associate members appointed to Sabbatical Leave shall continue to
participate in CPP, provided the Conference makes the required contribution based
on 3.4% of the DAC. [Disciplinary Paragraph 350; CPP Section 3.02(a).]
All full, associate, and probationary members granted a Leave of Absence may be
continued in CPP provided the Conference makes a contribution of 4.4% of the
DAC. [Disciplinary Paragraph 352, CPP Section 3.02(a)] The Conference will
direct bill the members who choose to continue participation.
All full, associate, and probationary members granted family leave may continue
in CPP, provided the Conference makes the required contribution based on 4.4% of
the DAC. [Disciplinary Paragraph 353; CPP Section 3.02(a).] The Conference will
direct bill the members who choose to continue participation.
The surviving spouse benefit will be 70% of the participant’s formula benefit.
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Report 7– Alabama West Florida Annual Conference Comprehensive Funding
Plan for Plan Year 2014
The 2012 General Conference established a requirement for Annual Conferences
to develop a comprehensive funding plan to identify both liabilities and resources
for benefits. The Conference Board of Pension has both developed the plan and
submitted it to the GBOPHB for review. The plan template and favorable opinion
letter are printed below.

82

2013 — alabama-west florida

annual conference

— 2013

83

84

2013 — alabama-west florida
Report 8 – Claimants’ Memorial Fund

We recommend the continuation of the Claimants’ Memorial Fund, such funds being invested by this board with the interest being used for the benefits of the conference claimants. Individuals and groups are invited to make voluntary contributions
in any amount as memorials to deceased ministers, members of minister families,
or lay persons. Checks should be made payable to the Alabama-West Florida Conference and sent to the conference treasurer, Montgomery, with the name or names
of the persons being memorialized. Families of those so memorialized will be notified that a memorial gift was received.
Report 9 – Special Appointment Pension Responsibilities
In keeping with paragraph 1506.3.a, and 4, of the 2012 Discipline, we recommend that those clergy appointed to extension ministries be approved for pension
responsibility on this Annual Conference in the following full time appointments:
the director of the Assembly Grounds, the director of the Mobile Inner City Mission, the director of each Wesley Foundation, the Chaplain at the United Methodist
Children’s Home, the Director of the Pensacola Urban Ministry and the Pensacola
Hispanic Ministry provided such appointments are made as members of this Annual
Conference under paragraph 344.1a(1) and 346.1 of the 2012 Book of Discipline of
the United Methodist Church. The district superintendents, clergy appointed to the
Conference Connectional Ministry, Ministerial Services, and the Fiscal Offices are
approved with pension responsibility on this Annual Conference.
We recommend that special appointments to the United Methodist colleges and
universities and other general agencies shall be listed as with pension responsibility
on the institution or agency.
We recommend that chaplains in the Armed Forces be listed with pension responsibility on the chaplaincy of the military service.
We recommend that clergy under appointment as approved evangelists, area appointments and other special ministries shall be listed with pension responsibility
on this Annual Conference only upon payment to the Conference Claimants Fund
an amount equal to 16.4% of the DAC as determined by the General Board of Pension and Health Benefits. (2012 Discipline, par. 1506.3a.)
By special arrangement those clergy on leave of absence or probationary members
appointed to attend school may qualify for the Comprehensive Protection Plan by a
personal payment of 4.4% of the DAC to the Conference Claimants Fund.
We recommend that special appointments to non-Methodist institutions shall be
listed without pension responsibility on this Annual Conference.
We recommend that all missionaries shall be listed with pension responsibility on
the General Board of Global Ministries.
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Report 10 – Depositories
We recommend that the official depository for pension funds shall be the same as
that designated by the Conference for other Conference funds as well as the General Board of Pension and Health Benefits of The United Methodist Church.
Report 11 – Pensions for Lay Employees
We strongly endorse the UMPIP and the Lay Long Term Disability Plan administered by the General Board of Pension and Health Benefits for lay employees of
United Methodist local churches and agencies. In keeping with paragraph 258.2g
(12) of the 2012 United Methodist Book of Discipline, we recommend and urge
our churches to use these plans provided by the General Church to provide pension
equal to at least 3% of compensation and death and disability coverage for our lay
persons who serve our churches.
Churches and agencies should contact the General Board of Pension and Health
Benefits, 1901 Chestnut Avenue, Glenview, IL 60025, (800) 851-2201 for information on becoming plan sponsors for the UMPIP for lay employees.
Report 12 – Full Time Service as a Requirement for Pension Credit Pre-1982
We call attention to the following provisions relative to full time service, rendered
prior to January 1, 1982, as a normal condition for pension credit which appears in
paragraph 1506.3 of the 2012 Discipline.
A. Full-time service of a ministerial member or a lay pastor shall be required
as a normal condition for pension credit; provided, however, that such credit
may be granted for part time service by a three-fourth vote of those present and
voting in the Annual Conference, on recommendation of the conference Board
of Pension and Health Benefits.
B. Full-time service shall mean that full time is devoted to the work of a pastor
by one who has not attained the mandatory age of retirement for a Conference
member, who is not attending school as a regular student, who is not substantially employed in non-pastoral work; and whose cash support per annum from
all church sources is not less than the schedule of equitable compensation
adopted by the Annual Conference for those in this person’s classification.
It should be noted that service of either a ministerial member or lay pastor is
without pension credit if it is not full-time service as defined, except in cases of
approved part-time service.
Report 13 – Resolutions Relating to Rental/Housing Allowances for Retired or
Disabled Clergypersons of the Alabama – West Florida Annual Conference
The Alabama-West Florida Conference (the “Conference”) adopts the following
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resolutions relating to rental/housing allowances for active, retired, terminated, or
disabled clergypersons of the Conference:
WHEREAS, the religious denomination known as The United Methodist Church
(the “Church”), of which this Conference is a part, has in the past functioned and
continues to function through ministers of the gospel (within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code section 107) who were or are duly ordained, commissioned, or
licensed ministers of the Church (“Clergypersons”);
WHEREAS, the practice of the Church and of this Conference was and is to provide active Clergypersons with a parsonage or a rental/housing allowance as part of
their gross compensation;
WHEREAS, pensions or other amounts paid to active, retired, terminated, and
disabled Clergypersons are considered to be deferred compensation and are paid to
active, retired, terminated, and disabled Clergypersons in consideration of previous
active service; and
WHEREAS, the Internal Revenue Service has recognized the Conference (or its
predecessors) as an appropriate organization to designate a rental/housing allowance for Clergypersons who are or were members of this Conference and are
eligible to receive such deferred compensation;
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:
THAT an amount equal to 100% of the pension, severance, or disability payments
received from plans authorized under The Book of Discipline of The United Methodist Church (the “Discipline”), which includes all such payments from the General
Board of Pension and Health Benefits (“GBOPHB”), during the period January 1,
2014 through December 31,2014, by each active, retired, terminated, or disabled
Clergyperson who is or was a member of the Conference, or its predecessors, be
and hereby is designated as a rental/housing allowance for each such Clergyperson;
and
THAT the pension, severance, or disability payments to which this rental/housing
allowance designation applies will be any pension, severance, or disability payments from plans, annuities, or funds authorized under the Discipline, including
such payments from the GBOPHB and from a commercial annuity company that
provides an annuity arising from benefits accrued under a GBOPHB plan, annuity,
or fund authorized under the Discipline, that result from any service a Clergyperson
rendered to this Conference or that an active, a retired, a terminated, or a disabled
Clergyperson of this Conference rendered to any local church, annual conference of
the Church, general agency of the Church, other institution of the Church, former
denomination that is now a part of the Church, or any other employer that employed the Clergyperson to perform services related to the ministry of the Church,
or its predecessors, and that elected to make contributions to, or accrue a benefit
under, such a plan, annuity, or fund for such an active, a retired, a terminated, or a
disabled Clergyperson’s pension, severance, or disability plan benefit as part of his
or her gross compensation.

annual conference

— 2013

87

NOTE: The rental/housing allowance that may be excluded from a Clergyperson’s
gross income in any year for federal (and, in most cases, state) income tax purposes
is limited under Internal Revenue Code section 107(2), and regulations thereunder,
to the least of: (a) the amount of the rental/housing allowance designated by the
Clergyperson’s employer or other appropriate body of the Church (such as this
Conference in the foregoing resolutions) for such year; (b) the amount actually
expended by the Clergyperson to rent or provide a home in such year; or (c) the fair
rental value of the home, including furnishings and appurtenances (such as a garage), plus the cost of utilities in such year. Each clergyperson or former clergyperson is urged to consult with his or her own tax advisor to determine what deferred
compensation is eligible to be claimed as a housing allowance exclusion.
Report 14 – Special Grants
The Conference Board of Pensions recommends that the following monthly grants
be made for the 2014 Conference year:
Oakley W. Melton, III $300.00
Karen Freeman $600.00
Report 15 – Homes for Claimants
The Board of Pension and Health Benefits owns 16 living units for persons who
retired from the conference prior to 2003. Ms. Beth Gordon is chairperson of the
Homes sub-committee of the board. No additional assignments of homes to retirees
will take place, and homes are being sold as they are vacated. Home sales proceeds
are placed in the Homes/Claimants Fund at the United Methodist Foundation.
$38,676.64 was expended on maintenance, taxes and repairs in 2012.
Repairs, general maintenance, and general upkeep are performed as needs arise.
The Board recommends that $44,000 be apportioned for maintenance, taxes and
insurance for the Homes for Claimants and for Conference Board of Pension and
Health Benefits Operations in 2014.
AUBURN
803 Cahaba Street			
Rev. & Mrs. Jamie Pickard
DEMOPOLIS
1508 Powe Road				Vacant
DOTHAN
913 Clearmont Drive			
Mrs. Linda Arledge
JACKSON
432 Golfview Drive			
Mrs. Jake B. Brown
MOBILE
3508 Pepper Ridge			
Rev. Jean Spikes
3636 Vista Ridge				Rented
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MONTGOMERY
821 Bridleway Court			
Rev. Jon C. Couey
3708 Duquesne				
Rev. and Mrs. Leonard Shults
813 Hatcher Street			
Mrs. Carolyn Wilson
LYNN HAVEN
1205 Massachusetts Ave			Rev. Charles Wimberly
OPELIKA
2008 Glenwood Drive			
Mrs. Gerald Freeman
PENSACOLA
2003A. N. 15th Ave			Vacant
2003B. N. 15th Ave			
Mrs. Glen Greenhill
3585 Gatewood Drive			
Mrs. Warren Lindsey
2743 Honeywood				Mrs. Thomas Sowell
6313 Langley Place			
Mrs. Driftwood Rucker
Report 16 – Policy for Claimants Home Occupants
Should an occupant of a claimant’s home choose to relocate from a claimant’s
home the following policy will apply:
Documented moving expenses not to exceed $2,000 will be reimbursed.
A grant not to exceed $3000 will be given to offset documented closing costs for
the purchase of a home or documented rental deposit for an apartment, town home
or assisted living facility.
The moving expenses and grant will be available to clergy persons or a surviving
spouse occupying a claimant home. It is not available to family members when the
home is vacated as a result of the death of a clergy person or surviving spouse.
Report 17 – Need-based Housing Grants
By direction of the Annual Conference, the Board began selling vacant homes in
2003 to pay off all mortgages and create a Homes Fund with the United Methodist Foundation. Beginning in 2005, the Board began offering need-based housing
grants for retiring clergy. The grants are made from the earnings of the Homes/
Claimants Fund. As of December 31, 2012, the Homes/Claimants Fund at the
United Methodist Foundation had a market value of $2.7 million. To qualify an applicant must be:
A clergy person who retires with a minimum of 20 years full-time service with
pension credit in the Alabama-West Florida Conference and is receiving his/her
pension.
An un-remarried surviving spouse of an active clergy person with a minimum
of ten (10) years full-time service in the Alabama-West Florida Conference.
He/she must have been married to the qualified clergy person during the years
of qualifying service. Exceptions may be considered in the case of death prior
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to 10 years of service.
The surviving spouse of a retired clergy person who was married to that clergy
person at the time of his/her retirement
Clergy Persons who are placed on Clergy Medical Leave by the Annual
Conference
APPLICATION PERIOD:
Clergy that retire June 1, 2003 or thereafter may apply for a grant any time subsequent to their retirement. Surviving spouses may apply within one year of the date
of death of the clergy person. Clergy persons who are placed on Clergy Medical
Leave by the Annual Conference may apply within one year of being placed on
Clergy Medical Leave or they may apply subsequent to retirement, provided they
retire on or after June 1, 2003.
To be considered for a grant, the applicant and spouse’s post-retirement earned
income from all sources must be equal to or less than 1.25% of the denominational
average compensation (DAC) in the year of application.
Applicants must submit a Board of Pension and Health Benefits Financial Statement, along with the most recent 1040 Income Tax Form including all schedules.
Applicants must also complete an interview with a Grant Committee appointed by
the Board of Pension.
Grants are intended to assist retiring clergy to obtain housing. The money granted
to applicants should be used to aid with some form of housing such as down payments, closing costs, rental deposits, etc. Grants are awarded on a one-time basis up
to $3,500, as set forth herein. Grants will be disbursed within 30 day after approval
by the Grants Committee.
Grants are not guaranteed but will be awarded based upon the Grant Committee’s
discretion considering financial need, circumstances, available grant funds and the
totality of the overall circumstances.
Amendments
These guidelines maybe amended from time to time by simple majority of the Conference Board of Pension and Health Benefits.
REPORT18 – Other Retirement Services
The General Board of Pension and Health Benefits offers other outstanding services
to active and retired clergy, including free financial planning services through Ernst
and Young and Long-Term Care Insurance through the John Hancock Insurance
Company (no longer offering Long Term Care Policies to new participants) and
Voluntary Supplemental Life Insurance through UNUM. For more information on
these services, please contact Frank Dunnewind at the Conference Fiscal Office.
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REPORT 19 –Alabama-West Florida Conference Policy on Medical and
Disabling Conditions Leave and CPP Disability Benefits
(Approved June 2005)

TERMS:
Medical Leave: A conference relations status of a clergy member who is unable to
perform his or her ministerial work because of a physical or emotional impairment,
the conference may grant medical leave upon recommendation of the conference
boards of ordained ministry and pension.
CPP Disability Benefits: Benefits paid by the Comprehensive Protection Plan to
clergy persons who are determined by the General Board of Pension and Health
Benefits to be eligible for these benefits and are on medical leave.
Medical Leave is granted to clergy who are members of the annual conference who
are unable to perform their ministerial work because of incapacity due to health
matters and disabling conditions. It is not a status that is used to solve appointment
problems.
The 2012 Book of Discipline of the United Methodist Church References:
Paragraph 357. Medical Leave Due to Medical and Disabling Conditions that
Prevent Performance of Ministerial Duties
1. When clergy who are members of an annual conference (¶ 370) are unable
to perform their ministerial duties because of medical and disabling conditions,
upon recommendations of the conference board of ordained ministry and the
conference board of pension, and by a majority vote of the executive session of
clergy members in full connection with the annual conference who are present and voting, they may be granted annual medical leave without losing their
relationship to the annual conference; provided, however, that such leave may
be granted or renewed upon reasonable and appropriate investigation of the
case by the joint committee on clergy medical leave of the annual conference,
or the party responsible for managing clergy medical leaves in accordance with
the annual conference’s policies, which will report its findings to the conference board of ordained ministry and the conference board of pension. This
relationship may be initiated by the clergy member or cabinet with or without
the consent of the clergy member through the board of ordained ministry.
When medical leave is given without the clergy member’s consent, reasonable
accommodation shall be offered whenever possible. When a clergy member is
granted medical leave by the annual conference, if the medical evidence has
not yet met the standards for the receipt of benefits as set forth in the Comprehensive Protection Plan, section 5.04, the conference board of pension
may authorize payment of the benefits in the amount that would otherwise be
payable from the Comprehensive Protection Plan. The payments shall be made
by the General Board of Pension and Health Benefits as a charge to the annual
conference granting the medical leave. If payments from the Comprehensive
Protection Plan are subsequently approved, the annual conference will be
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reimbursed for benefits already paid, not to exceed the amount otherwise payable from the Comprehensive Protection Plan. Each medical leave granted by
the annual conference shall be recorded in the conference minutes.
2. When clergy who are members of an annual conference are unable to
perform their ministerial duties between sessions of the annual conference on
account of medical conditions, with the approval of a majority of the district
superintendents, after consultation with the executive committee of the conference board of ordained ministry and the executive committee of the conference board of pension, a medical leave may be granted by the bishop for the
remainder of the conference year; provided, however, that such leave may be
granted upon reasonable and appropriate investigation of the case including accommodation provisions by the joint committee on clergy medical leave of the
annual conference, or the party responsible for managing clergy medical leaves
in accordance with the annual conference’s policies, which will report its findings to the conference board of ordained ministry and the conference board of
pension. When a clergy member is granted medical leave by the bishop, if the
medical evidence has not yet met the standards for receipt of benefits as set
forth in the Comprehensive Protection Plan, section 5.04, the conference board
of pension may authorize payment of the benefits in the amount that would
otherwise be payable from the Comprehensive Protection Plan. The payments
shall be made by the General Board of Pension and Health Benefits as a charge
to the annual conference granting the medical leave. If payments from the
Comprehensive Protection Plan are subsequently approved, the annual conference will be reimbursed for benefits already paid, not to exceed the amount
otherwise payable from the Comprehensive Protection Plan.
3. When clergy members on medical leave provide medical evidence that they
have recovered sufficiently to resume ministerial duties, or are able to return
through reasonable accommodation, in consultation with the appointive
cabinet, upon recommendation of the joint committee on clergy medical leave
or the conference relations committee, and with the approval of the executive
committee of the conference board of ordained ministry, they may receive an
appointment from a bishop between sessions of the annual conference, thereby
terminating the medical leave. Such appointment shall be reported immediately
by the cabinet to the conference board of pension and to the General Board
of Pension and Health Benefits. Such termination of leave, together with the
effective date, shall also be recorded in the minutes of the annual conference at
its next regular session.
Paragraph 635.2(k): “Conference Board of Ordained Ministry
“The duties of the annual conference board of ordained ministry shall be...
k) To interview applicants and make recommendation concerning: (1) changes
from the effective relation to a leave of absence or retirement; (2) return to the
effective relation from other relations; (3) honorable location; (4) readmission
of located persons and persons discontinued from probationary membership;
(5) sabbatical leave; (6) medical leave; (7) appointment as a student; (8) termination; and (9) changes to or from less than full-time ministry.
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“The board shall keep a record of these changes and the reason behind them
and place a copy in the permanent records of the annual conference maintained
by the secretary of the conference.”

Paragraph 652
“…The annual conference may establish a joint committee on clergy medical leave (JCCML). If the annual conference establishes such a committee,
it should be composed of at least two representatives each from the board of
ordained ministry and the conference board of pension, who may be elected
by those boards at the beginning of each quadrennium and at other times when
vacancies occur, and a district superintendent appointed from time to time by
the bishop to represent the cabinet. The joint committee shall be encouraged to
include in its composition a person with a disability, preferably someone under
appointment. Unless and until other members are elected, the chairperson and
registrar of the board of ordained ministry and the chairperson and secretary of
the conference board of pension, or others designated by them, shall be authorized to represent their respective boards. The committee shall organize at the
beginning of each quadrennium by the election of a chairperson and a secretary. If the annual conference does not establish a joint committee, the annual
conference’s established policy and process for managing clergy medical leave
nonetheless should involve the board of ordained ministry, the conference
board of pension and representation from the cabinet.
The duties of the annual conference, with respect to clergy medical leave, or
the joint committee on clergy medical leave, or its equivalent, shall be:
a) To study issues related to clergy medical leave in the annual conference.
b) To provide for a continuing personal ministry to any clergy on medical
leave of the conference and to aid them in maintaining fellowship with the
members of the conference.
c) To provide advice and support to and, where appropriate advocacy for,
clergy on medical leave in (i) applying for and securing disability benefits
from the Comprehensive Protection Plan and government programs, (ii)
exploring possible sources of interim financial assistance before disability
benefits can be obtained, (iii) establishing rehabilitation and return-toservice programs, and (iv) assessing the need for and providing reasonable
accommodations.
d) To make recommendations to the board of ordained ministry, the
conference board of pension, and the cabinet on matters related to clergy
medical leave, including steps for the prevention of the need for medical
leave, the process of granting medical leave, benefits, grants or other assistance, and programs of rehabilitation.
e) To cooperate with and give assistance to the General Board of Pension
and Health Benefits in its administration of the Clergy Retirement Security
Program, the Comprehensive Protection Plan and other benefit plans for
clergy on medical leave, and to the extent applicable assist with the disability benefits and other benefits provided under those plans.
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Going on Medical Leave
1.
When an eligible clergyperson requests CPP Disability Benefits:
2.
Application is requested from Conference Pension and Benefits Officer or
General Board of Pension and Health Benefits (GBOPHB).
3.
Application is completed:
a.
Form A, Applicant Information for Long-Term Disability
		
Benefits is completed, signed by the applicant, and mailed to the
GBOPHB.
		
b.
Form B, Attending Physicians Statement is completed by the
		
applicant and the physician, signed by the Physician and mailed
		
to the GBOPHB
c.
Form C, Clergy Disability Benefits Application is completed and
		
asigned by the applicant including the Authorization to Release
		
Information to the General Board page and mailed to the District
		
Superintendent
4.
The District Superintendent signs Form C, acknowledging that the individual is applying for disability benefits and mails it to the Conference
Pension and Benefits Officer.
The Conference Benefits Officer signs Form C, acknowledging that the
5.
individual is applying for disability benefits.
6.
The Conference Benefits Officer contacts by phone or email each member of the JCCML to alert them to the fact that the individual is applying
for CPP Disability Benefits and signs Form C for the Chair of (JCCML)
The Conference Pension and Benefits Officer mails Form C to the
GBOPHB.
Form F: The District Superintendent must state, in writing, that the
7.
Bishop has or will grant the individual clergy medical leave. The District
Superintendent must also indicate one of the following:
a.
The applicant will be granted clergy medical leave ONLY if
		
disability benefits are approved from the CPP and if approved the
		
date incapacity leave will begin,
b.
The applicant has been or will be granted medical leave and the
		
conference deposit account should be charged for conference
		
disability grant in the amount of:
		
•
40% of the Denominational Average Compensation
			(DAC)
		
•
Greater of 70% of plan compensation or 40% of DAC
			
(standard CPP benefit)
		
•
Other (specify amount)
c.
The applicant has been or will be granted medical leave without
		
benefits and the date clergy medical leave will begin.
If the conference deposit account is to be charged with CPP benefits (option b), the
conference Pension and Benefits officer will coordinate approval with the Executive Committee of the conference board of pension and health benefits.

94

2013 — alabama-west florida

Form F is signed by the Conference Pension and Benefits Officer and mailed to the
General Board of Pension and Health Benefits.
The Conference Pension and Benefits Officer will provide a copy of Form F to the
board of ordained ministry Executive Secretary to insure that the board of ordained
ministry takes appropriate action. Because of HIPPA privacy regulations, it will be
the standard position of the JCCML to recommend to the board of ordained ministry the status recommended by UNUM.
Coming Off Clergy Medical Leave
Among the reasons a participant will no longer receive CPP disability benefits are
the following:
1.

2.

3.

If a participant becomes disabled on or prior to the date he/she attains
age 60, and is receiving disability benefits in the Conference year in which
he/she attains age 65, and the disability continues, then the benefits will
terminate on June 30 following the person’s 65th birthday anniversary (if
the final day of the regular session of such person’s conference falls in the
month of May or June, or, otherwise, on the last day of the month in which
the closing day of such Conference session occurs) Para 5.04 d. (7) CPP
Plan Document.
If the participant becomes disabled after age 60, and the disability
continues, then the benefits will terminate on the earlier to occur of (i)
June 30 following the end of a five year period from the date the disability
was determined to have begun (if the final day of the regular session of
such person’s Conference falls in Mayor June, or , otherwise, on the last
day of the month following the end of such five-year period in which the
closing day of such Conference session occurs); or (ii) June 30 following
such person’s retirement date (if the final day of the regular session of
such person’s Conference falls in Mayor June, or, otherwise, on the last
day of the month in which the closing day of such Conference session
occurs). Para 5.4 d. (8) CPP Plan Document.
If the individual provides medical evidence that they have recovered
sufficiently to resume ministerial work, or are able to return through
reasonable accommodations a request must be submitted to the Bishop
and the Joint Committee on Clergy Medical Leave.

The JCCML, through the Conference Pension and Benefits Officer, may request a
referral through the UNUM for the name of a physician available and competent to
provide an Independent Medical Evaluation of the individual’s request Because of
HIPPA privacy regulations, the JCCML will request only a recommendation from
the physician as to the individual’s ability to resume work and will follow the physician’s recommendation as to making a recommendation to the board of ordained
ministry. Alternately, and at the discretion of the JCCML, the recommendation of
UNUM regarding continuation of CPP Disability Benefits may form the recommendation of the JCCML to the board of ordained ministry.
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Having received the recommendation from the JCCML, the board of ordained ministry will conduct the interview required in paragraph 635.2 (k)
If an individual receives an appointment between sessions of annual conference, the
cabinet must report the appointment immediately to the conference board of pension and the GBOPH. Such termination of medical leave, together with the effective date must also be recorded in the minutes of the annual conference at its next
regular session.
Part-Time Appointments
If an individual seeks a part-time appointment in anticipation of coming off incapacity leave the following information is required:
1.
2.

3.
4.
5.

The appointment cannot last longer than 12 months.
The written recommendation of the individual’s doctor. The operative
word is recommendation. That is, the doctor believes that it is in the medical best interest of the individual to begin part-time service and is encouraging and cooperating with the return to part-time service.
The number of hours that the individual will work.
When the appointment will start
Will the person serve a church as the only pastor or will the individual
serve as an associate of a church?

Approved: Board of Pension and Health Benefits - 01/12/2005 Board of Ministry 03/01/2005
Report 20 – Death Benefit Program
Since January 1, 1995 the conference has participated in The General Board of
Pension and Health Benefits’ Basic Protection Plan, now Clergy Supplemental
Life. Clergy Supplemental Life is an additional death benefit added to the regular
death benefit provided by the Comprehensive Protection Plan (CPP) in which each
full-time clergy, with a base compensation and housing equal to 60% or more of the
Denominational Average Compensation (DAC).
2013 Death Benefit
Active Participant CPP death benefit		
Active Participant Clergy Supplemental
Life death benefit (under age 70)		
Active Participant Clergy Supplemental
Life death benefit (70 or older)		

$50,000.00
$25,000.00
$16,250.00

For clergy who retired before January 1, 2013:
Retired participant, receiving pension upon retirement CPP Death benefit is
30% of DAC in the year of death. Retired participants eligible for Clergy
Supplemental Life benefit $5,000.00
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For additional information related other death Alabama-West Florida web site at:
www.awfumc.org
Submitted by,
The Reverend Doctor Robert C. McKibben
Chair, Board of Pension and Health Benefits

CONFERENCE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
REPORT 1
The Board of Trustees of the Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference holds in
trust all properties of the Annual Conference. The real properties held are the following: The Episcopal Residence: 3291 Lancaster Lane, Montgomery. The Board is
the Trustee for the following bequests (cost value as of December 31, 2012):
FUND				COST VALUE		
BENEFICARY
1. Norris Allen Fund		
$220,935.97		
Board of Ministry
2. Hattie B. Norred Fund		
$ 80,974.38		
Board of Trustees
3. C.B. Gilmore Fund		
$131,685.04		
Board of Trustees
4. Lowndesboro Trust		
$ 6,516.41		
Lowndesboro UMC
5. Mary Lloyd Reynolds		
$ 88,725.19		
Board of Missions
6. J.B. Skinner Estate		
$933,765.95		
Children’s Home
		
The Board of Trustees holds these funds in trust, with the revenues being used as
directed by the donors.
We call attention to the resolution adopted by the Annual Conference of 1988,
which designated the Alabama-West Florida United Methodist Foundation as
the official depository for discretionary endowment funds owned by the Annual
Conference and its related boards and agencies. Local churches are encouraged to
use the Foundation for endowment funds in order to insure proper management and
fiduciary accountability.
REPORT 2 - SIGNATURE AUTHORITY
In keeping with ¶2515 of The 2012 Book of Discipline of the United Methodist
Church, the President and any one of the following officers of the Board of Trustees may sign any required written instruments necessary to carry out the action
authorized by the Annual Conference regarding the sale, transfer, lease or purchase
of Annual Conference property: The Vice President or the Secretary.
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REPORT 3 - DESIGNATION OF UMC OWNED PROPERTY AS
CULTURAL, HISTORICAL, OR ARCHITECTURAL LANDMARK
Paragraph 2512.7 of The 2012 Book of Discipline of The United Methodist Church
directs that “the board [of trustees of the annual conference], after consultation with
the conference commission on archives and history. . . shall develop a policy for an
annual conference response, on behalf of any local church, church-related agency,
or district or annual conference board of trustees located within the bounds of the
annual conference, to any governmental effort to designate a property held in trust
for the benefit of The United Methodist Church (¶2503) by any such board of trustees as a cultural, historical, or architectural landmark.”
Governmental designation of church-owned real property as a cultural, historical,
or architectural landmark severely infringes upon and restricts the rights of the
church as a property owner and as a religious institution.
Governmental designation of church-owned real property can cause a reduction in
the market value of the property.
Typically, the exterior facade of a building may not be altered without governmental permission.
Depending on governmental requirements, alterations of the interior may be forbidden without governmental permission.
Improvements (such as buildings) on the property are either forbidden to be demolished, or can be demolished only after extensive and expensive applications and
hearings.
Sale of landmarked property, when it is no longer required for church purposes,
becomes almost impossible; a buyer is not given the freedom to demolish the structures on the property or to use it as he/she sees fit. Such limitations would render
church-owned property virtually unable to be sold in the future.
The church could be blocked from transforming the donations given in the past to
establish real property for United Methodist use into new establishments for United
Methodist Church use, a promise made to the donors at the time their donations
were originally solicited.
In exchange for such limitations on the use of property, governmental bodies typically will compensate the property owner for such reduction in property value and
limitations on development and use by allowing federal and state income tax credits
against actual expenditures made for future rehabilitation work done to the property. Such income tax credits are worthless to a church, however, because a church
does not pay income taxes.
Because of the restrictions and infringements upon the rights of the church as a
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property owner and religious institution, in general such governmental designations
should be discouraged.
There may be, however, instances when allowing such a landmarking to take place
is in the best interests of both the public and the church. Therefore, the following principles are established as the policy of the Alabama-West Florida Annual
Conference:
1.

2.

3.

Any Board of Trustees which voluntarily wishes to cooperate with a
governmental body in having that property landmarked which the Board
of Trustees holds in trust for The United Methodist Church shall do the
following:
a. Comply with the provisions of ¶s 2515, 2517.2, 2539, 2540, 2541, and/
or 2543 (as appropriate) of The 2102 Book of Discipline of the United
Methodist Church, just as if such landmarking were a sale of the property.
b. Obtain a majority vote of the Bishop and Cabinet, combined, approving
such a voluntary landmarking of church-owned property.
On behalf of the Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference, the Annual
Conference Board of Trustees, as the designated successor in interest
to church-owned property held in trust for the United Methodist Church
under ¶2549.3 of The 2012 Book of Discipline of the United Methodist
Church, and as the designated agency “to intervene and take all necessary
legal steps to safeguard and protect the interests and rights of the annual
conference anywhere and in all matters relating to property and rights to
property” of any of its agencies, organizations, or local churches under
2512.4, is directed to intervene, at the request of the superintendent of the
district in which the affected property is located, to oppose any governmental effort to involuntarily designate any such property as a cultural,
historical, or architectural landmark. This intervention may include
engaging what legal or professional counsel is needed. Such intervention
may include opposing such landmarking designation in any or all state
or federal courts, if necessary and appropriate. The Annual Conference
Board of Trustees may, at its discretion, undertake such intervention by
financial assistance to the affected board of trustees. Such funding shall
come first from any positive balance in the fund described below.
Additional funding, if necessary, be requested from the Annual Conference
Council on Finance and Administration.
The Annual Conference Committee on Finance and Administration shall
establish an interest-on-investments account to be used, at the discretion
of the Annual Conference Board of Trustees, to help defray the costs of
opposing governmental efforts at involuntary landmarking of churchowned property as described above. Funds contributed to this fund may
only be used for the designated purpose. Any use of these funds will be re
ported to the Annual Conference. Income generated from this account may
be used by the Annual Conference Council on Finance and
Administration (or its successor organization) for any purpose it shall
designate. The Annual Conference Board of Trustees is directed to a)
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request monies from the apportioned budget of the Annual Conference, as
reasonably available, and b) solicit voluntary contributions, to put into the
account to hold in reserve for the designated purpose.
REPORT 4 - GENERAL TRUST GUIDELINES
In the absence of specific guidelines regarding the investment and distribution of
gifts to the Alabama-West Florida Conference Board of Trustees, the board establishes these guidelines in order to provide ongoing support of the ministries identified by the donor. The use of “Board of Trustees” in this document refers to the
Board of Trustees of the Alabama-West Florida Conference of the United Methodist
Church.
• The objective of the trust is to conserve principal as an ongoing source of
funding.
• Any part of the principal may be withdrawn only in extreme and over
whelming circumstances, bordering on the financial survival of the entity
designated by the donor and must be approved by the Board of Trustees.
• Fund management will be provided through the services of the AlabamaWest Florida United Methodist Foundation.
• Up to 100% of the earned income may be utilized upon approval of the
Board of Trustees.
• Realized capital gains will be treated as an increase in principal value.
• The use of a trust fund as collateral for a loan will be decided on a case-by
- case basis by the Board of Trustees.
• Board of Trustees will determine the investment strategy for each fund and
any changes in investment strategy will require approval of the Board of
Trustees.
• Any material change to the income distribution policy requires approval of
the Board of Trustees.
• Board of Trustees encourages the use of the General Trust Guidelines for
all additional gifts.
REPORT 5 - 15 PASSENGER VANS
In an extra ordinary action The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration
(see www.nhtsa.gov) issued a safety advisory for the fourth time in five years saying:
• 15 passenger vans are far more prone to rolling over than school buses,
cars, or mini-vans.
• Occupants of 15 - passenger vans are less apt to wear seat belts.
• 15 - passenger vans are three times more likely to roll over when fully
loaded than when they have fewer than 10 passengers.
Federal law does not let car dealers sell the vans for transporting people 18 years
and younger.
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The South Carolina United Methodist Advocate, dated May 2001 stated: School
buses average 0.2 deaths per 100 million miles. Vans average 1.2 deaths per 100
million miles.
The Alabama-West Florida Chancellor states, “I believe that the use of these vans
should be strongly discouraged by the Conference. There have been studies which
tend to show that 15-passenger vans can become unstable in emergency situations
where the vans are fully loaded. Where the vans have not been prohibited by the
Department of Transportation, the use of fully loaded vans to transport passengers
has been strongly questioned. There is evidence that a fully loaded 15-passenger
van exceeds the design criteria for the suspension systems of the van. Under emergency braking or handling maneuvers, the van can become unstable and there have
been several crashes involving fully loaded vans. Consequently, it is my opinion
that the Conference should strongly discourage the use of 15-passenger vans for
the transportation of people in our Conference. Although the Conference cannot
prohibit the use of these vans, 1 believe we should strongly discourage the use of
these vans due to the liability concerns and safety concerns.”
It is the recommendation of the Board of Trustees that churches not use or purchase
15 passenger vans to transport passengers and that before churches do so that they
obtain competent legal advice and consult with their insurance company.
REPORT 6 - PARSONAGE STANDARDS
The Book of Discipline states, “Housing provisions shall comply with Annual
Conference housing policy and parsonage standards.” In order to establish a housing policy and housing standard the Annual Conference recommends three options
available for the local church. The Annual Conference does not put one option
above the other. The options are co-equal, depending upon the local situation.
The Charge Conference shall review the recommendations of the Pastor-Parish
Relations Committee regarding provision of adequate housing for the pastor(s) of
a local Charge in consultation with the District Superintendent, the Charge shall
choose one of these three options.
OPTION ONE
Housing Allowance: Any congregation considering a housing allowance shall
consult with the District Superintendent to understand all the positive and negative aspects of housing allowances. Before implementing a housing allowance, a
congregation must obtain the District Superintendent’s permission. The congregation must present a tentative draft budget for the first two years and demonstrate the
impact of the change on the overall fiscal health of the congregation. If the congregation decides to sell an existing parsonage, the church leadership shall follow the
Discipline guidelines for selling the parsonage and using the proceeds of the sale.
Upon recommendation of the Pastor-Parish Relations Committee and the Board
of Trustees with approval by the Finance Committee, the Charge Conference shall
provide an annual housing allowance. The housing allowance shall not be consid-
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ered as part of compensation or remuneration of the pastor(s).
OPTION TWO
Upon recommendation of the Pastor-Parish Relations Committee and the Board
of Trustees with approval by the Finance Committee, the Charge Conference shall
provide a parsonage that furnishes only major appliances, installed floor covering
and window dressing.
OPTION THREE
Upon recommendation of the Pastor-Parish Relations Committee and the Board
of Trustees with approval by the Finance Committee, the Charge Conference shall
provide an adequately furnished parsonage, with quality furnishings, that complies
with these standards:
REQUIRED MINIMUM STANDARDS
In addition to the Discipline requirements for parsonages the following is required
for all parsonages, in the Alabama -West Florida Annual Conference.
• Electrical wiring that meets code and is sufficient to meet today’s needs
for electricity.
• Climate control - both heating and air conditioning
Rooms:
• Living Room or Great Room
• Dining Room or eating area large enough for at least 8 people
• Kitchen
• 3 bedrooms
• 2 baths
• Indoor laundry area
• Shelter for 2 vehicles
• Secure storage area
Equipment:
Good quality dependable appliances:
• Stove
• Microwave
• Dishwasher
• Refrigerator with freezer compartment
• Washer and dryer
• Hot water heater of at least 60 gallons
• Wired for basic cable or satellite dish service
• Maintained smoke alarms
• Current fire extinguishers for kitchen and other required areas
•
Vacuum, if there are carpets
If no lawn service and pastor is expected to maintain lawn the following are minimum requirements:
• Gas mower
• Trimmer or weed eater
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Furnishings:
• Quality window coverings in neutral colors that insure privacy
• Quality floor coverings in neutral colors that is durable and easy to
maintain
Maintenance:
• Regular pest control inspection and treatment
• Annual termite inspection and treatment
• Landscaping and maintenance thereof should be representative of the
neighborhood.
• Regular schedule for painting both on the outside and inside of the house
as needed. Any needed repairs should be done in a timely manner
• Annual carpet cleaning
• Regular maintenance and cleaning of chimneys if one exists
CARE OF THE PROPERTY
1.
The pastor and family should care for the parsonage as good stewards for
the Lord’s property, carefully avoiding undue wear and tear, but at the
same time they should “be at home” in the parsonage, knowing that the
home and furnishings are to be used with inevitable and expected
depreciation.
2.
The pastor and family are responsible for the repair or replacement of
furnishings when, through negligent use of furnishings, breakage results,
but ordinary wear and tear, such as is expected when a house is lived in, is
the responsibility of the Board of Trustees/Parsonage Committee.
3.
The church shall provide an adequate amount of insurance of the building,
furnishings, and equipment and for public liability. The minimum amount
of insurance carried on the parsonage should be equal to 80% of the
replacement value of the building, furnishings, and equipment. All clergy
families are responsible for insuring all of the family’s personal items.
There shall be a plan identifying repairs, replacements or additions that
4.
need to be made to the parsonage. All broken and worn-out furniture or
equipment should be removed.
5.
The Board of Trustees in consultation with the parsonage committee shall
keep the parsonage and furnishing in good repair. They shall furnish the
clergy family with a list of those church members who can do minor
repairs and the names of repair companies with whom the church does
business. A list of procedures to follow when repair work is needed should
also be given to the clergy family
6.
Regular pest control inspection and treatment, annual termite inspection
and annual carpet cleaning should be budgeted.
7.
The pastor and spouse should be consulted in the selection of furnishings
and equipment.
8.
If the vacating parsonage family had pets they shall be responsible for
having the house and yard treated for fleas and other parasites before
moving. They shall also be responsible for having the carpeting and
upholstery cleaned and must vacate the house early in order to allow for
this process to occur.
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Each pastoral charge should place an amount in the budget annually for
normal maintenance and repairs to the building, furnishings, and equipment or the replacement of same if necessary.
REPORT 7 - POLICY STATEMENT CONCERNING SEXUAL
MISCONDUCT BY CLERGY OF THE ALABAMA-WEST FLORIDA
CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED METHODIST CHURCH, INC.

The Alabama-West Florida Conference of the United Methodist Church, Inc. affirms The 2012 Book of Resolutions, Sexual Abuse Within the Ministerial Relationship and Sexual Harassment Within the Church, which states that sexual abuse
within the ministerial relationship and sexual harassment within the church are
incompatible with biblical teachings of hospitality, justice and healing. In accordance with The 2012 Book of Discipline ¶161(F), we affirm that all human beings,
both male and female, are created in the image of God, and thus have been made
equal in Christ. As the promise of Galatians 3:26-29 states, all are one in Christ.
Therefore, this Conference of the United Methodist Church supports equity among
all persons without regard to ethnicity, situation or gender.
Statement of Purpose
Clergy members of this conference are in a position of sacred trust, responsibility and power which affords the opportunity for unique relationships of grace and
caring. Sexual misconduct by the clergy violates this trust and constitutes an abuse
of the power and position of the clergy. It is the purpose of this policy to prohibit
sexual abuse, sexual harassment and sexual misconduct by the clergy members
of this conference in the performance of their responsibilities as ministers of the
gospel. It is also the purpose of this policy to provide a method for reporting such
misconduct and a procedure for resolution of complaints of misconduct involving
clergy members of this Conference.
Theological Foundation
All persons are created by God. Scripture teaches that male and female are created in the image of God, and are of equal value in Christ. Jesus was sent into the
world that all persons may experience whole relationships with God and each other.
We are called to live in a right relationship with God, with one another, and with
ourselves. This calling to live in the fullness of our God-created humanity requires
that we sustain a vital relationship to God so that we may maintain the dignity of
all life, and treat each other with respect and dignity. The 2012 Book of Discipline
states: “We recognize that sexuality is God’s good gift to all persons. We believe
persons may be fully human only when that gift is acknowledged and affirmed by
themselves, the church and society.”
Definitions
Sexual harassment is defined by The 2012 Book of Discipline,¶161(I) as “any
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unwanted sexual comment, advance or demand, either verbal or physical, that is
reasonably perceived by the recipient as demeaning, intimidating, or coercive.
Sexual harassment must be understood as an exploitation of a power relationship
rather than an exclusively sexual issue. Sexual harassment includes, but is not
limited to, the creation of a hostile or abusive working environment resulting from
discrimination on the basis of gender.” Sexual harassment may occur in any environment where the work of the church takes place. Sexual harassment also includes
intimidating or coercive behavior that threatens or results in a tangible employment
action.
Gender Harassment is behavior that is harassing in nature against a woman because she is a woman or against a man because he is a man.
Sexual abuse is conduct of a sexual nature that is in violation of the legal rights of
others and/or conduct that is prohibit by law. Sexual abuse includes criminal sexual
conduct or sexual contact by force, threat or intimidation that is in violation of the
laws of the States of Alabama or Florida. As applicable to interactions with children
or vulnerable persons, the term “sexual abuse” includes the subjection of a child
or vulnerable person to any sexual act by any person responsible for their care in
violation of the laws of the states of Alabama or Florida. To uphold the moral standards of the United Methodist Church as defined by The 2012 Book of Discipline,
no person under the age of 18 nor any vulnerable adult may give consent to sexual
acts.
Sexual abuse within the ministerial relationship occurs when a person within a ministerial role of leadership (pastor, educator, counselor, youth leader, or other person
of leadership) engages in sexual contact or sexualized behavior with a congregant,
parishioner, client, employee, student, staff member, co-worker or volunteer.
Sexual Misconduct is conduct which is a chargeable offense within the meaning of
¶2702 of The 2012 Book of Discipline. Sexual misconduct may also be an abuse of
power through sexual contact or activity (not limited to sexual intercourse) which
exploits the vulnerability of a parishioner, client, staff member, or volunteer, or
conduct which causes or allows those persons to engage in sexual conduct with a
person in a professional relationship (whether paid or unpaid) to this annual conference.
Sexual misconduct may also include any sexual contact or activity (not limited to
sexual intercourse) between a person in a therapeutic or counseling role or relationship with a parishioner or client. In such instances, consent is not a defense. Such
behavior is inappropriate and immoral.
Policy Statement
Sexual harassment, gender harassment, sexual abuse and misconduct of a sexual
nature within the life of the Church interfere with its moral mission. The AlabamaWest Florida Conference of the United Methodist Church prohibits and will not
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tolerate these behaviors, which are sinful, demeaning, abusive and wrong. This
Conference commits itself to the fair and expedient investigation of any complaint
of sexual and gender harassment, sexual abuse or misconduct of a sexual nature
within the Conference and will take action deemed appropriate and in compliance
with the Book of Discipline. Further, it shall be the policy of The Alabama WestFlorida Conference of the United Methodist Church to create an environment of
hospitality for all persons, male or female, which is free from this type of sinful
conduct and which encourages respect, equality and kinship in Christ.
Procedure for Reporting Complaints
Some instances of harassment can be resolved informally by conversation between
the parties or facilitated by mediation. In all other instances, conduct that is in
violation of this policy must be reported immediately. Such a report may be made
either to the Presiding Bishop of the Conference or any District Superintendent of
this Conference. A report of such conduct may be reported to the Presiding Bishop
at the Bishop’s office in Montgomery, Alabama or to the District Superintendent at
any of the District Offices within the Conference. Upon receipt by a District Superintendent of a report of clergy misconduct of a sexual nature, the District Superintendent must immediately report such complaint to the Presiding Bishop.
Non-Retaliation for Reporting
The Alabama-West Florida Conference of the United Methodist Church will not
retaliate against any person who brings forward a complaint or reports any conduct
prohibited by this policy. All staff, leaders and volunteers are expected to immediately report any knowledge of harassment, abuse or misconduct to anyone of the
persons listed above. Prompt and appropriate investigation and corrective action,
where appropriate, will be taken, including discipline. Persons who make false
accusations may also be disciplined in the event that the accusations have been
proven false.
Investigations
All investigations and remedial measures shall take place according to the pertinent provisions of the Book of Discipline. Nothing contained in this policy shall be
construed to in any way alter or enlarge on any requirement of the Book of Discipline. All complaints or reports of conduct that is in violation of this policy shall be
promptly and thoroughly investigated in accordance with the Book of Discipline.
All investigations shall be consistent with fair process as set forth in ¶2701 of The
2012 Book of Discipline and the Decisions of The Judicial Council of the United
Methodist Church.
Confidentiality
While The Alabama-West Florida Conference of the United Methodist Church
cannot guarantee absolute confidentiality, it will make every reasonable effort to
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maintain confidentiality by disclosing information concerning the complaint or the
investigation only on a “need to know” basis and as necessary to promote God’s
call for justice, reconciliation and healing.
Mandatory Reporting
The Alabama-West Florida Conference of the United Methodist Church will comply with all applicable state or federal laws regarding the mandatory reporting of
misconduct of a sexual nature committed by any clergy.
Mediation and Reconciliation
The Alabama-West Florida Conference of the United Methodist Church encourages
resolution of disputes and conflicts by mediation and reconciliation. Where appropriate, the Conference encourages parties to utilize mediation in order to reach a
just and equitable resolution of the matter, giving due consideration to the severity of the situation, the position of the parties and nature of the conduct involved.
Where appropriate, the conference encourages the utilization of mediation agencies
such as Just Peace, and appropriate support teams.
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REPORT 8 - POLICY STATEMENT CONCERNING
SAFE SANCTUARIES
OUR MANDATE
Introduction: The General Conference of The United Methodist Church, beginning in April 1996, adopted a
resolution aimed at reducing the risk of child sexual abuse in the church. The adopted resolution includes the
following statement:
Jesus said, “Whoever welcomes (a) child...welcomes me.” (Matthew 18:5). Children are our
present and our future, our hope, our teachers, our inspiration. They are full participants in the life of the
church and in the realm of God.
Jesus also said, “If any of you put a stumbling block before one of these little ones..., it would be
better for you if a great millstone were fastened around your neck and you were drowned in the depth of the
sea.” (Matthew 18:6) Our Christian faith calls us to offer both hospitality and protection to the little ones,
the children. The Social Principles of The United Methodist Church state that “...children must be
protected from economic, physical and sexual exploitation, and abuse.” (Paragraph 162C)
Tragically, churches have not always been safe places for children. Child sexual abuse, exploitation
and ritual abuse occur in churches, large and small, urban and rural. The problem cuts across all
economic, cultural and racial lines. It is real, and it appears to be increasing. Most annual conferences
can cite specific incidents of child sexual abuse and exploitation within churches. Virtually every
congregation has among its members adult survivors of early sexual trauma.
Such incidents are devastating to all who are involved: the child, the family, the local church and its
leaders. Increasingly, churches are torn apart by the legal, emotional, and monetary consequences of
litigation following allegations of abuse.
God calls us to make our churches safe places, protecting children and other vulnerable persons
from sexual and ritual abuse. God calls us to create communities of faith where children and adults grow
safe and strong.
(From The Book of Resolutions of The United Methodist Church – 2012 page 240)
Therefore, in covenant with all United Methodist congregations, the Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference
adopts this policy and its accompanying procedures to demonstrate our absolute and unwavering commitment to the
physical safety and spiritual growth of all our children, youth, senior citizens, and at-risk adults. Every
congregation within the Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference is expected to uphold this policy as its
minimum standard in establishing safe sanctuaries for all God’s children.
Statement of Covenant: In all of our ministries with children, youth, and adults, we are committed to
demonstrating the love of Jesus Christ so that each person will be “...surrounded by steadfast love, ...established in
the faith, and confirmed and strengthened in the way that leads to life eternal” (“Baptismal Covenant II,” United
Methodist Hymnal, p. 44).
Definitions of Abuse:
 Physical abuse – abuse in which a person deliberately and intentionally causes bodily harm to a child.
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 Emotional abuse – abuse in which a person exposes a child to spoken and/or unspoken violence or
emotional cruelty.
 Neglect – abuse in which a person endangers a child’s health, safety, or welfare through negligence.
 Sexual abuse – abuse in which sexual contact between a child and an adult (or another older and more
powerful youth) occurs.
 Ritual abuse – abuse in which physical, sexual, or psychological violations of a child are inflicted regularly,
intentionally, and in a stylized way by a person or persons responsible for the child’s welfare.
 Abuse of vulnerable adults – ritual, emotional, or sexual abuse of any person over 19 years of age with
physical, mental and/or developmental disabilities.
The church at risk:
Any organization involved with young people is a place where abuse could occur. Several factors make local
congregations, districts, and annual conferences more susceptible to risk:
 Churches behave as relatively trusting organizations, relying upon their members and their leaders to
conduct themselves appropriately. Sometimes this trusting attitude persists even in the face of questions or
reports of misconduct.
 Churches are notoriously inactive when it comes to screening its volunteers and/or employees who work
with children and youth. Often, no investigation is done at all before total strangers are welcomed aboard.
 Churches routinely provide opportunities for close contact and for close personal relationships with
children. Indeed, these are nurtured and encouraged as we try to live out the gospel message.
Consequences of abuse:
 When one child is abused within a church or Christian program, many victims are created, including the
child, the congregation, the child’s family, and often the family of the abuser.
 The congregation becomes a victim after abuse is revealed and relationships are fractured. It may also
suffer for a long time when civil or criminal litigation ensues as a result of the abuse.
 Of foremost importance is the child who has been harmed and for whom care must be provided.
 In addition, paragraph 2702 of the 2012 Book of Discipline names child abuse, sexual abuse, sexual
misconduct, and sexual harassment as chargeable offenses for clergy and lay members.
Statement of Policy
No congregation or annual conference can afford, either financially, ethically, or morally to fail to implement
strategies for the reduction and prevention of any and every kind of abuse. Therefore, it shall be the policy and
covenant of the Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference of the United Methodist Church to do everything in our
power to prevent physical, emotional or sexual abuse against children, youth, and adults with developmental
disabilities involved in any ministry sponsored by the Annual Conference or in any of our local congregations.
Further, we are called to minister to those persons who are experiencing abuse and to those who have been victims
of abuse in the past. To that end we covenant to be aware of our legal responsibilities and to comply with those
responsibilities and go beyond those responsibilities when necessary to act justly in the best interest of those who
have been abused or those who are most vulnerable to abuse.
Careful screening is the best way to reduce the risk of abuse of children, youth and vulnerable adults. It can be time
consuming and expensive, but well worth the effort and peace of mind that comes with having the most reliable,
committed and experienced staff and volunteer in place for every program that involves children, youth and
vulnerable adults.
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Although it is our fervent hope and prayer that child sexual abuse does not occur in our programs, we must put into
place sufficient mechanisms to reduce the risk of abuse of children, youth, and those who work with them. For that
purpose, our ministries shall implement the following procedures in congregation, district, and conference ministry
programs and events. Local congregations may adopt their own policy provided the policies and procedures meet
these minimum standards. Local congregations not adopting a policy shall be governed by this policy.

STANDARDS, CRITERIA, and RESPONSIBILITIES
Minimum age
The following standards for authority figures (whether volunteers or staff) are designed to separate authority figures
from the group they are serving by age or enough years to reinforce recognition of the authority figure’s role.
1. Authority figures – defined as the primary leaders of youth and children’s activities
a. To work with youth (grades six and above), or children, (infants –fifth grade) the authority figure must
be a minimum of age 19 and it is recommended they are at least four years older than the youth
involved.
b. To work with children (infants-fifth grade), the authority figure must be a minimum of age 18.
2. Assistants – defined as persons who lend aid to the authority figure and act at the direction of the authority
figure, including volunteers, interns, and camp counselors. Whether working with youth or children,
assistants must be:
a. A minimum of 12 years of age and four years older than the participants, and
b. In the judgment of a staff member, competent to assist in the activity.
c. An assistant less than 18 years of age may not be counted as an adult in the child/adult ratios.
d. An assistant less than 18 years of age may not lend aid unless two authority figures are present.
Two adult rule
A minimum of two non-related adults should be utilized in all programming with children, youth, and at-risk adults.
When it is impossible to staff with two non-related adults, there should be an additional adult serving as a floater
with visual and physical access to all areas.
Open-door policy
Classrooms or child care rooms should be open to visitation at any time without prior notice by staff, parents, or
other volunteers.
Sign-in and Sign-out Procedures
Sign-in and sign-out procedures should be in place for all ministries for and with children in the local church.
Six month rule
It is highly recommended that a six-month rule be established in the selection of volunteers wishing to give service
in the areas of children and youth ministry. This means that all volunteers demonstrate an active relationship in
good standing in a local congregation or campus religious organization for a minimum of six months. Persons not
meeting this minimum requirement may serve only in an assistant capacity with two other non-related adults.
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Adult/Child ratios
All ratios must be understood in light of first having two adults present at all times. Adults and authority figures
should never be alone with a child or youth. This can include, but is not limited to an automobile while taking a
young person home, a classroom with windowless or locked doors, or a cabin at camp.
State codes are required for day care centers and school-based programs and are a strong standard for all programs
to follow. This includes Sunday school, mid-week, and summer programs.
Alabama State Codes for child care ratios:
 Birth to 18 months – 1 Adult to 5 Children
 18 months to 2 ½ years of age – 1 Adult to 7 Children
 24 months to 36 months of age – 1 Adult to 8 Children
 2 ½ year to 4 years of age – 1 Adult to 11 Children
 4 years of age to school age – 1 Adult to 18 Children
 School age to 8 years of age – 1 Adult to 21 Children
 8 years of age and older – 1 Adult to 28 Children
Note: For more information contact the Alabama Department of Human Recourses
Florida State Codes for child care:








Birth to 1 year – 1 Adult to 4 Children
1 to 2 years of age – 1 Adult to 6 Children
2 to 3 years of age – 1 Adult to 11 Children
3 to 4 years of age – 1 Adult to 15 Children
4 to 5 years of age – 1 Adult to 20 Children
5 years and older – 1 Adult to 25 Children
Mixed Age Groups:
o When children 2 years of age and older are in care, the staff-to-children ratio shall be based on the age
group with the largest number of children within the group.
o In groups of mixed age ranges, where children under 1 year of age are included, one staff member shall
be responsible for no more than 4 children of any age group.
o In groups of mixed age ranges, where children 1 year of age but under 2 years of age are included, one
staff member shall be responsible for no more than 6 children of any age group.
Note: For additional information contact the Florida Department of Children and Families.

Participants who are physically or mentally impaired:





Those needing constant and individual assistance or supervision – 1 leader to 1 participant
Those needing close, but not constant, assistance or supervision – 1 leader to 2 participants
Those needing occasional assistance – 1 leader to 4 participants
Those needing minimal assistance – 1 leader to 5 participants

Overnight programs:
Overnight events include summer camps, retreats, mission trips, lock-ins, or any event that extends through the
evening. The adults staying with the young people must always be the same gender as the young people. The
adults must never share a bed with a young person and should not be alone in the room with a young person at any
time.
 Grades 1-3 – 1 adult to 8 young people
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 Grades 4-8 – 1 adult to 10 young people
 Grades 9-12 – 1adult to 12 young people
Motel/hotel settings
 A hotel should be selected that that has rooms opening to the interior (i.e. closed hallway) of the building.
Where possible, select adjoining rooms on a single hallway.
 When two adults cannot be assigned to a room housing youth, the youth should be roomed separately from
the adults. If adjoining rooms are available with doors that can be left in the open position, a single adult in
each of the adjoining rooms is acceptable.
 An adult should not share a bed with a young person including their own child.
 Where adults need to be assigned to separate rooms, it is recommended that one adult room be located
between every two youth rooms on the hall.
 Adults should develop a rotating schedule allowing for the hallways to be monitored throughout the night.
 If room checks are needed, they should involve two adults of the same gender as the room residents.
Transportation
 All drivers should be screened in the same manner as other leadership for an event including a review of
their motor vehicle record.
 When private vehicles are used to transport young people for programmed church-related events, leaders
should ensure that appropriate insurance is being maintained by both the church and the private driver.
 All drivers must be 21 years of age or older.
 Where possible, it is recommended that two adults be placed in each vehicle or the vehicles teamed in
minimum groups of two that stay together at all times.
 The trustees or bus committee should be requested to establish safety policies and guidelines for the
operation of church-owned vehicles. These should be strictly followed at all times.
 On all planned trips, a signed, permission slip with medical authorization should be on file. In the absence
of such a form, the adult should call an authorized parent or relative to pick up the child.
Mentoring
Mentoring programs or other efforts to pair young people with caring adults are often credited with being the key to
a young person’s success in life. Therefore, mentoring programs should follow these guidelines:
 Provide basic screening and background checks for all adults who will be working with children and youth.
 Establish clear written guidelines for settings, boundaries, and the environment where the mentoring will
occur.
 Providing training for all adults (or youth, if they will be working with children) who are interested in being
mentors.
 Make it clear that all persons are expected to following congregation and conference guidelines for reducing
the risk of abuse.
 Outings should be in public places with routes and time frames agreed upon in advance, and known to all.
Outings with several mentors and young people are preferred.
 One-to-one mentoring or tutoring should take place in a group setting, such as one large room rather than
individual rooms spread throughout the church building.
Counseling
At any counseling session with children, youth, or adults of the other gender, any non-windowed door of the room
used should remain open for the entire session. Ideally, the session will be conducted at a time when others are
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nearby, even if they are not within listening distance. A counseling session should never be held in secret, even if
the person being counseled makes that request.
Whenever someone seeks counseling, it is important to determine in the initial meeting if the counselor is actually
qualified to address the needs effectively. If not, the person should be referred to another counselor.
Interpersonal boundaries
Adult workers with youth and children must be attentive to:
 Appropriate dress codes
 Appropriate use of language
 Appropriate demonstrations of affection and encouragement. (i.e. an adult leader should never initiate a hug
and should always be the one to end the hug.)
Home visitation
When visiting a young person in their home, the two non-related adult rule still applies. If a young person drops by
the home of an adult volunteer or staff person, the visit should be conducted in the front yard or moved to a local
restaurant. Educating young people of these requirements before they visit is most beneficial.
Cyber issues:
 Firewalls on computer systems at churches need to be in place and kept up to date.
 Volunteer and Employees should maintain Christian principles when using social networking sites,
especially when referencing church and Alabama-West Florida Conference events.
 Those in authority and assistants are to be accountable for cyber communications.
 When utilizing pictures and videos from Alabama-West Florida Conference events no names are to be
posted for those under 18 years of age. Churches are encouraged to establish policies for use of
photographs and videos on the web.

RECRUITING, SCREENING, AND TRAINING
Recruiting and screening volunteer and paid staff
A. All persons employed or volunteering as an authority figure for children/youth shall:
1. Complete Application/Commitment Form.
2. Provide three character references. It is recommended that the three references be contacted on all
applicants having access to children, youth and vulnerable adults. One of the references must be the
applicant’s pastor (clergy person’s District Superintendent) and the other two must be non-relatives.
3. Be interviewed by the director of the ministry or program.
4. Consent to the following background checks:
5. Multi-state criminal and sexual offender check based on social security number
6. Motor vehicle records (for those who will be transporting children, youth, or at-risk adults)
7. The Alabama-West Florida Annual Conference recommends background checks be run through _____
company or other reputable screening company. A background check is valid for two years. If the
individual changes physical addresses, the background checks must be run again.
8. Demonstrate an active relationship with the local church.
9. Have the experience and qualifications for the position.
10. Attend training by the church and/or annual conference in maintaining the Safe Sanctuaries Policies.
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B. All persons employed or volunteering as an assistant for children/youth shall:
1. Complete an Application/Commitment Form.
2. Be interviewed by the director of the ministry or program.
3. Provide three character references.
4. Consent to the following background checks:
5. Multi-state criminal and sexual offender check based on social security number
6. Motor vehicle records (for those who will be transporting children, youth or at-risk adults)
7. Attend training provided by the local church or annual conference.
C. In the event a substitute worker needs to be brought in under last minute circumstances, that person must:
1. Complete an Application/Commitment form.
2. Provide a character reference who can be contacted immediately by the director.
3. Complete a basic orientation/training provided by the director or other supervisor before working.
4. Consent to the following background check:
a. Multi-state criminal and sexual offender check based on social security number.
D. Unfavorable background checks or a refusal to complete the screening procedures:
1. Volunteers or Staff (other than clergy):
a. The person shall be notified with a “Notice of unfavorable background check” form.
b. If the unfavorable report is a volunteer the Pastor and chair of the Board of Trustees shall meet with the
person to discuss the report.
c. If the unfavorable report is a staff person the Pastor/Staff Parish Committee Chairperson shall meet with
the person to discuss the report and a letter shall be placed in the person’s file.
d. Review process may consider the following factors:
1) The nature and seriousness of the crime
2) The relationship of the crime to the purpose of the congregation
3) The age of the person at the time of the commission of the crime
4) The time elapsed since the person’s crime
5) Any charge that deals with sexual abuse or child abuse shall prevent the person from working with
children and/or youth.
6) Documentation of action taken should be placed in the person’s file.
A sample packet of forms can be found at www.awfumc.org; forms
Training staff and volunteers
The church should ensure that regularly scheduled (i.e., at least annual) training focused on current issues of child
protection is available to and received by those working with children and youth. Attendance at this training should
be required of all paid staff members and adult volunteers who work with children and/or youth. Documentation of
attendance should be kept from year to year so that if an incident occurs, the church has proof that they followed the
policy. (Note: Many insurance companies are mandating training and its frequency.)
The training should include:
1. The definitions and signs of child abuse.
2. The church’s policy and procedures on child abuse and the reasons for having them.
3. The need to maintain a positive classroom environment, including appropriate discipline and age-level
characteristics.
4. The appropriate behavior for teachers and leaders of child/youth events.
5. Child abuse reporting responsibilities and procedures.
6. Definitions of appropriate interpersonal boundaries (ways of touching students, appropriate language, etc.)
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7. All forms used by the church for application, background checks, reporting, and teacher files.

REPORTING ABUSE
Reporting abuse or alleged abuse in Alabama:
Alabama’s mandatory child abuse and neglect reporting law states that all school teachers and officials, social
workers, day care workers or employees, mental health professionals, members of the clergy as defined in Rule 505
of the Alabama Rules of Evidence, or any other person called upon to render aid or medical assistance to any child,
when the child is known or suspected to be a victim of child abuse or neglect, shall be required to report, or cause a
report to be made of the same, orally, either by telephone or direct communication immediately, followed by a
written report, to a duly constituted authority. When an initial report is made to a law enforcement official, the
official subsequently shall inform the Department of Human Resources of the report so that the department can
carry out its responsibility to provide protective services when deemed appropriate to the respective child or
children.
Reporting abuse or alleged abuse in Florida:
All cases of suspected abuse must be reported to the Florida Abuse Hotline. Initial reports should NOT be made to
the county/local branch of the Florida Department of Children and Families. The Florida Abuse Hotline may be
reached at 1-800-96-ABUSE. Reports may be faxed in, however, the preferred option for the Florida Department
of Children and Families is for persons to call the Florida Abuse Hotline and talk to a Hotline counselor.

IMPLEMENTATION IN THE ANNUAL CONFERENCE
The key to implementing a Safe Sanctuaries policy in our annual conference is communication with each
congregation and conference agency regarding (1) the need for a policy, (2) to whom the policy applies, and (3)
how it will be implemented. A form will be submitted with the Charge Conference packet to ensure that each
congregation is actively providing a Safe Sanctuary for every age group.
This policy shall be evaluated each quadrennium to ensure that it maintains its effectiveness. At a minimum, the
policy should include a brief theological statement, definition of child abuse, a strong statement that abuse will not
be tolerated, standards to be followed, a commitment to investigate any and all allegations of abuse, and a place for
alleged incidents of abuse to be reported. It must also comply with state laws and insurance requirements.

IMPLEMENTATION IN THE LOCAL CHURCH
The key to implementing a Safe Sanctuaries policy in a local church is communication with the congregation
regarding (1) the need for a policy, (2) to whom the policy applies, and (3) how the congregation plans to
implement it. It is recommended that the policy be implemented by a board nominated by the Lay Leadership
committee and the Administrative Council.
I.

Create an ongoing “Safe Sanctuaries Team.”
A.

Potential Members
1. Pastor
2. Staff Parish Relations committee member
3. Trustees member
4. Children’s ministries coordinator
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5. Day Care Director (if applicable)
6. Lay Leader
7. One or two members at large
8. Lawyer
II. Develop a policy
Implement an organizational policy for the protection of children and youth. At a minimum, the policy should
include a brief theological statement, definition of child abuse, a strong statement that abuse will not be tolerated,
standards to be followed, a commitment to investigate any and all allegations of abuse, and a place for alleged
incidents of abuse to be reported. Also, be sure to check conference policies and procedures, state law and the
requirements of the insurance carrier. In writing a policy for a local congregation, language may be borrowed from
this document.
III. Screen all staff and volunteers
A. Implement a process for recruiting, screening and hiring workers (paid staff and volunteers) who will work
with children and youth. A thorough screening process for staff (including clergy) and volunteers will:
1.
Deter persons who engage in predatory behavior from applying for a position
2.
Identify possible predators
3.
Show the church’s commitment to protecting children and youth
B. Always check prior employment and references. The screening process should include an application with
information on previous employers, references and church affiliation. Make sure each source is contacted
and information on each contact is in the staff/volunteer “personnel” files.
C. Conduct background checks on:
1.
2.

Multi-state criminal and sexual offender check based on social security number
Motor vehicle records (for those who will be transporting children, youth or at-risk adults)

D. Prior to beginning the screening processes, have a question and answer time about the implementation
procedures. This might be led by someone from Human Resources, Child Protective Services, or a day care
center director.
E. Provide time after an educational event for new people to receive their screening packets and ask questions
about filling out the applications.
IV. Train the volunteers and staff
All workers (staff and volunteers) should be required to attend training annually on the church’s policies,
procedures and expectations for working with children and youth (i.e. two adult rule, four year older rule, sign in
and sign out sheets, what to do if an accident occurs, reporting an alleged incident of child abuse, information on
state child abuse laws, and the like).
V. Other information to consider:
A. Make the physical setting safe and conduct periodic safety inspections. For example:
1. All classroom doors should have windows or a half door; if an office does not have a window in the door,
the door should remain open during counseling sessions or private meetings.
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2. The bathrooms should not be isolated or far removed from classroom/play areas and doors should remain
open where practical and given due consideration for privacy concerns.
3. Hall monitors should patrol the halls during programs.
4. All other aspects of safety should be considered as well to minimize the risk of serious injury when
accidents occur.

B. Communicate regularly with parents.
1. Provide advance notice and full information/disclosure about events and activities, with written
permission forms and information on who will be supervising and working with the children and youth.
2. Give information to families about the church’s policies and procedures for preventing child abuse.
3. Encourage parents to communicate with someone in authority about any concerns, fears or worries about
their children and/or a volunteer or staff person.
4. Know the church’s families.
5. Be prepared for how to handle sensitive and confidential matters with families and concerned church
members.
C. Maintain adequate liability insurance coverage.
1. The coverage must apply to all the different activities of the church, at and away from church premises.
2. The church should work with a knowledgeable insurance agent who knows the needs of a church.
3. Remember, too, that the least expensive insurance may have significant gaps in coverage.
4. The church should understand what coverage they have for sexual misconduct.
D. Be prepared for the worst at all times.
1. “This is our church; it won’t happen here” is a naïve viewpoint that can create an environment open to
problems. Opportunities for accidents and abuse happen more frequently when prevention steps are not
in place. Also be prepared for the worst, and never make assumptions about what might or might not
happen in a church.
2. This also means being prepared with a plan for responding immediately to allegations of abuse,
including state reporting obligations.
E. Always remember that this is a Church!
1. The Church is a sanctuary. Churches make a commitment to protect children each and every time a
child is baptized.
2. Churches should be role models in the community for the time and attention given to the care of children
and youth.
F. Keep the records safe and secure.
1. Limit the number of persons who know the outcomes of the background and criminal checks to the
appointed clergy person, the Safe Sanctuaries committee chairperson, and perhaps one other designee.
2. Copies of the applications and the actual reports should be “double locked” - locked file cabinet in a
locked office.

annual conference

— 2013

117

3. Electronically stored reports must be password protected and accessible only by those listed in (a).
G. No Exceptions!
1. No one is exempt from the screening, even the woman who has been working with children for many
years.
2. The key to explaining this need is the reality that the procedure is designed to protect not just the
children, but also the adults from false accusations.
3. Another key to explaining this need is that if all current staff and volunteers are properly screened, then
new staff and volunteers more readily understand the need.
H. Know the child intervention resources in the area and make that information available to your
church.
1. National Child Abuse Hotline 1(800) 4-A-CHILD
2. Florida Child Abuse Hotline 1(800) 96-ABUSE
3. Alabama residents should call the National Hotline
4. County Department of Human/Children Services
5. Area Child Protective Services
6. National Committee for the Prevention of Child Abuse 1(312) 663-3520
7. Parents Anonymous 1(800) 421-0353
8. Alabama Sex Offender Registry http://community.dps.state.al.us
9. Florida Sex Offender Registry www.flsexoffender.net

EDUCATIONAL COMPONENT
Implementing a comprehensive strategy for the prevention of abuse in a local church must be accompanied by a
substantial amount of education being provided for the workers with children and youth, the parents of children and
youth, the congregation, and the children and youth themselves. This model is designed to be used as a three or
four hour workshop and should be adapted for the target audience. It should be offered periodically throughout the
year and any time new volunteers are beginning service in the congregation.

I. Opening Worship
A. Prayer of invocation – Gracious and most merciful God, you have brought us together in witness to your love
for all children. Open our hearts and minds in this moment and prepare us to receive your message. Show us
your will and fill us to overflowing with courage to face the reality of abuse within our midst. Give us energy
and dedication enough, to make this, your church, a holy and hallowed place where all your children may be
safe and secure as they grow in faith and in their knowledge of your presence in their lives! Amen.
B. Suggested scriptures:
1. Exodus 22:21-23 – You shall not wrong or oppress a resident alien, for you were aliens in the land of
Egypt. You shall not abuse any widow or orphan. If you do abuse them, when they cry out to me, I will
surely heed their cry.
2. Matthew 19:14 – Jesus said, “Let the little children come to me, and do not stop them; for it is to such as
these that the kingdom of heaven belongs.”
3. Luke 9:46-48 – An argument arose among them as to which one of them was the greatest. But Jesus, aware
of their inner thoughts, took a little child and put it by his side, and said to them, “Whoever welcomes this
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child in my name welcomes me, and whoever welcomes me welcomes the one who sent me; for the least
among all of you is the greatest.”

C. Brief devotion – Begin by recalling the baptismal ritual for children, reminding the participants of the pledge
made by the congregation at each child’s baptism. Acknowledge and list the many ways your congregation
lives out that pledge through its current ministries. Conclude by introducing the safe sanctuaries policies as
the newest component of your church’s ministries with children and youth.
II. Introductory information
A. Current occurrences – Set the stage here for the substance of the event by introducing recent news reports
from your own community’s newspapers or television broadcasts related to incidents of abuse of children,
youth, or the elderly in any locations or institutions. Also, at this time, present the material related to any
current litigation involving the church or claims of abuse.
B. Current statistics – Quote the statistical information from the conference Safe Sanctuaries policy or from other
sources available to you. Emphasize the fact that two million annual incidents translates into one incident of
abuse every fifteen seconds.
C. Reasons to implement an abuse strategy:
1. Our church is a community of faith that can offer a safe haven and sanctuary where children, youth, and
adults can seek advice, help, and nurture.
2. Our church is a place where more than just facts of abuse can be taught. We can also teach and proclaim
our Christian values: compassion, justice, repentance, and grace.
3. Our church is the place where all can come to learn and develop the inner strength and spiritual resources
they will need to feel truly connected to God and to face suffering and evil.
4. Our church can be the place where children and adults are able to learn how to respond to painful and
confusing events using the wisdom of the Scripture.
D. Summarize – These reports and data demonstrate that we cannot ignore the possibility that abuse could
happen here. For the sake of our children and youth and the protection of our workers against false allegations,
we need to intentionally work to prevent abuse.
III. What is abuse and how can we recognize it?
Use the information from the ‘Our Mandate” section of this policy to give the definitions of abuse.
IV. Who are abusers?
Abusers of children and youth are more often than not familiar adults trusted by others. Less than twenty percent of
child abuse is perpetrated by strangers. Just as victims of abuse come from all segments of society, abusers can be
from any racial, ethnic, economic, and social group. They will come into contact with their victim through their
work in ministry or through their association with the congregation.
V. What are we doing to keep at-risk individuals and our workers safe?
Present the new policies and procedures for offering a safe sanctuary for all people. Give participants time to read
the policies and review the forms. Allow time for questions and discussion as you review each section with the
group.
A. Screening of staff: employees and volunteers – Use your own policies and the information in this conference
policy for the substance of this section. Provide copies of all screening forms, application forms, covenant
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forms, consent forms, and position descriptions. Allow time for a review of each form and for questions
from the participants.
B. Training of staff: employees and volunteers – Use your policies and the information in this conference
policy for the substance of this section. Be thorough in reviewing all of the safety procedures, and allow
time for questions.
C. Reporting suspected abuse – Use your policies and the material specific to your state to explain the reporting
procedures developed for your church. Explain the policy, the procedure for making a report, and the
concept of confidentiality.
D. Completing the task – If this is the first occasion the workers have had to see and review the screening,
application, and position description forms, you may need to allow time for each of them to complete the
forms.
VI. Closing worship
A. Covenant forms – Distribute covenant forms to the participants. Invite people to celebrate the church’s
commitment to protecting vulnerable individuals and those who work with them by completing a covenant
form.
B. Read Luke 9:46-48 and sing “Jesus Loves Me.”
C. Offering of covenant forms – Ask the participants to bring forward their signed covenant forms as a sign of
offering themselves in ministry. Sing the Doxology.
D. Benediction – May the grace of the Lord Jesus Christ, the love of God, and the power of the Holy Spirit
guide and direct you in all you do. Amen.
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REPORT 9
CONFERENCE - WIDE INSURANCE PROGRAM
(UNITED METHODIST INSURANCE)

In September 2006 the Board of Trustees joined United Methodist Property and
Casualty Trust (PACT) by insuring all of the annual conference owned property and
operations. In 2007 the Annual Conference adopted, but did not make mandatory, a
resolution to establish PACT as the conference-wide insurance carrier for all of the
churches and ministries of this annual conference beginning January 1, 2008.
In 2011 the denomination’s top financial agency (GCFA) became the single owner
of the PACT program. The General Council on Finance and Administration approved a plan to allow the United Methodist Property and Casualty Trust Company
to buy out the 12 annual (regional) conferences and two general agencies that now
own the company. The new entity became United Methodist Insurance (UMI)
In 2012 sixty-five churches and agencies were insured by UMI through the
Alabama-West Florida Conference.
The Conference began 2012 with a balance of $177,205.71.
We received return of 2010 excess property premium in the amount of
$107,060.854.
We ended 2012 with a balance of $284,266.55
We will continue to offer the UMI coverage to churches in the Alabama-West
Florida Conference via the new UMI partnership which began January 1, 2010,
with the Church Insurance Agency Corporation (CIAC). The Church Insurance
Agency Corporation is the Episcopal Church equivalent of UMI, that is, a captive
that has provided ministry protection for the Episcopal churches in the US for over
100 years. CIAC will provide UMI the program administration services, including
billing and endorsement changes. Their Alabama representative, Mr. William (Bill)
Bullock who lives in Spanish Fort, has proven to be of benefit to the local churches
of the annual conference. He can be reached at (251) 621-2041 or
BBullock@cpg.org)
REPORT 10 - Minimum Insurance Requirements
The Book of Discipline 2012 Par. 2533.2 requires local church trustees to annually
review and report on the adequacy of local church property and liability insurance
coverage “to ensure that the church, its properties, and its personnel are properly
protected against risks. “ Since 1797, the Book of Discipline has provided that
the property and assets of local churches are held in trust for the benefit of the
denomination. Inadequate insurance puts local church property and assets at risk;
including the denomination’s trust interest therein. Therefore, Trustees of the
Alabama-West Florida Conference, representing the denomination’s trust interest,

annual conference

— 2013

121

have adopted the following minimum insurance requirements for local churches:
COMMERCIAL PACKAGE POLICY, to include the following minimum limits:
Buildings, Organs & Contents 		
Insured to Replacement Value, “All Risk” Coverage
Fine Arts				$25,000
Comprehensive General Liability		
Occurrence $1,000,000 Aggregate $3,000,000
Pastoral Counseling Liability		
Occurrence $1,000,000 Aggregate $3,000,000
Occurrence $1,000,000 Aggregate $3,000,000
Hired and Non Owned Auto Liability
Occurrence $1,000,000 Aggregate $1,000,000
Employee Benefits Liability (EBL)
$10,000
Medical Payments 			
Sexual Misconduct Liability		
Occurrence $1,000,000 Aggregate $2,000,000
Occurrence $25,000
Crime / Employee Dishonesty		

DIRECTORS & OFFICERS (D&O) POLICY, including the following minimum liability limits:
• Directors’ & Officers $1,000,000
• Employment Practices Liability (EPL) $1,000,000 (including Sexual
Harassment)
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION POLICY, including supply clergy
• Bodily Injury by Accident Each accident $1,000,000
• Bodily Injury by Disease Policy limit $1,000,000
UMBRELLA POLICY (Excess Liability)
An Umbrella policy is suggested but not required
This excess policy must extend over Commercial General Liability, Pastoral Counseling, Employee Benefits Liability, Owned Auto, Hired & Non-Owned Auto and
Workers Compensation. A higher per occurrence limit may be appropriate based
on specific risk characteristics such as church size and/or scope of operations and
ministries.
Per Occurrence Limit $1,000,000 (minimum)

Aggregate $1,000,000

Submitted by,
Reverend Debora Bishop, President
Conference Board of Trustees

COMMISSION ON EQUITABLE COMPENSATION
Report No. 1
“It is the purpose of the commission on equitable compensation to support fulltime clergy serving as pastors in the charges of the annual conference by: (a)
recommending conference standards for pastoral support; (b) administering funds
to be used in base compensation supplementation; and (c) providing counsel and
advisory material on pastoral support to district superintendents and committees on
pastor-parish relations.” (625.2, 2012 Discipline)
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In our desire to help thriving congregations secure an appropriate pastor salary, we
recommend the following guidelines to be strongly considered as a church applies
for assistance through the Commission on Equitable Compensation (CEC).
Only full-time pastors who are in full connection, provisional, and associate conference membership and full-time local pastors are eligible for equitable compensation
support. These pastors must be certified by the board of ordained ministry (district
and conference levels as applicable), approved by the annual conference, and appointed to a church or charge. Each ordained clergy person who is in good standing, and who is appointed by the bishop to less than full-time service, is eligible for
equitable compensation to total no more than that percent of equitable compensation to which they are appointed. No associate pastor, part-time local pastor or
supply pastor shall receive salary support from this fund.
To receive fully scheduled equitable compensation for the minister’s category, the
church must pay 80% of the minimum salary for the year for which equitable
compensation is desired.
The amount of equitable compensation a pastor is eligible to receive is based upon
the total of his/her base salary, travel allowance and utilities, and other approved
related allowances (total salary package), excluding housing allowance given in
lieu of a parsonage
No pastor of any classification shall receive aid from CEC if he/she receives
income from any other church source if that income plus salary from the charge
he/she serves is more than minimum salary. No person qualifying for equitable
compensation which amounts to less than $600 per year will receive any equitable
compensation.
We recommend that no pastor serving outside the bounds of our conference be
eligible to receive equitable compensation unless there is no appointment available
for him/her in the conference, or unless it is a special appointment by the presiding
bishop. Appointment for the convenience of the pastor shall not be considered a
sufficient reason.
The CEC recognizes there may occasionally exist certain situations within our conference in which special funding consideration beyond the stipulated requirements
may assist a church to become self-sustaining more quickly. In such situations,
a supplement determined by the CEC, above the regular equitable compensation
may be given the pastor provided the money is available. Normally, no situation
will receive this special consideration for more than three years. Such cases will
be determined by growth criteria such as growth potential, leadership requirements,
age of church, and indebtedness.
In the case of cooperative parish ministries or specialized ministries, the district
superintendent may recommend that the CEC, in consultation with the District
Board of Missions, give consideration to supplement the salary of a pastor/director
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or associate director.
The CEC recognizes that there may occasionally exist hardship cases which should
be considered for financial assistance. Sensing a need for such assistance for a
charge, the DS should assess the situation and present the findings and request
rationale to the CEC upon whom rest the final decision.
To motivate churches toward the goal of total pastoral support, the CEC proposes
to give a bonus (as funds are available) of 60% of a charge’s salary increase over
the previous year, provided 80% of the minimum for the pastor’s category is also
reached.
The CEC recommends that all charges receiving equitable compensation develop
and implement a plan to become self-sustaining, i.e. to no longer need CEC’s assistance and that such a plan be submitted to CEC through their DS; that no charge
be eligible to receive equitable compensation for more than 5 consecutive years;
that charges must have, in the past year, a net gain in membership and worship
attendance, pay 100% of their apportionments, and have at least 1 profession of
faith.
Concerning a church/charge’s submission of a plan for financial self-sustenance,
each applicant church self-selects whether it is on CEC’s 3- or 5-year maximum
plan. Church’s who do not submit a written plan for becoming self-sustaining may
receive CEC funds for a maximum of 3 years while church’s who do submit such
a vitality plan may receive funds for a maximum of 5 years. A church may move
from CEC’s 3-year plan to the 5-year plan upon submitting the aforementioned plan
anytime during their first 3 years of receiving CEC funding. These 3- and 5-year
plans refer to maximum numbers of years; CEC funding awards are for 1 year at a
time.
The district superintendents are required to review all equitable compensation
situations in their districts to ascertain the necessity for such funds and whenever
possible seek to reduce the need for this supplement. The CEC recommends that
charges have 100 or more members in order to qualify for CEC funds, except in the
case of a new church.
It is the responsibility of the district superintendent to follow the guidelines set
forth by CEC when recommending charges and pastors for equitable compensation.
Also, the DS’s shall be responsible for the accurate completion and submission to
the CEC the forms provided by the CEC for this purpose. The secretary of the CEC
shall not issue a check order for equitable compensation funds until all criteria have
been met as determined by the CEC. When the status of a pastor receiving these
funds changes, the DS should immediately notify the CEC of the changed status.
Full-time local pastors who do not have a parsonage must receive a housing allowance to bring their total plan compensation up to 60% of the denominational
average compensation so that they will be eligible for Comprehensive Protection
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Plan Benefits.
The CEC shall file with the conference office personnel related to the AWF Journal
publication each year a schedule listing the equitable compensation payments during the year, giving names of charges and amounts paid to each.
The Commission on Equitable Compensation recommends the following Equitable
Compensation Schedule for 2014:
Recommended Minimum Salary for 2014
All Full-Time Appointed Clergy		
$33,800
Additionally, the CEC recommends that Direct Bill health insurance and pension
payments for CEC-supported churches/charges be waived, with the Conference
Board of Pension and Health Benefits providing that support.
Equitable Compensation Disbursements for 2012
Bowen UMC				
$ 7308
Crawford UMC			
$ 3654
Korean UMC (Montgomery)		
$12,516
Pine Hill UMC			
$ 4542
Thomaston UMC			
$ 2772
Whistler UMC			
$ 3054
TOTAL				$33,846
Report No. 2 - Arrearage Policy
In compliance with Paragraph 625.2d of the 2012 Book of Discipline of the
United Methodist Church, the following arrearage policy supplied by the
National Association of Commissions on Equitable Compensation is recommended by the Alabama-West Florida Conference Commission on Equitable
Compensation:
1.

In the event that the local church treasurer becomes aware that the church
will be unable to provide to the pastor full payment of a regularly scheduled payroll or housing allowance installment, or to remit to the Confer ence Treasurer full payment for regular direct billed benefit payments
such as pension and health care, the church treasurer shall immediately
notify both verbally (within 24 hours) and in writing (within 3 days)
the Pastor, the Lay Leader, and the Chairs of S/PPRC, Finance, Trustees,
and the Administrative/Church Council of the impending arrearage. Upon
receipt of such notice, the Chair of S/PPRC and/or the Pastor shall
immediately (within 3 days) notify the District Superintendent of the impending arrearage. It is the pastor’s responsibility to keep copies of all
such written notifications, and to provide additional written confirmation to the District Superintendent when an arrearage has taken place.
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Failure to document salary or benefit arrearages may result in a loss of
compensation and/or forfeiture of pension and benefits.
Upon receipt of notice of a pending arrearage, the Chair of S/PPRC shall
immediately (within 24 hours) call a meeting of the Pastor, Lay Leader,
and Chairs of Finance, Trustees, and the Administrative/ Church Council
to discuss the financial situation and seek remedies to prevent an arrearage
from occurring.

Such remedies might include:
a.
drawing from invested funds,
b.
an emergency appeal for special giving from the congregation,
c.
emergency grants or loans from the District or Conference.
According to the Book of Discipline paragraph 624, such remedies cannot include
a reduction in the Pastor’s compensation until the beginning of the next Conference
year.
3.

4.

If, after consultation among the Lay Leader and Chairs of S/PPRC,
Finance, Trustees, and the Administrative/Church Council, it becomes
apparent that the church may be facing a long term financial crisis, the
Chair of S/PPRC shall notify in writing the Pastor and District Superintendent that:
a.
an Equitable Compensation Subsidy Grant may be necessary to
maintain compensation for the remainder of the Conference year
or,
b.
a change in pastoral compensation may be necessary at the
beginning of the following Conference year, or
c.
a change in pastoral appointment as deemed necessary by the
bishop and cabinet.
If the local church becomes delinquent in the pastor’s compensation (i.e.
more than 30 days delinquent), then the District Superintendent shall notify the Commission on Equitable Compensation, which on its own initiative may do any or all of the following, but not limited to:
a.
sending a representative from CEC to meet with the local church
and pastor to seek resolution of the issue.
b.
developing with the local church a payment plan so that the
pastor receives full payment of compensation by the end of the
conference year.

The District Superintendent shall be invited to participate in this process.
5.

If the local church is already receiving a subsidy grant from the Commis
sion on Equitable Compensation, the Commission may also:
a.
determine if all subsidy grant funds allocated to the church were
used to pay the pastor’s salary,
b.
examine the original subsidy grant application to determine if the
amount requested to meet minimum compensation was reduced,
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c.
d.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

require an outside audit of all church funds in compliance with
GCFA Guidelines, (www.gcfa.org)
notify the District Superintendent of its findings and recommendations in writing.

If a local church becomes delinquent in the payment of the pastor’s direct
billed pension and benefits (i.e. more than 30 days delinquent), then the
Conference Treasurer shall notify the Conference Benefits Officer, the
District Superintendent, and the Commission on Equitable Compensation.
On behalf of the Conference the Benefits Officer and/or District Superintendent shall develop a written payment plan with the local church so
that the Conference receives full payment of pension and benefits by the
end of the conference year.
Paragraph 2542.1 of the Book of Discipline makes clear that no real property on which a church building or parsonage is located shall be mortgaged to pay for the current or budgeted expenses of a local church (including arrearages), nor shall the principal proceeds of a sale of any such
property be so used. This provision shall apply alike to unincorporated and
incorporated local churches.
In extreme and unresolved circumstances, the local church and/or pastor
may petition a session of the annual conference after completing the
required financial audit of the church, following proper procedures, for
assistance in payment of the arrearage not to exceed the minimum conference compensation standards. However, it is the responsibility of the local
church to provide a minimum compensation for its appointed clergy
(paragraph 624).
It is the responsibility of the pastor to provide evidence of an arrearage by
providing documentation such as: Treasurer’s Reports, Charge Conference reports of adopted salary and compensation, check stubs, W-2 forms,
and a Certification of Payment Form signed by the Pastor, S/PPRC Chair,
Trustee Chair, Treasurer, and Administrative/Church Council Chair.
The statute of limitations for filing a claim for funds from the Annual
Conference (i.e. notification to the District Superintendent of the
arrearage) for any salary arrearage is one year from the date of the initial
arrearage. Once an appointment ends the Pastor no longer has claim on the
local church for compensation funds (Paragraph 342.4).
While verbal notifications required in paragraph 1 of this policy provide
expedient resolution to the arrearage issue, written notification to all parties must be provide within 3 days to provide a record of such notification.

Rev. Matthew A. Mobley, Chairperson
Commission on Equitable Compensation
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COUNCIL ON FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION
Report No. 1 - ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
Purpose: To develop, maintain, and administer a comprehensive and coordinated
plan of fiscal and administrative policies, procedures, and management services for
the Alabama-West Florida Conference.
1.

2

3

4

5
6

The Council on Finance and Administration (CFA) shall be organized
in accordance with paragraph 610 and 611 of the 2012 Book of Discipline
of the United Methodist Church and Standing Rule No. 35 of the 2012
Journal of the Alabama-West Florida Conference.
The Council on Finance and Administration (CFA) shall meet prior to
Annual Conference and during session as needed. A fall and winter/spring
meeting of CFA shall be held. The president of the Council may call other
meetings.
All persons interested in presenting a request to CFA are invited to do so
or to attend any of the Council meetings. All Council meetings shall be
open to all interested persons, except when, by majority vote, the council
elects to meet in executive session.
The Committee on Investments within CFA shall be responsible for
reviewing, approving, and supervising all banking relationships of CFA
with special attention given to investments including those of conference
agencies.
The Committee on Audit and Review within CFA shall have responsibility
for reviewing audits of all agencies receiving funds from the Annual
Conference.
The Regions Bank shall be designated to serve as the conference
depository to receive funds and keep specified records.
Report No. 2 - CONFERENCE OFFICERS

The Council on Finance and Administration shall be responsible for budgeting and
for the work of the conference officers as listed in Standing Rule No.2.
A. Conference Secretary
The conference secretary fulfills the responsibilities prescribed by the 2012 Book of
Discipline of the United Methodist Church and the Standing Rules of the AlabamaWest Florida Conference.
B. Conference Fiscal Officer and the Fiscal Office
1.

The responsibilities of the Fiscal Office shall include: Conference
Treasurer/Director of Administrative Services; Statistician; Conference
Benefits Officer and Executive Secretary of the Conference Board of
Pension and Health Benefits; and other responsibilities assigned by the

128

2.
3.
4.
5.

6.

2013 — alabama-west florida
Council on Finance and Administration.
The Fiscal Officer shall keep records, make reports, and handle all
financial transactions of all conference agencies.
The Fiscal Office shall prepare reports as required by the Council on
Finance and Administration (CFA), and mail copies to persons who may
need such reports.
All apportioned district and conference funds shall be channeled through
Regions Bank and records kept by the Fiscal Office of the Conference.
The Fiscal Office shall disburse all checks pertaining to every fund and
keep proper files of the copies of the check orders from the secretaries
authorizing the issue of such checks. Copies of the checks issued shall
be filed after having been charged against the account upon which they
have been drawn.
The Fiscal Office shall tabulate, church by church, fund by fund, the
information given on the remittance blanks for the conference depository.

C. Journal Editor - Conference Journal and Brochure of Reports
1.

2.
3.
4.

5.

6.
7.

The Journal Editor shall chair the Editorial Committee (Standing Rule No.
15), and be responsible for the publication and distribution of the Annual
Conference Journal and the Brochure of Reports for the Annual
Conference.
All boards, commissions, committees and other agencies submitting
reports to be included in the Brochure of Reports must have the reports in
the hands of the editor no later than the last Monday in February.
The Journal Editor shall have authority to edit reports but not to change
the meaning of any part of any report.
Standing Rule No. 15 shall be followed in distributing the Brochure of
Reports. It shall be the responsibility of the district superintendents to
supply the names and addresses of lay members no later than the last
Monday of February. Additional copies shall be made available to the
conference registrar.
All memoirs (including photographs) must be in the hands of the editor by
the closing of the last business session of the annual conference. Responsibility for this material shall reside with the Commission on Archives and
History.
All material to be included in the Journal (other than those in 5 above)
must be in hands of the editor not later than ten (10) working days after
the close of the Annual Conference.
The Annual Conference Journal shall be distributed according to
Standing Rule No. 15. An order blank for the Journal will be provided
prior to Annual Conference with the final day to order a Journal to be not
later than July 31st.

D. Conference Registrar and Registration Policies
1.

The Conference Registrar shall have full responsibility for interpreting
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the eligibility of those covered under Standing Rule No.8 for entertainment at the Annual Conference Session. This may be appealed to the
Council on Finance and Administration.
The Conference Registrar shall supervise registration of and assignment of
rooms to Annual Conference delegates and handle calls for persons
attending sessions.
Chairpersons of boards and agencies who are not elected delegates and
attend the Annual Conference in order to give reports shall have their
expenses paid by their own board or agency.
All physical preparation for Annual Conference shall be under the Registrar’s supervision in cooperation with the Dais Committee, Worship
Committee, and host facility staff.
No materials will be allowed on the registration table other than that
necessary for registration. Other arrangements should be made to distribute materials through the site manager.
Use of dining halls, rooms, or areas shall be determined by the site
manager. Fees for dining rooms shall be paid by the group using such
rooms.
Space and/or rooms to be used for displays shall be assigned by the site
manager and no other. Space shall be assigned on a first come basis.
Commercial displays will be allowed only in a room assigned and publicized for this purpose, with the exception of Cokesbury, which will continue to have a room assigned only to it.
Special needs, such as hymnals, altar furnishings, projectors, etc., shall
be arranged through the site manager at least two weeks before conference. Needs arising during Annual Conference, which could not be
anticipated, will also be arranged through the site manager.
Report No. 3 - BONDING REQUIREMENTS

Paragraph 618.1 of the 2012 Book of Discipline of the United Methodist Church
gives CFA responsibility for the fidelity bonding of the conference treasurer. CFA
recommends that the present policy of bonding be continued through the United
Methodist Insurance. Paragraph 618.2 of the 2012 Book of Discipline of the United
Methodist Church gives CFA the responsibility of requiring all agencies and boards
for which the conference treasurer does not serve as treasurer to have fidelity bonding of there is such amounts as it deems adequate.
In order to avoid the depositing of conference funds in any one bank in excess of
the insured limits, CFA shall serve as the clearing house for all agencies in the Annual Conference making deposits in any bank, either savings or checking accounts.
Bank accounts shall not be opened by any agency without approval by CFA. No
agency shall permit the total amount deposited in anyone bank to exceed insured
limits without CFA approval.

130

2013 — alabama-west florida

Report No. 4 - BUDGETING, FUNDING, and AUDITING PROCEDURES
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6

7.
8

All boards and agencies are required to cooperate with the conference
treasurer in the development of detailed financial reports of the income,
expenditures, remaining balances, and audits.
Program budget requests shall follow the prescribed procedures
established by the CORE Team.
Agencies may request, or be asked, to meet with CFA to clarify their
budget request or report.
The Conference Resource Center and all boards and agencies receiving
funds from conference benevolences with budget amounts approved by
the Annual Conference shall be allowed to draw funds or make expenditures on a monthly basis as needed. Funds available monthly for the
program boards will be those approved by the CORE Team from the
available pool. Funds available for the Conference Resource Center will
be based on the benevolence receipts of the current year. Agencies of the
Annual Conference that require monthly support will receive 1/12 of the
approved allocation each month. Any expenditure more than the amount
approved by the CORE Team in any Conference program board account
shall be cleared with the President of CFA and the Director of
Connectional Ministries.
All expenditures from the Interest on Investments Account shall be approved by a majority vote of CFA.
Each Agency, whose records are not kept by the Fiscal Office, is required
to bond its treasurer and provide a certificate of insurance to CFA. Such
agency shall provide a copy of its audit and other reports to CFA as
deemed necessary by CFA. (Paragraphs 618.2 of the 2012 Book of
Discipline of the United Methodist Church) Reports to CFA shall be in
such detail, and provided at such times, as the Council shall direct.
CFA may withhold conference funds from any agency or board that fails
or refuses to present proper bonds or audits. Such withholding shall
continue until proper requests are met.
An audit of the complete financial status of the Annual Conference shall
be published in the Conference Journal.
Report No. 5 - ZERO-BASED BUDGETING

The following proposal for “zero-based” budgeting is presented by the Council on
Finance and Administration (the original proposal was adopted by the Conference
on June 1, 1988):
1.
2.

All program area budgets of Annual Conference boards and agencies will
begin the year with a zero balance.
The annual budgets for program boards and agencies shall be prepared
on a “zero-base.” It is intended that all programs, projects and functions,
old and new, be analyzed and reevaluated regularly and systematically
by the CORE Team. Groups requesting budgeted funds shall be required
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to justify those requests in detail to explain why money is needed, specifically what it will be used for, the resulting benefits, and what would result
if the request were denied.
At the end of the fiscal year, the unused balances for each board and
agency shall be transferred to a reserve account, which shall be designated
the “Mission and Ministry Fund.”
The Mission and Ministry Fund shall consist of the following:
Funds remaining in the CORE Team Missional Giving Fund at
a.
the end of the year
b.
Funds which may be budgeted for the Mission and Ministry Fund
c.
Funds received from terminated activities which remain unused
for those activities when transferred by the CORE Team
Interest earned from sources as may be provided by the Council
d.
on Finance and Administration
Funds from other sources that may be deposited by any board or
e.
agency or group within the Annual Conference.
Additional use of Mission and Ministry funds by program boards and
agencies or for other program purposes of the Annual Conference shall be
approved by a majority vote of the CORE Team.
Report No. 6 - FUND RAISING AND COLLECTION POLICIES

CFA makes the following recommendations for those causes for which no funds are
allocated:
That each local church observe World Communion Sunday, Human
1.
Relations Day, One Great Hour of Sharing, United Methodist Student Day,
Peace with Justice Sunday, Native American Awareness Sunday, and
Golden Cross Sunday and that special offerings be received or budgeted
for these special days.
That our conference continue to give its hearty support to the Advance
2.
Special program at both the General and Conference levels. (See complete
listing of approved Conference Advance Special programs in the Journal
Report of the Board of Global Ministries or the General Conference cata
log of Mission Handbook.)
3.
That the Alabama-West Florida Conference fully support the following
programs and give sponsoring agencies permission to raise and receive
funds, provided that there be no goals or quotas placed on local churches:
a. The White Christmas and fifth Sunday church school offerings for the
Children’s Home
b. “Fountain of Love Offering,” for Homes for the Aging (primarily in
February) (The Board of Global Ministries)
c. Golden Cross Ministries (primarily on Mother’s Day) (The Committee
on Health and Welfare Ministries)
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d. Camps for the underprivileged and special youth (Blue Lake Assembly
Ground Trustees)
e. Youth Service Fund (United Methodist Youth)
f. United Methodist Women’s Blue Lake Support
g. Blue Lake Partner Program (Assembly Ground Trustees)
h. “Camping Sunday” for Blue Lake improvement and volunteer
recognition (Assembly Ground Trustees)
i. Huntingdon College (Board of Higher Education)
j. Mobile Inner City Mission Endowment Fund (Board of Global
Ministries)
k. United Methodist Men’s Kingdom Builders Project (Board of Laity)
l. New Church Development Fund (Commission on New Congregational
Development)
m. Support for New Homes sponsored by Methodist Homes for the Aging
n. University of South Alabama Wesley Foundation Capital Fund
Campaign
o. Central Conference Pension Initiative (Board of Pension and Health
Benefits)
p. University of West Alabama Wesley Foundation Capital Fund
Campaign
q. 20in12 Blue Lake Campaign
r. Academy for Congregational Excellence
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Report No. 7 – APPORTIONMENTS
District Superintendents Fund

2013
932,708

2014
1,000,376

% +/7.26

Episcopal Fund

500,160

514,202

2.81

Conference Claimants Fund

1,200,000

1,000,000

-16.67

Health Insurance Fund

1,125,000

1,100,000

-2.22

70,000

50,000

-28.57

General Administration Fund

205,176

212,516

3.58

SEJ Administration Fund

116,760

116,760

0.00

(1) Conference Administration Fund

685,478

738,587

7.75

47,552
54,299

47,259
53,964

-0.62
-0.62

World Service

1,793,783

1,760,976

-1.83

(2) Conference Ministries

1,176,561

1,210,084

2.85

(3) Congregational Development

368,690

368,690

0.00

Ministerial Education Fund

608,321

604,570

-0.62

44,000

44,000

0.00

186,968

186,968

0.00

89,860

189,860

111.28

Huntingdon/Birmingham Southern College

620,852

620,852

0.00

Student Aid, Huntingdon College

246,441

246,441

0.00

Capital and Operating Fund (Trustees)

182,000

190,000

4.40

Black College Fund

242,642

241,146

-0.62

Homes for the Aging

61,650

61,650

0.00

500,319

500,319

0.00

50,000

50,000

0.00

11,109,220

11,109,220

0.00

Equitable Compensation Fund

Interdenominational Coop. Fund
Africa University Fund

Board of Pension and Health Benefits
Blue Lake Operation
Blue Lake Capital Improvement
and Debt Retirement

Wesley Foundation/Campus Ministry
Academy for Congregational Excellence
TOTAL CONFERENCE BUDGET
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(1) Includes:
Fiscal Office

241,662

255,662

5.79

4,000

20,000

400.0

Annual Conference Administration 149,000

149,000

0.00

Board of Ordained Ministry

183,441

206,550

12.60

Archives and History

72,375

72,375

0.00

Episcopal Office Expense

35,000

35,000

0.00

685,478

738,587

Connectional Ministries/Communications 687,846

687,846

0.00

Missional Giving Fund

488,715

522,238

6.86

1,176,561

1,210,084

Moving Fund for Retirees

Sub Total
(2) Includes:

Sub Total

Connectional Ministries/Communications: $687,846.00
Supports salaries, benefits and expenses for six (6) program staff and one (1) support staff. Also supports general
office expenses including telephone, printing, mailing, computer and miscellaneous expenses.
Missional Giving Fund:

$522,238

This fund supports eight (8) of the Boards related to the Conference CORE Team. They are Discipleship,
Advocacy and Ethnic Ministries, Higher Education and Campus Ministry, Laity, Church and Society, Global
Ministries, Town and Country, and Hispanic Ministries. The Missional Giving Fund also provides support for
agencies related to the annual conference and new and emerging ministries. Those being supported in 2014 are
Dumas Wesley Community Center, Mobile Inner City Metro Ministries, Mary Ellen’s Hearth (formerly Nellie
Burge Community Center), The Ark (formerly Noah's Ark), Alabama Rural Ministries, Pensacola United Methodist
Community Ministries, Milk and Honey CIRCLES of Transformation.
The response of the churches to the Missional Giving Funds in 2014 will determine the funding available in 2015,
just as Missional Giving Funds received in 2012 provided the funding available in Includes:
Congregational Development Office

148,690

148,690

0.00

New Church Pastors’ Salaries

150,000

150,000

0.00

New Church Development Fund

50,000

50,000

0.00

Church Revitalization Fund

20,000

20,000

0.00

Sub Total

368,690

368,690
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APPORTIONMENTS - SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT
2012 Received

World Service Fund
Ministerial Education Fund
Black College Fund
Africa University Fund
Episcopal Fund
General Administration Fund
Interdenominational Coop Fund

2012
Apportioned
$ 1,837,516
$
609,653
$
243,163
$
54,422
$
559,715
$
209,863
$
48,258

$ 1,214,773
$ 350,496
$ 163,132
$
43,489
$ 441,554
$ 166,649
$
33,566

2012
%Received
66.11%
57.49%
67.09%
79.91%
78.89%
79.41%
69.56%

TOTALS

$

3,562,590

$ 2,413,660

$
$
$
$

116,760
25,500
6,000
148,260

$
$
$
$

Blue Lake Operation Fund
B/L Cap Impr/Debt Retirement Fund
Capital and Operations (Trustees)
Conference Administration Fund
Conference Resource Center
Connection Ministry Prog Pool
Congregational Development Fund
Dist. Superintendent's Fund
Equitable Compensation Fund
Huntingdon/BSC
Student Aid, Huntingdon
Wesley Foundations
Homes for the Aging
Conference Claimants Fund
Health Insurance Fund
Bd. of Pension and Health Benefits

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

TOTALS

$

GRAND TOTALS

2012 Expended
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1,214,773
350,496
163,132
43,489
441,554
166,649
33,566

67.75%

$

2,413,660

91,784
28,993
5,142
125,919

78.61%
113.70%
85.70%
84.93%

$
$
$
$

86,257
25,291
111,548

187,000
84,432
171,120
645,873
687,846
488,715
368,690
909,072
69,750
608,678
241,609
490,509
60,450
1,600,000
1,060,000
44,650

$ 132,839
$
59,379
$ 153,550
$ 577,474
$ 622,748
$ 340,873
$ 122,874
$ 895,125
$
49,051
$ 428,061
$ 169,915
$ 422,943
$
43,209
$ 1,207,571
$ 784,896
$
31,401

71.04%
70.33%
89.73%
89.41%
90.54%
69.75%
33.33%
98.47%
70.32%
70.33%
70.33%
86.23%
71.48%
75.47%
74.05%
70.33%

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

110,124
49,123
212,244
709,397
601,584
235,792
81,666
890,060
36,660
330,574
140,567
428,391
35,717
1,261,860
5,483,526
40,271

7,718,394

$ 6,041,909

78.28%

$ 10,647,555

$ 11,429,244

$ 8,581,488

75.08%

$ 13,172,763

SEJ FUNDS
SEJ Administration
LJ Dam Restoration Fund
2012 General Conference Hosting
TOTALS
ANNUAL CONFERENCE FUNDS

Note:
Differences in amounts received and expended can be explained in several ways.
One is that in many cases there are beginning balances available, another is that there are sources of
income orher that just apportionments such as direct billing income. A review of the auditor's annual
audit should be reviewed for detailed financial tranactions.
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Report No. 8 STEWARDSHIP RESPONSIBILITIES and
LOCAL CHURCH CONCERNS

1.

2.

3.
4.

CFA believes that all apportionments are needed in the amounts
apportioned. Furthermore, CFA believes that all churches have the
capacity to pay apportionments in full. In 2011, 74.65% of apportioned
funds were paid by local churches. In 2012, 78.93% of apportioned funds
were paid by local churches. CFA continues to encourage all churches
and all United Methodist Christians in the Alabama - West Florida Annual
Conference to participate fully in our connectional ministries through
generous serving, generous giving, generous living, generous leading, and
generous praying. The 2014 Conference budget reflects no increase/
decrease in Missional giving (apportionments.) General Church apportion
ments have decreased by $17,300 or -0.50%. Jurisdictional apportionments did not increase/decrease in 2014. Over-all Annual Conference
apportionments remain level in 2014.
By action of the 2001 Annual Conference, the following schedule shall be
used in setting apportionments for new churches:
1st full year			
no apportionment
2nd year				25% apportioned
3R year				50% apportioned
4th year				
75% apportioned
5th year & following		
100% apportioned
Apportionments shall be made to all churches using the apportionment
formula outlined in CFA Report - Formula and Allocations.
Local churches shall provide for the audits of local church records as
provided in paragraph 258.4d of the 2012 Book of Discipline of the United
Methodist Church.
Report No. 9 FORMULA and ALLOCATIONS

1.

2.

3.

4.

In 2012 a task force was formed to evaluate the fairness of the current
formula for determining conference apportionments. They reviewed formulas used in each of the Southeastern Jurisdiction Annual Conferences.
The task force recommends the continued use of the current apportionment formula.
Therefore, the apportionments shall be developed using a formula based
on financial strength of the local churches and membership of the local
churches. Financial strength will be weighted 75% and professing membership will be weighted 25% in the formula. Apportionments will be
determined by local church decimal applied to the amount of each budget
item at the conference level.
The financial strength of a local church in calculating the decimal formula
shall be based on all local expenditures (lines 53-62 of the Local Church
Report to the Annual Conference). This eliminates all apportionments
(including direct billing) and special giving from the formula. (Listing:
Standing Rule No. 22)
The winter/spring meeting of the Council on Finance and Administration
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shall be the time for receiving requests from all boards and agencies for
the ensuing year. All boards and agencies should be advised that they place
their allocations in jeopardy when they fail to submit timely budget
requests.
The local church will enter the Local Church Report information using the
“UMC GCFA Statistical Input System” located on Alabama-West Florida
Conference Web Site (www.awfumc.org) Contact the District Superintendent’s office for the User Name and Password if they are not known by
the church pastor. The pastor and chairperson of the Committee on
Finance or the church treasurer shall review the annual local church report
as being correct before its final submission. The Fiscal Office will establish a date by which it should be notified if corrections are necessary. If no
corrections are identified by that date, the fiscal officer will consider the
report accurate. When the new year’s apportionments are run in July, there
will be only one set of apportionments, which will be the final set. There
will not be a “Trial Set” of apportionments.
Report No. 10 - DISTRICT SUPERINTENDENTS’ COMPENSATION

The Council on Finance and Administration continues to pay close attention to
the subject of compensation for district superintendents. In 2012 a task force was
formed to study district superintendents’ compensation. The task force, composed
to both clergy and lay members studied many annual conference’s formulas for
District Superintendent’s salary. Their recommendation to CFA was that The Council recommend to the Annual Conference that superintendents’ salaries be based
on the average of the highest 25 senior pastor’s salary appointed to a local church
from within the conference. The 25 pastors salaries in the formula does not include
District Superintendents nor do they include clergy conference staff members. In
keeping with this salary formula, CFA recommends that the base salary of the district superintendents be $113,637.
The base salary of the district superintendents shall be set at $113,637 for 2014
with travel expense paid on voucher from a travel pool of $92,000.The executive
committee of CFA shall adjust the rate per mile, as needed, within this limit.
1.
2.

3.

4.

District superintendents shall receive no supplementary travel funds from
district administration funds.
Each district shall place funds in its budget for district parsonage
utilities, up to a total of $4,500, for each calendar budget year. Utilities to
be included are electricity; gas, water sewage, and basic television cable or
satellite services, telephone, Internet service, and trash collection.
The districts which provide district superintendents a housing allowance in
lieu of a parsonage shall designate the housing amount in the minutes of
the District Conference. This designation shall be made in advance of
payment of such allowance, either upon appointment or in advance of the
calendar year thereafter.
Each district shall place in its district administration fund an amount not to
exceed $2,000 for continuing education.
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Report No. 11 - MOVING GUIDELINES and EXPENSES

The third Sunday following the adjournment of Annual Conference shall be the
last Sunday of pastoral responsibility for each conference year. The official moving
day will be Tuesday, June 25, 2013 and may be adjusted according to the needs and
concerns worked out in consultation with the clergy persons, the churches and approved by the District Superintendent.
The entire June salary shall be paid to the pastor by the church from which he/she is
moving. In effect 50% of the annual salary will be paid January through June; with
the remaining 50% paid by the church receiving a new pastor. Health insurance
contributions and/or premiums, as well as any UMPIP payments are to be deducted
from the pastor’s compensation for the full month of June, with the receiving
church beginning such payments in July.
Upon retirement, disability, terminiation, or death of a minister serving within
the bounds of the Annual Conference and serving a full time appointments under
the provisions of Paragraph 333.1 of the 2012 Book of Discipline of the United
Methodist Church, the conference shall pay up to $2,500 for documented moving
expenses to the first place of retirement, termination, or disability or the first place
of dwelling for a surviving spouse. Moving expenses to be reimbursed shall not be
incurred prior to retirement or termination notification to the Bishop and will be
reimbursed after the move is completed.
Guidelines for clergy under appointment:
1.
Following notification of appointment change by the district superintendent, the Chairperson of the PPRC should contact the minister to be
appointed to communicate the church’s policy in paying moving expenses
and to discuss moving plans.
The receiving church is responsible for the first $3,000 of documented
2.
moving expenses and is encouraged to pay all documented expenses for
the incoming ministerial family.
Report No. 12 - ANNUAL CONFERENCE EXPENSES
1.

2.

3.

A charge of $28.00 per person, per night, will be made for all who use
Conference provided housing. (Standing Rule No.8) CFA will be responsible for studying and investigating possible locations and expenses for
housing during future sessions of the Annual Conference.
The Brochure of Reports will contain an order blank requiring orders to be
placed for the Conference Journal at $25.00 for printed regular bound and
$27.00 for spiral bound, CD copies are $8.00, including the cost of mailing. (Paid upon order) Deadline for ordering will be July 31st.
Orders received after the deadline will incur an additional mailing charge.
Order forms will be available in other places as well. (Standing Rule 15)
Retired clergy and surviving spouses of clergy may receive one CD copy
of the Conference Journal free, provided it is ordered using the order
blank.

annual conference

— 2013

139

Report No. 13 - INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT
SCOPE OF THIS INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT
This statement of investment policy reflects the investment policy, objectives, and
constraints of the Council on Finance and Administration of the Alabama West
Florida Conference. (CFA)
PURPOSE OF THIS INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT
The Council on Finance and Administration sets forth this statement of investment
policy in order to do the following:
1.
Define and assign the responsibilities of all involved parties.
2.
Establish a clear understanding for all involved parties of the investment
goals and objectives for assets.
3.
Manage assets according to prudent standards as established in common
trust law and in accordance with general guidelines by the General
Council on Finance and Administration of the United Methodist Church.
4.
Establish the relevant investment horizon for which assets will be
managed.
In general, the purpose of this statement is to outline a philosophy and attitude
which will guide the investment management of the assets towards the desired
results. It is intended to be sufficiently specific to be meaningful, yet flexible
enough to be practical.
DEFINITIONS
1.

2.
3.

4.
5.
6.
7.

“The Council on Finance and Administration” is the governing council
established to administer the assets as specified by The Book of Discipline
of the United Methodist Church in its most recent edition and applicable
actions of the annual conference.
“The Council on Finance and Administration” shall be referred to herein
after as the “Council” in regard to this policy statement.
“The Investment Committee” consists of members of the Council,
appointed by the Council, to act on behalf of the Council to administer this
policy. It shall be referred to hereinafter as the “Committee” in regard to
this policy statement.
“Investment Manager” shall mean any individuals or organizations
employed to manage the investment of all or part of the assets.
“Investment Broker” shall mean any individual or organization employed
to provide advisory services, including advice on investment objectives
and/or asset allocation, manager search, and performance monitoring.
“Assets” shall mean all funds and securities for which the Council is
responsible.
“Securities” shall refer to the marketable investment securities which are
defined as acceptable in this statement.
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“Investment Horizon” shall be the time period over which the investment
objectives, as set forth, are expected to be met. The maximum investment
horizon for’ these assets shall be set by the Council.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY
The Committee is responsible for directing and monitoring the investment management of the assets. As such, the committee is authorized to delegate certain responsibilities to professional experts in various fields subject to Council approval.
These include, but are not limited to the following:
1.
The Investment Broker may assist the Committee in: establishing investment policy, objectives, and guidelines; selecting investment managers;
reviewing such managers over time; measuring and evaluating investment
performance; and other tasks as deemed appropriate.
2.
If an Investment Manager is used, he/she has discretion to purchase, sell,
or hold the specific securities that will be used to meet the investment
objectives.
3.
The Custodian will physically (or through agreement with a sub-custodian) maintain possession of securities administered by the Committee,
collect dividend and interest payments, redeem maturing securities, and
effect receipt and delivery following purchases and sales. The custodian
may also perform regular accounting of all assets owned, purchased, or
sold, as well as movements of assets into and out of the investment
accounts.
Additional specialists such as attorneys, auditors, and others may be
4.
employed by the Committee to assist in meeting its responsibilities and
obligations to administer assets prudently.
If such experts employed are also deemed to be fiduciaries, they must acknowledge
such in writing. All expenses for such experts must be customary and reasonable,
and will be borne by the Council as deemed appropriate and necessary.
ASSIGNMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
Responsibility of the Council
The Council is charged by law, The Book of Discipline and the actions of the Alabama-West Florida Conference of The United Methodist Church with the responsibility for the management of the investment assets. The Council and Committee
shall discharge their duties solely in the interest of the annual conference, with the
care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing, that
a prudent person, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would
use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character with like aims. The specific
responsibilities of the Committee, subject to the approval of the Council, relating
to the management of investment assets include:
Projecting the investment needs and communicating such needs to the
1.
investment brokers/investment managers on a timely basis.
2.
Determining the Council’s risk tolerance and investment horizon, and
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communicating these to the appropriate parties.
Establishing reasonable and consistent investment objectives, policies,
and guidelines which will direct the investment of the assets.
Prudently and diligently selecting qualified investment professionals,
including investment manager(s), an investment broker, and a custodian.
Regularly evaluating the performance of the investment manager(s) to
assure adherence to policy guidelines and monitor investment objective
progress.
Developing and enacting proper control procedures: for example, replacing an investment manager due to a fundamental change in investment
management process or failure to comply with established guidelines.
The Conference Treasurer shall serve as the contact person for the investment brokers or investment managers.

Responsibility of the Investment Broker
The investment broker’s role is that of a non-discretionary advisor to the Committee. Investment advice concerning the management of investment assets will be
offered by the investment broker and will be consistent with the investment objectives, policies, guidelines, and constraints as established in this policy statement.
Specific responsibilities of the investment broker include the following:
Assisting in the development and periodic review of investment policy.
1.
Conducting investment manager searches when requested by the
2.
Committee.
Providing “due diligence” or research on the investment manager(s).
3.
4.
Monitoring the performance of the investment manager(s) to provide the
Committee with the ability to determine the progress toward the
investment objectives.
5.
Communicating matters of policy, manager research, and manager
performance to the Committee.
6.
Reviewing asset investment history, historical capital markets performance, and the contents of this investment policy statement with any
newly appointed members of the Committee and Council.
7.
Executing orders for the purchase and sale of securities.
Responsibility of the Investment Manager(s)
Each investment manager must acknowledge in writing its acceptance of responsibility as a fiduciary. Each investment manager will have full discretion to make all
investment decisions for the assets placed under its jurisdiction, while observing
and operating within all policies, guidelines, constraints, and philosophies as outlined in this policy statement. Specific responsibilities of the investment manager(s)
include the following:
Discretionary investment management including decisions to buy, sell, or
1.
hold individual securities, and to alter asset allocation within the guide
lines established in this policy statement.
2.
Reporting, on a timely basis, quarterly investment performance results.
3.
Communicating any major changes to economic outlook, investment
strategy, or any other factors which affect implementation of investment
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process or the investment objective progress of investment management.
Informing the Committee regarding any qualitative change to investment
management organization: Examples include changes in portfolio management personnel, ownership structure, investment philosophy, etc.
Voting proxies, if requested by the Committee, on behalf of the Council,
and communicating such voting records to the Committee on a timely
basis.

INVESTMENT GUIDELINES
Allowable Assets
1. Cash Equivalents
• Treasury Bills
• Treasury Money Market Funds
• Repurchase Agreements
• Certificates of Deposit
• Common Development Fund of the AL-WF United Methodist
Development Fund, Inc.
• Flexible Demand Note offered by The United Methodist Development
Fund
2. Fixed Income Securities
• U.S. Government and Agency Securities
• Mortgage Backed Bonds
• Income Fund of the Al-WF United Methodist Foundation, Inc.
• Fixed Term Notes offered by The United Methodist Development Fund
3. Equity Securities
• Common Stocks of U.S. Corporations
• Convertible Notes and Bonds of U.S. Corporations
• Growth Fund and Growth & Income Fund of the AW-FL United Methodist
Foundation, Inc.
4. Restrictions
Investments shall not knowingly be made in securities in which the corporate entity
has a significant interest in distilled spirits, wine or other fermented juices, tobacco,
gambling, pornography or firearms. Investments shall not knowingly be made in
securities of corporate entity in which the core business:
• Manufactures cigarettes, cigars, chewing tobacco, smokeless tobacco, or
in a company in which 10% or more of gross revenues are derived from
supplying key components to the tobacco industry or the sale and marketing of tobacco related products.
• Produces alcoholic beverages (beer, wine, distilled liquor) or in a company
in which 10% or more of gross revenues are derived from supplying key
elements for alcohol production or from the sale, distribution or marketing
of alcoholic beverages.
• Owns or manages casinos, racetracks, off-track betting parlors; or in a
company that derives 10% or more of gross revenues from the production
of goods and services related to the gaming or lottery industries.
• Derives 10% or more gross revenues from the production, distribution or
sale of products or devices that are interpreted to be pornographic, meet
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the legal criteria for obscenity or legal definition of “harmful to minors.”
Derives 10% or more gross revenues from the manufacture, sale or distribution of antipersonnel weapons such as land mines, “assault type”
automatic and semiautomatic weapons, firearms, and ammunition provided for commercial and private markets.

Prohibited Assets and Transactions
Prohibited investments and transactions include, but are not limited to the
following:
• Commodities and Futures Contracts
• Private Placements
• Options
• Short Selling
• Margin Transactions
Diversification
In order to achieve a prudent level of portfolio diversification, the securities of
anyone company or government should not exceed 10% of the total assets under
management, and no more than 20% of the total assets should be invested in anyone industry. With the exception of U.S. Government securities, no fixed income
issues may exceed 15% of the market value of the fixed income portfolio.
Guidelines for Fixed Income Investments and Cash Equivalents
• Assets may be invested only in investment grade bonds rated A (or
equivalent) or better.
• Maximum maturity for any single fixed income security is 10 years.
• Money Market Funds selected shall contain only U.S. Treasury securities.
Investment Policy Review
To assure continued relevance of the guidelines, objectives, financial status and
capital markets expectations as established in this statement of investment policy,
the Council shall review this policy at least annually.
Report No. 14 - FISCAL YEAR END
1.
2.
3.

The Fiscal Office will close the annual financial records on the fifth
working day of January.
This date will be the last day that apportionment payments can be credited
to the prior year asking.
Churches sending apportionment payments AFTER December 31 must do
one of the following:
a.
b.

Deliver payment to the Fiscal Office in Montgomery AL any time
before 10:00 a.m. on the closing date.
Mail the payment. Regardless of the postmark date, payments
received after 10:00 a.m. on the closing date cannot be
credited to the prior year apportionments.
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c.

4.

Deposit payment in the Annual Conference account on or before
1:00 p.m. on the closing date at a local Regions Bank. Fax a copy
of the bank receipt and a copy of the remittance breakdown to
the Fiscal Office when the deposit is made. Call the Fiscal Office
(1-888-873-3127) to obtain the current deposit account number.

The Fiscal Office must know of these deposits on the closing date. Persons
without access to a fax machine should call 1-888-873-3127 and report the
deposit information. Please Note: The bank’s business day may end earlier
than the time the bank closes. For example, often deposits received after
2:00 p.m. are credited to the next day’s business. CONTACT THE
LOCAL BANK TO DETERIME WHEN A DEPOSIT MUST BE MADE,
IN ORDER TO BE CREDITED ON THE CLOSING DATE.

Submitted by,
The Reverend Doctor Robbins Sims, President
Council on Finance and Administration
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MISSION TEAM REPORTS
CIRCLES of Transformation
The United Methodist Church worldwide has committed to Ministry with the Poor
as one of four focus areas. Circles of Transformation is just that – ministry with
the poor, not to the poor or for the poor. Circles® is designed to build intentional
relationships across economic, social and racial lines.
What is Circles?
Circles® is a transformational approach that partners volunteers and community
leaders with families wanting to make the journey out of poverty. Operating in
communities around the country, each Circles initiative consists of families working to get out of poverty and several middle and upper income Allies who befriend
them and lend support. The family is the Circle Leader, setting direction for activities. With the help and friendship of their Allies, each family sets and achieves
goals unique to their own needs. (This information is taken from the Move the
Mountain website; go to www.circles campaign.org to learn more.)
Each Circles® community group begins with Circle Leader Training, using a curriculum designed to develop new skills. During the Circle Leader training, participants assess their current relationships, resources and reason or purpose for making
the necessary changes to escape from poverty permanently. It is during this time
that Allies also attend training sessions that increase awareness of poverty issues
within the families with whom they will be matched, as well as issues that affect
the community as a whole.
At the time of this writing, both Circle Leader and Ally trainings are occurring in
Dothan, the AWFUMC pilot site for Circles. Numerous other sites throughout the
Conference are planning for the implementation of Circles in their communities.
How can I get involved?
Success in this ministry requires committed local leadership. Assessment of where
and how to proceed will be largely based on where communities have committed
leaders who are willing to learn more and to convene others to get involved.
Congregations interested in learning more can call Laurel and Fred Blackwell,
Circles coordinators for the Conference, at 334.524.3652 or write to them at
circles@awfumc.org.

Conference Board of Advocacy and Ethnic Ministry
Division of Disability Concerns
The Division of Disability Concerns has not been as active as it should have been
due to my surgery in August. However I did attend the National Alliance on
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Mental Illness 2012 National Convention where we had several presentations on
FaithNet. This is NAMI’s program to reach out to the faith communities to educate
them about mental illness and about ways they can help the mentally ill and their
families. I was able to do one FaithNet presentation for a UMW group.
In Alabama we also have another faith based program – Sharing Hope. This is a
program through National NAMI. It was a request from African American members
who said that when something happened in their congregations the first person they
go to is the pastor. They requested a program to educate and partner with their faith
leaders. We have Sharing Hope teams consisting of a faith leader, family member
and a person who has a mental illness. We have a team in Mobile County and do
two to three presentations most months. Also in November we have a Pastor’s
Summit in Montgomery. This past year five United Methodists from the Mobile
District attended the Summit. I hope to reach out to all the districts to determine
other needs that are unmet.
Respectfully submitted,
Charlotte Van Erman, Chair
Division of Disability Concerns

Division of Hispanic-Latino Ministries
The Hispanic-Latino population continues to be the fastest growing segment in our
nation. For updated information on demographics, visit the Pew Hispanic Center
website at http://pewhispanic.org.
In June of 2011, the worst immigration law in the nation, HB56/HB856, was passed
in Alabama. However in spite of this huge setback, when many immigrants fled our
State, our ministries continued to flourish as a testimony to God’s power.
Hispanic-Latino Ministries were incorporated in our denomination by the 1992
General Conference. Martha Rovira-Raber has been the Coordinator of Hispanic
Ministries since January of 2007.
Our main project ministries are around the areas of Expanding & Engaging/Serving Our Communities, Educating for Change and Empowerment, and Seeking
and Caring for Christ’s sake.
Hallmarks
• Existing ministries continue to thrive and grow. (Check the 2012 Brochure
of Reports & visit www.awfumc.org/ministries for additional
information).
• A new Hispanic community of faith has started under the leadership
of Fredy Iscano in Good News UMC, Marianna-Panama City District.
• In August 2013, the first Hispanic local pastor in our Conference, Rev.
Enrique Escobar will be graduate from Advanced Course of Study in
Perkins SMU. He will pursue his path to ordained ministry. Irving Santos,
leader of El Lugar de Gracia in Mobile, Ala., will hopefully receive his
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Local Pastor’s license.
All of our Hispanic clergy/lay servant pastors’ main focus is to make
disciples of Jesus Christ for the transformation of the world.
Annually, the Lay Servants Academy takes place in Blue Lake Assembly
and both Basic and Advanced courses are offered in Spanish. For this 2013
Lay Speaking Academy, we have twenty students signed up for Basic and
eight for Advanced study.
The undersigned Conference Coordinator serves in the Executive
Committee of UMW as Language Coordinator, in the Rapid Response
Team of the GBCS as an advocate for Civil and Human Rights, and is an
active member of the National Association of Hispanic-Latino Conference
Staff and The National Plan for Hispanic/Latino Ministries (GBGM).

We continue to pray for God’s wisdom and guidance for this challenging ministry
and would like to thank all of you for your support to this ministry either through
prayers and/or financial assistance. We could not do it without God’s provision and
yours!
Your sister in Christ,
Martha Rovira-Raber, Conference Coordinator
Hispanic-Latino Ministries
martha@awfumc.org
251-975-7575 (cell)

Division of Native American Ministries
On Sunday November 4, 2012, Aldersgate UMC held its annual homecoming and
honored our very own, the Rev Prentiss Taylor. The theme, “Aldersgate and Family”, focused on the rich history of the Church and its significance to the community. Aldersgate is, for the most part, a traditional United Methodist Church with
Choctaw Indians who make up the majority of the congregation. Aldersgate is an
open, friendly church to all people. Most of the members at Aldersgate are members of the MOWA Choctaw tribe. “MOWA- is short for Mobile and Washington”.
There is a book about the tribe “They Say the Wind is Red” by Jacqueline Anderson Matte ISBN- 092629104-1.
We wish to thank you for your support of Native American Awareness Sunday
offerings and for supporting your local Conference churches in their ministry to
the American Indians of the Alabama-West Florida Conference. Your gifts make a
difference in the lives of God’s children and are used for Kingdom building here in
the local church.
Respectfully submitted,
Rev. George A. Weaver, Pastor
Aldersgate UMC			

Rev. Dunford Cole, Chair
Division of Native American Ministries
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Division of Status and Role of Women (COSROW)
The General Commission on the Status and Role of Women is one of twelve church
wide agencies of The United Methodist Church which is financed through the
World Service Fund (apportioned giving from local congregations). It is one of two
independent commissions, the other being the General Commission on Religion
and Race, charged with advocating, monitoring and challenging the church to seek
justice and inclusiveness. The Commission is accountable to the General Conference.
The Commission challenges the United Methodist Church to a commitment for the
full life and participation of women in the complete life and mission of the church.
The commission serves as an advocate for/on behalf of women and seeks to eliminate inequities in relation to women in the church as to the diversity of the United
Methodist Church, including laity and clergy, youth and young adults, older adults,
racial/ethnic women and men, persons with disabilities and regional representatives.
The Commission is helping the church be a more reliable and trustworthy agent of
the liberating Gospel of Jesus Christ so that we recognize every person as a ‘full
and equal part of God’s human family.” (The Book of Discipline)
Through training, education, research and monitoring, the Commission:
•
•
•
•
•

Nurtures women leaders in the church
Addresses gender discrimination
Confronts sexual harassment and abuse and advocates for victims
Raises awareness about women’s issues and opportunities
Identifies institutional sexism and recommends ways to diminish it

The annual Event was January 25-26 at Blue Lake Camp. The event centers on
education, strategy and/or awakening. This year’s Event was led by facilitator,
Sandra Ruby, from the Indiana Conference.
Also annually, an award named for a truly great leader in the Alabama-West Florida
Conference, Alice Lee, of Monroeville, Alabama is given to another outstanding female leader from our conference. She must have church and community leadership
and be an outstanding person to carry forth the leadership of Alice Lee. The 2012
recipient was Dawn Wiggins Hare of Monroeville, Alabama. She is the twentysecond winner of the award.
To carry out our mandate of full ordination of women, the conference COSROW
presents at least one $1,000 scholarship to a female clergy candidate or a female
seminarian entering into full time service to the church. The recipient must be
attending a United Methodist seminary. To date, COSROW has presented 21 scholarships since 1997. The scholarship is named for Jane Walker of Opelika, Alabama, who was an outstanding woman in her own right. The 2012 recipients were
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Kate McMath and Bett Middleton. They both attend Candler School of Theology
at Emory University. The scholarships are presented annually at the Annual Conference COSROW Breakfast on Tuesday morning at 7:00 AM. (Check Brochure of
Reports for location.)
Since 2009 there has been a scholarship named for the immediate past chair of
COSROW, Ruth Gynther of Auburn, Alabama. Ruth worked tirelessly during her
tenure to make the conference organization viable and visible. Her scholarship assists persons to attend the annual COSROW Event.
The best thing that happened in 2012 for Alabama-West Florida COSROW didn’t
happen in our conference. Dawn Wiggins Hare, an attorney and former judge of
Monroeville, was named as the General Secretary of the General Commission on
the Status and Role of Women. She is now working out of her office in Chicago.
She is the only member of the Alabama-West Florida Conference to be named to
lead a general agency.
COSROW monitors Annual Conference and the Annual Conference Committee on
Nominations for equal representation and equal access to leadership, helps members attend General Church trainings and represents the MAJORITY membership
in the United Methodist Church.
Applications for all awards and scholarships are available on the conference website at www.awfumc.org or by contacting the Alabama West Florida Conference
Headquarters at 334-356-8014.
Submitted by,
Ruth Ann Powers, Chair
Division of Status and Role of Women (COSROW)

Division of Strengthening the Black Church for the 21st Century
(SBC21)
The state of the Black church in the Alabama-West Florida Conference continues to
be an issue that demands high priority. Many of the churches have been in decline
for a number of years. There are only four Black churches that are able to support
an elder in the Alabama-West Florida Conference. One of those four churches is
a new church start that was once a part of a multi-site of Frazer. This is a crisis
situation yet, there seems to have been very little focus on making this a priority
for our work as an annual conference. Are Black churches important to the Alabama-West Florida Conference? Does it matter to the Annual Conference if Black
churches cease to exist? These are valid questions as I reflect on the past nineteen
years of service in this Conference. I can’t recall any strategy or campaigns to start
new Black churches or revitalize existing Black congregations. The Black church
grapples with a unique set of dynamics that require focused attention
To say that a bi-annual conference sponsored by SBC21 is enough strategy or
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focus, suggests that there is not much commitment or interest in the growth of
Black churches. Over the past 4 years we have had a couple of SBC21 events that
offered some ideas that if initiated at the local church level would yield stronger
and more impactful congregations. However, there is so much more that needs
to happen if Black churches will continue to be a vital part of the Alabama-West
Florida Annual Conference.
I am excited about what is going on at Zion Fellowship Church, a new church start.
It offers a model, I believe, that will be successful for future growth and sustainability of Black churches. For five years I sat under leadership from Frazer and received a great deal of church growth training. Also, I had the privilege of attending
a new church start boot camp several years ago. This training coupled with numerous leadership classes, I believe, have empowered and prepared me to lead a church
like Zion to great growth. The church is experiencing growth that is increasing as I
am write this report.
My experience suggests that Black churches, existing and new, could use additional
training in sustainability of ministries, hospitality, and follow up with those that
come to their worship or ministry experiences. The help needs to come through
some type of ongoing mentoring and training program. It is my hope and desire that
the Alabama-West Florida Conference will seriously make necessary strides and advancements with initiatives that will address these issues. Additional funding needs
to be allocated to support the development of efforts to strengthen these churches.
In addition, I am convinced that an achievable plan to develop new Black churches
is a necessity for significant growth among Black churches. Further work needs to
be done with implementing a real strategy for new Black church starts.
In His Service,
Robert Spicer, Chair
Strengthening the Black Church for 21st Century (SBC21)

Conference Board of Congregational Development
The Board of Congregational Development has as one of its roles the support of
new church starts in our conference. During 2012, a New Church Grant of $25,000
was awarded to Harbor UMC in Dothan, Alabama which started on July 1, 2012. A
$35,000 grant was awarded to Grace Community Church UMC which also began
on July 1 in Phenix City, Alabama, and a grant of $30,000 was awarded to The
Journey Church in Crestview, Florida which began in July 2011.
In 2012, salary supplements were provided to support seven pastors currently
involved in new church starts.
The evaluation process for pastors to start new churches has continued, with three
additional pastors having successfully completed this process during the past year.
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Each of these candidates for new church starts was originally identified and proposed by his/her District Superintendent prior to being considered for this evaluation.
As part of the Board’s role in supporting revitalization of existing churches, a grant
of $10,000 was awarded in 2012 to the Montgomery-Opelika District Missions
Fund for support of the Auburn Wesley Cooperative Parish.
We also continue to partner with The Academy for Congregational Excellence
as well as Natural Church Development (NCD). Natural Church Development,
under the leadership of Barbara Sadler, operates out of The Office of Congregational Development to assist churches in becoming more fruitful and effective in
eight key health factor areas. These are empowering leadership, gift-based ministry, passionate spirituality, effective structures, inspiring worship, holistic small
groups, need-oriented evangelism, and loving relationships. In the past year, NCD
has completed work with Luverne UMC in the area of loving relationships and is
awaiting the results of the follow-up survey. Bonifay UMC is exploring how to
improve the area of effective structures and recently held a training event for work
area leaders and their teams. Bascom UMC and Florala UMC are just initiating the
process and both will be working to improve the area of inspiring worship. Efforts
are being made to coordinate with ACE in training events.
This report is submitted on behalf of, and with appreciation for, the dedication and
contributions by the members and staff who represent the board.
June Thomason, Chair

Conference Board of Discipleship
The Conference Board of Discipleship was organized by the Annual Conference to
maintain the connectional relationship between the General Board of Discipleship,
and the Conference, district, and local church. The purpose of the Conference
Board of Discipleship is to lead and assist congregations and districts in the Conference in their efforts to communicate and celebrate the redeeming and reconciling
love of God as revealed in Jesus Christ to persons of every age, ethnic background,
and social condition; to invite persons to commit their lives to Christ and to a
church; and to enable persons to live as Christian disciples in the world. This purpose aligns with the Mission of our denomination and with the Commission from
Jesus, himself.
Consequently, for this year, the Board has adopted as our guiding scripture,
Matthew 28:19-20, “Go, then, to all peoples everywhere and make them my disciples: baptize them in the name of the Father, the Son and the Holy Spirit, and teach
them to obey everything I have commanded you. And I will be with you always to
the end of the age” (TEV).
Falling under the prevue of our charge are the areas of worship, evangelism, stew-
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ardship, spiritual formation and education. The following are reports from those
areas:
Worship, Evangelism and Stewardship
Worship, Evangelism and Stewardship are combining efforts to hold a conferencewide event in the fall of 2013. This will be a fun, inspiring and informative event
designed to give practical information to churches in how to become more fruitful
in worship, evangelism and stewardship. Watch for future details.
“Equipping Congregations for Fruitful Ministries” was the theme for the SBC21
Conference held August 9-11, 2012 at Capitol Heights UMC. In addition to fellowship and worship, attendees were able to learn from ministry tracks in Spiritual
Formation; Economic Community Development; Developing and Empowering
Small Group Ministries; and Missional Outreach. Highlights included presentations by Deborah Bell, Pastor Rudy Rasmus, Darryl Swinton, Rev. Dr. DerrickLewis Noble, music by Robert McMichael & Jarvis Wilson and Bible Study by
Rev. Dr. Elizabeth Walker Johnson.
Spiritual Formation
Spiritual Formation is “being shaped and formed in and conformed to the image
of Christ for the sake of others,” according to Dr. Robert Mulholland. Spiritual
formation offerings through the Alabama-West Florida United Methodist Church
Conference provide opportunities for laity and clergy to experience transformative
practices.
Academy for Spiritual Formation #34 – the two year journey continues and will
complete in February 2014. The first year is about the inward journey, how the
spirit is formed and conformed within through deepening and broadening self-spiritual practices and disciplines; the second year is about how one might integrate this
inward Christ image forming in and to the world. There is also a 5 day academy
planned for this fall to be held at Blue Lake.
Companions-in-Christ – This 28 week program creates experiences of intimacy
with God, deepening relationships with Christ in small group communities through
sharing, caring for one another, prayer, silence, and spiritual exercises. Laity and
Spiritual Directors led these classes.
Prayer Shawl Ministries – Retreats are offered at Blue Lake with worship and
spiritual formation experiences with sharing of the passion of crafting and praying. There is great fellowship among those who enjoy the Prayer Shawl focus. The
attendees, when returning home, increase in communities and/or start new Prayer
Shawl ministries in their local congregations.
Experiential Prayer Room/Ministries - This provides a place/space for one to intentionally slow down, turn or return to God’s presence and ponder, like Mary, the
things of God. The prayer stations provide many different types of prayer helping a
person clear the mind, and be present to The Creator in prayer – i.e., breath prayer,
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lectio divina, praying with icons, centering prayer, meditation on music/hymns,
prayer of examen, prayer beads, mandalas, etc. The invitation is not only at Annual
Conference but being carried out some in the local congregations.
Labyrinth Ministry – This spiritual formational prayer ministry unites mind, body
and spirit in the prayer walk. It is sometimes used in conjunction with the experiential prayer room or held as a separate event in some churches or at retreats for
different groups and different ages. The churches that have permanent labyrinths
are: Gulf Shores UMC, Dothan FUMC, and Dauphin Way UMC; there is also an
outdoor labyrinth at Blue Lake. The large canvas labyrinth which is housed at
FUMC in Pensacola is frequently loaned out while the smaller one, housed in the
Conference office is being loaned out more as others become aware of it. The
SBC21 event held at Capitol Heights UMC had both the experiential prayer room
and labyrinth which was well received. Whitfield UMC held a day apart retreat in
the spring of 2013 that will be on the same order as the SBC21 event. Patti Bodenhamer, spiritual formation representative on the Conference Board of Discipleship,
has led retreats for different denominations teaching about the labyrinth. Plans
are to hold more labyrinth retreats in the Conference. Lenten Lessons, Lunch &
Labyrinth held at Gulf Shores UMC during the Lenten season invited all (different
denominations) to come hear a Lenten lesson by a Conference Spiritual Director,
break bread together, and learn about the labyrinth with an opportunity to prayer
walk it.
Spiritual Directors – These specially trained individuals 1) prepared the space with
prayer at Blue Lake for the special called Annual Conference in January, 2) are
leading Companions-in-Christ and other spiritual formation classes in their churches, 3) lead Centering Prayer for clergy in one district with hopes of expanding to
other districts, 4) three have led a weekend retreat for the Area Agency Directors
at Blue Lake with the focus on rest and renewal of themselves for their ministries,
5) will be available for spiritual companioning to the campers and counselors at
Camp Blue Lake. Retreats will be available for sustaining Spiritual Directors as
well as retreats for sustaining clergy and laity with Centering Prayer, Lectio Divina,
Labyrinth to name a few. Some of our Spiritual Directors have been trained to use
the Enneagram as a tool when companioning directees.
District Super Sundays – Two different districts invited Spiritual Directors to lead
a spiritual formation information session during their annual Super Sunday. The
participants were invited to look at all the ministries as mentioned in this report and
possibly include some of the spiritually forming ministries in their own churches.
Christian Education
Elementary Winter Retreat – A great group of 335 children and chaperones attended
“HIS Voice”, our Elementary Winter Retreat on February 8-10, 2013 at Blue Lake
Camp. The events of the weekend were based on the scripture John 10:4 and centered on learning how we grow spiritually and hear the voice of God and the ways
He speaks to us. Dennis Lee, renowned ventriloquist, was our focus speaker and
entertainer for Saturday night with an energetic lesson that held everyone’s atten-
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tion as he and his cast of characters reinforced the theme of the weekend.
One of the goals of the weekend was to have rotations in a manner that everyone
would experience all three sites (Dogwood, Oakwood & Pinewood). Our rotations included the Challenge Course, Crafts and Bible Story at Dogwood, Hayride/
Scavenger Hunt and Prayer Stations at Pinewood and Opening Night and closing
Worship were held in Vickers Gym at Oakwood. All summer camp deans shared a
quick description of their summer camps. Thirty-one churches from the conference
were present during the weekend and the feedback was very positive. The Deans
for the weekend were Beth Allen, Lisa Bond and Laura Guffin. This team will also
direct the 2014 retreat.
The annual Confirmation Retreat was held on March 1-3, 2013 at Blue Lake with
115 young people and chaperones in attendance. Our theme this year was “”Know,
Grow, Show…”, “KNOW God’s Love, GROW in God’s Love, SHOW God’s Love.
The weekend included conversation with Bishop Leeland, discipleship groups
centering on prayers, presence, gifts/service and witness as well as exciting and
creative worship. The young people participated in all areas of our closing worship on Sunday. They “showed” God’s love through a generous offering taken to
help the congregation of Frisco City United Methodist Church whose minister and
confirmation class were with us for the weekend. In 2012 the annual Confirmation
Retreat had in attendance 140 sixth, seventh and eighth graders and their leaders.
We are on track with enrollments this year to meet or exceed that number.
The Older Adults continue to be self-sustaining. They will host the Inspirit Older
Adult Retreat on April 11-13 at Blue Lake Assembly. In April, 2012, approximately
80 people participated in this annual Inspirit Retreat. Barbara Wilder, incoming
Chairman of the Older Adult Task Force, attended the Older Adult Symposium in
Nashville in September, 2012.
This report is presented with great appreciation for the members of the Board and
support staff. Thank you.
Barbara Sadler, Chairperson
AWFC Board of Discipleship

Conference Board of Global Ministries
Division of Advance Specials
Listed below are the organizations approved by the Conference Board of Global
Ministries to have Conference Advance Special Status for the year 2013. These
organizations help battered women, feed the hungry and perform many other tasks
such as giving a Christian environment for our college students and make repairs
on homes for people that otherwise would not be done. At Blue Lake there is a
camp for the visually impaired, a weekend camp for adults with special needs, and
a camp for underprivileged children from the Mobile area.
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When planning your Outreach or Mission Budgets, please give these Advance
Specials your consideration. One hundred percent of your money goes where you
direct it and stays in the Alabama-West Florida Conference.
Visit www.awfumc.org/advance for more information.
0110-19		
0110-1		
0110-162		
0110-164		
0110-2		
0110-6		
0110-30		
0110-133/134
0110-51		
0110-40		
0110-163		
0110-135		
0110-132		
0110-90		
0110-3		
0110-22		
0110-131		
0110-136		
0110-139		

Alabama Rural Ministry
AWF Conf. Hispanic-Latino Ministries
Blue Lake – Camp Discovery
Blue Lake – Extreme Experience Vision Retreat
Dumas Wesley Community Center
Mary Ellen’s Hearth at Nellie Burge Community Center
Milk & Honey Outreach Ministries
Pensacola State College/University of W. Florida Wesley Foundation
Prodisee Pantry, Inc.
Society of St. Andrew
Sunshine Camp
Troy University Wesley Foundation
Tuskegee University Wesley Foundation – Project M.O.V.E.
United Methodist Children’s Home
United Methodist Inner City Mission
UMC Transformational Recovery Mission
University of South Alabama Wesley Foundation
University of West Alabama Wesley Foundation
The Wesley Foundation at Alabama State University

Division of Disaster Response and Recovery Ministry
The goal of this ministry is to train and prepare congregations, to collaborate with
community organizations in response and recovery, and to provide resources and
leadership in natural disasters both locally and as called upon throughout the jurisdictions.
Training continues to be the centerpiece of the ministry. Connecting Neighbors,
Early Response and Disaster Response training, as well as, chain saw certification
training are taught by UMCOR certified trainers and meet national standards. The
Conference is blessed to have strong leadership and presence in the state response
and recovery community. Local leadership is key to successful recovery. Many
thanks to Charles Walters (2011 Tornado Response Coordinator), Ron Baughman
(Christmas Tornado Response Coordinator 2012-3) and Michael Lawler (Christmas
2012 Response Montgomery/Opelika District) for taking active roles in their communities.
As of January 2013, the Alabama-West Florida Conference Disaster Recovery
Ministry no longer has paid staff in reference to the April 2011 storms (FEMA ID
1971). Our volunteer Disaster Recovery Coordinator in the Demopolis District continues to allocate resources to LTRCs and families with unmet need as resources are
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made available for this storm. We are currently active in recovery for the Christmas
2012 storms in the Mobile area and in other areas throughout our conference.
Recovery Efforts for the April 2011 Storms
In the past 21 months, the AWF UMDRM has been privileged to help allocate over
$250,000 in funding in direct support to families & individuals, manage thousands
of dollars worth of material donations, and coordinate over 36,000 volunteer work
hours (That’s more than four times the total amount of hours that exist in a single
year!).
All of this work has been possible only through the partnership of organizations
who are dedicated to helping families and individuals recover in the wake of
disaster. We are honored to work alongside (in varying capacities) the Community
Foundation of South Alabama, Catholic Social Services of the Mobile Diocese,
Alabama Rural Ministries (ARM), Habitat for Humanity, the American Red Cross,
Hale Empowerment & Revitalization Organization (HERO), the Choctaw County
Long Term Recovery, LLC., the Governor’s Emergency Relief Fund, ARCH,
Church World Service, Bama Rising, the Epworth Project, and many other churches
and community organizations.
Rebuild Projects
The recovery has been involved in the construction of nine new homes and the
purchasing and/or installation of three mobile homes. Of the nine home rebuilds,
we have coordinated the volunteer (& use of contractors when necessary) rebuild
of four of these homes, provided funding towards three, and offered material and
volunteer support to two of these homes. In addition to these twelve families, we
have also helped in the repair of more than 30 homes, cleared tons of debris from
yards, recycled as much building material as possible, and have met with more than
a hundred families affected by the storms. And yet, there is work to be done. For
this reason, as resources become available, our volunteer coordinators continue to
be involved with LTRCs and our partners to help with volunteer coordination and
other resources as they become available to the AWF UMDRM.
Other Projects
(Submitted by Charles Walters, Coordinator 2011 Tornado Recovery) In addition
to these rebuild projects, families have received pastoral counseling, legal advice,
needed personal items lost in the storms, clothing, food and water. We have provided several recreational and educational camps for children in the areas affected
by the storms.
This number includes commitments greater than $1,000. This includes the
1.
estimated value of volunteer hours.
2.
No estimation has been compiled
Christmas Tornado Response
The Mobile District sustained damage on Christmas Day, 2012. Area UMC’s and
Dumas Wesley opened doors and helped begin response into shattered neighborhoods. Ron Baughman chairs the Mobile Long Term Recovery. The collaboration
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with major non-profits and faith-based agencies is currently managing resources
and volunteers.
The Long Term Recovery (LTR) in the Montgomery/Opelika District is using funds
provided by the AWF Conference to help with the replacement cost of mobile
homes destroyed in the Christmas Day tornadoes. Michael Lawler, District Response Coordinator, is also treasurer of that LTR.
Goals for 2013
The continuation of training and preparedness is central to our future responses.
Updating of the conference plan is necessary at this point and will be a primary
project this year as the map of response and recovery changes in this new decade.
We must vigilant and ready.
										
Many thanks go to the hundreds of hours offered to response, to congregations
who are the hands and feet of Christ in disastrous situations, and to the Conference
leadership who support the goals of this important ministry.
										
Respectfully submitted,
Amelia Fletcher, Coordinator
Disaster Response and Recovery Ministry
Alabama-West Florida Conference

conference committee reports
Commission on Archives and History (COAH)
The Commission on Archives and History (COAH) continues to be active in
ministry with and to the members of the Alabama-West Florida Conference. Our
archivist, Sharon Tucker and assistant Mary Ann Pickard work to file documents
and manage donations that reflect the stories and histories of our various churches.
They are assisted by Huntingdon College interns and volunteers. The COAH is
housed at the Huntingdon College Library and can be reached at
archives@huntingdon.edu. The staff is always ready to assist any church with
records management and historical preservation.
A main ministry of the COAH is to host and plan the Service of Remembrance and
the Memorial Luncheon held on Monday of Annual Conference. In the past year,
2012, we celebrated the lives of twenty-seven deceased clergy and spouses. The
sermon, “The Hall of Saints,” was given by Dr. George Mathison. Formal invitations were sent to family members to attend the Luncheon. We were blessed with
one hundred twenty-five honored guests for the service and luncheon. Catering
was provided by Silver Spoon Cooking out of Camden, Alabama. Each family was given a copy of the 2012 Journal which included a personal memoir and
photograph of each of the deceased. A DVD of the service was also offered to all
interested family members.
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New officers for COAH were elected at the June 25, 2012 meeting. Rev. Pamela
Avery was elected chairperson, Jason Gregg as vice-chairperson and Anthony
Leigh as recording/financial secretary. We also welcomed new member Lori
Moneyham.
We are grateful for Rev. Ed Shirley and Claud Brown who provided leadership over
the past four years for the COAH and the Conference Historical Society, respectively.
We encourage all churches to be attentive to their stories and to record them faithfully to bless generations to come. We also invite any persons to become active in
the AWF Historical Society which keeps our rich history alive.
Respectfully submitted,
Rev. Pamela Avery, Chairperson

Archivist’s Report
The Methodist Archives Center is an organization responsible for supporting the
Commission On Archives And History (COAH) and the functions they are accountable for administrating during the year. The primary responsibility of the COAH is
to plan and lead the Memorial Service at annual conference. Last year conference
honored twelve clergy and fifteen clergy spouses. The COAH has also established
a wonderful luncheon for the families of those clergy and spouses. The service and
luncheon were attended by over one-hundred people.
We are also the assistants to the Alabama-West Florida Conference Historical Society. This year their meeting was held at Huntingdon College to honor the history
the United Methodist Church has played in the education of young people. The
archivists also presented a portion of this program.
The Local Church Heritage Award is presented each year at annual conference.
The First United Methodist Church of Enterprise won the award for 2011. This
award is presented to the church who celebrates a historical event in their church’s
history in a memorial way. Plus, with the beautiful scrapbook created by the Enterprise UMC, a power point presentation was made to assist other churches who wish
to discover, recover, or celebrate their past.
We assisted over forty-six visitors to the Methodist Archives Center this past year.
Twenty were researching information concerning Huntingdon College and twentythree were interested in our Conference materials. We also had three classes of
students from Huntingdon College learn about archiving and The Methodist Archives Center. The archivists assisted one hundred-nineteen people with research
questions. Forty-seven requests concerned churches in our Conference. Fifty-eight
research questions were about pastors who had served in our conference. Huntingdon College requested information on twenty-one subjects, and there were eleven
other subject requests filled which were mostly Conference related.
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2012 LIST OF ALABAMA WEST FLORIDA CONFERENCE ACCESSIONS:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

MC697-Additions to the Historical Library, Periodicals, & Publications in 2012
MC698-Additions to the Reference Files in 2012
MC699-Additions to the Audio Visuals in 2012
MC700-Additions to the Artifacts in 2012
MC701-LaPine United Methodist Church
MC702-St. Mark United Methodist Church (discontinued)
MC703-Pensacola District Records
MC704-Personal Papers of Deceased Clergy And Spouses
MC705-Bibliographic Indexes
MC706-Quadrennium Records
MC707-Uniting Conference 1968
MC708-Alabama West Florida Conference Historical Society
MC709-Gadsden Street United Methodist Church
MC710-Montgomery/Prattville District Records
Multiple boxes of District Charge Conference Records were added to Remote Storage

2012 LIST OF HUNTINGDON COLLEGE ACCESSIONS:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

HC239-Additions to the Huntingdon Reference Files in 2012
HC240-Additions to Audio Visuals in 2012
HC241-Additions to Historical Library, Periodicals, Publications in 2012
HC242-Artifact Additions in 2012
HC243-“The Wo-Co-Ala News” (November 1917-May 1936)
HC244-“The Huntress” (October 1936-January 1960)
HC246-“Segastaon” (1902-1909)
HC247-“Wo-Co-Ala” (1916-1918)
HC248-Collection Independent Studies (1948-2007)
HC249-Scrapbooks
HC250-Office of Communications Records
HC251-Student Travel: Australia
HC252-Capstones
HC253-Theo Elmore Newsom Personal Files
HC254-Core Curriculum Committee

Historical Society President’s Report
Focus for the Conference year, 2012, was on reaching local church Historians,
and adding to membership of the Society. The Historical Society’s major goal is
to support the Commission on Archives and History of the Alabama-West Florida
Conference of the United Methodist Church in preserving the history of the local
churches for future generations. A booth at Annual Conference featured pictures of
some of the oldest church buildings on a tri-fold board and on complimentary cups
given to new members who signed up at the booth. Another activity to help reach
these goals was the Annual Meeting of the Society held this year at Huntingdon
College featuring the history of the school; its beginning along with other educa-
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tional institutions at the same time, namely Auburn University as it is known today.
Huntingdon Harmony presented music and entertainment. Information as to how
to retrieve local church histories, especially after catastrophic events scatter and
destroy records was provided by members of Elba United Methodist after several
floods desecrated the property. Caring for all local church records was a featured
part of the program, ending with a tour of the Archives Center in the College
Library with a stress on how to utilize the Center for local church records. Information on how to purchase the Manual, “Cliff Notes” for Local Church Records”,
a guide to managing the records that includes what to do with records when no
longer needed was presented in packets provided to each participant. This guide
helps the individual churches adhere to the Discipline that requires some of these
non-current records be archived. The Methodist Archives Center staff offered to
visit local churches to lead workshops and discuss suggestions made in the Manual.
To arrange these workshops, contact Sharon Tucker at stucker@huntingdon.edu or
call at 334-833-4413.
Reaching local church Historians, the group with the most vested interest in membership and attending annual meetings, proved to be most difficult. For the first
time a newsletter was created, sent by mail and email, to all members, former members, and all local church Historians whose contact addresses had been submitted
to Conference Headquarters. This newsletter featured a summary of local church
histories with Crawford United Methodist in Russell County the first and Prattville,
the second. Dr. Bob Couch offered to write these histories as a means of stimulating interest in preserving histories. Printing and mailing newsletters and meeting
brochures can add up expenses of the organization; therefore the Executive Board
voted to raise Annual Dues to $12 per person with Life Memberships of $100,
Student Annual Dues of $8, Institution Annual Dues of $15, and Benefactor of
$50 per year with a portion of this category being tax deductible. Donations to the
Society are always accepted and appreciated. The areas of interest where a member
can serve include local or District Historians, officers in the Society, genealogical
research, historical research, visiting and writing about historical sites, program
planning, archives administration or helping develop memberships.
The Association voted at the Annual Meeting to change Article VI, Section 2 of its
By-Laws to read, “The operating budget of the Society shall be determined by the
Executive Committee elected at the annual meeting and will depend on the revenue
from membership dues and event registrations. The amount of the annual dues shall
be proposed by the outgoing executive committee and approved by the members
attending the annual meeting”. It was then recommended that the fiscal year be
from annual meeting to annual meeting with the new year beginning October 13,
2012, the date of this annual meeting, until the annual meeting date in 2013. These
motions were presented and approved as read. The change in dues was presented
and approved. Officers for the year 2012 - 2013 were presented and approved with
President, Myrtice Carr; Vice President, Julia Norton; Secretary, Betty Letlow;
and Financial Secretary, Mary Ann Pickard elected. A suggestion was made
and accepted, pending local church approval, for the annual meeting to be held at
Opelika First United Methodist Church to benefit from their yearlong celebration of
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175 years in existence and studying how they obtained records, show cased them,
shared them with members, and preserved what was discovered. The Society
looks forward to a great year with increased interest in studying and preserving
the history of local churches and there is no way to do this without remembering
the great men and women who have helped to establish, build, preserve, and grow
these churches.
Submitted by,
Myrtice Carr, President

Committee on Episcopacy
The work of this Committee on Episcopacy began with a celebration at the Southeast Jurisdictional Conference when the announcement was made that Paul and
Janet Leeland would return to the Alabama-West Florida (AWF) Conference for
a second quadrennium. We appreciate Lester Spencer and Beverly Maddox who
organized the reception which allowed the AWF delegation to express to the
Leelands, on behalf of the Conference, our pleasure they would be returning to
continue the important work they have started in our Conference.
Last year’s journal records the extensive evaluation process led by Bishop Lindsey
Davis that resulted in the unamimous affirmation of Bishop Leeland’s leadership
and our recommendation to the SEJ Episcopacy Committee that he be returned to
the AWF Conference for a second quadrennium. The SEJ assignment process was
more challenging than anticipated. We learned that a bishop who has demonstrated
good leadership skills is highly desired by our sister conferences.
As stipulated by the Book of Discipline (¶410.2), Bishop Leeland took a renewal
leave in the fall of 2012 “for the purpose of reflection, study and self-renewal”.
Upon return he provided the Episcopacy Committee a multi-page report listing the
accomplishments and challenges of his first quadrennium of service to our AWF
Conference as well as some of his expectations for this new quadrennium.
Among his expectations were: continuing to bring more voices to Conference
conversations, moving into AWF Conference owned office building, and placing a
sharper focus on partnerships with Conference Laity. He also added he would like
to receive the AWF Conference’s recommendation as Episcopal leader for 2016.
Space does not allow a listing of the programs started, progress made or administrative changes incorporated which are credited to Bishop Leeland’s leadership. The
substantial Conference changes and accomplishment which have occurred during
Bishop Leeland’s tenure are well known and have been documented in other reports
over the past four years.
The Committee on Episcopacy, however, was very pleased and thought it important
that our Episcopal leader had undertaken such a thorough inventory and assessment
of our Conference accomplishments and challenges as a springboard into the vision
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and priorities being set for the next quadrennium. There was great appreciation and
confidence that the directions being chosen rest on strong spiritual and administrative foundations.
I would like to thank the members of the Episcopacy committee for their leadership
and service this year: Dr. Larry Bryars, Helen Edwards, Rev. Tonya Elmore, Clare
Ester, Dr. Steve Furr, Dawn Hare, Betty Helms, Shirley Hodges, Beverly Maddox, Dr. Jeremy Pridgeon, Dr. Lester Spencer, Jr., Dr. Karl Stegall, Gerry Stiffler,
Rev. Libba Stinson, and Dr. Wesley Wachob.
A special thank you is extended to Jean Belt and Eileene Griffith who co-chair the
Residency Committee.
Respectfully submitted,
Paulette Thompson, Chairperson
Committee on Episcopacy

conference agency reports
Blue Lake United Methodist Assembly
The mission of Blue Lake Assembly is to be a center of Christian hospitality and
learning designed to help people affirm and expand their faith in God and their
service as Christian disciples.
This has been an amazing year in the life of the Camp and Retreat Ministry of our
Conference. The first quarter of 2012 was a record breaker, and the summer was
amazing, and through it all our Heavenly Father assured us of His presence and His
love.
In May we welcomed Jonathan Langston, our new Program Director, and said farewell to Patric and Brianne Newton as they begin a new journey.
Every season brought new events, new guest groups, and new awareness of the
incredible opportunity we have daily to touch lives. We continue to partner with
individuals, churches, and non-profits to change the world. We completed our third
Extreme Experience Vision Camp and our second More Than X’s & O’s Christian
Coaches Family Camp. And the Sunshine Camp continues to be a vital part of
the outreach of our Conference into our community, as well as the two sessions of
Camp Discovery for Inner City children. Blue Lake is now home to a wonderful
and inspiring labyrinth built in honor of the many years of service of Rev. Frank
Scott.
In 2013 we are especially excited about a summer event called Mission Camp:
Love, Learn, Serve, LIVE! This experience is a partnership of the camp and retreat
ministry and other agencies and organizations of the Conference and the community. It will explore our heritage of engaging in the Social Gospel. We will come
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together for intentional acts of service, fellowship, community, spiritual growth,
worship and traditional camp fun.
We continue to upgrade and enhance the amazing facility which is part of our
legacy. And our 20for12 Annual Fund program has been the start of a wonderful program that allows new donors a way to be a part of the excitement of this
ministry. We continue to work to become debt free and even better stewards of our
resources. We give thanks for those who love Blue Lake and have supported this
work with their gifts and talents.
Phyllis Murray, Executive Director
Blue Lake Board of Trustees
Class of 2014		
Class of 2015
Class of 2013		
Rev. Jim Carpenter
Pete DiMaggio		
Rev. Rebecca Rutherford
Janean McCawley
Elizabeth Sandoe
Rev. Pam Barnhardt
Bill Hill			
Virginia Lindley		
Henry Gross
Terry DuBose		
Rev. Dric Williford
Edna Williams
Eliese McAllister					Emily Garner
Jim Busby					Rev. Emily Kincaid
Jo Blount
Officers				Ex-Officio
Resident Bishop: Bishop Paul Leeland
President: Eliese McAllister
V-President: Rev. Jim Carpenter
Cabinet Representative: Dr. Cory Smith
Connectional Ministry: Rev. Neil McDavid
Treasurer: Henry Gross		
UMW: Betty Helms
Secretary: Jo Blount		
UMM: John Croft
At Large: Janean McCawley
At Large: Rev. Rob West		
CCFA: Rev. Rob West
Blue Lake 2012 Donations Given in Memory or Honor of Others
Given By:				In Honor Of:
Charles Hunter				Emily Hunter
Blue Lake Staff
Angels of the Son Gulf Breeze UMC
Blue Lake Camp
Martha Rovira 				
Autaugaville UMC			
Autaugaville UMC
Rev. and Mrs. Daniel McLaren		
Blue Lake Staff
Clarke & Bentley Doyle
Amy Doyle 				
Miriam Morrow				Andy Morrow
Jo Blount & Eliese McAllister
John Stone				
Rev. Lawson Bryan			
Phyllis Murray
Carole Lee				
Barbara and Cliff Webber
Jim Busby’s work at Blue Lake
Kenneth Winzeler			
Bill Hill					Louise Jones Hill
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Edith Lawson Circle			
Emily Garner
Morgan’s Chapel UMW			
Lorrie Palmer
Watoola UMW				
Hugh and Beverly Shirah
Kayla Austin				Marvin “Chappy” Vickers
Chris Piscares				
Summer Program Staff 2012
Julie Terrell				
Chris Terrell – Local Church Pastor
Claire Vick Leuenberger & Patricia
Mr. and Mrs. John Vick			
					Vick Moody
Jim Czap				Rachel Taylor
Jenny Simpson				Grace Hammond
All Fathers
DeFuniak Springs UMC			
Susan Porch				
Rev. Frank Scott
Rev. and Mrs. Paul Wolfe
Phebe Lee				
Charles Turk				Henry Gross
Given By:				In Memory Of:
Charles Hunter				Harry Hunter
Martha Rovira				KITTY
Rev. Robert D Penton
Ruth Penton				
Laurel Akin				Lucille Hopkins
Rebecca Fulcher				Juanita Blakemore
James Bias				Archie Taylor Bias
Juanita Blakemore & Mabe
Amanda Harris				
Pam Barnhardt				Bob Penton
Chester Pelt				Louise Jernigan
Diane Eddins McGarity
Eva Fountain				
Jonathan Fountain			
Diane Eddins McGarity
Eva Fountain				
John E Fountain
Marie Bird				
Rev. Franklin Bird
Barbara Wright				Jack Wright
Otis Hendon Brunson III
Harriett Brunson				
Craig Carrillo				Sara Tras
Jack & Owen Slinkard
Judith Ring				
Nina Keenam				
Rev. Claude W. Keenam
Bishop Paul A. Duffey
Geneva Blackburn			
Rev. E. Zedoc Baxter
Frances Baxter				
Mrs. Marilyn Rogers
Mr. & Mrs. Sam Starr			
					Mrs. Luna Sasser
					Mr. W. Sidney Fuller
					Mr. James Watson
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Trustees of
Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of Alabama-West Florida
Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc., (a non-profit organization) (dba Blue Lake United
Methodist Assembly) as of December 31, 2012, and the related statements of activities and
changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Organization’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc. as of
December 31, 2012, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Certified Public Accountants
March 19, 2013

-1-
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year ended December 31,

Revenues
Camp operating revenues
Support from The AlabamaWest Florida Conference of
the United Methodist Church
Operations
Debt retirement
Contributions
Donations
Capital campaign
Interest and investment income
Net assets released from
restrictions due to satisfaction
of program restrictions
Total revenues

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted
Restricted
$

2012
Total

748,435 $

- $

- $ 748,435

109,608
48,890

-

-

115,790
61,819
2,178

15,243
-

20,000
-

109,608
48,890
151,033
61,819
2,178

25,354
1,112,074

(25,354)
(10,111)

20,000

1,121,963

93,910
67,775
188,280

-

-

93,910
67,775
188,280

492,680
48,176
34,298
125,318

-

-

492,680
48,176
34,298
125,318

80,439
1,130,876

-

-

80,439
1,130,876

Change in net assets

(18,802)

(10,111)

20,000

(8,913)

Net assets, beginning of year

571,343

91,343

-

662,686

Prior period adjustments

144,763

-

-

144,763

Beginning balance as restated

716,106

91,343

-

807,449

697,304 $

81,232 $

Expenses
Operating expenses
Food services
Summer camp program
Operations and maintenance
General and administrative
Personnel costs
Insurance
Other administrative costs
Depreciation
Fundraising
Interest expense
Total expenses

Net assets, end of year

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
-3-

20,000 $ 798,536
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year ended December 31,

Revenues
Camp operating revenues
Support from The AlabamaWest Florida Conference of
the United Methodist Church
Operations
Debt retirement
Contributions
Donations
Capital campaign
Interest and investment income
Net assets released from
restrictions due to satisfaction
of program restrictions
Total revenues

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted
Restricted
$

2012
Total

748,435 $

- $

- $ 748,435

109,608
48,890

-

-

115,790
61,819
2,178

15,243
-

20,000
-

109,608
48,890
151,033
61,819
2,178

25,354
1,112,074

(25,354)
(10,111)

20,000

1,121,963

93,910
67,775
188,280

-

-

93,910
67,775
188,280

492,680
48,176
34,298
125,318

-

-

492,680
48,176
34,298
125,318

80,439
1,130,876

-

-

80,439
1,130,876

Change in net assets

(18,802)

(10,111)

20,000

(8,913)

Net assets, beginning of year

571,343

91,343

-

662,686

Prior period adjustments

144,763

-

-

144,763

Beginning balance as restated

716,106

91,343

-

807,449

697,304 $

81,232 $

Expenses
Operating expenses
Food services
Summer camp program
Operations and maintenance
General and administrative
Personnel costs
Insurance
Other administrative costs
Depreciation
Fundraising
Interest expense
Total expenses

Net assets, end of year

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc. (dba Blue Lake United Methodist
Assembly) (the Organization) was organized on May 28, 1958, and is a nonprofit organization
affiliated with The Alabama-West Florida Conference of The United Methodist Church. The
Organization operates as a camp known as Blue Lake Camp, located in Southern Alabama. Its
mission is to provide a center of Christian hospitality and learning designed to help people affirm
and expand their faith in God and their service as Christian disciples.
Basis of Presentation
The Organization prepares its financial statements using the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the Organization considers all cash and highly
liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable from customers is reported at the outstanding balance due from customers,
net of any allowance for doubtful accounts. The Organization provides for doubtful accounts
based on experience and analysis of individual accounts. When the collectability of a receivable
becomes questionable, an allowance for doubtful accounts is established. When specific
accounts are determined to be uncollectible, they are written off by charging the allowance and
crediting the receivable. Accounts receivable of $1,245 were shown net of $1,227 allowance for
doubtful accounts at December 31, 2012.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. The Organization’s policy is to capitalize items
costing over $1,000. Depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful lives of the assets by
using the straight-line method, which ranges generally from 3 years to 40 years. Upon sale or
other disposition of assets, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from
the accounts and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is reflected in income. Maintenance and
repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
Investments
The Organization carries investments in marketable securities with readily determinable market
values and all investments in debt securities at their fair values in the statement of financial
position. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the change in net assets in the
accompanying statement of activities.

-5-
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc. (dba Blue Lake United Methodist
Assembly) (the Organization) was organized on May 28, 1958, and is a nonprofit organization
affiliated with The Alabama-West Florida Conference of The United Methodist Church. The
Organization operates as a camp known as Blue Lake Camp, located in Southern Alabama. Its
mission is to provide a center of Christian hospitality and learning designed to help people affirm
and expand their faith in God and their service as Christian disciples.
Basis of Presentation
The Organization prepares its financial statements using the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the Organization considers all cash and highly
liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable from customers is reported at the outstanding balance due from customers,
net of any allowance for doubtful accounts. The Organization provides for doubtful accounts
based on experience and analysis of individual accounts. When the collectability of a receivable
becomes questionable, an allowance for doubtful accounts is established. When specific
accounts are determined to be uncollectible, they are written off by charging the allowance and
crediting the receivable. Accounts receivable of $1,245 were shown net of $1,227 allowance for
doubtful accounts at December 31, 2012.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. The Organization’s policy is to capitalize items
costing over $1,000. Depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful lives of the assets by
using the straight-line method, which ranges generally from 3 years to 40 years. Upon sale or
other disposition of assets, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from
the accounts and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is reflected in income. Maintenance and
repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
Investments
The Organization carries investments in marketable securities with readily determinable market
values and all investments in debt securities at their fair values in the statement of financial
position. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the change in net assets in the
accompanying statement of activities.
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Restrictions on Net Assets
Temporarily restricted net assets represent net assets contributed to the Organization for
specific purposes or periods. At December 31, 2012, temporarily restricted net assets consist
primarily of amounts for expansion and renovation of camp facilities.
Permanently restricted net assets consist of an endowment fund established in 2012 to provide
camp scholarships. Contributions to the endowment fund are subject to donor restrictions that
stipulate the original principal of the gift is to be held and invested by the Organization
indefinitely and income from the fund is to be expended to provide camp scholarships. As
required by generally accepted accounting principles, net assets associated with endowment
funds are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed
restrictions.
The Organization has interpreted the State Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act
(SPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of
donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result
of this interpretation, the Organization classifies as permanently restricted net assets (1) the
original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (2) the original value of subsequent
gifts to the permanent endowment, and (3) accumulations to the permanent endowment made
in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the
accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of such fund that is not classified in
permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until those
amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Organization in a manner consistent with the
standard of prudence prescribed by SPMIFA. In accordance with SPMIFA, the Organization
considers the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donorrestricted endowment funds: (1) the duration and preservation of the various funds, (2) the
purposes of the donor-restricted endowment funds, (3) general economic conditions, (4) the
possible effect of inflation and deflation, (5) the expected total return from income and the
appreciation of investments, (6) other resources of the Organization, and (7) the Organization's
investment policies.
The Organization has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that
attempt to subject the fund to low investment risk and provide scholarships to assist children to
attend camp. Endowment assets are invested in balanced collective investment funds with the
AL-WFL United Methodist Foundation. The Organization seeks to build endowment assets
through additional contributions. The Organization has a policy of distributing each quarter the
endowment fund's investment income from the previous quarter that is not permanently
restricted, and the Organization generally expends the endowment fund's investment income for
scholarships as needed. The current spending policy is not expected to allow the Organization's
endowment fund to grow as a result of investment returns. This is consistent with the
Organization's objectives to provide a Christian camp experience to children, preserve
endowment assets without subjecting them to substantial risk, and provide additional real
growth through new gifts.

-6-
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Restrictions on Net Assets (continued)
At December 31, 2012, the endowment fund consists of a $20,000 contribution received in
2012.
Lodging, Meal and Camping Fees
Income from fees for lodging, meals, and camping are recorded as earned. Fees received in
advance of camp attendance are deferred and recognized as deferred revenue in the statement
of financial position.
Contributions
Contributions received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently
restricted depending on the existence and nature of donor restrictions. Temporarily restricted
net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets upon satisfaction of the donors’ related
time or purpose restrictions. Contributions received that are restricted to support of various
summer camp programs that are spent in the same year are recorded as unrestricted.
The Organization has conducted a capital campaign to raise funds for capital improvements,
maintenance of existing facilities and reduction of debt incurred for capital improvements.
Capital campaign contributions are recorded as temporarily restricted when received and
reclassified to unrestricted upon satisfaction of the donors’ restriction.
Donated Services
The Organization generally pays for services requiring specific expertise. However, many
individuals volunteer their time and perform a variety of tasks that assist the Organization with
specific repairs and maintenance of the camp. No amounts have been reflected in the financial
statements for donated services as there were no donations of services meeting the criteria for
recognition.
Deferred Revenue
Fees for camping and other use of facilities collected in advance are included in deferred
revenue on the accompanying statement of financial position.
Advertising Costs
The Organization incurred $9,542 in camp promotion and advertising for the year ended
December 31, 2012.
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Pension Costs
Two employees of the Organization participate in a 403(b) plan provided through the United
Methodist Personal Investment Plan. The Organization contributed $5,067 to the plan for the
year ended December 31, 2012.
Income Taxes
The Organization is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code. However, income from certain activities not directly related to the Organization’s
tax-exempt purpose is subject to taxation as unrelated business income. There was no
unrelated business income for the year ended December 31, 2012. Consequently, no provision
for income taxes has been made in these financial statements.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from
those estimates.
Subsequent Events
Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 19, 2013, the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.
NOTE 2 – INVESTMENTS
Investments consist of amounts in accounts managed by Alabama-West Florida United
Methodist Development Fund, Inc., an agency of the conference, as follows:

December 31,

2012
Cost

Balanced Collective Investment Funds
Common Stock
Total investments

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)

Fair Value

$

41,261 $
5,379

1,311 $
(5,361)

42,572
18

$

46,640 $

(4,050) $

42,590

The balance of the permanently restricted endowment fund of $20,000 is included in mutual
funds above.
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 3 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment is summarized as follows:

2012

December 31,
Land
Buildings
Other facilities
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles

$

Total
Less accumulated depreciation

57,567
4,223,684
66,163
244,883
122,136
4,714,433
(2,592,108)

Property and equipment, net

$

2,122,325

Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $125,318.
NOTE 4 – LINE OF CREDIT
The Organization maintains a line of credit with a local bank. The line of credit has a maximum
borrowing amount of $50,000 and variable interest rate based on prime rate. The current
interest rate on the line of credit was 6%. The line of credit matures December 5, 2013.
NOTE 5 – NOTE PAYABLE
The Organization has a note payable to North Alabama United Methodist Foundation in the
amount of $1,458,113, bearing interest at the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plus 0.5% (3.75%
at December 31, 2012), with a floor of 5.5%. Principal and accrued interest are payable at
maturity, November 8, 2013. Collateral for the notes payable consists of substantially all the
assets of the Organization. Subsequent to December 31, 2012, $1,100,000 of this note was
refinanced and the remaining balance extended (See Note 9 for additional discussion).
NOTE 6 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
FASB ASC 820 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or
paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.
The standard also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair
market value. FASB ASC 820 describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair
value:
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by
market data.
Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.
-9-
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 6 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
In accordance with FASB ASC 820, the Organization’s investments in marketable securities at
December 31, 2012 were carried at fair market value in the financial statements as follows:

Assets measured at Fair Market Value on
a Recurring Basis

Level 1
inputs

Based on:
Level 2
inputs

Level 3
inputs

Investments

$

42,590 $

- $

-

Total assets measured at fair value

$

42,590 $

- $

-

NOTE 7 – CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
The Organization maintains its cash balances in Cadence Bank and the Alabama-West Florida
United Methodist Development Fund Inc. The balances in Cadence Bank are insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000. At times during the year the cash
balances may exceed the FDIC insured limit. There were no uninsured balances at December
31, 2012.
NOTE 8 – PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS
The following summarizes adjustments made to prior periods:

Correction of accumulated depreciation as of January 1, 2009
Correction for renovations expensed in 2011
Adjustment of prior years' interest expense

$

93,410
24,529
26,824

Total increase in beginning unrestricted net assets

$

144,763

Correction of accumulated depreciation as of January 1, 2009 – The Organization first prepared
financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2009. Prior to that time, the
Organization did not prepare a complete set of financial statements, and carried depreciable
assets on its records based on the insured amount of those assets. To facilitate preparation of
financial statements presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, an
extensive effort was undertaken to discover and validate the cost basis of the various significant
assets and calculated the accumulated depreciation as of January 1, 2009. The Organization
has discovered that, due to certain errors in the original calculation, accumulated depreciation
was overstated, and unrestricted net assets were understated, in the amount of $93,410. Those
errors had no effect on the reported change in net assets for the periods ended December 31,
2009, 2010 or 2011.
Correction for renovations expensed in 2011 – The Organization has been renovating various
facilities. Certain amounts that related to the renovations were inadvertently included in
- 10 -
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Alabama-West Florida Assembly Grounds Commission, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 8 – PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
repairs and maintenance expense in 2011. The Organization has made an adjustment to
include those amounts in the total renovation projects. The adjustment results in an increase in
the change in net assets reported for 2011 and property and equipment and net assets as of
December 31, 2011, in the amount of $24,529.
Correction of prior years’ interest on note payable to North Alabama Foundation (NAF) - During
2012, NAF made corrections to interest charged on the Organization’s note payable to NAF for
various prior years. The effect of the correction is that the change in net assets reported for
years prior to 2012, and net assets at December 31, 2011, is increased by $26,824.
NOTE 9 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Organization signed a note payable dated February 14, 2013 in the amount of $1,100,000
with the Alabama-West Florida United Methodist Foundation (UWFF). The note is secured by a
mortgage on the Organization’s facilities. The proceeds of the note were used to pay down the
note payable to North Alabama United Methodist Foundation (NAF) (see Note 5). The new note
bears interest at an initial interest rate of 3.5%, adjusted annually to a current rate as
determined by the board of directors of UWFF, and is payable in monthly interest only payments
of $3,208 beginning April 1, 2013 through March 1, 2014. Beginning April 1, 2014, payments will
be in equal monthly amounts of principal and interest, based on the April 2014 rate, as adjusted
by the UWFF, through March 1, 2028.
An amended note payable to NAF dated February 28, 2013 in the amount of $357,483, the
remaining balance at that date has been signed. In connection with the note described in the
previous paragraph, the existing first mortgage held by NAF was replaced by a second
mortgage on the Organizations’s facilities. Principal and interest at 5.5% are due at the maturity
date of February 28, 2015.
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Methodist Homes Corporation
The United States Department of Health & Human Services predicts that by 2030,
those persons 65 years of age and older will represent a staggering 19% of the
country’s population, or approximately one out of every five Americans. Methodist
Homes Corporation, grounded in its mission, is preparing today for that future!
The mission of Methodist Homes is to enrich the lives of older adults
and all those who serve them, in faith-based communities, where life is
celebrated, relationships are valued, teamwork is embraced, service
excellence is expected, and the touch of God’s love is ever-present and
ageless.
Beginning in 2004, the Board of Trustees of Methodist Homes began to understand
the challenges faced by an aging population, and also the challenges to be faced
by those who will be providing care and services to that population. And since that
time, guided by its Christian values and vision, Methodist Homes has progressively
positioned itself to dramatically alter, both physically and operationally, its two
largest communities, Fair Haven in Birmingham, and Wesley Manor in Dothan.
The national senior housing community, including our Methodist Homes, grew
out of the “medical models” of the 1950’s. Although well intended, these models
focused primarily on systems and practices designed to enhance the delivery of
standardized care. Methodist Homes, under the leadership of the Board of Trustees
of Methodist Homes of Alabama and Northwest Florida, has joined a select few
providers nationwide on a journey away from this old model of care toward a person-centered model of care, which focuses instead on the quality of each individual
resident’s life. We are proud of the wisdom and foresight our Board of Trustees has
shown in placing us on this path.
Once completed, Fair Haven and Wesley Manor will be national centers of quality and attention with respect to physical plant and operational standards. The
campuses will feature larger living spaces, more opportunities for modern dining
options, entertainment, art, physical health, medical and dental clinics, strengthened
strategic alliances with institutions such as the University of Alabama at Birmingham, and countless other features and amenities. More importantly, in a dramatic
departure from what is the national standard in senior nursing care, private rooms
will be the rule, instead of the exception. All of these resident-focused programs
and services will enhance the quality of life for every resident, family and staff
member who live, visit and work in these new communities. Fair Haven and
Wesley Manor’s departure from the old standard of care will enable us to honor the
legacy of those whose vision and commitment made Methodist Homes the great
organization it is today, and enhance our ability to meet our Christian mission to
serve and care for those who have come before us.
For more than 50 years, Methodist Homes has continually grown and furthered its
ministry not only in Birmingham and Dothan, but also to the corners of Alabama
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and northwest Florida. During this time, the ministry has grown to include 13 different communities, serving more than 1,100 residents every day. The Methodist
Homes family has grown to approximately 800 staff members who bring compassion and the “touch of God’s love” to each person they serve.
As our operational focus continues to be on enriching lives through quality, personcentered service, we recognize daily that many of our residents have exhausted
their resources and are unable to pay for the care they receive. Thankfully, through
our Methodist connections we have remained faithful to our Wesleyan heritage and
have never asked a person to leave a Methodist Homes community because of an
inability to pay. This practice has been made possible through the Fountain of Love
program, which is funded by the generosity of churches and individuals, including many Methodist Homes staff members. During 2012, the Fountain of Love
provided more than $418,000 in financial support to 38 individuals. This support
is provided confidentially in order to ensure each person’s financial security, while
maintaining his or her dignity. Continued support of the Fountain of Love program
is vital for many of our aging seniors. Without it many would face options that are
simply untenable.
I know you share particular excitement and pride in all that has been and will be
accomplished by the Methodist Homes organization. The residents, families, Board
of Trustees, and staff members thank you for your continued support of this everimportant mission.
Christopher W. Tomlin
President & CEO
BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Class of 2013 (expiring 2016)		
Mrs. Marty Clark				
Dr. Chris Eckert
Mr. James P. Hall
Dr. Douglas C. Newton
Mr. Tommy Peacock
Mrs. Betty Salter

Class of 2011 (expiring 2014)
Mr. Steve McClellan

The Ark
It’s a “new day” at The Ark! Too long hindered by declining participation, lost revenues and uncertainty of direction, things are changing in new and exciting ways!
Under the leadership of a refocused and re-energized Board of Directors and a new
Director, prospects for a bright future are shaping up well!
The summer of 2012 hosted the last of the summer youth groups to stay at The Ark
and the conclusion of the “Two By Two” ministry. Our renewed vision of “Outreach to the local community by making God’s presence known on the Beach” is
gaining traction.
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The Ark has provided a permanent home for Food4Kidz, a children’s charity whose
mission it is to eradicate child hunger in Bay County. Food4Kidz is a non-profit
organization which operates a full-service food bank including meats, produce,
breads, dairy products, canned and dry goods as well as a mobile pantry program.
This ministry is a year-round initiative and, to date, has distributed more than 32
tons of food to families with children who are in need. Appointments with heads of
household are booked in advance and the clients are able to shop in a private, confidential setting. Clients are mostly victims of the economic downturn who need a
“helping hand” while looking for employment, recovering from unexpected illness
or disability. In many cases, Food4Kidz has assisted them in finding jobs, housing and other needed resources through local referral sources as well as spiritual
encouragement and a Christian witness.
The pews from the Chapel have been removed and donated to the Soul’s Chapel
UMC, located in Geiger, Alabama. The Church was one that was completely destroyed by the April 2011 tornadoes. The Chapel now is able to function as a multiple use facility, from a worship center to classroom space even staging a concert. It
has long been under utilized but has now become an important part of the new Ark
campus and its ministry. We anticipate joyously how it can now be used to develop
deep and meaningful relationships within the community, our winter ministries and
especially the ministry to our J1 students.
The motel rooms have undergone some improvements, including removing the old
“built-in” bunk bed frames and freeing up needed space. Small refrigerators, microwaves, basic furniture and cable TV have been added as well. This has enabled
The Ark to rent rooms on a monthly basis to working individuals as temporary
housing while they transition to more permanent housing.
The outer office area is now the “hospitality room” where a computer, printer and
office services are available for job searches and other assistance as needed for our
transitional residents.
Much needed painting on building exteriors is continuing with great success. The
Ark now has a “cleaner, fresher” appearance as much of the dark color is disappearing. The grounds have been improved with the addition of flowerbed plantings as
well as new mulch, mowing and edging. The sidewalks and other surfaces have
been pressure washed all combined to enhance the curb appeal.
To welcome the Winter Ministry and our “Snowbirds”, a refurbishing of the Center
Dorm was accomplished this fall. Fresh paint, additional furniture and equipment were added to meet the needs of our guests. This was necessary as the front
building of The Ark, which formerly housed the Winter Ministry, is currently being
remodeled for the launch of our new Coffee Shop!
The Coffee Shop promises to be a huge part of The Ark’s “new and improved”
outreach to the local community, as well as visitors to Panama City Beach from all
over the country and the world! It will be a great Christian hang-out with delicious
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environmentally friendly and socially responsible coffee, scheduled singing and
special bible studies that will challenge and share the story of the Gospels.
The upstairs apartment, located over The Ark’s main building, has recently been
improved to welcome the sponsor and Director of the international student work/
study program hosted at the Ark. It is commonly referred to as the “J-1” program
due to the type of Visa issued by the US Government. Old bunk bed frames were
removed, walls and concrete floors painted, furniture and linens added and a thorough cleaning as well. The first wave of students is set to arrive on or about March
5th. In total The Ark will host about 100 young students during the high season
from around the world. Countries such as Russia, China, South America and Thailand just to name a few.
We also will be improving the residential house in preparation for the arrival of the
J-1 students. The yard has been brought up to speed. Inside we will paint the bed
frames, rework the bathrooms and a of course a good thorough cleaning will ensue.
The Winter Ministry has been very active and has received several write-ups in the
News Herald. An especially popular story featured one of our members who makes
“Freedom Pins” from spent shell casings. Many veterans and families of fallen
heroes have called to request to purchase one. The woodshop has been a great success, as well as numerous classes from computer technology to pine needle basket
weaving. A series of socials and an extremely successful Craft Fair are just some of
the activities enjoyed by our winter residents.
The Ark is continuing to update a new website, ongoing public relations initiatives
and community participation activities. We have been featured on Clear Channel
Radio, Channel 7’s “Mom’s Everyday.Com” and the News Herald regularly. We
will continue to listen to what God calls us to do with our special place on PCB and
spread His Good Word every chance we get!
Submitted by,
Steve Rascoe
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairperson: Rev. Steve Rascoe
Vice Chairperson: Mike Bennett
Treasurer: Rosemary Stewart
Secretary: Cameron Winton
Class of 2013:, Rosemary Stewart, Rev. Starr Olivo, Rob Talent
Class of 2014: Joe Rudolph, Matt Meridith, Mike Bennet, Rev. Dan Godwin,
Rev. Steve Rascoe
Class of 2015: Tanner Michael, Rev. Cathy Byrd, Rick Brigman, Cameron Winton
Ex-Officio Members (with vote)
UMW Representative:
District Superintendent: Rev. Gary Daniel
Conference Representative: Rev. Neil McDavid
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Marianna/Panama City District lay-leader: Juddy Stevenson
Winter Ministry Chairperson: Elizabeth Culpitt
Ex-Officio Member (without vote): Executive Director: Bobbi Brigman

United Methodist Children’s Home (UMCH)
Brothers and Sisters in Christ,
In April 2012, I responded to God’s call and an offer from Rick Batson, UMCH
Search Committee Chair, to lead our beloved United Methodist Children’s Home.
I began my work with UMCH on May 16th and have relished every moment since.
We have the greatest mission any organization could aspire to carry out: To follow
the example of Christ by caring for all God’s children – one child, one family at a
time.
UMCH, as it currently stands, has a unique blend of strengths and challenges. I
have found over the past year that have I have been encouraged by our strengths
and energized by our challenges. The strengths of UMCH are as follows:
Strengths:
• UMCH has a divine mission to restore childhoods and preserve families
that United Methodists in the AL/West Florida Annual Conference have
faithfully supported for 123 years.
• UMCH is overwhelmingly recognized as a leader and innovator in child
welfare by professionals in Alabama and Northwest Florida, offering the
highest level of care as indicated by our accreditation by the Council on
Accreditation.
• UMCH enjoys broad support from two strong United Methodist
Conferences and faithful individual donors that recognize the importance
of caring for abandoned, abused, and neglected children, as well as the
health of families as a whole.
However, UMCH is not without its challenges. I’d like to focus on three particular
challenges and how we will be addressing them in the coming months and years.
These challenges are systemic and interdependent, and you will notice that they almost exclusively involve UMCH’s group home ministry. These challenges must be
addressed thoughtfully and promptly for the sake of both UMCH and the children
and families we serve.
Challenges:
• Over the years, UMCH has become completely organized in the delivery
of its group home ministry around state contracts and funding. Yet, the
states of Alabama and Florida have continued to cut funding for group
home care of children drastically. Our staff recently visited with our sister
United Methodist Children’s Home of the South Georgia Conference in
Macon, Georgia. The state of Georgia contracts with their home at a rate
of $108 per child per day for basic group home ministry. The state of
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Alabama, however, only reimburses our Children’s Home at a rate of
$11.80 per child per day for these same children.* This results in UMCH
having to subsidize these 8 homes under state contracts to the staggering
tune of $1.7 million annually. Clearly, this is not a sustainable arrangement
for carrying out our mission.
UMCH’s contracts with the states of Alabama and Florida are the over
whelming method of child placement in our group homes. The state’s
child welfare system is predicated on a philosophy of placing the child in
the least restrictive environment, rather than on a philosophy of
permanence that would assist an organization like UMCH to “raise the
child.” This results in an average length of stay with UMCH of
approximately 12 to 15 months. This makes it difficult for UMCH to have
a long-term impact on the child’s upbringing and life course. In addition,
children don’t get attached to UMCH as they used to, and thus, don’t
become ambassadors that create good will toward UMCH.
UMCH’s group home ministry is spread across the entire state of Alabama
and Northwest Florida. We have group homes in Florence, Scottsboro,
Tuscaloosa, Birmingham, Headland, Mobile, Crestview, and Milton. We
are called to serve the families and children of both of these great
conferences of Methodism and we have every intention of continuing to
do so. However, the wide dispersion of group homes across such a large
geographical area is challenging in at least two significant ways – cost
effectiveness and organizational consistency.

As mentioned above, the major challenges we face at UMCH center around how
we deliver our group home ministry. How we deliver group home ministry has major implications for the children in our care and UMCH as an organization – financially, culturally, and spiritually. Yet, UMCH is committed now more than ever to
this aspect of ministry that has been so important to our identity and mission since
1890. What must we do to effectively address these challenges?
The first thing we must do is listen to you, our United Methodist Churches. You are
the body of Christ that gives UMCH life. As we engage in a new phase of strategic
planning in fall 2013, we will enlist your thoughts, ideas, and feedback in an organized and systematic manner.
The second thing we must do is realize that we cannot meet these challenges on our
own. We must seek creative new partnerships in ministry with other like-minded
and like-missioned organizations. We must look to leverage our resources with
them in ways that maximize the impact of every penny God has provided. Through
such anointed partnerships, we will find ways to care for more children, at higher
care levels, with more eternal impact, in a more cost-effective manner.
Finally, we must move back toward an emphasis on stability and attachment for our
children with at least a portion of our group homes. We must do more to facilitate
adoptions, and we must find ways to care for children longer in our basic care
group homes if family reunification isn’t possible. Children need stability and
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permanent attachment. Temporary care – whether in group homes or through foster
families – certainly has an important place in the continuum of child welfare, and
we will continue to offer these services. But there are large numbers of children that
still need a ministry like UMCH to raise them up in the way of our Lord. UMCH
needs to find ways to return to that aspect of our heritage, whether the states will
fund this change or not. It’s who God called us to be many years ago and we can’t
afford not to do it.**
Despite these challenges, I am filled with hope for the future of this great ministry
and the children and families we will serve. I am filled with hope because of you,
our United Methodist Churches. I stand in awe of your commitment to the hurting
and forgotten children of Alabama and Northwest Florida. You remind our staff
daily of the powerful truth of James 1:27 – “Religion that is pure and undefiled
before God, the Father, is this: to visit orphans and widows in their affliction, and to
keep oneself unstained from the world.”
Grace and Peace,
K. Blake Horne, Ph.D.
President/CEO
The United Methodist Children’s Home of Alabama and Northwest Florida
*The state of Florida has a per diem rate of $55 per day for child placement. However, UMCH is not allowed to bill Medicaid for any services in these group homes,
which actually results in UMCH subsidizing our Florida group homes at a higher
rate than our Alabama group homes.
**Steps are already underway to move toward stability and attachment in two of
our group homes in the North Alabama Conference. Through funding provided
by the Mary Whetstone Knabe Estate, and through formal agreements with the
University of Alabama and the University of North Alabama, we will transform
our Tuscaloosa and Florence group homes solely for the purpose of providing a
college education for our children and other foster children in the areas we serve.
Our Tuscaloosa group home will provide this opportunity for college boys, and our
Florence group home will provide this opportunity for college girls.
By focusing our higher education efforts exclusively with the Tuscaloosa and Florence group homes, we believe our kids will have higher graduation rates and more
fulfilling college experiences. We will have more young people in our care for
longer periods of time at a very important time in their life. We also know that the
conversion of these homes will lighten the current drawdown rate on our unrestricted endowment by more prudently using what God has already provided through the
generosity of his saints.
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UNITED METHODIST CHILDREN’S HOME BOARD OF TRUSTEES
(Incorporated February 5, 1891)
(Elected by the Conference)
Chairperson: Terry McCartney
Vice Chairperson: Jerry Maygarden
Secretary: Maurine Johnston
Treasurer: Dr. T. Michael Morgan (North Alabama Conference)
Honorary Members:
The Resident Bishop: Bishop Paul L. Leeland
Representing the UMW: Jo Anne Minnitt (North Alabama Conference)
Representing the UMM: John Croft
Term to Expire 2013:
Term to Expire 2014:
Term to Expire 2015:
Term to Expire 2016:
Term to Expire 2017:

Jerry Maygarden (2009), Mark Saliba (2012)
Rev. Jackie Slaughter (2010), Rev. Leigh Meekins (2010)
Maurine Johnston (2007)
TBD

Effective until July 1, 2013

annual conference

— 2013

211

UNITED METHODIST CHILDREN'S HOME
FINANCIAL REPORT
OPERATING REVENUES:

ACTUAL 2012

ANNUAL BUDGET
2013

663,186
Alabama-West Florida Conference
398,509
North Alabama Conference
360,366
Individual Contributions
24,965
Consolidated Federal Campaign
4,404
State Combined Campaign
160,287
Living Tributes
Board Giving/Getting
Corporate/Foundation Giving
1,010,956
Endowment Income Transfers at 6%
Restricted Drawdowns for Scholarships
Designated Contributions
87,416
10,250
Alabama-West Florida Foundation
352
North-Alabama Foundation-Ware
1,499
T.S. Huff Trust
1,375
Fuel Tax Refund
500
Servants Like Jesus Grant
16,043
Alabama-West Florida Foundation-Skinner Est.

190,000

SUB-TOTAL

2,740,108

3,222,328

Rents and Miscellaneous
Adoption Income

304,080

308,359

21,259

40,000

SUB-TOTAL

325,339

348,359

Received for Board on Private Placements
State Contracts- Florida
State Contracts- Alabama
Medicaid Income - Residential
Medicaid Income - Therapeutic Foster Care
SUB-TOTAL

TOTAL AGENCY REVENUE

-

799,050
426,300
306,315
25,000
5,000
173,250
25,000
50,000
996,696
120,104
89,600
10,243
400
1,500
1,870
2,000

-

387,883

390,000

1,011,086

905,249

669,828

685,579

568,442

777,443

2,637,239

2,758,271

5,702,686

6,328,958
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UNITED METHODIST CHILDREN'S HOME
FINANCIAL REPORT
OPERATING EXPENSES:

ACTUAL 2012

MINISTRY HEADQUARTERS
Administrative Office
Marketing & External Affairs
Development Office
COO,Regional Offices, Director of Spiritual Care
Florence Group Home
Scottsboro Group Home
Delchamps (Mobile) Group Home
The Settlement (Dothan Group Home)
Birmingham Group Home
Gulf Coast Group Home
Crestview Group Home
Florida Foster Care
Therapeutic Foster Care
FOCUS
CFSS
Tuscaloosa Group Home
FAMILY AID
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
PLANT FUND APPROPRIATION
TOTAL EXPENDITURES
Net Surplus/(Deficit)
SCHOLARSHIP

NOTE: All figures are unaudited.

ANNUAL BUDGET
2013

844,553

885,877

283,654

250,396

71,002

227,046

355,126

467,001

300,215

235,001

280,734

317,177

238,305

343,155

353,781

438,836

255,041

346,150

296,099

305,781

464,516

498,752

70,933

71,041

711,677

887,607

594,983

632,414

73,674

-

405,625

371,725

2,550

5,000

5,602,468

6,282,958

8,692

46,000

5,611,160

6,328,958

91,527
13,234

(0)
-
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United Methodist Connectional Federal Credit Union
2012 was another great year for your Credit Union. We continued to enjoy growth
in membership and assets and our capital base remained strong. We also took a
giant step and made the decision to change our Credit Union’s name to United
Methodist Connectional Federal Credit Union. Your board and management feel
that this name better reflects the entire membership as it stands today and includes
all of our members whether they are located in Georgia, Florida, Alabama or anywhere throughout the U.S.
Our other achievements include:
• Completed entry into social media and now present on Twitter and
Facebook.
• Revamp of our web site to better reflect our new name and updated
products and services.
• Four $1000.00 college scholarships were awarded to members ages 17 24 of the Florida, North Georgia, South Georgia and Alabama-West
Florida Conferences.
• We continue to stay involved in community affairs throughout the areas
we serve participating in golf tournaments, gifts to children’s homes and
much more.
• We have seen an increase in the number of members participating in all of
your Credit Union’s planned activities.
Of course, we once again have to thank our staff for all of the great work they
continue to do. I also want to thank my fellow board members, and the other
volunteers that helped make 2012 another great year for your Credit union. Most
importantly, however, I want to thank you, our members, for continuing to do
business with your credit union.
Throughout the years, your Board of Directors has adopted strategies for short and
long-term goals that insured our future development and growth. We will continue
to do what is necessary to maintain this strong financial picture. And, by the way,
I’d like to ask every member who reads this report and understands the value we
bring to our members’ financial lives to tell other eligible friends and family about
us and encourage them to join.
We’re Safe. We’re Secure. We Are Your Credit Union!
James R. Mitchell, Chairman
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Summary as of 12/31/11

Summary as of 12/31/12

Cash
Loans To Members
Loan Participation
Allowance for Loan Losses
Other Receivables
Investments
Accrued Income
Prepaid Exp & Defer Charges
Fixed Assets
All Other Assets

$394,395.09
$16,884,053.64
$1,120,843.45
-$148,411.60
$0.00
$7,610,766.09
$74,422.08
$22,377.21
$549,716.59
$89,042.57

$435,151.49
$16,579,189.30
$1,321,960.83
-$122,087.32
$0.00
$8,390,473.30
$69,997.67
$23,265.58
$550,083.35
$89,042.57

Total Assets

$26,597,205.12

$27,337,076.77

Accounts Payable
Dividends Payable
Notes Payable
Taxes Payable
Accrued Expenses
Deferred Credits
Other Liabilities

$191.71
$0.00
$0.00
$83.33
$40,015.53
$0.00
$6,033.49

$7,326.33
$0.00
$0.00
$148.88
$25,395.12
$0.00
$12,647.27

Total Liabilities

$46,324.06

$45,517.60

Shares of Members
Reserves
Undivided Earnings
Net Income

$24,194,535.64
$682,937.04
$1,593,033.11
$80,375.27

$24,834,218.09
$682,937.04
$1,673,408.38
$100,995.66

Total Equity

$26,550,881.06

$27,291,559.17

Total Liabilities & Equity

$26,597,205.12

$27,337,076.77

Liabilities

Equity
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Summary as of 12/31/11

Summary as of 12/31/12

Interest on Loans
Income on Investments
Fees & Charges
Other Operating Income

$1,097,985.81
$48,277.85
$123,467.75
$61,314.57

$1,109,538.86
$52,367.26
$164,236.71
$64,778.31

Operating Income

$1,331,045.98

$1,390,921.14

Compensation
Employee Benefits
Travel & Conference
Association Dues
Office Occupancy
Office Operations
Education & Promotion
Loan Servicing
Prof & Outside
Provision for Loan Losses
Member Insurance
Federal Operating Fee
Interest on Borrowed
Cash Short/Over
Annual Meeting
Miscellaneous

$387,610.84
$120,721.17
$60,845.35
$17,449.00
$44,030.20
$102,566.74
$52,770.51
$44,813.60
$164,562.88
$4,500.00
$56,250.09
$5,328.49
$3.00
-$12.49
$6,500.00
$6,046.27

$440,457.13
$135,157.45
$64,888.69
$18,018.00
$42,168.61
$113,672.64
$59,647.95
$35,064.07
$188,591.65
$14,000.00
$13,531.21
$5,999.27
$0.00
-$91.85
$5,300.00
$4,520.99

Total Operating Expenses

$1,073,985.65

$1,140,925.81

$257,060.33
$257,060.33
$176,685.06

$249,995.33
$249,995.33
$148,999.67

$0.00

$0.00

$80,375.27

$100,995.66

Operating Expenses

Income From Operations
Income Before Dividends
Dividends
Gain/(Loss) on Assets
Net Income
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United Methodist Development Foundation, Inc.
The Alabama-West Florida United Methodist Foundation is your connection for
financial, endowment and investment services for the Conference. We have been
providing financial services to guide and strengthen the local churches and agencies
in order to fund many different but vital ministries across the Conference. During
times of financial uncertainty, our churches are finding great support and many
resources available through the Foundation that provides relief and a plan for future
financial health.
In 2012 the Foundation assisted in opening 44 new accounts totaling approximately
$1.2 million, representing all types of funds. From scholarships to housing funds,
to building and “general use” funds, the Foundation will not only provide investment management of these funds, but we will also provide the accounting and
administrative services for easy reporting back to the local committees responsible.
The Foundation’s extensive accounting and investment management experience are
just a few reasons for our continued growth in partnerships. As of this writing, the
Foundation manages assets totaling $69.5 million with an extensive cash flow of
income back into the church for ministry.
Investment performance of the Foundation’s diversified funds has proven the success strategy of steady, quality investments over time. With the help of our Investment Committee and our contracted investment consultant, returns are solid and
socially screened per The Book of Discipline. Our Investment Committee has this
year further diversified our investments in order to provide downside protection
and higher income. Our churches are looking to provide solid long-term returns on
investments in order to avoid the risk associated with historically low interest rates.
We are grateful to all of our church partners for the good stewardship they have
shown in managing long-term funds. We also are thankful for the opportunity to
assist those donors who established funds to benefit your church or favorite U.M.
ministry. Many donors are utilizing the Foundation’s ability to offer Charitable Gift
Annuities as a way of making a gift at death, but retaining a cash stream from the
asset until death. The Foundation director is available to make a presentation to
your church group on any of these topics.
On behalf of the staff and Board of Directors, we say thank you for the opportunity
to serve you in a way that is unique and yet vital to future ministry. The Board of
Directors unanimously endorses and recommends the following board and officers.
Lany Simmons, President
Terri H. Turner, Executive Director
Officers:
President: Lany Simmons
Vice-President: Aubrey Stabler
Treasurer: Herbert Barr
Executive Director: Terri Turner
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CLASS 2013
Chris Beam, John Bullard, Phyllis Cleaver, Laureen Lynn, Harry Nelson, Mike
Norris, Tom Norris, Robert Powers, Jeff Sessions, Talana Wilkins and Jerry Patee.
CLASS 2014
Tommy Boyd, Ross Cotter, Gene Floore, James Hall, Aubrey Stabler, Mike Tucker,
Chris Doggett, Dick Hall, Jerry Maygarden.
CLASS 2015
Herbert Barr, Harold Faulkner, Lany Simmons, Jon Heath, George Mingledorff,
Jeff Outlaw, Eric Canada, Earl Jackson, Bill Hill, Ken Hundley Sr., Beebe
Frederick.
Ex-Officio Members: Resident Bishop, District Superintendents and Conference
Lay Leader.

United Methodist Development Fund
The United Methodist Development Fund for our Conference provides sources
of financing for church and church organizations’ building projects, renovation
projects and property purchases. In 2012 the Development Fund partnered with
five churches to provide first mortgage loans for various projects. These loans
totaled $688,193. In 2013 we have already approved three additional loans totaling $2,420,000 and included the loan for the new Conference Headquarters. These
loans are made possible by deposits made from local churches, agencies and church
members looking for both competitive rates on liquid funds and the opportunity to
participate in church building and growth.
Any church or individual can invest in the United Methodist Development Fund
accounts. Applications are available through the United Methodist Foundation office or on our web page, www.alwfumf.org. Interest earned on the deposits may be
mailed to you as frequently as quarterly or reinvested into the same.
Loans through the Development Fund are only offered on a first mortgage basis
or by assigning assets already held through the United Methodist Foundation. The
Development Fund does not charge points or closing costs for establishing a loan;
however there are certain filing requirements. The Development Fund staff works
diligently to respond promptly to the needs of the church and works as a consultant
to determine the financial impact on the church of the debt amount. For information on rates and availability of funds please call Terri Turner at (334)793-6820.
We appreciate the hard work of our Board of Directors and their commitment to
providing the services vital to church growth in our Conference.
Leon Hilyer, President
Terri H. Turner, Executive Director
President: Leon Hilyer
Vice-President: Henry Hooks
Executive Director: Terri H. Turner
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Board of Directors: Leon Hilyer, Henry Hooks, Steve McCarroll, Clay Carnathan
Conference Treasurer: Frank S. Dunnewind
Conference Missions Secretary: Susan Hunt
Conference Lay Leader: Dr. Steve Furr
Resident Bishop: Bishop Paul L. Leeland
U.M. Foundation President: Harold Faulkner
Cabinet Representative: Rev. Dan Morris

conference missions and minstries
Alabama Rural Ministry (ARM)
Goals for 2012
1) Tuskegee Methodist Renovation		
4) Fundraisers: $30,000
2) Successful ARM summer mission camps 5) Strategic Plan Development
3) Special events MADD & MLK
We had a wonderful year in 2012 and saw great improvements in overall growth.
Two important aspects of ministry have been the addition of two full time paid staff
positions. We welcome Kimberly Dixon who is our director of camps and Stephen
Albritton our new construction coordinator. Both come with great energy, excitement, and a passion to serve!
ARM has partnered with Tuskegee Methodist Church in an ongoing renovation
plan and ministry plan that is oriented towards community development. Together,
we are working with the local community, Tuskegee University, and Tuskegee
Wesley Foundation to repair the roof, flooring, and renovate classrooms for use as
multipurpose rooms. The AU landscape architecture students have developed plans
to use the green space surrounding the church for community gardening sites. This
past spring, we installed a new metal roof over the existing education wing. We are
excited about how the church and mission hub will allow us more flexibility and
space for various mission and ministry opportunities with the Tuskegee Community.
We had 32 work teams and 631 volunteers this year allowing us to serve 41 families through home repair. Our two day camps not only hosted over 50 children
but extended into after school ministries as well. ARM partnered with I Am My
Brothers’ Keeper in Tuskegee to provide space for an afterschool tutoring ministry.
In Livingston, one of our summer day camp staff continued a mentoring ministry in
partnership with the University of West Alabama Wesley Foundation. This summer,
our board set a goal to give all of our day camp children a book per week-over 600
books! We coordinated an online book drive allowing us to receive nearly 1000
books that we gave to our kids to help them grow their own libraries at home! What
a great way to help kids!!! Our summer theme was called Survivors. The children
studied several different Bible characters and historical figures that were survivors
during their time.
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Our special events such as Make A Difference Day and Martin Luther King Weekend continue to help us provide opportunities to serve with our families. During the
MLK weekend, ARM not only partners with local community volunteers in serving
but we also plan a community worship that brings all of us together to praise God!
Make A Difference Day (MADD) is especially meaningful this year as we have
been selected as one of ten organizations nationally to receive a $10,000 grant for
our service. We are grateful to the Tuskegee Wesley Foundation for serving as the
design team for MADD and helping us coordinate this large volunteer day!
Fundraisers like Cycle of Service and Lisa in the Shack help us not only raise funds
but raise awareness. Cycle of Service is a bike ride across Alabama taking three
days. This past year we had a total of ten riders and raised over $26,000. Lisa in the
Shack is an eight day event where Lisa lives in a shack to replicate poverty housing. This year local ministers from the Auburn/Opelika area also lived in a shack
for a 24-hour time period. Steve Bass, youth director from Trinity UMC Opelika,
Rusty Hutson and Josh Agerton from Cornerstone, George Mathison, Charles
Cummings, and Keith Foster from Auburn UMC gave of their time and comforts
to help out. Their efforts helped us raise $31,000 and also increased our volunteer
base.
Finally, our Board of Directors completed a three to five year strategic plan to help
us discern and plan where God is leading us. We are excited about the vision for the
future and the families and children we will touch with God’s grace. A few of the
goals we have set:
1) To expand our day camps to reach 150 children in each location
(Livingston and Tuskegee);
2) Increase our home repair capacity to 70 homes per year and partner with
local municipalities; and
3) Develop a mobile mission camp that comes to your community and helps
set up home repair.
Finally, ARM celebrates our 15th year of ministry in 2013. We have made it this
far because of you! As we plan for summer 2014, bring a team and serve with us
or allow us to come do a poverty workshop with your church. We would love to
pass on our lessons learned and help you serve with families in your community
who are under resourced and longing for the hope of Jesus and the fellowship of his
servants. Thanks again!
Grace and peace,
Lisa Pierce
Alabama Rural Ministry Board of Directors - 2013
Class of 2013
304-A Clemmie St., Tuskegee, AL 36088
Nicole Beasley 		
Robin Duke
		
1227 Ferndale Drive, Auburn, AL 36832- Vice Chair
Rick Wheatley 		
1607 Leo Lane, Opelika, AL 36801
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Class of 2014
Paul Grisham 		
262 Lee Rd. 48, Opelika, AL 36804
Mike Martin 		
228 Belmonte Dr., Auburn, AL36830- Treasurer
Jennifer Jones 		
289 Solamere Lane, Auburn, AL 36830
Lois Curtis
		
635 Seminole Street, Auburn, AL 36830
Randy Stephens 		
1980 Hillbrook Circle, Auburn, AL 36830
Roland Vaughn 		
P.O. Box 830248, Tuskegee, AL 36803
Class of 2015
P.O. Box 1955, Auburn, AL 36831- Secretary
Andi Longest 		
1512 Stuart Circle, Auburn, AL 36830
Ben Farrow 		
2684 Bent Creek Rd, Auburn, AL 36830
Wylin Wilson 		
1512 Malone Court, Auburn, AL 36830- Chair
Jennifer Chambliss
563 S. College Street ,Auburn, AL 36830
Paul Scrantz 		
1963 Rockledge Court, Auburn, AL 36830
Emily Stutzman Jones
Class of 2016
615 S. Dean Rd., Auburn, AL. 36830
Dara Hosey		
Scott Middleton
934 Park Lane Rd., Auburn, AL. 36830
117 Kimberly Rd., Auburn, AL. 36830
Jimmy Aulner		
702 Groce Street ,Opelika, AL. 36801
Thor Burke		
902 S. Main Street, Tuskegee, AL. 36083
Joanna Pearson		
Page Ledbetter		
471 Dumas Dr., Auburn, AL. 36801
1658 Olivia Way ,Auburn, AL. 36830
Stephen Summers
Ex-Officio:
Bishop Paul Leeland			
Ron Ball - Montgomery/Opelika District
Sheila Bates John Bonner-Demopolis District			
Tuskegee Wesley Foundation
Gillian Walters Susan Hunt - Conference Office		
						UWA Wesley Foundation
					David Goolsby 						AU Wesley Foundation

Dumas Wesley Community Center

							
Introduction
The Dumas Wesley Community Center (DWCC) is a neighborhood based nonprofit organization located in the Crichton community of Mobile, Alabama. DWCC
was founded in 1903, by the Woman’s Society of Christian Service (present day
United Methodist Women). The agency’s original mission was to serve poor
women and children who worked in the cotton mills of the Crichton community.
Over the years DWCC evolved to meet the changing needs of the community,
becoming a multi-service center offering after school programs, senior services,
neighborhood outreach, transportation services and transitional housing for homeless women and their children.
The majority of households served by the Center are headed by single mothers with
an average household income of less than $12,000 per year. Of those served
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directly by DWCC, 69% are low-income and approximately 95% are ethnic
minority.
Mission Statement
The mission of the Dumas Wesley Community Center (DWCC) of Mobile, Alabama is to EDUCATE, EMPOWER and ENRICH our local community through
collaborative programs that: provide for immediate human needs, strengthen family
life, develop leadership and encourage personal responsibility.
Neighborhood Outreach
The intent of our Neighborhood Outreach and Advocacy program is to implement
and foster trust and belief in the residents of Crichton, thus serving as a catalyst for
the advocacy and betterment of the community. Our major goals are:
• Rehabilitation of family life through education and services that enhance
awareness of the needs of self, other family members and neighbors.
• Improve the lives of disadvantaged and underserved area youth,
families and senior citizens by ensuring adequate nutrition, healthcare,
preventative education, and referrals to area social service agencies and
resources
• A renewal of community interest in the neighborhood as a place of pride,
resulting in increased personal self-esteem and security in the home
environment
Youth Programs
The After School Achievement Program (ASAP) provides a safe environment for
community youth to participate in age-appropriate activities. Specific programs
include:
• Sports - Teens participate in church and city basketball leagues each year.
• “Safe Haven” Daily Recreation - This program gives our community
youth a safe place to go after school. We offer two game rooms, outside
play and basketball.
• Summer Recreation and Camp – Our summer recreation program offers
sports, arts and crafts, a variety of field trips, and a week-long camping
experience at Camp Blue Lake.
• Tutoring – Provides weekly tutoring assistance for program participants of
all ages.
• Computer lab- Provides weekly supervised access to our computer lab for
homework studies, college prep work and games.
• Music Lessons: Provides weekly piano and choir classes for youth.
Sybil H. Smith Family Village Transitional Housing Program
The Sybil H. Smith Family Village transitional housing program began serving
homeless women and their children in July, 1999. To date, the Center has served
over 350 women and children from seven Alabama counties, the Mississippi coast
area and the Florida panhandle. This unique program provides homeless families
with the tools to establish and maintain self-sufficiency. It combines transitional
housing of up to 24 months with on-site support services as well as referrals to
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other community agencies and institutions. 80 percent of our clients successfully
complete the program, become gainfully employed, and remain in permanent housing. This percentage is well above the national average for similar transitional housing programs.
Each woman participating in DWCC’s Transitional Housing Program:
• will be provided the opportunity to learn the life skills necessary to
become independent and obtain permanent housing for herself and her
minor children within two years;
• will complete an on-site Life Skills/Employment Readiness Curriculum;
• will be assessed and referred as quickly as possible to all mainstream
community resources in accordance with the mandate of Congress that all
homeless individuals have access to such resources as expeditiously as
possible;
will be required to be working and/or attending school and/or in a job
•
training program at least 25 hours per week, within three months of entry
into the transitional program;
•
will be provided with on-site group counseling and substance abuse after
care group counseling
• will be required to save at least 30% of her income while in transitional
living in order to have necessary financial resources to transition into and
remain in permanent housing;
• will set specific personal goals regarding her employment, education,
health, finances, personal development, and the needs of her children, and
will meet those goals in a timely manner. A case manager will monitor
the setting and attainment of those goals on a weekly basis;
• will learn to become an advocate for herself and her children; and,
• will become an active community participant by becoming a registered
voter, joining and participating in local community and neighborhood
advocacy groups, and volunteering in her church, community and local
service agencies.
Senior SAIL Program
The Dumas Wesley Senior Activities for Independent Living (SAIL) Program provides seniors age 60 and over with dependable transportation to medical appointments and with activities through a daily senior outreach program.
Transportation: The purpose of the program is to provide seniors with transportation to doctors, hospitals and other health facilities. There is no set fee, but donations are accepted. Seventy-nine percent of those served live alone and are dependent upon Dumas Wesley for this much needed service. Transportation is also
provided to Dumas Wesley’s S.A.I.L. program daily.
Senior Activities for Independent Living (S.A.I.L.) - provides daily activities
Monday through Friday for an average of 45 seniors daily. A hot, nutritious meal
is served to 20 seniors at the center, and in addition, meals are transported to 25
homebound seniors. Participants enjoy a variety of activities, including games,
sing-alongs, nutrition education, speakers, health checks and field trips. Trips to
the grocery store are provided one day per week. Information referrals are made on
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health and wellness issues, Medicare, Social Security, Fair Housing and other social
services.
Other Programs:
The Joseph Project: A Community Food Pantry - The Joseph Project, named for
the Joseph story in Genesis 41, is a partnership between the Ashland Place United
Methodist Church and the Dumas Wesley Community Center. Our food pantry is
open to all in need and completely volunteer-supported and operated.
The University of Mobile ENACTUS Clothing Closet - Dumas Wesley Community
Center and The University of Mobile ENACTUS club have partnered together to
open a clothing closest for those in need. The ENACTUS club is part of a larger
worldwide effort to build a network of business professionals and industry leaders
to create positive change in communities through business principles.
Monitoring of Home Day Care Feeding Program - Dumas Wesley staffs the
monitoring of the feeding program in 79 home daycares in Mobile and Washington
Counties.
Wellness Center - In collaboration with the University of South Alabama’s College
of Nursing, a Wellness Center is now located at Dumas Wesley. Classes, health assessments and referrals to medical services are offered free of charge to the families
and individuals served by Dumas Wesley.
Community Gardens - Through a partnership with The Center for Family and Community Development, a new project was started in February: a Children’s Garden,
Youth Garden and Community Garden. The Children and Youth Gardens will
focus on educational activities, while the Community Garden will provide neighborhood residents with a source of fresh fruits and vegetables. Future plans include
nutrition, cooking and canning classes.
Assistance to Refugee and Immigrant Populations - Attorney Perry Noble has
brought pro bono legal services to Dumas Wesley, serving immigrant and refugee
families and individuals.
How can you participate in the ministry of Dumas Wesley Community Center?
As we all face the financial uncertainty of our times, Dumas Wesley will continue
to evaluate and improve our programs and services to assist those who are struggling with loss of employment, homelessness and the personal and familial stress
inherent in these situations. Along with all ministries of the Conference, Dumas
Wesley is experiencing drastic reductions in funding, while the needs of the people
are increasing. We ask for your continued prayers, monetary support and sharing of
your talents and skills through volunteerism. Thank you and God bless!
Yours in Service,
Kate Carver, Executive Director
Dumas Wesley Community Center

Golden Cross
Golden Cross is a special fund of the United Methodist Church. It exists in order
to:
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Respond to the most pressing health care needs.
Allow the local church to give with compassion.
Adhere to the guidelines set forth by the conference.

The Golden Cross represents Christ’s healing presence in a hurting world. As
United Methodists, we are active in and support the ministries of Christian care
by reaching out to those in need. The Golden Cross offering is retained within the
conference where it is received. The conference designates the use of the offering.
The contributions you give to the Alabama-West Florida Conference provide the
opportunity to make available financial aid for medical delinquent expense charges
from a hospital, physician or pharmacy. Golden Cross receives no funds from
apportioned items; the only source of income is from the people of the local
church within our Conference. Please send your offering to the AWF Conference Treasurer.
The First Sunday in May is Golden Cross Sunday. Local churches are encouraged
to give on this day – or any day of their choosing – so that the most urgent requests
can be fulfilled.
Guidelines used to assist those in need:
•
Assistance shall be available for United Methodists of the conference.
Payment toward financial assistance shall be made directly to the hospital,
physicians, or pharmacy.
•
The Director of Golden Cross will provide each applicant with a form that
must be filled out in advance of receiving assistance. It is also available
on the website of the AWF Conference.
•
A copy of the balance with past due, unpaid balances must be provided
with the completed application form.
•
This information is to be returned to the Director of Golden Cross.
Assistance will be granted to a person only upon the recommendation of a
•
pastor or District Superintendent who is in a position to know of the
need or circumstances. Assistance will be granted for a pastor only on the
recommendation of the District Superintendent. Upon receiving a request
from a pastor or District Superintendent, an application form will be sent
to the person needing assistance. The form is to be filled out by the person
or pastor requesting help.
A copy of the past due bills and the completed application form is to be sent to:
Golden Cross Director, Julie Terrell, 4570 Sailboat Lane, Pensacola, FL 32514
The amount of assistance granted to any person shall be limited to a total of
$1,200.00 for any combination of hospital, physician, or pharmacy bills when
funds are available.
Respectfully submitted,
Julie Terrell
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Mary Ellen’s Hearth at Nellie Burge
The Nellie Burge Community Center was formed in 1904 by a group of women
from Court Street Methodist Church to serve the needs of underserved women
with children. Since that time there have been many programs offered by the Nellie Burge Community Center but it has always served the needs of women with
children.
On August 1, 2012 the Nellie Burge Community Center opened Mary Ellen’s
Hearth, a transitional home for homeless mothers and their children. The primary
goal is to foster independence and help the residents to gain the life skills necessary
to prevent future chronic homelessness, and do this in a loving Christian setting.
The women and their children may live at the center for up to two years as long as
they are working towards independence. While living at the center they are trained
in financial literacy, parenting, life skills, nutrition and adult education. They will
find a job and save money so they can live self-sufficiently. Since August 1, 2013
we have received over 100 referrals. We have served fourteen families, including
30 children.
The new program is named after Mary Ellen Bullard. She lived to serve and held
every lay position imaginable within the United Methodist Church from Director of
Christian Education at the local level to Executive Committee of the World Methodist Council. One of her greatest passions in Montgomery was the Nellie Burge
Community Center. The Board of Directors at the Nellie Burge Community Center
is proud to honor her legacy by naming our new ministry Mary Ellen’s Hearth.
Mary Ellen’s Hearth at Nellie Burge provides hope, help and healing to homeless
women and children throughout the River Region. We offer hope by providing life
skills training. We offer help by providing transitional housing. We offer healing through Christian love and support. The goal of Mary Ellen’s Hearth is for
the families we serve to leave us within two years...their dignity and self-respect
restored...prepared for a life of independence.
Please visit us on Facebook© and at www.nellieburge.org
Respectfully submitted,
Debbie Dobbins
Executive Director
NELLIE BURGE COMMUNITY CENTER - BOARD OF DIRECTORS
President, Kim Bullard
Vice President, Guy Davis
Secretary, Joetta Davis
Treasurer, George Mingledorff
Special Events, Harriet Allison
Program Committee, Amelia Barnes
Building and Grounds, Alan Brewer
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Publicity/PR, Paul Klein
Special Events, Theresa Patterson
Advisory Board Chair/Personnel, Julie Weller
Past President, Scott Key
At-Large, Rev. John Blount
Ex Officio, Susan Hunt

Milk and Honey Outreach Ministries
Milk and Honey Outreach Ministries was established in 1992 as a children’s Bible
study program within a low income, inner city housing project. It soon became
apparent that many of the children were having difficulty with reading and faced
many other challenges that were not being addressed by the services that were
being provided. By 1996, the program was incorporated as a community-based
non-profit organization (501C3) and children received after school care, tutoring,
mentoring, and nutrition, in addition to Christian education.
This ministry is an expression of God’s love in the world and serves to bring God’s
healing, hope, and help to people in need. Milk and Honey has partnered with and
been supported by a number of churches including Methodist, Episcopal, Presbyterian, Baptist, and the Protestant Navy Chapel as well as a number of community
and governmental organizations including the City of Pensacola, United Way of
Escambia County, the Department of Juvenile Justice, and the Community Drug
and Alcohol Commission.
By providing services within the neighborhood, by consistent, trusted African
American role models and dedicated volunteers, the program has become a valuable part of the lives of needy children.
Our current programs include:
After-school program: This program provides services to 35 children four times
per week, three hours per day from August to May. Services included academic
tutoring, counseling, computer training and a weekly Bible study. Volunteers help
with basic reading and math skills as well homework assignments. Nutritious
snacks donated by the community are also provided during Bible study. Because
of the closure of the neighborhood school in our target area, we have changed the
hours of operation of our after-school programs to accommodate an extra hour bus
ride experienced by many of our students. Even though the children in our afterschool program live in the same neighborhood within walking distance of each
other, they currently attend six different elementary schools. Our efforts have been
to provide consistent nurturing, support and encouragement to our students and
families during these challenging times as well as academic assistance.
Summer Program: The summer program operates from June to August, Monday- Friday from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. to provide safe, fun, enriching activities in a
Christ-centered atmosphere. Many of the children we serve are from low-income
single-parent families and providing supervised activities during off-school hours
is very important. Children are most at risk to be involved in delinquent activities
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during the after-school hours and school breaks. Our Summer Camp is an opportunity to make a positive difference in their lives. Weekly, an average of 25 students
participate in this program that includes a daily meal provided by the Florida
Impact. A large part of the program involves off-site activities and providing safe,
reliable transportation is the limiting factor in the number of children served by this
program. Activities include horseback riding (equine therapy), swimming lessons,
skating, bowling, and field trips to museums and other places of local interest. We
also provide ongoing Christian education and partner with local churches to provide Vacation Bible School.
Spring Break Camp: This program was initiated in 2003 in partnership with the
Pensacola First United Methodist Church’s Bishops’ Initiative on Children and
Poverty Task Force. Most of the children served by Milk and Honey Outreach
Ministries receive free lunch at school during the academic year and through the
Summer Camp (Florida Impact) during the summer vacation. There was a need
to provide a nutritious lunch during the week-long Spring Break. Similar to the
Summer Break, this is also an opportunity to provide a safe, nurturing place for
children when they are out of school. Activities include a spiritual focus each day
with scripture, music, crafts, and fellowship. In addition, we have character building workshops to deal with issues of anger management, conflict resolution, drug
prevention, etc. and special arts, dance, and sports activities. Approximately 25-30
children (ages 3-15 years old) attend each day.
Girls Embracing a More Excellent Way (GEMS): This program is targeted to African American girls 10-17 years old who are from a single family home and/or from
a high crime neighborhood. Milk and Honey recognizes that girls with the above
background need a support system to ensure successful entry into adolescence. For
many of these girls, there is a family history of teen pregnancy, lack of parental
involvement, peer pressure, for sexual activity, inadequate positive role models,
inadequate communication between children and adults, and large quantities of idle
time. A pilot program was conducted in 2000 and 2001, but the program was discontinued due to a lack of funds. The need for this program is overwhelming and it
was reinstated in 2004. A series of Friday night workshops are scheduled in June,
August, and September. Two sleepovers are scheduled for April and November. In
addition, most Friday nights informal group sessions are held with the girls to discuss issues that they are facing each week. Through these sessions and one-on-one
mentoring with positive role models the girls will learn strategies for effective goal
setting, support for a commitment to a lifestyle of sexual abstinence until marriage,
appropriate methods for interacting with peers and adults, and how to identify their
spiritual gifts.
Seven Angels: This program serves 7 girls (ages 11-14), one time per week (Saturday), three hours per day. The program began in October 2007 and provides
educational training in all aspects of creative production (digital video and audio)
with extensive hands-on experience. It provides the tools necessary for the students
to use in the creative process that could ultimately be the tools of their new career.
This program also helps students realize their potential to change their world in a
positive way. The students also donate their training and mentoring time to young
people in the inner-city. Training is located at Digital Media Education, Pensacola,
Florida.
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Thanksgiving and Christmas: Activities include every family participating in any
program offered to the Kid’s Club. Program provides for Thanksgiving and Christmas food baskets with all the ingredients for a traditional holiday feast including
turkey, dressing, gravy, cranberries, green beans, corn, sweet potatoes, rolls, and
dessert. Each meal is delivered to the household with serving utensils, aluminum
pans, and table decorations. At Christmas (in partnership with other organizations
and individuals) we provide new clothing for parents and other siblings (new undergarments, socks, and t-shirts for each child); new household items (given at the
parents’ request); dental hygiene items (toothbrushes and toothpaste); and toys (the
latest electronics and traditional dolls and trucks). At this time, we also replenish
school supplies such as paper, pens and pencils, glue, folders, and organizers for the
kids.
Submitted by,
Sonya Culliver, Executive Director

Mission u

(formerly Cooperative School of Christian Mission)
The 2012 Cooperative School of Christian Mission was held August 1-4 at
Huntingdon College. Our theme was “That All May Have Life” This annual event
is sponsored by the Conference Board of Church and Society, Conference Board
of Global Ministries and the Alabama-West Florida Conference United Methodist
Women. Anyone interested in mission is encouraged to attend. Betty Helms, representing United Methodist Women, served as Dean and Lynn Hamric, representing
Conference Board of Global Ministries, served as Assistant Dean.
As always the studies challenged participants to become more involved in the
mission work of the church. This year we offered a variety of options such as mini
studies, full course studies and a youth study. Studies offered were: Immigration in
the Bible, Poverty and Haiti. Study leaders were: the Rev. Jim Clark, Rev. Edward
Moses, Joyce Clark, Ashley Meyer, Susan Hunt, Ruth Gynther, Dr. Lester Stewart
and Sherry Sink.
Beginning with the 2013 school the Cooperative School of Christian Mission will
be called Mission u. The Mission u School will be held at Springhill College in
Mobile, Alabama on August 1-4. The studies offered in 2013 will be: Poverty, The
Roma of Europe and Walking Justly and Living Sacramentally. The excellent team
of study leaders are: Rev. Bob Sweet, Brenda Brown, Ruth Ann Powers, Nancy
Hudson, Sue C. Johnson and Eliese McAllister. Music leaders will be Paulette
Clark and Cris Smith.
Betty Helms, Dean
2012 Cooperative School of Christian Mission
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Pensacola United Methodist Community Ministries
Pensacola United Methodist Community Ministries (PUMCM) is a 501(c)(3) faith
based community outreach organization located in the Pensacola district to promote
the dignity of the poor and homeless in our community by meeting their physical,
psychological and spiritual needs. In 2012 we had 37,512 client visits through a
host of agency and ministerial activities including:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.

14.

15.

Food - Hot meals four times weekly.
Emergency food - Groceries provided for families as needed on
emergency basis.
Clothes - Over 3,000 sq.ft. provides clothes for men, women and children
Vitamins for Kids - Multiple vitamins provided for children and youth
from ages 3 to 14.
Hygiene Kits - Provided as needed includes soap, shampoo, toothpaste,
toothbrushes, women’s products, face and bath towels, soap powder,
lotion, razors, etc.
Medical - Nurse takes complaints, vital signs and patient education.
Vitamins are provided for those in need. Referrals are made to a medical
clinic nearby. Prescriptions assistance is also provided as needed.
Veteran’s Affairs - A social worker from the VA who works with veterans
in onsite for this population.
Mental Health - A professional mental health counselor works at PUMCM
Drug and Alcohol - PUMCM has an AA group meeting three times
weekly. Most Excellent Way meets on Monday mornings. This Spring we
look forward to begin Celebrate Recovery.
Small group accountability meets Mondays.
Food Stamp Office - Helping those register for assistance.
Employment Assistance - Open Wednesday afternoons to help those
seeking work and developing resumes.
Education - Pensacola State College offers GED and ABE classes on site.
Learn to Read is an adult literacy organization to teach adults to read.
Computer skills are taught three times weekly. ESL classes are provided
through our Hispanic ministries that uses Rosetta Stone software.
Operation Freshstart - Assisting men, women and juveniles once released
from incarceration. We also have a large community garden that is run
through a program of re-entry in collaboration with the federal courts and
the Federal Bureau of Prisons. The produce comes to our kitchen used to
feed the homeless and needy.
Thrift Store - A busy operation not on campus that all proceeds help our
financial needs.

Our Board of Directors are: Greg Kobe, President; Jim Negretti; Sue Collyer,
Nancy Shealy; Beverly Maddox; Bob Woodard; Jerry Maygarden; Ken Taylor; and
Lynn McKim.
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We earnestly solicit the prayers and gifts to run this wonderful operation. Contact
us at pensacolafreshstart.org or 850-432-6816.
Submitted by:
Pastor Joe Mullen
huskers78@cox.net
850-554-9444

United Methodist Inner City Mission
This past year the United Methodist Inner City Mission expanded our ministries to
better meet the needs of those we serve as we continue to live out the teachings of
Jesus in Matthew 25: 31-42 by sharing God’s love. The Mission continues to assist
in the staffing and operating of McKemie Place which is the only emergency overnight shelter for homeless women in a three county area. During the past year, 472
individual women ranging in ages from eighteen to seventy-eight years old were
provided shelter and beds were filled over 17,282 times. The day center for the
homeless, Fifteen Place, is open weekdays. However, on weekends, many of the
women who have serious health issues exacerbated by weather, do not have anywhere to go. To fill this unmet need, we have started Safe Haven Ministry. This
new ministry coordinates local churches to open their doors during weekends to
host the women from McKemie Place. Currently, this inter-denominational effort
has fifteen churches participating in this new ministry. Our goal is to have church
participation for each weekend of the year.
Computer classes and job readiness classes are still offered for the women in the
shelter, along with a weekly Bible study class. We partnered with Goodwill Easter
Seals to provide a GED program for the people in our Oakdale-Maysville Community and for the women in the shelter.
We continue to see more volunteers, especially youth and young adults coming
to the Mission to volunteer their services. At our Taylor Park Community Center
volunteers are tutoring our children in our After School Tutorial Program, teaching
percussion and forming a “Praise Percussion Ensemble”, teaching Praise Dance
Teams, and participating with our children and youth on Sunday Afternoons in the
Park. They are also painting and making repairs to the homes of senior citizens,
maintaining the grounds of the Mission, and coming on Sunday afternoons to play
with the children in the Park and lead them in bible studies. The Mission’s Summer
Tutorial and Enrichment Programs at Taylor Park continue to provide a safe haven
for our children and youth while instilling in them the importance of getting a good
education. In the summer of 2012, one hundred and sixty five children participated in our summer programs. This Mission hosted seven 3.0 college interns who
worked with the children and youth in our programs. The college interns were able
to experience hands on mission service while at the same time deepening their own
faith and growing spiritually. Urban Campers from Government Street Presbyterian Church and volunteers from Mission Fuge also assisted with our summer
programs.
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Each summer, we partner with the Drug Education Council and the Junior Achievement Program to present their curriculum to the children and youth at the park.
The Mission and Pro Kids, Inc. work together to provide counseling with a licensed clinical child psychologist to help children with behavioral problems that
cause them to have difficulties at school and in the community. This continues to
make a tremendous difference in the lives of the children receiving these services.
Children have gone from failing in school and continuously getting into trouble
to making the A-B honor role and being selected the most outstanding students in
their classes.
The Mission has started a community garden at Taylor Park with the help from
members of Government Street and Dauphin Way United Methodist Churches. The
children are participating in the preparation and planting of the garden. The Bible
story of the sower and seeds and other stories from the Bible are shared with the
children. The Mission is continuing its full scope of programs to minister to the
spiritual, emotional and physical needs of the community.
GOLD (God, Opportunity, Learning and Discipline) is another new ministry. This
program works with young men who are seventeen to thirty years old who are
unemployed and who need mentoring to assist them in the skills they need to get a
job. A volunteer works with these young men to get their GED’s and assist them in
enrolling in job training programs.
During the past year, the Mission was able to provide emergency assistance to
families in need of food and medicine, or who needed assistance with utilities and
rent due to unforeseen emergencies. Our Community Enrichment staff continues
to work with senior citizens and youth to improve their quality of life. Many senior
citizens in our community live alone and do not have any means of transportation. Transportation and daily activities are provided for the “Taylor Park Seniors”
including daily devotionals, recreation, field trips, ceramic classes and monthly
luncheons. The staff also works with the Oakdale Community Service Club which
is a large group of community residents who address a wide variety of issues in
the community from environmental issues to safety issues by working with the
Enhanced Neighborhood Policing. The staff ministers to those whose lives are
torn apart by drugs and violence by providing assistance in entering rehabilitation
programs.
Monday through Friday the Mission serves breakfast for the homeless of our community. Each morning before breakfast there is a worship service which is often
lead by those attending. This is the only church that many of them know and once
a month communion is given to those present.
Our number one purpose for all of our ministries is to love and love unconditionally
those we serve as Jesus loves us. We continue to show this love through our deeds,
actions, and words so others can see Christ in us. After returning from spending the
day at one of our Safe Haven churches, woman staying in the shelter told me that
she had never felt so loved and cared for!
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Please know how much we appreciate and depend on the support of our brothers
and sisters throughout the Alabama–West Florida Conference to carry on God’s
ministries to the least of these.
Continue to keep us in your prayers.
Rev. Tonny H. Algood, Director
United Methodist Inner City Mission – McKemie Place

other reports
Hinton Rural Life Center
The Hinton Rural Life Center is a mission agency of the Southeastern Jurisdiction
of the United Methodist Church located in the Smoky Mountain Conference with a
budget of $1.2 million . The Hinton Center, a year round Christian retreat, is located on breathe-taking Lake Chatuge on the North Carolina-Georgia line. The retreat
has a wide range of accommodations including houses with lake views, the mountain lodge, hermitage cottages, group retreat houses, and RV sites. Whether you’re
looking for overnight accommodations for private retreat and renewal or seeking
facilities for a church group, Hinton is sure to have something for you. Our retreat
includes multiple conference rooms, a serene setting for weddings and receptions,
a Fair Trade and Local Artisan Gift Shop, dining rooms, trails, complimentary wi-fi
service, a lake-side pavilion with dock, indoor and outdoor chapels, and a rocking
chair porch overlooking beautiful Lake Chatuge! Perhaps the best thing about staying at Hinton is your opportunity to pay it forward. The revenue generated through
Hinton Center accommodations helps to fund housing repairs, firewood ministry,
and programming that focus on building healthy and effective communities of faith.
These core ministries include: Small Membership Church Consultation, First Parish
Project (FPP), Volunteer Mission Experience, Self-Help Affordable Housing, Firewood Ministry, and the hospitality of our Conference and Retreat Center. Providing
over 13,000 overnight stays last year alone, we were able to provide time for rest,
reflection, and renewal for guests in a place that is embraced by God’s creation.
For over 100 families of Appalachia in the small western corner of North Carolina,
we were able to send God’s love through volunteers who helped make the houses
warmer, drier, and safer. In the winter, our staff and volunteers delivered firewood
to over 30 families in our community who often make a choice between heat and
food or heat and medicine.
In addition to these ministries listed above, Hinton has been meeting the needs of
small membership and rural life congregations for fifty two years. In the 1950’s and
1960’s, we encouraged these congregations learn to establish Sundays Schools, in
the 1970’s and 1980’s we assisted congregations to reinvent worship and praise services, in the 1990’s and after the turn into the 21st Century, we consulted with these
congregations to develop clergy and laity leader skills, lay speaker and presentation
skills, innovative teaching and learning skills for those of all ages.
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Today Hinton Center Consultants are collaborating with these congregations
through district and other organizational means to build sustainable congregations.
Congregations are being equipped to understand their identity, the Calling from
God, reconnecting with their local community and neighbors and meeting the most
underserved needs locally. Congregations all across the Southeast are responding
joyfully to fan the Methodist flame to spread God’s reign right there in the local
areas. These congregations are the backbone of our North American witness and
critical for the contagious Methodist movement to continue.
For more information about Hinton Center, please go to our website at
www.hintoncenter.org or follow the QR Code on your mobile device! To support our ministries, donations can be sent directly to the Hinton Center or offered
through The Advance #731372. Thank you for your support.
Dr. Jacqueline Gottlieb
PO Box 27, 2330 Hinton Center Road, Hayesville, NC 28904
(828) 389-8336/TF (866) 389-8336/Fax (828) 389-3279
www.hintoncenter.org

Lake Junaluska Assembly, Inc.
On June 25, 1913 the first conference was held at Lake Junaluska, NC. Several
thousand people attended the event focused on raising awareness and money for the
missionary movement of the Methodist Episcopal Church, South. Despite having
no lodging facilities, no completed dam, but a nearly finished auditorium the participants were deeply inspired and gave generously for the work of the church. In
today’s dollars $3.5 million were raised for missions. What a wonderful beginning
that was for this amazing place that has served the United Methodist Church and
its predecessor bodies for 100 years. We have much to be thankful for and we have
much to be hopeful for as we celebrate our centennial year.
How grateful we are for the partnership we have had over the years with the
Southeastern Jurisdiction of the United Methodist Church and with the annual
conferences associated with it. We began as a place to serve the Church and we
continue to do so today. While the relationship between Lake Junaluska and the
SEJ continues to evolve we are excited about our ability to continue to strengthen
the UMC through fulfilling our mission to be a place of Christian hospitality where
lives are transformed through renewal of soul, mind, and body. Thank you for the
generous support you have provided to Lake Junaluska over these 100 years with
your prayers, your presence, your gifts, and your witness.
2012 was a wonderful year for Lake Junaluska. The highlight of the year for all of
us was the Southeastern Jurisdictional Conference held in July. What a thrill it was
for all of our staff to be responsible for providing great Christian hospitality as the
delegates selected five new Bishops of the United Methodist Church. 2012 was a
very good year for us financially. While we received $750,000 less in operational
apportionment support than we did in 2009, we ended the year with a balance of
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nearly $100,000. The main message we tried to convey to the delegates who attended the SEJ Conference was that we have been good stewards of the resources
that were provided. One symbolic and functional reflection of our mission of renewal was the presence of 100 new Lake Junaluska branded rocking chairs spread
throughout the campus. Thousands of hours of renewal have taken place in these
rockers in the last year.
The future is very bright for Lake Junaluska. Not only did we balance our budget
in 2012, but we are also off to a great start in 2013 and believe that can continue
to provide high quality service and experiences while living within our means.
We have a renewed commitment to Christian hospitality. Our vision document
states that we want to be the standard against which other organizations measure
themselves for Christian hospitality. We have improved greatly in this area but we
will get much better. We are streamlining systems and focusing extensively on the
needs and desires of our guests.
A campus master plan has been approved by our Board of Directors that will include an addition to and renovation of historic Lambuth Inn, the complete renovation of Jones Dining Hall, the completion of the renovation of the Terrace Hotel,
and the replacement of the Harrell Center. The first and most important project is
Lambuth Inn. We will be adding a conference center to the north side of Lambuth
that will accommodate up to 400 people. In addition, all of the sleeping, meeting,
eating, and gathering spaces will be renovated. It is our hope that we can break
ground on this project in 2013 and have it completed in early 2015.
Another very significant event occurring in 2013 may be the transfer of municipal
services from Lake Junaluska Assembly to the town of Waynesville. Waynesville
and Lake Junaluska have been inextricably linked together from the beginning and
this transfer of municipal services is being pursued as a culmination of a yearlong process engaging all property owners and the leadership of the Southeastern
Jurisdiction. The “DNA” of Lake Junaluska will not be changed as a result of this
transfer, formally known as annexation.
Pick up a copy of our 2013 Program Book, if you do not already have one. Peruse
its pages to relive some of the great history of Lake Junaluska and read about our
bright future. Review the numerous activities planned for our centennial year and
determine when you can come and visit us this year to be transformed and renewed
in soul, mind, and body.
Peace and Grace,
Jack Ewing
Executive Director and CEO
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Schools of Theology
Boston University
Dear Friends of BU School of Theology,
What a year! I am dazzled by the achievements of our faculty, students and staff
here at Boston University School of Theology in 2012. This has been a year of
deep reflection as we underwent the BU Academic Program Review and the United
Methodist University Senate Review. Both reviews went very well and revealed
vital strength in our faculty, students, and administrative staff. This has been a year
for celebration – our largest ever incoming class, excellence in teaching and learning, and a vibrant community life.
Some highlights from the previous year were:
• Reaching into the greater community through service days, “vocations vacation,”
seminary singers tour to Florida, and contextual internships.
• Building up intentional living communities for students: Theology House, Green
House, and Mason Terrace.
• Enhancing spiritual life through weekly worship, reading retreats, winter retreat,
daily morning prayer, and small groups.
• Creating a “greener” school with: 26 green offices, Carbon Rally Challenge,
expanding programs for composting and recycling, and now a 2013 renovation to
create a green community center.
• Hosting Lowell Lecture Series on “Restoring Civil Discourse,” featuring Dr.
Virginia Sapiro, Bishop Melvin Talbert, Bishop Hee-Soo Jung, and Chief Justice
Barbara Smith (Chickasaw Nation).
• Traveling with seminar groups to Ephesus (Turkey) and to Israel and Palestine.
• Advancing communication through a new website, the launching of STH
Connect, and production of webinars and video resources.
This has been a year for strengthening master’s education and reviewing doctoral
programs. It has also been a year for deepening relations with faith communities,
service agencies, and global research initiatives, as we seek to intensify STH’s
contributions to our fragile world.
Thank you for being a friend of Boston University! We welcome your stories,
suggestions, and support for us. STH is on a mission, and we especially covet your
prayers for our people and our work. We are praying for you!
Yours with gratitude,
Mary Elizabeth Moore

Candler
Candler School of Theology prepares real people to make a real difference in the
real world. Our commitment to authentic discipleship and relevant ministry enables
us to develop uniquely well-rounded leaders who are challenged academically,
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encouraged spiritually, and immersed in Christian service from the first day they
arrive on campus.
As one of the 13 official seminaries of The United Methodist Church, Candler
is grounded in the Christian faith and shaped by the Wesleyan tradition. As one
of seven graduate professional schools of Emory University, Candler provides a
rich context for learning and formation supported by the extensive resources of a
top-tier research university. As a school located in the metropolitan area of Atlanta,
Candler offers a learning environment that reflects the highly diverse communities of our 21st century world. There is no better place for ministry preparation that
addresses our major denominational priorities: developing leaders, starting and
growing churches, ministry with the poor, and improving global health.
Candler’s student body continues to reflect the diversity and breadth of the Christian faithful. Our enrollment stands at 478, with 365 seeking the Master of Divinity,
50 the Master of Theological Studies, 30 the Master of Theology, 18 the Doctor of
Theology, and 15 enrolled as Special, Non-Degree students. The student population
is 32 percent U.S. ethnic minority, 10 percent international, and 50 percent women.
Half of MDiv students are United Methodist, with forty-three denominations represented in all programs. The median age of our entering class of MDiv students is
27, with 58 percent under thirty.
Candler remains steadfastly committed to making theological education financially
feasible, dedicating nearly $5 million to financial aid. Eighty percent of eligible
students received Candler-based financial aid, with the average award covering 66
percent of tuition.
Construction preparations for the second phase of the Candler’s new building got
underway at the end of 2012 thanks to an extraordinary gift of $15 million from the
O. Wayne Rollins Foundation. The new building, which will house Pitts Theology
Library, community space, additional classrooms and offices, group study areas,
and the Wesley Teaching Chapel, will be completed in late spring of 2014 in time
for Candler’s Centennial Celebration. Candler’s phase one building was named in
memory of Rita Anne Rollins, the first grandchild of the foundation’s namesake, in
honor of its generous financial gift.
Candler had an excellent presence at the 2012 General Conference in Tampa. In
addition to my attendance, Associate Dean Anne Burkholder took a class of 20 students so they could learn firsthand about United Methodist governance. Assistant
Dean Mathew Pinson and Dr. Alice Rogers attended as delegates, and the Candler
Singers, directed by Barbara Day Miller, performed at the General Board of Higher
Education and Ministry reception and the plenary session.
We continue to emphasize preparing our students for leadership in an increasingly
global context, and now offer 19 academic exchanges with theology schools across
five continents and 15 countries, including many related to The United Methodist
Church. In addition to our ongoing summer internship program with the Methodist
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Church in the Bahamas, this year’s travel seminars included the Middle East and
World Methodist Evangelism Institute evangelism seminars to Zimbabwe, Peru,
and Israel.
Our public events supported our commitment to strengthen the church by offering opportunities for clergy and lay people to hear fresh, new voices. Last fall we
hosted Christian activist and bestselling author Shane Claiborne for two major addresses, “Jesus for President” and “Resurrecting Church,” with nearly 1,000 in attendance. Our Spring Conference, “The Singing Church,” gathered experts to lead
an exploration of the best practices and emerging trends of congregational song.
Candler draws considerable strength and inspiration from its relationship with The
United Methodist Church. Our ability to fulfill our mission of educating faithful
and creative leaders for the church’s ministries in the world depends upon your
support, gifts, and prayers. Thank you for the countless ways you advance this vital
ministry in the life of our denomination. Visit us in person in Atlanta or online at
candler.emory.edu to see firsthand how Candler prepares real people to make a real
difference in the real world.
Jan Love
Dean and Professor of Christianity and World Politics
Candler School of Theology

Duke
The academic year 2012–2013 has been a time to set a vision for the future of Duke
Divinity School and to clarify our mission of serving Jesus Christ and His church.
This has been the first full academic year of the full-term appointment of Dean
Richard Hays and Executive Vice Dean Laceye Warner. Our academic programs
continue to train talented, committed men and women for ministry. Our centers,
programs, and initiatives continue to build bridges between the work of the Divinity
School and the needs of the church, academy, and the world. But we have identified
challenges to our central mission of preparing future leaders for the church, and we
have also identified steps that we can take to meet those challenges in this year and
the years ahead.
One of the greatest challenges we face is helping students financially afford a seminary education. Like nearly every other seminary and divinity school, our students
face rising costs and limited means to pay for their tuition and expenses. Ninety
percent of our students qualify for financial aid, yet we are currently unable to provide enough aid to meet their needs. This has resulted in our students being forced
to take out student loans. Among those who graduated in 2012 with student loans
from their divinity school education, their average student-loan debt was $44,500.
For men and women who desire to enter ministry, whether as pastors or nonprofit
service or hospital chaplains, this amount of debt is a tremendous burden and inhibits their ability to pursue vocations that are not financially lucrative.
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We believe that it is critically important for the future of the church to have pastors
and leaders who are trained and formed by both rigorous academics and a deep
commitment to Scripture and the rich tradition of the church. Duke Divinity School
is participating in the comprehensive campaign launched by Duke University in
2012, Duke Forward. We have designated almost half of our overall campaign
fundraising goal for student financial aid. We want to remove the barrier of finances
from qualified students receiving an education at Duke Divinity School, and we
want to eliminate the burden of student-loan debt from graduates being able to
follow their calling into ministry. To date, the campaign has received $15 million
toward our goal of $36 million for student financial aid.
Duke Divinity School continues to welcome energetic, diverse, and talented students to our degree programs. In 2012, our total enrollment was 650 students: 449
are enrolled in the M.Div. degree program; 50 in the M.T.S.; 18 in the Th.M.; 44 in
the Th.D.; 36 in the D.Min.; 27 in the M.A.C.P.; 14 in the M.A.C.S.; and 12 who
are special students Forty-one percent of our students are United Methodist, with an
additional 18 percent from other Wesleyan traditions. Fifteen percent are Baptist,
9 percent are Anglican or Episcopal, 6 percent are Roman Catholic, 5 percent are
Presbyterian, with the remaining 6 percent from other denominations or nondenominational churches.
Our faculty at Duke Divinity School continues to demonstrate excellent scholarship and passion for the church. Anathea Portier-Young, associate professor of Old
Testament, received one of 10 Manfred Lautenschlaeger Awards for Theological
Promise (formerly known as the John Templeton Award for Theological Promise).
This prestigious international prize honors the most outstanding doctoral or first
postdoctoral books; Portier-Young received the award for her book, Apocalypse
against Empire: Theologies of Resistance in Early Judaism (Eerdmans, 2011).
Lauren Winner, assistant professor of Christian spirituality, received several awards
for her book Still: Notes on a Mid-Faith Crisis. It was named a “Best Book of
2012” in the religion category by Publishers Weekly, and Christianity Today awarded it Book of the Year honors in the spirituality category. Other faculty awards
include Henry Luce III Fellowships for both Richard Lischer and Paul Griffiths, a
grant from the Lilly Endowment for Mark Chaves, and a Lilly Theological Research Grant for Kate Bowler.
In addition to their prestigious academic work, our faculty members have participated in projects that demonstrate the intersection of faith and theology with pressing issues in our world today. Ellen Davis and Norman Wirzba received a grant
to support a conference on food security in Africa. Douglas Campbell co-directed
the Restorative Justice Studio with the Duke Center for Civic Engagement, which
brings together members of the Divinity School community and local Durham
community practitioners of restorative justice. Esther Acolatse co-taught a Duke
Law course that traveled to Ghana to meet with religious leaders and women’s
rights groups about proposed legislation that would alter spousal intestate succession and property rights. These are only a few examples of the wide participation of
our faculty across Duke University, the Durham community, and the global church.
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Several new faculty joined us in 2012. Luke Bretherton was appointed associate
professor of theological ethics and senior fellow with the Kenan Institute for Ethics.
His current area of research focuses on the intersection between Christianity, grassroots democracy, responses to poverty, and patterns of interfaith relations. Craig
Dykstra joined the faculty as research professor of practical theology and senior fellow at Leadership Education at Duke Divinity. Since 1989 he has served as senior
vice president for religion at Lilly Endowment. Luke Powery was named dean of
Duke Chapel and associate professor of the practice of homiletics at Duke Divinity
School. His teaching and research interests include preaching, worship, pneumatology, performance studies and culture, particularly expressions of the African
diaspora. Meredith Riedel was appointed assistant professor of the history of Christianity. She has a D.Phil. from the University of Oxford and studies the medieval
Middle East, especially military and diplomatic interactions between Christendom
and Islam. Beth Sheppard became the new director of the Divinity School Library
and associate professor of the practice of theological bibliography. She has degrees
in library science and a Ph.D. in biblical studies, and she publishes in both fields.
Two additional new faculty members began their service with us in January 2013.
Jeffrey Conklin-Miller earned his Th.D. from Duke Divinity School and was named
assistant professor of the practice of Christian formation. He also is the director
of the Master of Arts in Christian Practice degree program. David Marshall joined
us as an associate professor of the practice of Christian-Muslim relations and the
director of the Anglican Episcopal House of Studies. He is a priest in the Church of
England and has served as chaplain to the Archbishop of Canterbury, and he holds a
Ph.D. in Islamic Studies from Birmingham University.
In addition to the research and work of our faculty, our departments, centers, initiatives, and programs engaged with the church and social issues in 2012. To increase
our ability to provide spiritual and ministerial formation for our students, Susan
Pendleton Jones was appointed associate dean for United Methodist initiatives and
ministerial formation. Her role allows the Divinity School to participate in substantive conversation with the bishops, boards of ordination, and divinity students.
Matthew Floding was appointed director of field education and ministerial formation, particularly to work with our non-United Methodist students as they prepare
for ministry.
The work of the Clergy Health Initiative received national attention this year for
its findings about health interventions for clergy. Their research has indicated that
preventive care programs for clergy must be done in the context of their beliefs,
congregations, and institutional structures. To implement this, the Clergy Health
Initiative has launched Spirited Life, a multi-year health initiative funded by The
Duke Endowment. The first group of participants , who completed the program
in 2012, lost significant amounts of weight and lowered their risk for metabolic
syndrome.
Duke Initiatives in Theology and the Arts presented director Jeremy Begbie and
London-based concert pianist Cordelia Williams in a two-piano concert in Goodson
Chapel featuring Olivier Messiaen’s Visions de l’Amen. They first performed this
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work during the Holy Week celebration at Kings College Chapel at the University
of Cambridge in England. Representatives including faculty, students, and friends
of Duke Divinity School collaborated with colleagues in Cambridge on both
theological and artistic projects. In January 2013 they sponsored “Engaging Eliot:
Four Quartets in Word, Color, and Sound,” an event that featured art, music, and
theological conversation inspired by T. S. Eliot’s masterpiece, Four Quartets. Duke
Chapel hosted an exhibition of paintings by artists Makoto Fujimura and Bruce
Herman, and Jeremy Begbie played with Duke’s own Ciompi Quartet in a performance of a new piece, “At the Still Point,” composed for the event by Christopher
Theofanides.
The Center for Reconciliation hosted leaders from China, Korea, and Japan for
three days of meetings and conversation. Participants included Lung-kwong Lo,
president of the Methodist Church of Hong Kong, and Nora Bynum, associate vice
provost for global strategy and programs and managing director for Duke Kunshan
University and China initiatives. The meetings followed a year-long engagement
with Christian leaders in Asia to assess the possibility of beginning a reconciliation project in the region modeled after the Summer Institute held at Duke and the
African Great Lakes Initiative Leadership Institute held in Uganda.
Leadership Education at Duke Divinity introduced a new service called Generative
Solutions, designed to equip institutions with a process for doing research, defining challenges, and proposing experiments in order to move forward in the face
of complex institutional situations. Faith & Leadership (www.faithandleadership.
com), the online journal of LEADD, had more than 200,000 unique visitors this
year.
The Divinity School Library has received a $110,000 grant from the State Library
of North Carolina for the digital project, “Religion in North Carolina,” which will
be a collection of primary materials of religions bodies in North Carolina. Project
partners are other libraries at Duke University and the libraries at the University of
North Carolina at Chapel Hill and Wake Forest University. The collection will preserve and provide access to 8,000 volumes of the main materials of religious bodies
from every county in the state.
We remain deeply grateful for the relationships among the United Methodist
Church, this Annual Conference, and Duke Divinity School. We look forward to
working with you in the task of preparing men and women for Christian ministry.
To learn more about Duke Divinity School, please visit our website at
www.divinity.duke.edu.
Respectfully submitted by:
Richard B. Hays, Dean
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Gammon/ITC

Gammon Theological Seminary, located in Atlanta, GA, is the United Methodist constituent member of the Interdenominational Theological Center (ITC), a
consortium of six historically African American theological schools. Gammon/ITC
is a co-educational, professional graduate school of theology. Its faculty personifies vigorous scholarship, rigorous academic discipline, and significant research in
the service of the church and other communities in the world. Gammon/ITC is the
world’s premier resource for black church scholarship and faith-based solutions to
the spiritual and socio-economic challenges confronting the African American community and beyond.
Founded in 1883 by the Methodist Episcopal Church and with assistance from the
Freedman’s Aid Society, today Gammon Theological Seminary is one of the 13
theological schools of the United Methodist Church. The faculty and administration of Gammon/ITC create an environment in which critical thinking, investigative
reflection, decision making, and responsible action are fostered. Gammon/ITC is a
member of the Atlanta University Center Complex, the world’s largest enterprise of
African American higher education. It is also a member of The University Center
of Georgia and the Atlanta Theological Association. The school is fully accredited
by the Association of Theological Schools and the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools.
Gammon/ITC offers the following degree programs: the Master of Divinity, the
Master of Arts in Religious Education, the Master of Arts in Church Music, the
Doctor of Theology (Th.D.) in Pastoral Counseling, and the Doctor of Ministry
(D.Min.). There are also a number of dual degree programs offered in cooperation
with seminaries and schools in the Atlanta Theological Association. Admission is
open to qualified men and women of the United Methodist Church.
Because of the support of this Annual Conference, Gammon/ITC students carry
on a proud tradition. They are taught to think independently and communicate
effectively. They are also challenged to become involved in finding solutions to
problems that affect the human condition, and to become active in the community
beyond this campus. Additionally, graduates of this institution are encouraged to
maintain a lifelong desire for intellectual growth, spiritual development, and the
acquisition of skills for the practice of ministry.
Gammon/ITC has had a very exciting and busy year living out its mission, which is
to recruit, support and educate pastors and leaders for the United Methodist Church.
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Included below are just a few of the examples of how this great historic institution
of the church has lived out its mission and furthered its vision:
1) In last year’s report to this Annual Conference, we shared the great news of
Gammon enrolling its largest entering class on record in the fall of 2011. This record was shattered as Gammon enrolled an even larger first year class in the fall of
2012. In fact, under the leadership of the current President, Dr. Albert D. Mosley,
Gammon has experienced over an 80% increase in enrollment, and the average age
of entering students continues to be younger and younger. Gammon is privileged
to serve as a training ground for the next generation of prophetic leaders who will
engage in the process of making disciples of Jesus Christ for the transformation of
the world.
2) In August of 2012, Gammon hosted its first ever Racial Justice Institute. The
Racial Justice Institute is a component of the Gammon Center for the Study of Religion and Race (a program funded by a generous grant from the General Commission on Religion and Race). Over 35 college students, professors, social activists,
and community leaders from around the country gathered on Gammon’s campus
for a week-long intensive immersion experience that explored issues of health care
reform, unemployment, affordable housing, immigration policy, and marriage/
gender equality. The Racial Justice Institute concluded with a very successful Immigration Reform Rally on the steps of the Georgia State Capitol using GCORR’s
theme – “Drop the I-Word: No Child of God is Illegal.” The Racial Justice Institute
enabled Gammon to continue its great work of addressing issues of cultural competency, advocacy and education in areas that further racial justice and equity.
3) This past fall, in advance of the 2012 Presidential Election, Gammon launched
a comprehensive Voter Registration/Voter Education Campaign in the Atlanta
University Center. This campaign enabled Gammon students to register students at
Morehouse College, Spelman College, Clark-Atlanta University, and the Interdenominational Theological Center. In addition to registering to over 500 previously
unregistered college students, Gammon also sponsored a series of Issues Sessions
that were designed to enlighten voters about the prevalent social, political, and
economical issues in advance of them participating in the election process.
Gammon Theological Seminary is extremely grateful to this Annual Conference
for your support of theological education, and for your commitment to ensuring
that God’s church will be served by persons who are called and trained to lead us
forward.
Dr. Albert Mosley
President-Dean
www.gammonseminary.org

Garrett-Evangelical
In 2013, Garrett-Evangelical celebrates 160 years of creating skilled, bold, and articulate leaders for the church, the academy, and the world. We remain committed
to our core purpose: to know God in Christ and, through preparing spiritual leaders,
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help others know God in Christ.
Garrett-Evangelical is the result of the interweaving of three institutions:
• Garrett Biblical Institute, the first Methodist seminary in the Midwest, was
established in 1853 by largely the same church people who founded
Northwestern University.
• Chicago Training School, established in 1885, was an important force for
women in ministry and for developing service agencies throughout
Chicago. Chicago Training School merged with Garrett Biblical Institute
in 1934.
• Evangelical Theological Seminary, located in Naperville and founded as
a seminary of the Evangelical Church (later the Evangelical United
Brethren) in 1873, joined with Garrett Theological Seminary in 1974 to
form Garrett-Evangelical Theological Seminary.
Last fall the seminary welcomed 107 new students, raising total fall enrollment to
390—the third consecutive year of increase. The average age of the entering Master
of Divinity student is 31. Fifty-one percent are women. The ethnic/racial profile
is 52% white; 20% black; 5% Asian; 3% Hispanic/Latino. Thirteen percent of the
students are international.
More than 30 religious traditions, four continents, 12 countries and 32 states are
represented in the student body. Two hundred twenty-four students are United
Methodist. Thirty-four additional students come from other Pan-Methodist denominations. Currently 2 students from Alabama-West Florida are enrolled in the
various degree programs at the seminary.
Garrett-Evangelical’s commitment to making seminary education affordable is
reflected in the awarding of more than $2 million in institutional financial aid to
students each year. The seminary has created the Linked in Ministry Scholarship
program. This 100 percent scholarship is awarded to the first student admitted to
Garrett-Evangelical from his/her United Methodist annual conference who maintains a 3.3 GPA or above and who is a registered candidate for UMC ministry.
In January, Garrett-Evangelical completed a successful campaign to fund the
Rueben P. Job Endowed Chair in Spiritual Formation. One of the first chairs in
spiritual formation among Protestant seminaries, the award is named in honor of
Garrett-Evangelical’s distinguished alumnus Rueben P. Job, retired bishop of The
United Methodist Church. The position is a legacy to Bishop Job’s lifelong work
and will ensure that Garrett-Evangelical continues to prepare well-formed spiritual
leaders for many generations.
Garrett-Evangelical has long been at the forefront of Protestant seminaries in this
area. The seminary proposed the curriculum structure for United Methodist certification in spiritual formation, formally adopted by the denomination in 2000. Since
the, Garrett-Evangelical has adopted a specialized master of arts degree in spiritual
formation and evangelism as well as a Doctor of Ministry in Spiritual Direction.
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Funds now are being received to permanently endow the Rueben Job Institute in
Spiritual Formation. Information about the Institute can be found at
http://ruebenjobinstitute.org. Dr. Dwight Judy, Professor Emeritus of Spiritual
Formation, retired at the end of 2012. He continues to serve the seminary and
church through his work as Director of the Institute.
Several initiatives to support clergy and lay education are under way. During the
spring semester, fifteen academic classes were offered in an online format, some
with a continuing education option. During the next several months, new programs—online, on campus, and in congregational settings will begin.
Plus is a first-of-its-kind cooperative executive education program of GarrettEvangelical and Northwestern University’s Kellogg School of Management. The
two-year leadership certification program for seminary graduates and other professionals in ministry includes eight days of seminars led by experts in non-profit
leadership.
Intersection is an innovative continuing education opportunity incorporating
readings, online presentations by seminary faculty, and reflection on contemporary
issues of life and ministry, providing an intersection of academic studies with the
concern for practical ministry. Topics range from theology, biblical interpretation,
and church history to ethics and the church in society. Continuing education credit
is available. Additional information is available at http://www.garrett.edu/intersection.
The expanded Doctor of Ministry program offers four tracks of study: Congregational Leadership, African American Congregational Leadership, Spiritual Direction, and Mission in the Contemporary United States. The Garrett-Evangelical
DMin program is also a portal to the Association of Chicago Theological School’s
(ACTS) DMin program in preaching.
Garrett-Evangelical serves over 550 students in degree-related courses, certificate
programs and the summer Course of Study School. We encourage you to visit our
website, www.garrett.edu, and to visit us on campus. We are grateful to serve The
United Methodist Church and the church at large.
Philip A. Amerson, President

Perkins
Perkins received positive evaluations from all three of our accrediting bodies during the past year: The Association of Theological Schools, Southern Association of
Colleges and Schools, and University Senate of The United Methodist Church.
New faculty and staff members are strengthening our mission of preparing women
and men for faithful leadership in Christian ministry. D. Max Whitfield was named
Bishop in Residence for 2012-2016, while Dr. Brad R. Braxton joined our faculty
as Lois Craddock Perkins Professor of Homiletics and Dr. James Kang Hoon Lee
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joined our faculty as assistant professor of the History of Early Christianity. Dr.
Arlene Sánchez Walsh, associate professor in the Graduate School of Theology at
Azusa Pacific University, was 2012-2013 visiting professor. Dr. Mark W. Stamm,
Christian Worship, and Dr. Rebekah Miles, Ethics and Practical Theology, were
promoted to full professor. Rev. Connie Nelson was selected as director of Public
Affairs and Alumni Relations, and Dr. Rebecca Frank Bruff became director of our
Center for Religious Leadership. Dr. Ruben Habito, professor of World Religions
and Spirituality, was named Interim Coordinator of the Spiritual Formation and
Spiritual Direction programs, an administrative transition shifting these important
responsibilities to a highly qualified full-time faculty member. Searches for new
faculty members in the fields of History of Christianity and Christian Theology
have resulted in candidates with exceptional promise, and we anticipate filling
those positions for the start of the 2013-2014 academic year.
Our 2012 entering class has a median age of 29 – the first time in nearly a decade
that the median age has been under 30. Among all Perkins students, more than
two-thirds are United Methodist and more than one-third are persons of color. The
Doctor of Ministry program continues to grow with new cohorts of students from
southern Asia taking classes in Singapore and in Dallas. Our Ph.D. program, one of
only two highly rated doctoral programs among the 15 at SMU, includes two Latino Ph.D. students supported through a grant from the Luce Foundation to Perkins’
Center for the Study of Latino/a Christianity and Religions.
To be sure, Perkins is not immune from the challenges faced by schools of theology and seminaries across the United States. However, we are blessed with gifted
faculty and staff members, inspiring students, beautiful facilities, and vibrant ministries. We thank our many colleagues, friends, and alumni/ae across the connection
for continuing generous support, including referrals of prospective students.
Grace and Peace,
William B. Lawrence
Dean and Professor of American Church History

Southern Methodist University (SMU)

(Perkins School of Theology is housed on the campus of SMU)
This is an exciting time at SMU, as the University celebrates the centennial of its
founding in 1911 by the Methodist Episcopal Church, South, and its opening in
1915. Highlights of recent and current developments follow:
• SMU’s total fall 2012 enrollment was 10,893, including 6,249 undergraduates
and 4,644 graduate students. Ethnic minority students made up 24.7 percent of total
enrollment and 27 percent of undergraduate enrollment. A record number of 1,282
international students came from 89 foreign countries.
• SMU consistently ranks in the top one-fourth of the “best national universities” in
U.S. News & World Report rankings. In the 2013 report, SMU ranks 58 among 280
national universities, an increase of four points from the previous year.
• SMU’s external awards for research and sponsored projects have increased sig-
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nificantly. During 2011-12, SMU received $22.4 million for research and sponsored
projects throughout the U.S. and worldwide on six continents.
• SMU Unbridled: The Second Century Campaign, launched in 2008, is the largest
fund-raising effort in the University’s history, with a goal of $750 million. At campaign midpoint in 2012, gifts totaling $664.8 million are providing funds for 231
scholarships; 23 endowed academic positions; 17 academic program endowments,
including support for two schools and one academic department; and 16 new or
renovated facilities.
• SMU’s Residential Commons Complex, currently under construction, includes
five new residence halls and a dining facility. Completion in 2014 will enable
SMU to implement a residency requirement for sophomores along with first-year
students. The halls will include classrooms and faculty accommodations.
• A new general education curriculum for undergraduates, implemented in fall
2012, is designed to prepare students for the demands of an increasingly interconnected global society, with emphasis on ethics and engaged learning programs.
Undergraduate students participate in scholarly research, civic engagement, professional internships and creative activity related to education goals.
• The George W. Bush Presidential Center, opening at SMU in April 2013, consists
of the Library, Museum and independent Institute. The Center will be a valuable
source of research materials and is already sponsoring programs for scholars,
students and visitors. Current Bush Institute programming includes a leadership
development program for Egyptian women.
• Thomas B. Fomby, professor of economics in Dedman College of Humanities and
Sciences, and Marcia K. Armstrong, associate dean for master’s programs in Cox
School of Business, have been elected to the Economic Advisory Committee of the
United Methodist General Council on Finance and Administration.
SMU treasures its Methodist heritage, and we ask for your continued prayers and
support.
R. Gerald Turner, President
Southern Methodist University

Saint Paul

www.spst.edu
Saint Paul School of Theology is a seminary of the United Methodist Church that
educates leaders to make disciples for Jesus Christ, renew the Church, and transform the world. We are one institution with two campuses, in Kansas City and in
Oklahoma City.
During the 2012-2013 academic year,196 students from 12 annual conferences and
9 countries were enrolled in degree programs at Saint Paul School of Theology on
both campuses. The Course of Study School at Saint Paul served 236 students at
the Kansas City, Missouri, Springfield, Missouri, and Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
locations.
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In November 2012, the Saint Paul School of Theology Board of Trustees voted to
enter into an Agreement for Building Occupancy and Commitment to Collaborate
between Saint Paul School of Theology/Kansas City and the United Methodist
Church of the Resurrection. The agreement concluded a period of study and represents the seminary’s vision to create a nationally recognized, vibrant, innovative
locus of theological education aimed at preparing leaders for congregations and
faith communities in the changing culture and emerging field of mission. It seeks to
provide learning in the practice of ministry for both clergy and laity that is characterized by excellence. The Kansas City campus will move to Leawood, KS in the
fall of 2013. The Oklahoma campus will remain at Oklahoma City University.
Saint Paul at OCU began its 5th year in September. Two new faculty members have
been added in Oklahoma. Bishop Steven Charleston was appointed as Visiting Professor of Native American Ministries, a position funded by a grant from the Henry
Luce Foundation. Dr. Stan Basler, DMin ‘00, joined the faculty in January 2013 as
Visiting Professor of Restorative Justice and Prison Ministry.
Twenty-four master’s degree students and three doctoral students graduated from
the Kansas City campus in May 2012. Six master of divinity students graduated at
the second Commencement Convocation in Oklahoma in August 2012. The first
graduates of the Seminary Lite program in Oklahoma also received certificates.
The third Saint Paul Korean Doctor of Ministry cohort began this winter. This program is a partnership with Hyupsung University in Seoul, Korea.
Saint Paul School of Theology will host A Seminary Celebration: Looking Back,
Looking Forward on April 25-26, 2013 on its Kansas City Truman Road Campus.
The event will celebrate the past, present, and future of the seminary. Activities will
include a retirement luncheon honoring Dr. Sondra Matthaei MRE ‘69, the installation of Dr. Harold Washington as Vice President of Academic Affairs and Dean, the
Cleaver Lecture on Justice featuring Michelle Alexander, author of The New Jim
Crow, a prayer breakfast, and closing worship service in Kresge Chapel.
The class of 1963 will be the 50 year honor class at the 52nd Commencement Convocation on May 17 for the Kansas City campus. Dr. Sondra Matthaei ‘69, retiring
Professor of Christian Religious Education, will be the speaker. UMC Arkansas
Bishop Gary Mueller will speak at the third Commencement for the Oklahoma City
campus.
The trustees, faculty, staff, and students of Saint Paul thank you for your interest,
prayers and support.
Oklahoma City University
2501 North Blackwelder		
Oklahoma City, OK 73106

Kansas City Campus
5123 East Truman Road
Kansas City, MO 64127
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United Theological Seminary (UTS)

Is God calling you or someone you know to the ministry of Jesus Christ? If so,
we invite you to explore how United can assist you in fulfilling God’s purposes for
your life and how you can help others in this journey. Come and check us out in
person or online at www.united.edu!
United is one of the fastest growing, accredited seminaries in North America. Why
are Christian disciples and leaders signing up for our traditional and online programs? They are doing so because United is committed to teaching the Bible and
the historic Christian faith, cultivating spiritual formation for personal and social
holiness, and renewing the Church for the mission of Jesus Christ in the world.
What could be more important or exciting?
In addition to expanding our service in the Midwestern US, United will continue
to enhance its use of technology to deliver theological education in underserved
regions in North America and beyond. United’s hybrid/online UMC FLEX Master
of Divinity degree was designed specifically to meet the requirements of the UMC
for ordination and it is accessible anywhere with good Internet service. Our hybrid/
online UM Course of Study is expanding each semester, along with UM Certification offerings.
What’s new at United? Three new professors joined our excellent team of faculty
in 2012 and a search is underway for yet another. United and Aldersgate Renewal
Ministries have developed a new partnership, and we have piloted a new certification program focused upon ministries with persons with disabilities. Each year,
United’s doctoral program adds new mentors and focus groups for advanced ministry study.
Please let us know if you have questions about how we can best assist you or, if
you would like to help make it possible for an American or international student to
study at United.
Enrollment at United continues to grow, and we invite you to call or visit soon!
For more information, please contact admissions@united.edu.
Thank you for your prayers, partnership, service and support in the ministry of
Jesus Christ!
Submitted by:
Wendy J. Deichmann, President
www.united.edu
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Wesley
As a new residence hall rises on the home
campus, Wesley is building an institution
that fosters vital churches for the next
generation. We have developed a vision for
what the church of the future should be, and have become a new kind of seminary.
More than a good graduate school, we have become like a research university dedicated to serving the church.
The Lewis Center for Church Leadership continues to expand its programs and the
readership of the premier online resource for churches: Leading Ideas. Through the
Center, we are administering three new programs funded by grants from the Lilly
Endowment. One enables us to continue our Lewis Fellows program, an intensive
post-seminary leadership training initiative for young clergy. Another will reach
pastors, five to ten years beyond seminary. They will engage with thought leaders
in Washington, D.C. on the subjects of courage, doing good well, generosity and
well-being to help expand their field of vision and lead their churches to engage
more effectively in their communities. The third program takes a hard look at the
economic challenges facing future ministers. We will conduct research into our
graduates’ debt, analyze information about current compensation packages, and
review the consequences of debt on the well-being of graduates. We will review
our own economic and funding strategies and improve institutional practices while
creating educational programs that better prepare future pastoral leaders as managers of personal and congregational finance.
Our extension campus in downtown Washington, D.C. at Mount Vernon Square is
developing as a center for missional churches as we help churches turn inside out
in mission evangelism, community transformation and public theology. Our work
there is spiritually and physically centered on an intentional living community of
students and of faculty and church partners ministering in the shadow of Capitol
Hill. We are engaging in hands-on learning/serving experiences in urban communities through our Urban Fellows and Missional Fellows programs.
The biggest new development is the Heal the Sick Initiative (HTS) developed
in partnership with three hospital systems and the White House Office of FaithBased Initiatives. In HTS, Wesley will be the catalyst and educational partner in
the development of a pilot program of parish-based health care in the BaltimoreWashington-Northern Virginia Region modeled after several successful programs
nationwide. The HTS will prepare ministry leaders to support their congregations
in the development of health ministries which include care and support for their
members’ overall well-being, as well as care for their neighbors, particularly the
poor. Wesley became the only seminary to be a charter member of the MarylandDC Campus Compact which unites institutions of higher education that participate
in service learning programs with the goal of making these programs more fruitful
for both the students and the communities in which they work.
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Wesley is actively recruiting the kind of students who want to be Disciples of
Jesus Christ and transform the world at all levels of ordained and lay ministry. We
have continued to increase financial aid while holding down the cost of tuition.
We launched a new 36-hour Master of Arts degree in the fall which uses a flexible
curriculum to enable students to acquire a basic theological education. And the
Wesley Course of Study has been re-designed to accommodate both weekend and
summer students. Wesley has entered into two dynamic partnerships this year. The
first is with the Center for Discipleship at Southwestern College in Winfield, KS,
and makes unique lay study courses developed by Wesley in its Wesley Ministry
Network available to the public on a large scale. And, Wesley is now partnered with
Pfeiffer University and Union Presbyterian Seminary to make it possible for United
Methodist students to complete their Master of Divinity degrees at Union Presbyterian Seminary’s Charlotte, NC campus.
Meanwhile, Wesley has become a truly global seminary so that we may serve the
church where it is growing the most and that we might benefit from the spiritual
vision and vitality of global Christianity. We completed the final two class terms
of a Doctor of Ministry (D.Min.) program for 14 West African leaders engaged
in educating persons for pastoral ministry in Liberia, Nigeria, Sierra Leone and
Cameroon. And we began our sixth Global Asian D.Min. track. In addition, there
are currently 22 international students from around the globe studying in Master’s
degree programs. And, we have established new relationships in China and India.
The Wesley faculty remains very productive in its scholarship for the church
including new books this year by Kendall Soulen, The Divine Name and the Holy
Trinity, Eileen Guenther, Rivals or a Team? Clergy-Musician Relationships in
the Twenty-First Century, Lucy Hogan, The Six Deadly Sins of Preaching, Scott
Kisker, Longing for Spring: A New Vision for Wesleyan Community, and Lovett
Weems, Focus: The Real Challenges That Face the United Methodist Church.
The coming year will bring more exciting changes to Wesley as we continue our
efforts to develop strong and dynamic leaders for the church and the world.
Rev. Dr. David McAllister-Wilson
President
www.wesleyseminary.edu

Wesley Heirs
Wesley Heirs retreaded for Ministry! A group of retired ministers and spouses,
called Wesley Heirs, meets the second Tuesday, Wednesday of March and October
at our wonderful Blue Lake Camp. We also meet on the Monday of our AlabamaWest Florida Annual Conference for a luncheon at 11:30 am at a designated room at
the Conference.
Even though our main purpose is to continue our connectedess in the ministry of
our faith, our friendship is only a part of our time together. We recognize our broth-
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ers and sisters in Christ who have preceded us to heaven with a Memorial Service
at both our October and March meetings. We also love to be entertained by the
many gifts and talents of our friends. We like to stay knowledgeable of the changes
and happenings of our Annual Conference. Therefore we invite various leaders in
our Conference to share with us from their expertise and responsibilities.
We financially support the Sunshine Camp and the Inner City Camp, as well as,
Blue Lake itself. Mable Carlton’s family, one of our founders, recently gave a
donation in her memory. Tom Sheppard’s family gave Blue Lake a sound system
last year. Some of our past Memorial Speakers are, but not limited to, Dick Wright,
Rex Mixson, Walter Albritton, Jimmy Dannelley, John Ed Mathison, Karl Stegall,
Doug Williams, Doug Newton, and John Bryan, to name a few. We are blessed to
have many pastors and spouses who continue to serve faithful and committed lives
in our Annual Conference. We appreciate and remember Mable and Arthur Carlton,
Ray and Katherine Whatley and others who had the vision for Wesley Heirs. Their
legacy lives on.
We enjoy singing and we have a vigorous choir directed by Albert Hunt. We have
so many talented singers in our group. Jim Dannelley usually leads our opening
session with singing while Charles Walker leads us in our business sessions.
We enjoy playing board games, card games, and snacking while we visit with one
another sharing updates from our last meeting. It is one of the best 24 hour retreats
you can have if you are a retired Methodist Pastor or spouse.
We enjoyed Bishop Paul and Janet Leeland being with us as we gathered in October of last yer and March of this year. They were with us to remember those who
precede us to heaven.
Our current leaders are: Charles and Monette Walker, Presidents; Ed and Betty
Sells, Vice Presidents; Bill and Ann Calhoun, Treasurers; Doug and Nelda
Williams, Secretarys; Roy and Jean Sublette, Registrars; Betty Blackwell,
Sunshine Camp, Judy Hust, Accompanist, Albert Hunt, Choir Director; Myrtice
Carr, Newsletter Editor, Doug and Gaynell Newton, Past Presidents.
Submitted by:
Charles and Monette Walker
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APPENDIX
JOURNAL ORDER FORM
Alabama - West Florida Conference
ATTN: 2013 CONFERENCE JOURNAL
100 Interstate Park, Suite 106
Montgomery, AL 36109
1-888-873-3127 phone/334-274-1052 fax
By vote of the Annual Conference:
1 - All Conference JOURNALS must be pre-ordered and pre-paid.
2 - Deadline to order postage free: July 31, 2013.
3 - Retired Clergy and Surviving Spouses can receive a complimentary JOURNAL on CD. However
you must fill out this order form and check the box below in order to receive a complimentary CD.
Check here

if you are a retired clergy or surviving spouse

(PLEASE TYPE OR PRINT)
FIRST and LAST NAME
_________________________________________________________________________

EMAIL ADDRESS (if applicable)
________________________________________________________

NAME or PLACE WHERE YOU WANT YOUR JOURNAL MAILED
ATTN:
MAILING ADDRESS (no PO boxes)
_________________________________________________________________________

SUITE:
CITY:
PHONE NUMBER:

ST:

ZIP:

_____ Copy(ies) of the Conference Journal on CD $8.00 each

$

_____ Copy(ies) of the Conference Journal regular-bound at $25.00 each

$

_____ Copy(ies) of the Conference Journal spiral-bound at

$

$27.00 each

Total (Payment must be enclosed with order.)

$

Add postage ONLY if order is made after July 31, 2013
One JOURNAL - $5 added to above total

$

Two JOURNALs - $7 added to above total

$

Three or more JOURNALs - $10 added to above total

$

Total Payment with Postage (if after July 31)

$

Make check or money order payable to:

ALABAMA-WEST FLORIDA CONFERENCE

And mail along with order form to the address above
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CLERGY DIRECTORY ORDER FORM
Alabama - West Florida Conference
Attn: CLERGY DIRECTORY
100 Interstate Park, Suite 120
Montgomery, AL 36109
1.888.873.3127 phone/334.356.8029 fax

www.awfumc.org
•
•
•

All Clergy Directories MUST be pre-ordered and pre-paid
Cost = $ 10.00 each
Deadline to order: July 31, 2013. After deadline cost may increase.

(PLEASE TYPE OR PRINT)
FIRST and LAST NAME
_________________________________________________________________________

EMAIL ADDRESS (if applicable)
________________________________________________________

NAME or PLACE WHERE YOU WANT YOUR DIRECTORY MAILED
ATTN:
MAILING ADDRESS (no PO boxes)
_________________________________________________________________________

SUITE:
CITY:

ST:

ZIP:

PHONE NUMBER:

x $ 10.00 each =
quantity

total

Make check or money order payable to:
ALABAMA-WEST FLORIDA CONFERENCE
and mail along with order form to the address above
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CD/DVD Order Form
2013 Alabama-West Florida
Annual Conference
Name:

______________________________ Phone #:______________________

Address:
City:

___________________________ State: _____ Zip: ________________

Please make checks out to MEDIA MINISTRY

Quantity

Opening Worship Celebration
(Bishop Lindsey Davis, Resident Bishop, Kentucky Conference)
Bible Study (Dr. David Cann) 1 DVD or 2 CDs
Service of Commemoration and Holy Communion (Rev. Debora Bishop)
Ordination and Commissioning Service (Dauphin Way UMC)
Recognition of Retiring Clergy
Laity Banquet (Mary Ellen Bullard Leadership Address)
Sending Forth Service
Business Sessions
# of copies:
DVD ($10): _____

CD ($5): _____

Amount Paid $

**Price includes shipping

Please send order form and money to:
Media Ministry
Christ UMC
6101 Grelot Road, Mobile, AL 36609
media@christumcmobile.com
All videos will be available for viewing (free) at www.christumcmobile.com/annualconference
after annual conference
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Christ united methodist church
6101 Grelot Road, Mobile, AL 36609
251.342.0462 • info@christumcmobile.com

From I-65 S:
Take EXIT 3 and drive west (right) on Airport Blvd.
Turn south (left) on University Blvd.
Turn west (right) on Grelot Road.
From I-10:
Merge onto I-65 N via EXIT 20 toward Montgomery.
Take the Airport Blvd exit, EXIT 3.
As you exit keep LEFT staying on Airport Blvd.
Turn left on University Blvd.
Turn west (right) on Grelot Road.

Building A = Sanctuary
Building C = Christ Center and Gym
Building F = Fellowship Hall
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Conference Officers

Resident Bishop: Paul L. Leeland
100 Interstate Park Drive, Suite 120-A, Montgomery, AL 36109
bishop@awfumc.org

334.277.1787

Conference Secretary: Dr. Neil C. Epler
P.O. Box 241347, Montgomery, AL 36124-1347
neilepler@yahoo.com
Assistant Secretaries: Rev. Marty Hamilton, TBD, TBD
		
Journal Editor: Rev. Jackie Slaughter
2000 Winona Avenue, Montgomery, AL 36107
jackie@capitolheightsumc.org

334.272.8622

334.264.2464

Conference Registrar: Rev. Ed Deabler
3817 Atlanta Highway, Montgomery, AL 36109
ed.deabler@aol.com

334.272.2190

Conference Lay Leader: Dr. Steve Furr
214 Plantation Trace, Jackson, AL 36345
furrs@bellsouth.net

251.246.5266

Treasurer/Statistician and Executive Secretary of the
Board of Pension: Frank Dunnewind
100 Interstate Park Drive, Suite 106, Montgomery, AL 36109
frank@awfumc.org

334.274.1051

the cabinet
The Resident Bishop
The District Superintendents

the extended cabinet
The Resident Bishop		

The Director of Connectional Ministries

The District Superintendents

The Director of Communications

The Conference Lay Leader
The Director of Ministerial Services and Assistant to Resident Bishop
The Treasurer - Director of Administrative Services
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DISTRICT CONTACT INFORMATION
Baypines:

Cory Smith, P.O. Box 1711, Bay Minette, AL 36507-1711
251.580.2021 • Fax: 877.580.8141
Email: bpdist@bellsouth.net
Administrative Assistant: Rhoda Sweet

Demopolis: John Bonner, P.O. Box 1279, Demopolis, AL 36732-1279
334.289.0519 • Fax: 334.289.3828
Email: umcddoff@bellsouth.net
http://www.demopolisdistrictumc.org/
Administrative Assistant: Patty Kirkpatrick
Dothan:

Daniel Morris, 256 Honeysuckle Rd, Suite 4, Dothan, AL 36305
334.792.4259 • Fax: 334.671.4114
Email: umcdothan@graceba.net
http://www.umcdothan.org/
Administrative Assistant: Mary Lynn Enfinger

Marianna/Panama City:
Gary Daniel, 121 West 23rd Street, Panama City, FL 32405
850.215.1131 • Fax: 850.215.1151
Email: office@mariannapcdistrict.org
http://www.mariannapcdistrict.org/
Administrative Assistant: Debi Hightower
Mobile:

Tonya Elmore, 6333 Piccadilly Square Dr, Mobile, AL 36609-5103
251.345.3313 • Fax 251.345.3315
Email: admin@mobileumc.com
http://www.gbgm-umc.org/mobiledistrict/
Administrative Assistant: Kim Doss

Montgomery - Opelika:
Ron Ball, 1749 Platt Place, Montgomery, AL 36117
334.239.7329 • Fax 334.239.7364
Email: mtopds@knology.net
http://www.themontgomerydistricts.com/
Administrative Assistant: Ashley Epler
Montgomery - Prattville:
Philip McVay, 1749 Platt Place, Montgomery, AL 36117
334.239.7329 • Fax 334.239.7364
Email: mtptds@knology.net
http://www.themontgomerydistricts.com/
Administrative Assistant: Ashley Epler
Pensacola:

Jeremy Pridgeon, P.O. Box 2727, Pensacola, FL 32513-2727
850.434.0118 • Fax 850.434.0119
Email: office@umcpensacoladistrict.org
http://umcpensacoladistrict.org/
Administrative Assistant: Mary Hernandez
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CONFERENCE CONTACT INFORMATION
EPISCOPAL OFFICE

100 Interstate Park Drive, Suite 120-A, Montgomery, AL 36109
334.277.1787/FAX 334.277.0109
Paul L. Leeland, Resident Bishop

bishop@awfumc.org

Megyn Ard, Administrative Assistant

megyn@awfumc.org

Office of Ministerial Services

100 Interstate Park Drive, Suite 100, Montgomery, AL 36109
334.356.8014/FAX 334.274.1052
Rev. June Jernigan, Director
Betty West, Executive Assistant

june@awfumc.org
ministry@awfumc.org

Office of Communications

100 Interstate Park Drive, Suite 120, Montgomery, AL 36109
334.356.8014/FAX 334.356.8029
Mary Catherine Phillips, Director
Luke Lucas, Communications Specialist

marycatherine@awfumc.org
luke@awfumc.org

Office of Connectional Ministries

100 Interstate Park Drive, Suite 120, Montgomery, AL 36109
334.356.8014/FAX 334.356.8029
Rev. R. Neil McDavid, Director

neil@awfumc.org

Traci Herndon, Administrative Assistant

traci@awfumc.org

Rev. Frederick G. Outlaw, Director
Evangelism and Stewardship
Susan Hunt, Director
Mission and Advocacy
Martha Rovira, Coordinator
Hispanic/Latino Ministries
Fred and Laurel Blackwell, Coordinators
CIRCLES of Transformation

frederick@awfumc.org
susan@awfumc.org
martharr@awfumc.org
martha_r@comcast.net
circles@awfumc.org
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Fiscal, Pension, Benefits Office

100 Interstate Park Drive, Suite 106, Montgomery, AL 36109
334.274.1051/1.888.873.3127/FAX 334.274.1052
Frank Dunnewind, Treasurer
Director of Administrative Services

frank@awfumc.org

Terri Pickering, Administrative Assistant
Heidi Mitchell, Controller

terri@awfumc.org
heidi@awfumc.org

Ashley Oliver, Accounting Clerk

ashley@awfumc.org

BeLinda Carnegie, Benefits Coordinator

belinda@awfumc.org

office of congregational Development
2600 W. Strong Street, Pensacola, FL 32505
850.430.4300/FAX 850.433.9961

Barbara Sadler, Consultant
Sandy Gutting, Administrative Assistant

barbara.sadler@mchsi.com
sgutting@mchsi.com

Disaster Response and Recovery Ministry
PO Box 374, Gulf Shores, AL 36547
251.968.2549/CELL 251.978.8384

Amelia Fletcher, Conference Coordinator

amelia@gulfshoresumc.org

Methodist Archives Center

1500 East Fairview Avenue, Montgomery, AL 36106
334.833.4413/FAX 334.263.4465
Sharon Tucker, Archivist
Mary Ann Pickard, Research Assistant

stucker@huntingdon.edu
mpickard@huntingdon.edu
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quick numbers
•Alabama Rural Ministry
334.501.4276
•Birmingham-Southern
1.800.523.5793

College

•Blue Lake United Methodist Assembly
334.222.5407

•Mission u (formerly Cooperative School of Christian Mission)
334.794.2172

•Dumas Wesley Community Center
251.479.0649

•Golden Cross Special Offering
850.478.9489

•Huntingdon College
1.800.763.0313 • 334.833.4497

•Lay Speaking
334.872.1927

•Mary Ellen’s Hearth at Nellie Burge
334.264.4108

•Methodist Homes Corporation
205.951.2442

•Milk and Honey Outreach Ministries
850.469.8788

•Pensacola United Methodist Community Ministries
850.432.6816

•The Ark

1.888.438.5561

•United Methodist Children’s Home
1.800.239.3575 • 334-386-5354

•United Methodist Connectional Federal Credit Union
1.800.282.9368 • 770.565.3794

•United Methodist Foundation
334.793.6820

•United Methodist Inner City Mission
251.432.1122

•United Methodist Men (UMM)
334.222.3523

•United Methodist Women (UMW)
334.794.2172
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Corrections To Previous Journal(s)
Errors are inevitable in any publication. If they are not corrected, it
is probable that they will be reprinted in subsequent editions of the
Conference JOURNAL.
If you found an error(*) in any Conference Journal, please make
a note of it using the form below. Said error will be reviewed.
Year of Journal:

_______

The error is on page: _______
IT READS:
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
IT SHOULD READ:
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
After noting the correction, please email or mail to:
Alabama-West Florida Conference
ATTN: JOURNAL EDITOR
100 Interstate Park Drive
Suite 120
Montgomery, AL 36109
awfcrc@awfumc.org
(*) if more than one, please use a separate sheet of paper
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2013 Annual Conference Tellers
TEAM A

Clergy

Lay

Baypines
Demopolis
Dothan
Marianna/Panama City
Mobile
Montgomery-Opelika
Montgomery-Prattville
Pensacola

Charles Satterwhite
Esmer Davis
K. Andrew Gartman
Jack Hankins
Kathy Fisher
Michael Lawler
Chris Perry
David Hoppenjan

Barbara Davis
Sid (Frank) Dunn
Scotty Hudspeth
Cathy Byrd
Jeroy Carroll
Tom Hollingshead
Terri Sasser
Louise O’Bannon

TEAM B

Clergy

Lay

Baypines
Demopolis
Dothan
Marianna/Panama City
Mobile
Montgomery-Opelika
Montgomery-Prattville
Pensacola

Patricia Bruner
Dunford Cole
Mark Lilly
Gary Stringfellow
Barry Len Hurston
T. Grant Parker
Joel Wasson
Laura Weant

Walt Linch
Candace McKim

ALTERNATE

Clergy

Lay

Baypines
Demopolis
Dothan
Marianna/Panama City
Mobile
Montgomery-Opelika
Montgomery-Prattville
Pensacola

Dawn Bond
Paul Ferrell
Larry Teasley
Ray Lane, Jr
Clayton Smith
Steve Kopp
Mark Dees

Joe Little
Kay Wingate
Candace Keller
Pat Woods

Eddy Parker
Howard Rinker
Bob Ewbank

Nancy Shealy

Office Of cOnnectiOnal Ministries

2013

100 Interstate Park Dr., Suite 120
Montgomery, AL 36109
334.356.8014
888.873.3127
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